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Agenda item 1: Opening of the meeting
The Co-Chairs officially opened the seventeenth meeting of the Board (B.17) at 9:00 a.m.
on Tuesday, 5 July 2017, in Songdo, Incheon, Republic of Korea.
1.

Developing country Co-Chair, Mr. Ayman Shasly, thanked members of the Board
(hereinafter referred to as Board members) and alternate members of the Board (hereinafter
referred to as alternate members) for their contributions at the sixteenth meeting of the Board
(B.16), between B.16 and the current meeting, and during the last two days of informal
discussions. He commended the Board members and alternate members for the collegial
atmosphere and the openness and flexibility shown to resolve challenging policy gaps. The CoChairs asked Board members to continue the formal meeting in the same spirit.
2.

Mr. Shasly welcomed the following new Board members: Mr. Hans Olav Ibrekk, Mr.
Stephan Kellenberger, Mr. Carlos Pacho, Ms. Merete Villum Pedersen and Mr. Josceline
Wheatley. He also welcomed the following new alternate members: Ms. Carolina Torres and Ms.
Jessica Andersson.
3.

The Co-Chair also welcomed active observers in the Boardroom and everyone present in
the observer room of the GCF Headquarters building. All those following proceedings around
the world via live webcast were also welcomed.
4.

Developed country Co-Chair, Mr. Ewen McDonald, endorsed the comments of Mr. Shasly,
and welcomed all members of the GCF family. He also thanked the active observers for their
contributions during the two days of the informal meeting which had been much appreciated;
the exercise had been worthwhile in terms of expected outcomes.
5.

Agenda item 2: Adoption of the agenda and organization of work
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to document
GCF/B.17/01/Drf.02 entitled “Adoption of the agenda and organization of work”. They informed
Board members that the meeting would commence each day at 09.00 and finish promptly at
18.00.
6.

They invited Board members to raise any other issues they wished to raise under
agenda item 26, “Other matters”.
7.

A Board member requested clarification regarding items which it was proposed would
be dealt with under agenda item 9, “Matters outstanding from the sixteenth meeting of the
Board”. They reminded Board members that they had requested that an issue be taken up twice;
and that the matter had been included under “Other matters” at B.16 but had not been
addressed. They noted that procedurally, “Other matters” was intended for items that had not
been resolved or not addressed. As the issue in question had not been addressed at the previous
Board meeting they wished to know why it had not been included in the agenda for B.17.
8.

The Co-Chairs stated that in preparing the provisional agenda they had sought legal
advice on issues which could be raised under “Other matters”. The advice received was that an
item not opened under “Other matters” could not be addressed under item 9, “Matters
outstanding from the sixteenth meeting of the Board”; as the item had not been opened it did
not fall under the category of items which were continuing, nor did it fall under the category of
matters related to guidance form the Conference of the Parties (COP). Consequently, in
accordance with the Rules of Procedure of the Board, the item needed to be raised again under
agenda item 26, “Other matters”. The Co-Chairs confirmed that it would be addressed under
that item.
9.
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The Board member requested assurance from the Co-Chairs that the matter would not
suffer the same fate as at B.16, where it was not addressed during the meeting. The Co-Chairs
provided such assurance and requested that Board members support the Co-Chairs in ensuring
good time management to ensure that all items were addressed.
10.

Another Board member wished to note support for the above-mentioned Board member
on both procedural and substantive grounds. If the Board wished to be transformative it was
essential that great care was taken in how the GCF assets were invested; the GCF needed to
ensure its assets were green.
11.

The Co-Chairs stated that, as agenda item 10, “Selection of the permanent Trustee” was
not ready, agenda item 19, “Matters related to support for REDD-plus” would be brought
forward to midday on the first day of the meeting.
12.

There being no further objections, and with the amendment requested, the provisional
agenda and organization of work was duly adopted as follows:
13.

1.

Opening of the meeting

2.

Adoption of the agenda and organization of work

3.

Adoption of the report of the sixteenth meeting of the Board

4.

Decisions proposed and approved between the sixteenth and seventeenth
meetings of the Board

5.

Report on the activities of the Co-Chairs, including the outcomes of the
Co-Chairs’ consultations, and the updated Board work plan for 2017

6.

Report on the activities of the Secretariat

7.

Reports from committees, panels and groups1

8.

Matters related to guidance from the Conference of the Parties

9.

1

(a)

Sixth report of the GCF to the Conference of the Parties, including the
biannual report on privileges and immunities

(b)

Complementarity and coherence

Matters outstanding from the sixteenth meeting of the Board
(a)

Implementation of the initial strategic plan for the GCF

(b)

Facilitating an increase in proposals from direct access entities

10.

Selection of the permanent Trustee

11.

Update on the development of policies related to anti-money laundering and
countering the financing of terrorism

12.

Analysis of barriers to crowding in and maximizing the engagement of the
private sector, including Private Sector Advisory Group recommendations

13.

Readiness and preparatory support
(a)

Update on the Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme

(b)

Work programme on readiness and preparatory support

To include the recommendation of the Ethics and Audit Committee on various matters regarding conflicts of interest
of persons engaged with the GCF; and work programmes of committees, panels, and groups that include actions
outlined in the Strategic Plan.
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(c)

Terms of reference for the independent evaluation of the Readiness and
Preparatory Support Programme

14.

Status of the GCF portfolio: pipeline and approved projects

15.

Policy matters related to the approval of funding proposals
(a)

Review of the initial proposal approval process

(b)

Status of the fulfilment of conditions associated with the approval of
relevant funding proposals

(c)

Matters arising from the informal discussions

16.

GCF risk management framework

17.

Performance management agreements for Board-appointed officials

18.

Matters related to accreditation

19.

(a)

Consideration of accreditation proposals

(b)

Accreditation policy matters

(c)

Accreditation master agreements

Matters related to support for REDD-plus
(a)

REDD-plus results-based payments

(b)

Further guidance for national designated authorities and focal points on
how to engage with the GCF in the early phases of REDD-plus

20.

Status of resources

21.

Issues related to the staffing of the Secretariat

22.

Country ownership guidelines

23.

Report on the execution of the administrative budget and 2016 audited financial
statements

24.

Policy on ethics and conflicts of interest for active observers of the Green Climate
Fund

25.

Dates and venues of the following meetings of the Board

26.

Other matters

27.

Report of the meeting

28.

Close of the meeting

Agenda item 3: Adoption of the report of the sixteenth meeting of the
Board
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to document
GCF/B.16/24 and Add.01(limited distribution) entitled “Report of the sixteenth meeting of the
Board, 4–6 April 2017”. The addendum was issued to Board members on a limited distribution
basis as a draft addendum to the main report in respect of the closed sessions that had taken
place during B.16. It contained Board proceedings on agenda item 15, “Private Sector Facility:
potential approaches to mobilizing funding at scale”, agenda sub-item 21(c), “Accreditation
14.
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master agreements” and agenda sub-item 21(e), “Performance review of the members of the
Accreditation Panel”.
There being no comments, the Board took note of the report of the sixteenth meeting of
the Board as circulated to the Board (document GCF/B.16/24 and Add.01(limited distribution)).
15.

Agenda item 4: Decisions proposed and approved between the
sixteenth and seventeenth meetings of the Board
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and introduced document GCF/B.17/Inf.07 titled
“Decisions proposed and approved between the sixteenth and seventeenth meetings of the
Board”.
16.

The Co-Chairs noted there was one decision between meetings regarding the date of the
eighteenth Board meeting (B.18) which had not been agreed; the matter would be taken up
under item 25, “Dates and venues of the following meetings of the Board”.
17.

With regards to the limited distribution decision on “Funded activity agreements” noted
in document GCF/B.17/Inf.07, a Board member stated that they had supported the granting of
an extension, given the extraordinary circumstances, but did not wish this to be seen as creating
any precedent. Permissible time periods would need to be clarified in the development of a
cancellation policy. Another Board member similarly stated that they did not wish the extension
given to funding proposal 003 to be taken as a precedent.
18.

19.

The Co-Chairs stated that this would be noted in the record of the meeting.

20.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.07.

Agenda item 5: Report on the activities of the Co-Chairs, including the
outcomes of the Co-Chairs’ consultations, and the
updated Board work plan for 2017
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and introduced document GCF/B.17/Inf.09 and
Add.01, “Report on the activities of the Co-Chairs”, outlining the activities undertaken by the CoChairs since B.16. They invited the Board to take note of the document and to adopt the decision
contained in annex I.
21.

There being no comments, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.09 and
Add.01. and adopted the decision contained in annex I.
22.

23.

The agenda item was closed.

Later on the same day, the Co-Chairs reopened the agenda item and apologized to the
Board for having omitted to fully address all the matters submitted for the Board’s
consideration under this agenda item.
24.

The Co-Chairs recalled that in decision B.16/07, the Board had approved the work plan
and budget of the Independent Evaluation Unit (IEU) for March 2017 to June 2017, and
authorized the Head of the IEU to undertake consultations as required to present a complete
work plan and budget for 2017 at the seventeenth meeting of the Board. The Co-Chairs
informed the Board that they had worked intersessionally with the Head of the IEU on its draft
work plan and budget for 2017, and that this work was still ongoing. They proposed to bring the
budget of the IEU for 2017 for Board consideration at the current meeting while providing
further time to develop a more comprehensive work plan for the Board’s consideration at B.18.
25.
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The Co-Chairs also reminded Board members that they had put forward to the Board the
proposal on the Board’s oversight of Board-appointed officials and the accountability of the GCF
accountability units. This followed on from the mandate from the Governing Instrument for the
GCF, which stated that the Board would appoint the Executive Director of the Secretariat of the
GCF; and appoint the Head of the IEU and the heads of all accountability units. The Co-Chairs
noted that Board-appointed officials were required to report to the Board.
26.

In decision B.06/08, the Board had requested the Secretariat to present a proposal, with
draft terms of reference, to establish a Board committee to assist the Board in the appointments,
performance reviews, salary decisions and accountability of the Head of the IEU, the Head of the
Independent Integrity Unit (IIU) and the Head of the Independent Redress Mechanism, as well
as the Executive Director.
27.

In line with B.06/08, the Board had addressed the matter of the selection of Boardappointed officials through committees of the Board. The Appointment Committee also made
recommendations for consideration by the Board regarding the salary and accountability of the
heads of independent units. The ad hoc Committee for the Selection of the Executive Director
was currently undertaking work on the performance criteria for the Executive Director.
28.

The Co-Chairs were working on the draft terms of reference of the Committee of the
Board for the Evaluation of Board-Appointed Officials and for the Accountability of the
Independent Units, by adopting terms of reference of said Committee at B.17.
29.

30.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.09 and Add.01.

The Co-Chairs informed the Board that they would consult with a view to issuing a
decision in between meetings on the establishment and terms of reference for the Committee
for the Evaluation of Board-Appointed Officials and for the Accountability of the Independent
Units. They also informed the Board that the budget of the IEU would be considered later in the
current meeting.
31.

32.

The meeting was adjourned.

Under a subsequent agenda item on the following day of the meeting, the Co-Chairs
drew the attention of the Board to a document containing a proposal for the 2017 budget of the
IEU, including a list of the Unit’s planned activities for the year as approved in document
GCF/B.16/18.
33.

34.

A Board member said that the document appeared to contain a calculation error.

A representative of the Secretariat clarified the calculation methodology used in the
document and affirmed that the figures in the document had been calculated correctly.
35.

36.

Another Board member highlighted a perceived error in the document.

The Co-Chairs proposed that clarification on individual details of the document be
discussed outside the formal Board meeting.
37.

A Board member said that additional time and effort was needed to refine the proposed
2017 budget for the IEU and enquired as to whether the Secretariat could lend a portion of its
budget surplus to the IEU to cover its immediate requirements, pending approval of the IEU
budget at a later date.
38.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to approve the suggestion for the Secretariat to provide
a loan to the IEU, pending discussion and approval of the IEU budget, as soon as possible and no
later than B.18.
39.

A Board member asked whether such a measure would affect the ability of the Unit to
carry out its work.
40.
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The Head of the IEU said that the proposed measure would be acceptable, as long as it
did not form a precedent to be followed in future.
41.

A Board member said that the Secretariat was not at liberty to lend the IEU the full
amount proposed in the document because no budget had been approved.
42.

The Co-Chairs proposed that the loan amount be approved by the Co-Chairs between
B.17 and B.18, in consultation with the Board.
43.

44.

There being no objections, it was so decided.

45.

The Board adopted the following decisions:

DECISION B.17/01
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/Inf.09 titled “Report on the activities of
the Co-Chairs” and GCF/B.17/Inf.09/Add.01 titled “Addendum to the report on the activities of the
Co-Chairs: Updated work plan of the Board for 2017”:
(a)

Takes note of the updated Board work plan for 2017, as set out in annex I;

(b)

Decides to defer consideration of the following matters and requests the Secretariat, in
consultation with the Co-Chairs and the relevant committees, panels and groups of the
Board, to progress its work on these matters and present these for consideration by the
Board at the earliest possible opportunity:
(i)

Work programmes of the committees, panels and groups of the Board, including
the actions outlined in the strategic plan in their respective deliberations and work
programmes, as appropriate, throughout the Initial Resource Mobilization period,
requested pursuant to decision B.12/20, paragraph (f);

(ii)

The GCF communications strategy, requested pursuant to decisions B.04/14 and
B.13/25;

(iii)

The report on the outcomes of the annual review of the financial terms and
conditions of the GCF financial instruments, requested pursuant to decision
B.15/05, paragraph (b);

(iv)

Proposals on indicative minimum benchmarks as noted in decision B.14/07,
paragraph (e);

(v)

Recommendations on further steps to enhance cooperation and coherence with the
Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network,
requested pursuant to decision B.14/02, paragraph (d);

(vi)

Options on how the GCF can support collaborative research and development in
developing countries, requested pursuant to decision B.14/02, paragraph (f);

(vii)

Alternative policy approaches for the integral and sustainable management of
forests, requested pursuant to decisions B.12/07, paragraph (e) and B.14/01,
paragraph (b);

(viii)

Policies and procedures for contributions from philanthropic foundations and
other non-public and alternative sources to the Initial Resource Mobilization
process, requested pursuant to decisions B.11/05, paragraph (d) and B.14/01,
paragraph (i);

(ix)

A fund-wide Indigenous peoples’ policy, requested pursuant to decision B.15/01,
paragraph (a);
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(c)

(x)

The further development of some indicators in the performance measurement
frameworks as contained in document GCF/B.13/26, titled “Further development
of some indicators in the performance measurement frameworks”, requested
pursuant to decisions B.08/07, paragraph (b) and B.13/34;

(xi)

The method and criteria for prioritization of entities applying for accreditation,
requested pursuant to decision B.14/08, paragraph (d)(ii);

(xii)

Modalities for the use of third‐party evidence in the accreditation process,
requested pursuant to decision B.14/08, paragraph (e)(i);

(xiii)

An assessment, including a gap analysis, of the Adaptation Fund’s Environmental
and Social Policy (approved in November 2013 and amended in March 2016) and
Gender policy (approved in March 2016) in line with the GCF interim
environmental and social safeguards and gender policy with recommendations on
their potential accreditation or fast-tracking, requested pursuant to decision
B.14/08, paragraph (e)(iii);

(xiv)

The review of funding for the Project Preparation Facility, requested pursuant to
decision B.13/21, paragraph (f);

(xv)

The outcome of the performance review of the members of the Accreditation Panel,
requested pursuant to decision B.BM-2017/03, paragraph (e);

(xvi)

The final report from the review of the independent Technical Advisory Panel’s
structure and effectiveness, requested pursuant to decision B.15/06, paragraph (c);

(xvii)

Modalities for the qualitative and quantitative review of the webcasting service
requested pursuant to decision B.12/35, paragraph (f);

(xviii)

The approval of the revised terms of reference for the independent Redress
Mechanism, requested pursuant to decisions B.13/24, paragraph (e), and B.15/12,
paragraph (c);

(xix)

The complete work plan and budget of the Independent Evaluation Unit for 2017,
requested pursuant to decision B.16/07, paragraph (b);

(xx)

The presentation of the outcome of the Co-Chairs’ consultations and
recommendations based on lessons learned from the current application of
financial terms and conditions, requested pursuant to decision B.12/17, paragraph
(c);

(xxi)

The document on the mobilizing of private sector finance to progress the GCF
forestry-related results areas, requested pursuant to decision B.14/01, paragraph
(a); and

Decides, recalling decision B.12/39, paragraph (a), to approve the continued application of
the corporate procurement guidelines on the use of consultants and the corporate
procurement guidelines for goods and services, until the Board shall have approved the
revised guidelines.

DECISION B.17/02
The Board:
(a)

Authorizes the Secretariat to provide a loan from the administrative budget of the
Secretariat to the administrative budget of the Independent Evaluation Unit in an amount
and for a period determined by the Co-Chairs, in consultation with members and alternate
members of the Board; and
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(b)

Also authorizes the Secretariat to reimburse an equivalent amount from the
administrative budget of the independent Evaluation Unit to the administrative budget of
the Secretariat upon the approval of the Board of the workplan and budget of the
Independent Evaluation Unit for 2017.

Agenda item 6: Report on the activities of the Secretariat
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to document
GCF/B.17/Inf.01 titled “Report on the activities of the Secretariat”.
46.

Several Board members commended the Secretariat on the quality of the document and
the progress reflected therein, especially the appointment of well-qualified staff to key
leadership positions. Board members expressed particular satisfaction at the work of the
Secretariat on outreach, country programming, structured dialogues, engagement with
accredited entities (AEs), pipeline development and privileges and immunities, as well as the
creation of a Board decision tracker. The leadership from the Executive Director was strongly
welcomed, as was his attendance at a number of important events.
47.

Underlining the importance of gender issues in the work of the GCF, two Board
members commended the Secretariat for its progress on gender mainstreaming, in particular
the issuance of a gender handbook, “Leveraging Co-Benefits between Gender Equality and
Climate Action for Sustainable Development”, on the GCF website. One Board member noted the
need to shift from simply monitoring the number of women beneficiaries of GCF-funded
projects to assessing the real benefits of projects in terms of women’s empowerment.
48.

A Board member noted the continuous postponement of a discussion on environmental
and social safeguards and policies on indigenous peoples, asked not to delay these items any
further and called for their inclusion on the agenda of the following meeting.
49.

Noting the importance of transparency, another Board member requested that, in future
versions of the “Report on the activities of the Secretariat”, the Secretariat include specific
reporting on the challenges and key outcomes of missions carried out by the Executive Director
and other Secretariat staff. Another Board member called for a more holistic assessment of the
work of the Secretariat, rather than a breakdown of the work of each division.
50.

An active observer from a civil society organization (CSO) expressed appreciation at the
increasing number of Secretariat staff and the willingness of the Secretariat to engage with civil
society, and suggested the creation of a GCF staff directory to help observers identify who to
contact for each type of enquiry.
51.

The Executive Director took note of all comments and said that the suggestions made
would be taken into account in the Secretariat’s future work, including specific reporting on
missions, a holistic assessment of the Secretariat’s work and the creation of a staff directory.
With regard to the development of a policy on indigenous peoples, much work had been carried
out already, including a call for inputs from stakeholders, and public consultations on a draft
policy were due to be held very soon.
52.

53.

There being no further comments, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.01.

Agenda item 7: Reports from committees, panels and groups
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to
documents GCF/B.17/Inf.02 and Add.01 titled “Reports from committees, panels and groups of
the Board of the Green Climate Fund”. They invited the chairs and members of the committees,
54.
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panels and groups to comment on their respective reports, or to report orally in the case of
those that had not submitted written reports.
Ethics and Audit Committee
The chair of the Ethics and Audit Committee (EAC) introduced the report of the
Committee as contained in document GCF/B.17/Inf.02/Add.01.
55.

A Board member expressed satisfaction at the work carried out by the EAC on drafting a
policy on ethics and conflicts of interest for active observers of the GCF (GCF/B.17/17), while
expressing concern at the late publication of the document. Highlighting the key role of active
observers in advising the Board on this matter, the Board member requested the Co-Chairs to
hold consultations with active observers on the draft policy.
56.

A number of Board members expressed disappointment that no draft policy on
prohibited practices, anti-money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism
(AML/CFT) had been submitted to the Board at its current meeting and strongly urged the EAC
to submit such a policy for Board consideration at its following meeting.
57.

The chair of the EAC apologized for the late publication of the draft policy on ethics and
conflicts of interest and explained that the document had been ready for publication two
months prior to the meeting, but had unfortunately been delayed because of an oversight. With
regard to a draft policy on AML/CFT, good progress had been made; the EAC was working hard
to ensure that such an important policy was of sufficient quality before it was submitted to the
Board, and was strongly committed to bringing the policy for the Board’s consideration at B.18.
58.

The Co-Chairs appointed two Board members to lead consultations with active
observers on the draft policy on ethics and conflicts of interest for active observers prior to its
formal consideration by the Board at the current meeting.
59.

Risk Management Committee
The coordinator of the Risk Management Committee (RMC) presented the report of the
Committee as contained in document GCF/B.17/Inf.02 and welcomed the new members who
had joined the Committee since the previous Board meeting, noting that one additional member
was still urgently required to join the Committee.
60.

Investment Committee
The chair of the Investment Committee introduced the report of the Committee as
contained in document GCF/B.17/Inf.02/Add.01 and gave an overview of the Committee’s
progress on developing indicative minimum benchmarks. The chair also encouraged all Board
members, alternate members, advisers and observers to provide their input to the Committee’s
upcoming work on the review of the structure and effectiveness of the independent Technical
Advisory Panel and annual review of financial terms and conditions of the GCF financial
instruments.
61.

A Board member asked whether the initial investment framework would be changed
and enquired as to whether it was possible at the current stage to finalize the framework, given
the scarcity of available data as mentioned by the chair of the Committee.
62.

The chair of the Investment Committee said that the six existing investment criteria did
not need to be changed, and noted that the scarcity of data was with respect to comparator
funds, not the investment framework.
63.

GCF/B.17/22
Page 10

The same Board member said that the existing investment criteria were difficult to
follow when reviewing funding proposals and enquired as to the need for more specific metrics
to be included in the criteria.
64.

The chair said that the Committee was endeavouring to develop the most appropriate
measuring tools to aid the Board members when reviewing funding proposals and invited the
Board member to provide input on that issue outside the meeting.
65.

Private Sector Advisory Group
The co-chair of the Private Sector Advisory Group (PSAG), Mr. Zaheer Fakir, introduced
the Committee’s report and noted that the PSAG had been created to provide advice and
recommendations to the Board, and was designed to represent a broad spectrum of private
sector organizations. The function of the Board members in the PSAG was to foster an enabling
environment for private sector representatives to freely express their views on the private
sector on the ground, and to take action based on their advice. Noting that certain recent
developments would require the Board to decide on how the PSAG should operate in the future,
the co-chair announced that he was stepping down both as co-chair and as a member of the
PSAG. The co-chair reaffirmed his ongoing commitment to vociferously promoting the voice of
private sector representatives in the developing world and expressed gratitude to the members
of the PSAG for the excellent working relationships that they had maintained throughout his
time as co-chair of the Group.
66.

Two Board members expressed appreciation for the work of the outgoing chair of the
PSAG and regret at his decision to step down.
67.

A Board member recalled that a decision had been taken at the fifteenth meeting of the
Board (B.15) to include a representative of the small island developing States (SIDS) in the PSAG
and announced that the alternate Board member from the SIDS constituency, Mr. Ronald Jean
Jumeau, would be serving as that representative. The Board member wished to know what
steps needed to be taken to formalize the participation of the SIDS representative in the PSAG.
68.

Another Board member thanked the outgoing co-chair of the PSAG for his transparent
reporting on the work of the Committee throughout his time as co-chair. The same Board
member expressed concern that, despite the dynamic leadership of the newly appointed
Director of the Private Sector Facility (PSF), both the PSF and PSAG remained overly focused on
producing statistics and were not doing enough to promote the involvement of the private
sector in areas such as renewable energy markets, particularly in countries with emerging
economies.
69.

Mr. Fakir clarified that representatives of SIDS and the least developed countries (LDCs)
would be participating in certain upcoming PSAG meetings, without becoming permanent
members of the Group, and said that all necessary arrangements for that participation would be
made by the Secretariat. They also took note of the comments raised by a Board member on the
direction taken thus far in the work of the PSAG and endorsed the Board member’s hope that
the engagement of the GCF with the private sector would be redirected to align with its original
mandate.
70.

Budget Committee
The chair of the Budget Committee apologized that the Committee’s report had not been
included in the published document owing to an oversight, and gave a brief verbal report as
follows: all items considered by the Budget Committee in the reporting period would be
addressed as agenda items at the current meeting, apart from the human resources guidelines,
which would be submitted to the Board at B.18. Regarding the human resources guidelines, the
71.
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Committee recommended that the Secretariat follow an action-oriented approach, including
strong engagement with staff. Noting that the Committee had held its first informal meeting
with representatives of the GCF Staff Council the previous day, the chair thanked the
participants for their openness and candour and said that a similar meeting would be held on
the margins of B.18.
Accreditation Committee
The chair of the Accreditation Committee (AC) introduced the report of the AC and
noted that the Committee would be submitting a number of items for consideration at the
following meeting of the Board (B.18). Highlighting the significant impact that upcoming
changes to the project cycle would have on accreditation-related issues, the chair expressed
concern at the heavy workload that the Board would need to address at B.18 and urged the
Board to make concerted efforts to ensure consensus could be reached on the proposals
submitted by the AC at B.18.
72.

Ad hoc Trustee Selection Committee
The chair of the ad hoc Trustee Selection Committee, which had been created at B.16,
reported that the Committee had held a number of virtual meetings since B.16 and that the
Committee members had established a good working relationship.
73.

There being no further comments, the Board took note of documents GCF/B.17/Inf.02
and Add.01.
74.

Agenda item 8: Matters related to guidance from the Conference of
the Parties
(a)

Sixth report of the GCF to the Conference of the Parties, including the
biannual report on privileges and immunities

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and introduced document GCF/B.17/02
titled “Sixth report of the Green Climate Fund to the Conference of the Parties to the United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change”, containing the sixth annual report of the
GCF to the COP at its twenty-third session.
75.

The Co-Chairs reminded Board members that in line with past practice they were
presenting the report to the Board for approval on the basis that the Board would mandate
them to update the report to reflect the outcomes of B.17, and transmit the report to the
UNFCCC secretariat. Furthermore, the Board would also mandate the Co-Chairs to submit a
revised report to the UNFCCC secretariat that reflected the outcomes of B.18.
76.

They also reminded the Board that in UNFCCC decision 10/CP.22, paragraphs 8 and 9,
the COP noted with concern the lack of signed bilateral agreements related to privileges and
immunities to enable the GCF to undertake its activities, and looked forward to the biennial
report on the matter, in accordance with UNFCCC decision 7/CP.20, paragraph 20, and Board
decision B.08/24.
77.

Following this guidance from the COP, the Board, in decision B.15/03 paragraph (g),
requested the Secretariat to continue its efforts to negotiate and sign, or otherwise develop,
agreements or other appropriate arrangements with countries on privileges and immunities
consistent with decision B.10/12; and further requested the Secretariat through decision
B.15/03, paragraph (h), to incorporate in its report to the twenty-third session of the COP, a
78.
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section on the status of the existing GCF privileges and immunities, with regard to its
operational activities, consistent with UNFCCC decision 7/CP.20, paragraph 22.
The Co-Chairs introduced the new General Counsel ad interim, Mr. Raul Herrera, and
invited him to provide an overview of the biennial report on privileges and immunities.
79.

The General Counsel ad interim stated that GCF had reached agreement on privileges
and immunities with 12 countries, and the Secretariat was actively pursuing agreements with
the remainder. Regarding annex III of the biennial report on privileges and immunities, Mr.
Herrera noted the challenges faced by GCF and gave a summary of the material risks arising
from operating without privileges and immunities, none of which had so far materialized, such
as litigation risks to both (a) the institution and its assets and programmes, as well as its
personnel and (b) its independent units, including the Independent Redress Mechanism. The
General Counsel ad interim also noted that: (c) the property and assets of the GCF held in the
Republic of Korea were protected under the Headquarters Agreement; and (d) assets held in
trust by the Interim Trustee (World Bank) were protected by the privileges and immunities of
the World Bank. Finally, regarding taxation risks, the General Counsel ad interim noted that: (e)
having privileges and immunities would allow the GCF to benefit from tax exemptions and
therefore allow for such taxes to be excluded from the cost of the projects to be undertaken.
80.

81.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

Two Board members welcomed the new General Counsel ad interim, noting that the GCF
was fortunate to have someone with his experience advising the Fund.
82.

A Board member requested that, while making progress on privileges and immunities
was important, the General Counsel ad interim should not do so at the expense of moving
rapidly on matters related to project implementation, such as concluding legal instruments,
including accreditation master agreements (AMAs). Mr. Herrera responded that concluding
AMAs and funded activity agreements (FAAs) would be a clear priority.
83.

Another Board member requested the opinion of the General Counsel ad interim on
whether there was some way in which, through the relationship of the GCF with the COP, the
privileges and immunities of the UNFCCC secretariat could be extended to GCF. If so, this would
provide additional cover to that provided by the World Bank as Interim Trustee in respect of
assets of the GCF held in trust, because it would also provide coverage for staff who needed such
protection to function effectively on an international basis. The Board member recognized that
GCF was created by a decision, and not by a treaty, and as such was not able to enjoy privileges
and immunities in the same way as other treaty-based organizations. Said Board member asked
whether the COP was considered to be a treaty organization and, if so, whether any privileges
and immunities it enjoyed could be extended to the GCF, in the same way as the privileges and
immunities of the World Bank had been extended to the secretariat of the Global Environment
Facility (GEF).
84.

The General Counsel ad interim responded that the GCF was created under the UNFCCC
and was not a treaty organization, and that the ability to obtain treaty-based privileges and
immunities was the subject of discrete rights granted by countries directly to the institution,
often in a treaty establishing the institution, and undertaken with all the corresponding
diplomatic mechanisms. The question was then whether the GCF could have an administrative
linkage through the UNFCCC for which a precedent had not been accorded. However, Mr.
Herrera noted that it was not entirely certain that the provision of all components of privileges
and immunities would flow, and to what extent, even with such a linkage. The GCF did not at
present have an administrative link through the UNFCCC. The General Counsel ad interim noted
that he would need to consider the issue further before reverting with a definitive response on
whether an administrative linkage with the UNFCCC could be established, and if so, whether the
privileges and immunities desired by the GCF would flow from such linkage.
85.
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The Board member who had raised said query underlined the importance of this matter
and reminded the Board that this had been discussed since the design stage of the GCF. The
Board member cited several examples of other institutions as relevant to the further
consideration of this matter. They noted that when the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis
and Malaria (hereinafter referred to as the Global Fund) was first established, it was not
established as a treaty organization. However, through the linkage with the World Health
Organization (WHO) it derived all the required privileges and immunities. Once the linkage was
severed, only a couple of countries granted privileges and immunities to the Global Fund. As a
result, the staff of the Global Fund lost their status as international civil servants. Secondly, the
Board member cited the World Trade Organization which had received United Nations status
for its secretariat staff by an exchange of letters with the Secretary General of the United
Nations. The Board member requested that the General Counsel ad interim explore whether
GCF staff could be protected through simpler arrangements instead of negotiating agreements
country by country, which was a lengthy process. They requested that the draft decision be
revised to reflect these observations.
86.

87.

The Co-Chairs adjourned the item for further consultations.

The Co-Chairs reopened the item and informed the Board that following consultations
the Board member had withdrawn their request to amend the decision. Instead their
intervention would be captured in the report of the meeting and in annex II of document
GCF/B.17/02.
88.

89.

There being no further comments, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/02.

90.

The Board adopted the following decision:2

DECISION B.17/03
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/02 titled “Sixth report of the Green
Climate Fund to the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change”:
Requests the Co‐Chairs, assisted by the Secretariat, to finalize the “Sixth report of the Green
Climate Fund to the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change” as presented in document GCF/B.17/02 and to be annexed
to the report of the seventeenth meeting of the Board, taking into consideration the
comments made and decisions taken at the seventeenth meeting of the Board, and submit
the revised report to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
secretariat no later than 12 weeks prior to the twenty-third session of the Conference of
the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, in
accordance with UNFCCC decision 7/CP.20, paragraph 23.

(b)

Complementarity and coherence

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/08 entitled “Operational Framework on complementarity and coherence.”
91.

92.

They invited the Secretariat to provide an overview.

A representative of the Secretariat delivered a presentation in which they reminded
Board members of the mandate for this work, of opportunities identified through a comparative
review of the climate funds, and ongoing collaboration between the GCF Secretariat and the
93.

2

The sixth annual report of the GCF to the COP at its twenty-third session, as was submitted to the UNFCCC on 11
August 2017, is contained in addendum II to this report (GCF/B.17/22/Add.02).
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GEF, the Adaptation Fund (AF) and the Climate Investment Funds (CIFs). The Secretariat
provided an overview of the approach and elements contained in the Operational Framework
and timelines, the work proposed in annex II of the document and the proposed decision.
94.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

General comments
Board members commended the Secretariat for the document and expressed support
for its contents, with a number of detailed comments and suggestions.
95.

One Board member stated that the goal should be to ensure financing at scale and to
ensure that such climate finance reached the countries that were most in need, most vulnerable
and least developed. For said Board member, the document was a good first step which should
lead to future reporting based on a concrete action plan which identified areas for
harmonization and specialization.
96.

Another Board member underlined the importance of this initiative in helping GCF to
achieve its goal of smooth and effective scaling up of climate finance. They commended Board
Co-Chair, Mr. Shasly, and the Secretariat’s Executive Director, Mr. Howard Bamsey, for attending
the meetings of the subsidiary bodies in Bonn, from 8 to 18 May 2017, and briefing Parties and
civil society about GCF. They also welcomed the launch, under the Operational Framework, of
the annual meeting of climate funds.
97.

One Board member stated that the GCF approach to collaborating with other climate
funds should be both incremental and pragmatic. However, another Board member, while
accepting that a good start had at last been made in reaching out to other climate funds,
expressed concern that there was not enough focus on actions; a view echoed by another
member of the Board. The first Board member noted that this subject had been captured in the
Governing Instrument several years earlier and an incremental approach was not the way
forward; several funds had been in existence for many years. From recent attendance at
structured dialogues, said Board member observed that there was good potential for
complementarity. What was needed now was to develop and implement pilot programmes in
conjunction with other funds; the Operational Framework should not be merely an academic
exercise. This was echoed by other Board members.
98.

Another concern expressed by a Board member was the need to see complementarity
and coherence through the lens of the countries concerned; it was essential that GCF placed
greater emphasis on the involvement of different funds in countries and how those countries
reacted to them, with less focus on governance and operational issues. From a country
perspective, was the GCF approach with other funds likely to lead to competition or
complementarity at the national level? For the Board member, the current document may leave
countries confused and it could contribute to a dilution of the GCF replenishment process,
especially in the current political atmosphere. The Board member reminded Board members
that the GEF and Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol (MLF) were
currently engaged in their respective replenishment processes as were the AF and the CIFs. The
GEF and MLF were already dealing directly with the impacts of climate change on the basis of a
well-designed system. In view of this, said Board member proposed that the Executive Director
invite the heads of these funds to GCF Headquarters for 1–2 days to discuss the strategic goals of
complementarity and coherence and the impact on recipient countries. Another Board member
expressed support for this proposal, and suggested the alignment of the deliverables under the
framework with the other activities of the GCF. The Board member also expressed reservations
regarding the capacity of the Readiness Programme to help countries in delivering on the third
pillar of the framework.
99.
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For another Board member, the timing of this initiative was good, given the increasingly
complex climate finance landscape and the current GCF policy review, including REDD-plus.
100.

Ensuring that multilateral development banks (MDBs) were not able to access GCF
funds was something which concerned another Board member. While complementarity and
coherence was clearly desirable, MDBs and other United Nations agencies should use their own
resources and not access GCF funds.
101.

The private sector organization (PSO) active observer expressed support for the
framework; the four pillars highlighted were important for achieving long-term results “at
scale”. They also wished to support the need to reduce transaction costs for countries and
entities seeking climate finance. As such, it would be important to ensure standardization of
templates and terminologies. Regarding Pillar III, the national programming level was very
important and would require further clarity on the extent to which institutions were initiating
funding decisions which were country-driven. To avoid reinventing the wheel, the PSO active
observer recommended that the GCF utilize existing donor coordination mechanisms which
existed in many developing countries.
102.

103.

A number of priority areas for collaboration and harmonization were suggested.

A Board member noted opportunities for increased harmonization: (i) in terms of
template design for the application processes within the funds; (ii) monitoring, recording and
evaluation; (iii) and policies such as gender and stakeholder engagement.
104.

Said Board member asked that the Secretariat ensure complementarity in terms of
readiness support and support for the development of national adaptation plans.
105.

The same Board member proposed that, as a concrete action, the Secretariat invite other
climate finance delivery channels to undertake collaborative work on structured dialogues and
regional workshops.
106.

Another Board member suggested that the Secretariat should focus on low-hanging fruit
first, including: (i) template design, as well as information sharing; (ii) leveraging previous work
of other funds, for example in investment programming; and (iii) in the longer term, GCF should
look to standardize policies and procedures with other climate finance delivery channels.
107.

Another Board member requested that, in the future, the scope of climate finance
delivery channels be widened and coherence be increased by harmonizing standards,
accreditation requirements and proposal approval procedures, in particular, to help direct
access entities (DAEs).
108.

Specific requests and suggestions
A Board member stated that, under Pillar I, paragraph 8, it was premature to embark on
any discussion relating to the above-mentioned items [(a)–(d)].
109.

A Board member expressed concern under Pillar III in terms of the ability of the
Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme to be able to support greater coherence in
terms of national programming. They requested that the Secretariat further consider this.
110.

In relation to a request made during the informal Board meeting (3–4 July 2017), that
the Secretariat be asked to prepare a paper on co-financing, a Board member asked that it
should be aligned with the Operational Framework.
111.

A Board member requested that the timelines for work on complementarity and
coherence be aligned with the timeline for the ongoing GCF policy review.
112.
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A Board member requested that the Secretariat should also engage with the Food and
Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and WHO.
113.

A Board member underlined the need to develop further guidance including on fund-tofund arrangements and wished to know who would lead on these discussions. They noted other
questions which would need to be addressed including programming authority, agreement
structure and accountability.
114.

The same Board member noted that since many Board members were also on the
boards of several funds, they requested that the Secretariat feedback information from Board
members on a regular basis about the nature of the discussions with these funds.
115.

A Board member requested that the GCF engage with the World Resources Institute in
preparing the proposed annual dialogue with other climate finance institutions scheduled for
B.18, a view supported by another Board member.
116.

Secretariat response
117.

The representative of the Secretariat provided the following responses:

On the matter of scope, the framework would be open to other funds. With regards to
MDBs it was noted that many of these were AEs, and therefore the accreditation framework
already provided a robust context to engage with them. On reporting, the representative noted
that, while there would be a stand-alone report once a year, insights would be reported
throughout the year in other areas, including on readiness and accreditation. On fund-to-fund
arrangements (Pillar I), the sequencing proposed would allow the work on activities and
national programming to start and then be brought to the Board for further consideration; the
representative stated that the typology listed in the framework would act as a reference point
for future conversations. On national programming (Pillar III), the representative noted the
concerns and added that they would be considered in the context of work related to country
programming. Responding to the invitation to engage with other funds, they reiterated that the
Annual Meeting of Funds would serve for such a purpose in the near future.
118.

Finally, on the need for an action-oriented framework, the representative confirmed
that, in terms of next steps, the Secretariat would take an action-oriented, pragmatic but flexible
approach, keeping in mind that the work required would need to take place in collaboration
with others.
119.

The Co-Chairs stated that the Secretariat had taken note of all comments and invited the
Board to adopt the decision.
120.

121.

There being no objections, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/08.

122.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/04
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/08 titled “Operational Framework on
complementarity and coherence”:
(a)

Adopts the Operational Framework on complementarity and coherence contained in
annex III to this document;

(b)

Requests the Secretariat to present a report on the progress made and outputs from the
Operational Framework on complementarity and coherence in line with decision B.13/21,
paragraph (c), for consideration by the Board in 2018, and to provide an annual update
thereafter;
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(c)

Encourages the Executive Director to host the annual dialogue with climate finance
delivery channels in the margins of the eighteenth meeting of the Board and to utilize it as
a forum for exchange between the GCF and relevant climate finance delivery channels; and

(d)

Requests the Secretariat to include outcomes and updates related to complementarity and
coherence in the report to the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change for consideration by the Board, and to continue
cooperation with the Standing Committee on Finance in line with decision B.13/11.

Agenda item 9: Matters outstanding from the sixteenth meeting of the
Board
(a)

Implementation of the initial strategic plan for the GCF

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/11 titled “Implementation of the Initial Strategic Plan of the GCF: Update
on country programmes and entity work programmes”. Noting that the draft decision contained
in annex I to the document had been discussed and agreed upon but not adopted at the previous
meeting, they invited the Board to adopt the draft decision.
123.

124.

There being no comments or objections, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/11.

125.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/05
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/11 titled “Implementation of the
Initial Strategic Plan of the GCF: Update on country programmes and entity work programmes”:
(a)

Takes note of the information provided in the document;

(b)

Welcomes the progress made with the preparation of country and entity work
programmes;

(c)

Requests the Secretariat to consolidate the country and entity work programmes and
provide the Board with the document, as appropriate; and

(d)

Amends decision B.12/20, paragraph (d), to replace “at each Board meeting” with the
words “annually through a comprehensive status report”.

(b)

Facilitating an increase in proposals from direct access entities

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.16/Inf.08, titled “Facilitating an increase in proposals from direct access
entities”, noting that the item had been opened but not concluded at the previous Board
meeting. The Co-Chairs requested two alternate members, Mr. Frank Fass-Metz and Mr. Ignacio
Lorenzo, to conduct informal consultations with Board members on the agenda item and report
back to the Board later in the meeting. The Co-Chairs invited a representative of the Secretariat
to take the floor.
126.

A representative of the Secretariat said that a workshop had been held in May 2017 in
order to enhance the knowledge of DAEs on how to work with the GCF, and to accelerate
development of the pipeline of DAE proposals. A total of 22 representatives of DAEs had
attended the workshop, where they had shared 32 project ideas with the Secretariat, seven of
which were at the funding proposal stage. During the workshop, progress had been made
127.
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towards concluding AMAs with three DAEs, and FAAs for three projects submitted by DAEs.
Following the event, the Secretariat had also followed up on readiness requirements with
various DAEs. The event enabled the Secretariat to make a number of observations based on
feedback from the workshop participants: firstly, that many DAEs required and expected
significant support from the Secretariat, as well as from other DAEs, in their dealings with the
GCF; secondly, that DAEs sought guidance on the kind of information and evidence they would
need to provide in order to strengthen the case for the climate benefits of their projects; and
thirdly, that in order to accelerate the pipeline of proposals, training would be required for
DAEs on the design and implementation of projects.
128.

The agenda item was suspended.

The Co-Chairs reopened the agenda sub-item on the second day of the meeting and
requested the two alternate members tasked with leading consultations to report on their
progress.
129.

Mr. Fass-Metz said that several rounds of consultations had been held and consensus
had been reached on a number of matters related to increasing the number of proposals from
DAEs, including: transparency provisions; reporting modalities; instruments available to the
GCF to support DAEs and national designated authorities (NDAs); support for DAEs through an
Internet platform; analysis of areas for improvement of current practices; and regular
monitoring of progress. Consensus had, however, not been reached on the role of the Board in
addressing such issues and how to guide the Secretariat in allocating capacity to the various
tasks.
130.

Mr. Lorenzo said that although progress had been made, consensus had also not been
reached on the appointment of champions from the Board to develop action plans on how to
increase the number of proposals from DAEs in the pipeline, or on the prioritization of work and
the consideration of concept notes from DAEs. Underlining the importance of the agenda item as
part of guidance from the COP, he encouraged Board members to fully engage in ongoing
consultations with a view to reaching consensus by the following Board meeting.
131.

A Board member expressed disappointment that consensus had not yet been reached on
such a pivotal issue, and urged Board members to be proactive in swiftly removing the
remaining obstacles to consensus, so as to allow as much time as possible at the following Board
meeting for the consideration of funding proposals.
132.

133.

The Co-Chairs proposed that the consultations on this agenda item continue.

The agenda item was reopened later the same day and a draft decision was circulated to
Board members.
134.

135.

The Co-Chairs invited Mr. Fass-Metz to introduce the draft decision.

Mr. Fass-Metz said that significant efforts had been made to reach a draft decision
acceptable to all Board members. Explaining that the draft decision provided for the Board to
actively pursue, oversee and take action on facilitating an increase in proposals from DAEs, and
which allowed the Board to monitor the implementation thereof, he encouraged the Board to
adopt the draft decision.
136.

137.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to adopt the draft decision.

Following interventions by Board members, the Co-Chairs noted there was no
consensus to adopt the decision at this stage, and proposed that consultations continue and a
revised decision be submitted to the Board at its following meeting.
138.

139.

The item was closed.
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Agenda item 10: Selection of the permanent Trustee
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and recalled that, pursuant to paragraphs 24 and
25 of the Governing Instrument, the GCF must appoint a permanent Trustee to manage its
financial assets, maintain appropriate financial records and prepare relevant financial
statements and reports, and that the World Bank would serve as the Interim Trustee of the
Green Climate Fund Trust Fund until 30 April 2018. They also recalled that, in its decision
B.16/05, the Board had established an ad hoc Trustee Selection Committee and requested it
convene immediately to begin its work. The Co-Chairs invited the chair of the ad hoc Trustee
Selection Committee, Mr. Fakir, to take the floor.
140.

The chair of the ad hoc Trustee Selection Committee said that, since the previous Board
meeting, the ad hoc Committee had held three meetings in person and a number of virtual
meetings, during which the members of the Committee had worked in a highly constructive and
collegiate manner to discuss the terms of reference, timeline and selection process for the
permanent Trustee, in line with mandate. Regarding the terms of reference, excellent progress
had been made, with very little divergence of views between the members of the ad hoc
Committee; on the timeline, the members had observed that it was currently rather tight; and
with regard to the selection process, deliberations had primarily focused on the need to ensure
an open, transparent and competitive process and find a permanent Trustee that was
acceptable to all Board members. A main issue of discussion had been whether or not a request
for proposals (RFP) would be the appropriate method, in view of the fact that certain publicsector institutions that would meet the requirements for service provision to the GCF may be
precluded from participating in an RFP by their own internal regulations or accepted practices.
Consensus among the members of the ad hoc Committee had not yet been reached on the
selection process.
141.

Another member of the ad hoc Trustee Selection Committee emphasized that the
Committee was very close to achieving consensus on the terms of reference, and had made
sincere efforts to develop a selection process that was acceptable to the whole Board. The main
challenge faced by the ad hoc Committee related to reconciling the need for a truly open,
transparent and competitive process with the fact that certain institutions, in particular those
with the necessary experience and characteristics to meet the terms of reference, would be
effectively precluded from participating if the procurement process were open to all public and
private sector applicants.
142.

The Co-Chairs requested the ad hoc Trustee Selection Committee to continue its
deliberations on the selection of the permanent Trustee.
143.

The members of the ad hoc Committee assured the Board that they would do their
utmost to conclude their deliberations before the following Board meeting.
144.

145.

The agenda item was closed.

Agenda item 11: Update on the development of policies related to antimoney laundering and countering the financing of
terrorism
The Co-Chairs opened the item and reminded Board members of the mandate under
which this update was taking place.
146.

147.

The Co-Chairs invited the Head of the IIU, Mr. Ibrahim Pam, to present the update.
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The Head of the IIU informed Board members that the Anti-Money Laundering and
Countering the Financing of Terrorism policy (hereinafter referred to as the AML/CFT policy)
had been developed in conjunction with the compliance team in the Office of Risk Management
and had earlier been endorsed by the RMC. It had also been through several plenary and
bilateral sessions with the EAC. The initial draft was a combination of policy and procedures
separated into a policy document (high-level principles) and a standards document
(implementation procedures). The policy had greatly benefited from the input of the Committee.
148.

The Head of the IIU also explained that significant work had been undertaken on other
relevant policies as follows:
149.

(a)

Whistleblower and Witness Protection policy: The draft policy had been prepared and
had been through a public call for input in May 2017 with seven submissions received.
This would be presented to the EAC, and subsequently the Board, at B.18;

(b)

Prohibited Practices policy: The interim policy annexed to AMAs had been developed
into a substantive policy. This was currently being considered by the EAC and was
scheduled to be presented at B.18; and

(c)

Investigation Standards: These had been developed and would be presented to the EAC
for its endorsement.

The Co-Chairs reminded Board members that the importance of the work on this matter
had also been highlighted on the first day of the meeting under agenda item 7, “Report of
committees, panels and groups”. A set of policies was already in place and this was about
enhancing those; considerable progress had been made within a short time and the Co-Chairs
thanked the Secretariat and the EAC.
150.

151.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

A Board member who was also a member of the EAC commended the work done by the
IIU in its stewardship of this AML/CFT policy. They stated that the Committee would prioritize
the AML/CFT policy document to ensure it was ready for B.18.
152.

A Board member who was also coordinator of the RMC stated that the Committee had
reviewed the initial document earlier in the year and stood ready to look at the revised
document ahead of B.18.
153.

A Board member who was also chair of the AC informed Board members that the AC had
been working with the IIU to incorporate the changes in the policy to the accreditation process
as efficiently as possible.
154.

Separately, the same Board member requested a legal opinion on a matter related to
privileges and immunities in the context of the risk management framework and the measures
the GCF would take to mitigate risk. The Board member noted that over half of the GCF portfolio
was covered by privileges and immunities. They wished to have clarification on what impact
these policies would have on entities. Would they be required by law to implement them or did
they only have the status of policies? The Board member said that it was their understanding
that DAEs and private sector entities would be required to implement these policies as part of
the accreditation process. They would also face legal action if they did not implement them.
However, international entities such as MDBs, which comprised half of the GCF portfolio, would
not be affected in the same way. This would result in an uneven playing field for DAEs. They
requested that the GCF give careful thought to this matter.
155.

The Co-Chairs stated that all comments had been noted and requested that the Head of
the IIU take these on board, work with the relevant committees and address the specific points
raised.
156.
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157.

The item was closed.

Agenda item 12: Analysis of barriers to crowding-in and maximizing
the engagement of the private sector, including
Private Sector Advisory Group recommendations
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and introduced document GCF/B.17/03 titled
“Analysis of barriers to crowding-in and maximizing the engagement of the private sector,
including Private Sector Advisory Group recommendations”.
158.

159.

They invited a representative of the Secretariat to provide an overview of the document.

The representative summarized the barriers to private sector investment and
engagement, and to capital mobilization into climate mitigation and adaptation-related sectors
and projects in developing countries. Based on an analysis of barriers by sectors and countries,
and supported by examples, the representative gave an overview of the recommendations of the
PSAG to overcome these barriers, based upon their discussion of the Secretariat’s analysis. For
each recommendation, the representative outlined the significant progress already made by the
Secretariat and also proposed strategic opportunities for interventions where there was
evidence of a market gap.
160.

161.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

Several Board members commended the Secretariat on the document and presentation.
A wide range of general and specific comments were made.
162.

General comments
(a)

The document reflected international best practice;

(b)

The combination of a more fully resourced PSF and a stronger Secretariat able to
support the work of the PSAG provided much greater opportunities going forward. The
private sector members of PSAG were very committed and had high expectations of the
Board;

(c)

Some of the recommendations in the paper were core and others broader which could
be looked at in the future; some could be used to provide direction in the choice and
design of activities on the ground;

(d)

It would be essential to address the barriers holistically rather than one by one so that,
for example, the knowledge and financial barriers were addressed simultaneously;

(e)

The paper should be seen as a stepping stone in a longer-term process;

(f)

It was important not just to look at low-hanging fruit;

(g)

There would be a need to consider how to ensure the involvement of PSF in the
adaptation ‘space’ as part of a future paper on SIDS/LDCs;

(h)

In terms of concessional finance, it was important to consider how the GCF could be
innovative and transformative;

(i)

It was important to turn the paper into a decision, including a PSF work programme and
private sector involvement in adaptation, and which was coherent with the GCF
strategic plan;

(j)

The focus in the decision should be on strategic results;
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(k)

Development banks were also a barrier because they crowded out potential
opportunities for the private sector; the development banks were receiving a large
proportion of GCF funds;

(l)

While the document was useful as a starting point, there was a need for more detailed
country specific analysis to enable GCF to offer more tailored support; different
countries faced different challenges;

(m)

It would be important to advance on several fronts simultaneously to unlock investment
and transcend ‘business as usual’; the PSAG ‘recommendations’ needed to be turned into
more specific, actionable items and, in some cases, needed further refinement. They
would also need to be prioritized;

(n)

There was a need to change the lens through which developing countries were seen –
from poor and vulnerable, to rich in potential and resilient – with a focus by GCF on how
this could be unlocked;

(o)

Implementing the PSAG recommendations should not replicate what AEs could do, or
what NDAs and others were already doing; GCF needed to be selective;

(p)

The paper was lacking an analysis of valuable experience from other funds such as GEF
in attracting funding from the private sector; many overseas development agencies had
relevant experience, including on the impacts of globalization, which GCF should tap;

(q)

A niche market existed for GCF to take more risks in building markets and sustainable
supply chains, especially in pre-commercial markets where there were higher risks and
where opportunities for a real breakthrough existed;

(r)

Given that policy and institutional barriers took time to overcome, GCF should provide
concessional funding to the private sector for demonstration projects. This would be a
good way to engage governments and impact on institutions and policy reforms; and

(s)

GCF needed to focus on project initiatives in countries because it could not force
governments to change policies;

Specific comments and suggestions
(a)

A focus on public–private partnerships (PPPs) was also needed; PPPs were becoming
more important in developing countries;

(b)

A special accreditation framework was needed just for the private sector, based solely
on risk. It also needed to take into consideration that scale did not just mean big projects
but also included large volumes of capital going into micro projects, among others;

(c)

GCF should take a different approach to private sector entities seeking accreditation.
Instead of asking the private sector to take all the risk upfront at the accreditation stage,
such risks should be considered over a period of time as the relationship with these
entities developed;

(d)

There were many specific barriers that impacted SIDS, such as high transaction costs.
Moreover, while international regulations, particularly those relating to AML/CFT
regulations were welcomed, these had introduced significant restrictions on the capital
flow into SIDS and acted as an overarching barrier. It was also important to note that
small banks in SIDS that were handling micro projects were already dealing with
existing local regulatory requirements and they should not go through the same level of
scrutiny as the large banks with complex operations when it came to gender,
environmental and social safeguards and accreditation requirements. In summary, GCF
was a high-risk fund and should not behave in the same way as AAA-rated global banks;
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(e)

There was a need to look at policy guidelines, especially on mitigation, to see how they
could be rationalized;

(f)

Structured dialogues should be structured to cater for the private sector;

(g)

The RFP should also be advertised in local newspapers and local banks to attract micro
projects;

(h)

The project cycle should be reviewed so that small-scale projects such as USD 10 million
for the private sector could be delegated to be approved by the Executive Director and
not by the Board;

(i)

A more specific assessment by the Secretariat of funding gaps in developing countries
was needed in areas such as adaptation, sustainable transport, forests and climate-smart
agriculture;

(j)

There was a need to ensure collaboration between the PSF and other divisions regarding
sectoral funding gaps such as transport;

(k)

The PSF should provide an annual work programme prepared in collaboration with
other divisions; and

(l)

The PSF should identify five model adaptation projects across different regions, using
the budget of approximately USD 500 million already earmarked for private-sector
projects, with the GCF taking on the risk to encourage the private sector to work with
GCF; these would act as demonstration projects.

Other comments
A Board member wished to see NDAs have the capacity to engage in policy and project
deliberations related to PPPs around climate-resilient infrastructure; there was a robust policy
dialogue taking place in many countries. As such, NDAs could add their voice to discussions in
ministries to emphasize the importance of developing climate-resilient infrastructure.
163.

A Board member expressed concern that the document mentioned “middle income
countries”. This concept was not recognized by the Board where two categories existed:
developed and developing. The RFP, which was advertised in the Financial Times, risked
creating the wrong impression. There was a tendency to talk about large funds such as Acumen
and the European Investment Bank (EIB), to talk about green bonds, fund-to-funds and
insurance. This provided a certain perspective. At the same time the GCF was trying to invest in
projects and programmes not covered by other climate finance institutions; its PSF was
something which distinguished it from other funds. If the GCF did not keep this as its priority it
would be merely continuing along a ‘business as usual’ pathway similar to the International
Finance Corporation and MDBs. The GCF should not just focus on large private-sector projects
but unlock opportunities for all, including ‘mom and pop’ businesses.
164.

Another Board member asked for information on the timeline for the PSF to develop the
proposal for financial modalities to enhance private sector investment in LDCs, SIDS and Africa.
The Board member wondered if some of the issues raised by Board members could be included
in this study. They also expressed the hope that their small-size private sectors would not be
prohibited from benefiting from the PSF. Regarding scale, they noted that they needed
technology which was relevant and affordable.
165.

Two Board members commended the chair of PSAG, Mr. Fakir, who was stepping down,
for his leadership over many years. One of these Board members expressed the hope that it
would be possible to find someone of his stature to take over as chair. Another Board member,
166.

GCF/B.17/22
Page 24

who was also a member of the PSAG, welcomed the new dynamic between PSAG and the PSF
and acknowledged the work of experts in the PSAG.
A Board member asked for clarification from the Secretariat regarding whether, in
dealing with a project or programme with a private sector component, the AE took into
consideration both the regular funding window and the RFP window? If so, would this mean
that the GCF would be dealing with two separate AEs? Secondly, given the importance to their
constituency of REDD-plus, they wished for some clarification on an allocation for a REDD-plus
pilot.
167.

Active observers
The CSO active observer stated that it was essential that the GCF approached private
sector investments with broader co-benefits in mind, including: how to incorporate gender
considerations in investment strategies; how to prioritize the investments that benefit local
economies and communities directly; being clear that local private sector should be the target of
measures; the need to develop local supply chains and employment opportunities; limiting tax
evasion and offshoring of profits; supporting consumer finance, and supporting women-led
enterprises and micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises.
168.

Regarding Recommendation 1 in the document, the observer commended the
Secretariat for the emphasis on the importance of stakeholder engagement. They requested that
this should include the engagement of indigenous peoples, women and other marginalized
constituencies in stakeholder engagement.
169.

Regarding PPPs in Recommendation 2, the observer urged the GCF to exercise great care
in defining and selecting what kinds of PPP initiatives were taken, especially those involving big
corporations. Civil society wished the GCF to refrain from projects that would lead to or support
the large-scale privatization of public services, which could lead to negative effects.
170.

Regarding Recommendation 7, the observer expressed concern that the paper was silent
on the destructive role of tax evasion; civil society supported financial transparency.
171.

The impact of insecure land tenure systems on indigenous peoples and local
communities should be considered carefully.
172.

The paper rightly recognized that capital markets were weak in low-income countries.
The observer expressed concern that the Board’s emphasis on mobilizing funds at scale may
bypass them.
173.

The PSO active observer commended the Secretariat on the paper. They cited a country
in south-east Asia with a growing economy, which made it attractive for private sector investors
in terms of infrastructure, but where there was a lack of consistency in government policy,
among several other challenges. There was also strong official development assistance in the
country. The observer stated that there was a clear opportunity to facilitate private investment
with targeted support from GCF. However, it was important for GCF to be cautious about placing
too much emphasis on innovation; there was good scope to replicate and scale up existing
solutions. GCF needed to take the initiative in countries such as this to help the market develop.
While it might be expected that multilateral organizations and others would be doing this, they
were not. The market was evolving and the level of risk exposure in the short term to GCF would
not be constant over time. Risk support by the GCF should be viewed as an essential short-term
catalyst to stimulate market maturity and climate finance.
174.

Secretariat response
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A representative of the Secretariat thanked Board members for their comments and
confirmed that all had been noted, including those of the active observers. In terms of the vital
role of adaptation, a paper would be presented at B.18 on SIDS, LDCs and Africa. The
representative welcomed further engagement on how to ensure transparency in working with
all stakeholders.
175.

176.

The Co-Chairs adjourned the item.

177.

The Co-Chairs reopened the item on the final day of the meeting.

Board members raised several specific points regarding paragraphs (a), (c) and (e) of
the revised draft decision. Following amendments, the decision was adopted.
178.

179.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/03.

180.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/06
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/03 titled “Analysis of barriers to
crowding-in and maximizing the engagement of the private sector, including Private Sector
Advisory Group recommendations”:
(a)

Welcomes the analysis provided by the Secretariat and the recommendations from the
Private Sector Advisory Group;

(b)

Requests the Secretariat to integrate the analysis and recommendations into the future
work of the Private Sector Facility, as appropriate, while taking into account country needs
and priorities;

(c)

Requests the Secretariat to develop an annual work plan for the Private Sector Facility;

(d)

Requests the Private Sector Advisory Group to provide recommendations, in accordance
with decision B.15/03, paragraph (i), to the Board at its eighteenth meeting on:

(e)

(i)

The development of modalities to support activities enabling private sector
involvement in the least developed countries and small island developing States;
and

(ii)

Opportunities to engage the private sector, including local actors, in adaptation
action at the national, regional and international levels; and

Requests the Secretariat, in accordance with decision B.09/07, paragraph (h), and
recognizing decision B.08/03, to provide recommendations for modalities to fast-track the
accreditation of private sector entities by the nineteenth meeting of the Board.

Agenda item 13: Readiness and preparatory support
(a)

Update on the Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/Inf.06 titled “Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme: Progress
Report”. They invited a representative of the Secretariat to take the floor.
181.

A representative of the Secretariat highlighted that the Readiness Programme had, to
date, committed 115 proposals for a total of USD 37.2 million. The representative also
highlighted the six key expected outcomes of the programme, and mentioned that the number of
countries expecting to achieve these outcomes by 2017 and 2018. They also noted the various
182.
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structured dialogues that had taken place in the first half of 2017, notably the Asia Structured
Dialogue in April, the Empowering Direct Access Workshop in May, the Eastern Europe and
Central Asia Workshop in May, and the Caribbean Structured Dialogue in June.
A number of Board members commended the Secretariat on its progress in the area of
readiness and expressed satisfaction at the success of the structured dialogues that had been
held to date. One Board member commented that they were an effective method of promoting
dialogue between stakeholders and provided a strong incentive for the countries involved to
produce country programmes; and another encouraged other Board members to attend
structured dialogues in person.
183.

Several Board members expressed concern at the low rate of disbursement of readiness
funds, with one Board member highlighting that the funds for certain readiness proposals that
had been approved over two years previously had still not been disbursed, reportedly as a
result of delays in establishing legal arrangements between the GCF and its implementing
partners. The same Board member requested the Secretariat to provide the Board with details
on the action it had taken to resolve the problem which, as reported at B.16, meant that certain
proposals had been put on hold because of issues relating to fees charged by AEs. They also
requested the inclusion of those details as an addendum to the document. Another Board
member requested the Secretariat for details on the obstacles preventing faster disbursement of
readiness funds, and particularly on whether those obstacles lay with the Secretariat or the AEs.
184.

Several Board members also voiced concern over the limited amount of resources
currently available for the Readiness Programme which was in high demand; one Board
member noted that when the Secretariat had requested an additional USD 100 million at B.15,
the Board had only approved half that amount, and two other Board members underlined that
USD 37 million of the available USD 80 million-worth of readiness funds had already been
committed. One Board member called for the amount of readiness funding to be reviewed.
185.

A Board member asked for clarification on the ratio of requests for readiness activities
versus readiness events, and requested reassurance that the readiness events were having the
desired impact. The same Board member also stressed the need for the Secretariat to monitor
the impact of readiness activities and report the results to the Board. Another Board member
asked the Secretariat to provide more comprehensive information on the implementation of
readiness activities.
186.

Another Board member expressed satisfaction at the work of the regional advisers in
carrying out capacity-building and knowledge-sharing activities.
187.

A further Board member said that the Readiness Programme lacked an effective
communications strategy to appeal to people on the ground, and suggested that video clips
could be used as an information-sharing tool. They also questioned the value proposition that
the Readiness Programme offered to DAEs.
188.

A CSO active observer requested the Secretariat to promote transparency by providing
more information on the reasons for the low rate of disbursement of allocated readiness funds,
given that currently, the information on the GCF website was not up to date and no other
information was publicly available. The observer underlined that, according to both the
document and observations by CSOs on the ground, there appeared to be low interest from
NDAs in engaging stakeholders in the readiness process, and therefore stressed the vital need to
increase the engagement of national stakeholders in the readiness process, so as to harness
their invaluable expertise and promote country ownership. To that end, the observer called on
the Secretariat to take a more proactive approach by implementing the following: establish
national coordination mechanisms for stakeholder engagement; include a mandatory
stakeholder engagement component for readiness proposals; give priority to proposals that
provided evidence of national stakeholder engagement; and hold a workshop on improving
189.
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stakeholder engagement. They also requested the Board to introduce specific terms of reference
to assess the degree of outreach to relevant stakeholders and the quality and effectiveness of
the structured dialogues, and to prioritize the long-delayed elaboration of guidelines on
stakeholder engagement.
A representative of the Secretariat took note of the comments and clarified that the
disbursement figure of USD 6 million as of 31 May 2017, related entirely to readiness activities
and did not include expenditure on readiness-related events such as structured dialogues,
which separately amounted to a total of USD 4.3 million. In addition, the figure of USD 37
million-worth of approved readiness proposals related primarily to readiness activities, rather
than events. On the issue of project management costs, the Secretariat had consulted with
institutions and other Funds and had arrived at an interim solution based on an approach
similar to that of the GEF; details of that interim solution would be included in the GCF
guidebook on accessing the GCF Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme, and could also
be included as an amendment to the document.
190.

191.

There being no further comments, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.06.

(b)

Work programme on readiness and preparatory support

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/10 titled “Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme: Work
Programme”. They invited the Board to adopt the draft decision contained in annex I to the
document.
192.

A Board member expressed concern that the readiness work programme and projected
budget for 2018 were not sufficiently mature and required further work. They proposed that
the Board take note of the document and that the Secretariat should use it as a basis for further
development and that a revised version of the readiness work programme and budget should be
submitted to the Board once the independent evaluation of the Readiness Programme was
complete, so that its results could be taken into account.
193.

Another Board member emphasized the importance of conducting field visits to monitor
the implementation of the Readiness Programme on the ground. The same Board member
suggested three ways in which the work programme and budget could be improved: firstly,
include more finely tuned budget projections; secondly, enhance transparency by adding more
detail on the activities listed under table 3 in the document; and thirdly, enhance collaboration
on readiness proposals within the Secretariat, particularly with the PSF and the accreditation
team.
194.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and proposed that the Board proceed as
suggested by said Board member.
195.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/10, and requested the Secretariat to further
develop the work programme taking into account comments made and present it at B.18.
196.

(c)

Terms of reference for the independent evaluation of the Readiness and
Preparatory Support Programme

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and informed the Board that the terms of
reference (TOR) for the independent evaluation of the Readiness and Preparatory Support
Programme had not yet been finalized. They therefore sought the approval of the Board to task
the Independent Evaluation Unit (IEU) to undertake the evaluation and prepare a draft TOR for
approval by the Board as a decision between meetings.
197.
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A Board member asked whether the IEU would be responsible for both developing the
TOR and conducting the evaluation, or whether the Board would develop the TOR for the IEU to
use during its evaluation.
198.

The Co-Chairs clarified that the IEU would develop the TOR and submit it for approval
by the Board at B.18, following which the IEU would implement the evaluation based on the
TOR.
199.

The same Board member expressed concern at the proposed approach and suggested
that the Secretariat, as a neutral body, should develop the TOR.
200.

Another Board member said that it was standard practice for independent evaluation
units to develop and implement their own TOR to evaluate a third party, in this case the
Secretariat.
201.

The Head of the IEU confirmed that the originally proposed approach was standard
practice.
202.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and invited the Board to adopt a revised
decision requesting the Head of the IEU to prepare the TOR in consultation with the Co-Chairs,
to be considered by the Board as a decision between meetings.
203.

204.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/07
The Board:
(a)

Invites the independent Evaluation Unit to undertake the independent evaluation of the
Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme; and

(b)

Requests the head of the independent Evaluation Unit, in consultation with the Co-Chairs,
to prepare the terms of reference for the independent evaluation of the Readiness and
Preparatory Support Programme to be considered by the Board as a decision between
meetings.

Agenda item 14: Status of the GCF portfolio: pipeline and approved
projects
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item, drew the attention of the Board to document
B.17/09, titled “Status of the GCF portfolio: pipeline and approved projects” and invited a
representative of the Secretariat to take the floor.
205.

A representative of the Secretariat gave a presentation on the status of the pipeline of
funding proposals and of concept notes, as well as for the approved portfolio. Figures were
provided for the total volume of finance requested, its distribution by region, sector, instrument,
and type of entity, the amount of co-financing and the expected mitigation and adaptation
impacts. A breakdown of funding proposals by stage in the pipeline was also provided. In
addition, the Secretariat also presented a brief analysis of the portfolio in order to align its
composition with the initial results framework when the portfolio reached USD 2 billion. The
presentation also included a number of recommendations aimed at improving the quality and
balance of the portfolio.
206.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to take note of the status of the GCF pipeline and the
analysis of the portfolio, in line with the draft decision contained in the annex to the document.
207.

General comments

GCF/B.17/22
Page 29

A number of Board members expressed satisfaction at the progress achieved on
improving the GCF portfolio and commended the Secretariat for its interesting presentation and
insightful analysis. A Board member said that the document promoted transparency, and
another expressed satisfaction that half of the funding proposals in the pipeline were built on
the basis of concept notes, which was a reassuring indication that proposals reaching the Board
would be of good quality.
208.

A Board member noted with concern that, according to the document, the current GCF
portfolio consisted of 43 approved projects and programmes worth USD 2.2 billion, with a
potential mitigation impact of 981 million tonnes of CO 2 equivalent (Mt CO2 eq) and 125 million
beneficiaries; whereas the pipeline of potential future projects consisted of more projects worth
a higher amount of funding, but with a lower potential mitigation impact and smaller number of
beneficiaries (58 projects worth 3.4 billion, with a potential mitigation impact of 552 Mt CO2 eq;
87 million beneficiaries), which appeared to show a decline in the impact of GCF funding over
time. They asked the Secretariat to confirm whether that was indeed the case, and if so, to
explain the reasons. Another Board member echoed the same concern and called on the
Secretariat to take an active role in finding innovative solutions to maximize the use of GCF
resources.
209.

A further Board member expressed concern that, according to the current figures, the
trigger for replenishment was not likely to be met within the following year.
210.

Consideration of funding proposals
A number of Board members expressed regret at the decision not to consider funding
proposals at the current meeting, emphasizing that despite the need to make policy
adjustments, the main priority should be to perform the primary role of the GCF Board, namely
to consider and approve funding proposals.
211.

The Board member from Norway stated for the record that the Government of Norway
was firmly committed to the GCF and saw the GCF as the primary mechanism to make an
ambitious contribution to the global efforts towards attaining the goals set by the international
community to combat climate change. The Government of Norway was pleased that the GCF was
fully operational and had approved a number of projects, and was therefore concerned at the
decision not to review projects for approval at B.17. While acknowledging the need to address
key policy issues, the Government of Norway was of the view that such issues should not stop
the Board from continuing to discuss and approve projects. The Government of Norway
therefore regretted the decision not to include approval of funding proposals at B.17.
212.

Balance of portfolio
A Board member expressed satisfaction at the increase in the proportion of adaptation
projects in the pipeline and welcomed the launch in May 2017 of the RFP for mobilizing funds at
scale, expressing the hope that this would attract innovative proposals to the GCF and further
contribute to balancing the GCF portfolio.
213.

While acknowledging the progress achieved towards balancing the distribution of
funding proposals among results areas, a Board member said that more remained to be done,
noting that certain areas still contained very few, or even no funding proposals. In contrast, two
Board members said that the Governing Instrument did not contain a requirement to achieve a
balance among results areas and underlined that since project submissions were the result of a
country-driven process, the composition of the pipeline by results area would naturally be
determined by the priorities set by the countries themselves. Nonetheless, it would be worth
214.
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analysing the reasons behind the imbalance so that if there were any particular barriers to
results areas, they could be addressed.
Two Board members expressed concern at the comparatively low number of funding
proposals and concept notes from DAEs in the pipeline and called on the Secretariat to take
action to redress the balance. Another member noted with consternation that the number of
requests submitted to the Project Preparation Facility was relatively low, and that only 5 of the
18 requests were from DAEs. Said member asked the Secretariat to explain the reasons behind
the imbalance.
215.

Another Board member expressed concern at the high proportion of grants in the
pipeline, which had increased from 41 per cent in B.15 to 64 per cent in B.17, and asked the
Secretariat to explain the reasons behind that trend. The same Board member also voiced
concern over the low proportion of funding proposals and concept notes submitted by AEs from
Eastern Europe and expressed the hope that the recent structured dialogue in Georgia would
result in an increase in submissions from the region. Another Board member, however, pointed
out that subsidizing a loan could still be as cost-efficient as providing a loan, and in many cases
easier, and suggested that the issue should be looked at in detail before reaching any
conclusions.
216.

217.

One Board member specifically encouraged more innovation in private-sector projects.

Instructions and questions to the Secretariat
Two Board members proposed that the Board adopt a decision specifically requesting
the Secretariat to carry out the actions listed as recommendations in paragraph 30 of the
document. One Board member said that those actions would be beneficial in terms of enhancing
efficiency and enabling non-AEs (i.e. entities that were not yet accredited) to become more
involved in the work of the GCF.
218.

Another Board member emphasized the need to align the portfolio composition with the
initial results management framework, and proposed that the time had come for the Secretariat
to conduct the portfolio review mentioned in decision B.09/02 now that the trigger amount of
USD 2 billion had been reached. To that end, the Board member proposed that the draft decision
be amended to request the Secretariat to conduct the portfolio review, and asked the Secretariat
to indicate a feasible date by which the review could be completed.
219.

A further Board member said that the Secretariat should not only identify issues of
concern but also the causes, and should subsequently develop recommendations on how to
address them and implement those recommendations in a timely manner. A further Board
member said that the effectiveness of the accreditation process had a direct impact on the
number of funding proposals submitted to the GCF, and asked the Secretariat to carry out a
more thorough assessment of its progress by drawing links between the results presented in
the document and progress being made on the accreditation of DAEs. They also requested the
inclusion, in future pipeline and portfolio status updates, of a breakdown showing the number
of funding proposals submitted by DAEs in each of the LDCs, Africa and SIDS separately, and
recalled the decision taken at B.13 to prioritize the accreditation of those entities.
220.

Another Board member emphasized the need for programmatic approaches and
proposed that the minimum level of concessionality be adjusted to achieve better leveraging of
finance.
221.

With reference to the document, a Board member asked the Secretariat to clarify
whether the requests for support from the Project Preparation Facility (PPF) referred to
projects already included in the pipeline, or to projects that were not yet included in the
pipeline.
222.
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One Board member said that any funding proposals which did not meet all the
investment criteria – including, for example, the requirement to include a gender action plan –
should not be included in the pipeline status report.
223.

Another Board member asked the Secretariat not to include proposals that were not
sufficiently mature in the reporting figures for the pipeline, to prevent any misleading
presentation of data.
224.

A PSO active observer said that the document contained a number of interesting
suggestions and suggested that to promote balance and diversification of the portfolio, the
Secretariat should experiment with RFPs targeted at specific industry sectors, themes or
regions. This would be important to attract technical expertise from potential partners that may
not otherwise engage with the GCF but which would be more likely to do so if they had specific
criteria to work with, and which would give them better reassurance that their proposals would
receive support. The observer urged the Secretariat to extend its outreach to the private sector
and endorsed the recommendation in the document for the Secretariat to encourage
partnerships between accredited and non-accredited entities.
225.

Response from the Secretariat
A representative of the Secretariat said that the impact for a large number of funding
proposals in the portfolio had not been reported owing to a lack of data in the early stage of
their review, which led to an underreporting of the potential impact of GCF funding. They
welcomed the suggestion to turn the list of recommendations into requested actions. They
further explained that the number of funding proposals from DAEs was currently low because
many proposals from DAEs were still in development as they required extensive support from
the Secretariat, and said that programmes were in place in the Secretariat to provide the
necessary support. As a result, the Secretariat expected the proportion of proposals from DAEs
to increase over time. With regard to the imbalance among results areas, the Secretariat would
welcome instructions from the Board on whether action should be taken to further investigate
barriers to specific results areas, and to redress the balance if necessary.
226.

Further queries from Board members
A Board member said that the key parameter for consideration at the concept note stage
was the climate impact of potential projects, and wondered why some of the concept notes did
not have impact estimates. The Board member reiterated their concern that the climate impact
of the portfolio appeared to be in decline. On the issue of RFPs, the Board member underlined
that the two RFPs issued the previous year had only resulted in two approved projects, and
called for concerted efforts to ensure that any future RFPs were more successful.
227.

Another Board member asked the Secretariat to distinguish in its status report between
projects for which all necessary statistics were available, and those which lacked complete
figures, to allow for clear analysis.
228.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and proposed that a revised draft decision be
submitted to the Board later in the meeting.
229.

230.

The agenda item was suspended.

The Co-Chairs reopened the agenda item the following day and circulated a draft
decision to the Board. Noting that the draft had been amended to incorporate the request from
Board members to convert the recommendations listed in paragraph 30 of the document into
specific requests for action by the Secretariat, they invited the Board to adopt the draft decision
as amended.
231.
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A number of Board members expressed opposition to the adoption of the draft decision
and requested clarification on certain elements. A Board member said that the clause stating, “in
the case of public sector proposals, prioritize concept notes and funding proposals that have
already been submitted to the GCF,” seemed to imply that older, lower-quality proposals were
better than good-quality new ones, and also highlighted that that they had not been consulted
on the amendments to the draft decision. Two Board members noted with concern that the list
of requests to the Secretariat in the draft decision did not fully correlate with the
recommendations in paragraph 30 of the document, and requested the deletion of the
aforementioned clause relating to prioritization, which they said had not been part of the
original list of recommendations. Several Board members questioned the value of the clause
that stated, “also requests the Secretariat to further analyse the portfolio of approved projects
and programmes to identify the results areas in which the GCF’s participation is underrepresented”. One Board member expressed doubts on the proposed sequence of studies,
because these analyses would be identifying solutions to issues yet to be identified in the study
of high impact areas mandated in clause (b). Another suggested that there could be a potential
overlap in the proposed schedule. A further Board member said that certain elements of the text
would need to be adjusted to take account of decision B.17/09 on the review of the initial
proposal approval process.
232.

Another Board member said that the draft decision was perfectly compatible with
decision B.17/09 and with the recommendations listed on paragraph 30 of the document, and
requested the Secretariat to clarify the amendments.
233.

A representative of the Secretariat recalled a number of elements from the presentation
given the previous day and clarified the amendments that had been made to the draft decision
on the basis of comments made by the Board.
234.

235.

A Board member requested clarification on the meaning of the term “non-AEs”.

A representative of the Secretariat said that “non-AEs” referred to entities that had not
yet been accredited but would like to be accredited, and which could form beneficial
partnerships with AEs.
236.

237.

The Co-Chairs proposed that “non-AEs” be amended to “potential AEs”.

A Board member requested that the term “minimum concessionality” be amended to
“minimum amount of concessionality”, in order to align it with the language in decision B.07/05
on what the subsidy element of GCF financing needed to be.
238.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and amendments and proposed the deletion of
the elements of the draft decision on which consensus had not been reached. They invited the
Board to adopt the draft decision as amended. Seeing no objections, they took it that the Board
wished to adopt the draft decision.
239.

240.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/09.

241.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/08
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/09 titled “Status of the GCF portfolio:
pipeline and approved projects”:
(a)

Takes note of the status of the GCF pipeline and the analysis of the portfolio;

(b)

Requests the Secretariat to undertake additional analysis, taking into consideration the
potential investment priority areas presented in document GCF/B.09/06, to identify
specific results areas where targeted GCF investment would have the most impact; and
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(c)

Also requests the Secretariat to undertake the following actions in relation to the relevant
results areas referred to in paragraph (b) above in order to align the portfolio composition
with the initial results management framework contained in decision B.07/04:
(i)

Undertake targeted outreach to promote partnerships between accredited entities
and those potential non-accredited entities that have the technical expertise to
support such results areas;

(ii)

Prepare targeted draft requests for proposals for the Board’s consideration, as
appropriate; and

(iii)

Work with accredited entities to ensure that the financial terms and conditions
proposed in concept notes and funding proposals for concessional loan products
meet the principles agreed in annex XIII to decision B.07/05 (annex XIII to
document GCF/B.07/11), including on the minimum amount of concessionality,
and in this context, and pending the conclusion of the review of financial terms and
conditions, apply the financial terms and conditions set out in annex II to decision
B.09/04 (annex II to document GCF/B.09/23) in a fit-for-purpose manner,
provided that such terms and conditions do not exceed the upper limits set out
therein.

Agenda item15: Policy matters related to the approval of funding
proposals
(a)

Review of the initial proposal approval process

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/18 titled “Review of the initial proposal approval process” and explained
that annex I to the document contained a draft decision which reflected a number of points
discussed and agreed upon by the Board during a two-day informal Board meeting held
immediately before the current Board meeting. They thanked the Board members for their
constructive and cooperative approach to the informal discussions and invited the Board to
adopt the draft decision.
242.

A Board member said that they believed that decision B.11/11, paragraph (l) may have
included a reference to “in particular direct access entities”, and requested the Co-Chairs to
verify that the wording of annex III of the document, section 3.4, sub-item 1, accurately reflected
the language used in said decision.
243.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comment and confirmed that the amendment would be
made to the document.
244.

245.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/18.

246.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/09
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/18 titled “Review of the initial proposal
approval process”:
(a)

Takes note of the update from the Investment Committee on progress related to Boardmandated work on indicative minimum benchmarks, financial terms and conditions, and
the performance review of the independent Technical Advisory Panel;
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(b)

Also takes note of the review of the initial proposal approval process undertaken pursuant
to decision B.11/11, paragraph (j);

(c)

Endorses the immediate actions that the Secretariat will implement in order to improve
the effectiveness, transparency and country ownership of the initial proposal approval
process, as contained in annex IV;

(d)

Requests the Secretariat to only submit to the Board those funding proposals:
(i)

Submitted to the Secretariat by entities accredited by the Board that have signed
accreditation master agreements;

(ii)

Submitted to the Secretariat by entities accredited by the Board that have not
signed accreditation master agreements, provided that such submission to the
Secretariat occurs no later than 120 days from the date of the decision by the
Board to accredit the relevant entity;

(iii)

Submitted to the Secretariat in response to requests for proposals issued by the
GCF; or

(iv)

From those entities who have not yet signed the accreditation master agreement
that have proposals currently at stage 4 of the updated project and programme
activity cycle;

(e)

Underscores the importance of early engagement by accredited entities with national
designated authorities and focal points in the preparation and submission of concept
notes;

(f)

Agrees, in the context of decision B.11/11, paragraph (p), to insert the following new stage
into the project and proposal activity cycle:
“On receipt of a concept note submission from an accredited entity, the Secretariat
will seek confirmation from the national designated authority or focal point that
the concept note fits under national priorities and country ownership”;

(g)

Requests the Secretariat to prepare a document, for the Board’s consideration at its
nineteenth meeting, which outlines options for the development of a two-stage proposal
approval process, with stage 1 focusing on concept note approval and stage 2 focusing on
the assessments by the Secretariat and the independent Technical Advisory Panel and
Board consideration;

(h)

Also requests the Secretariat to present to the Board implementation challenges identified
in the application of the initial proposal approval process, including policy matters
identified during the Secretariat’s assessment of funding proposals, for the Board’s
consideration at the earliest opportunity, including information on budgetary
considerations;

(i)

Decides that the Secretariat shall only submit to the Board for its consideration those
funding proposals (stage 5 of the updated project and programme activity cycle) whose
approval has been recommended by the independent Technical Advisory Panel and the
Secretariat;

(j)

Confirms that proposals not recommended by the independent Technical Advisory Panel
and the Secretariat, as outlined in paragraph (i) above, will continue to be revised by the
Secretariat and accredited entities at stage 5 of the updated project and programme
activity cycle;
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(k)

Requests the Secretariat to inform the Board at each Board meeting on the status of
funding proposals that either the Secretariat or the independent Technical Advisory Panel
do not recommend for approval and do not submit to the Board;

(l)

Also requests the Secretariat to develop and publish clear timelines for its assessment of
funding proposals to ensure timely consideration of funding proposals by the Secretariat,
the independent Technical Advisory Panel and the Board;

(m)

Further requests the Co-Chairs, in consultation with the Board, to explore options for the
timely consideration of funding proposals between Board meetings;

(n)

Decides to update the project and programme activity cycle as contained in annex V;

(o)

Requests the Secretariat to define the nature, scope and extent of second-level due
diligence and submit the same to the Board for its consideration no later than April 2018;
and

(p)

Also requests the Secretariat to develop an interim restructuring and cancellation policy,
including further options for decision-making, for consideration by the Board no later than
its eighteenth session, and a comprehensive restructuring and cancellation policy no later
than April 2018.

(b)

Status of the fulfilment of conditions associated with the approval of
relevant funding proposals

This agenda sub-item was not opened because items relevant to this had already been
included in the previous agenda item on the “Review of the initial proposal approval process”
discussed and agreed upon by the Board during a two-day informal Board meeting held
immediately before the current Board meeting.
247.

(c)

Matters arising from the informal discussions

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/19 titled “Strengthening and scaling up the GCF pipeline: establishing
strategic programming priorities”. They explained that the draft decision contained in annex I to
the document incorporated elements of the discussion held at the informal Board meeting,
including a request to the Secretariat to carry out work on eligibility criteria, incremental cost
methodology, co-financing policy, and the concessionality of GCF resources, among other areas.
248.

249.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to adopt the draft decision.

Board members suggested a number of minor amendments to clarify the language of the
draft decision.
250.

The Co-Chairs took note of the proposed amendments and invited the Board to adopt
the draft decision as amended.
251.

252.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/19.

253.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/10
The Board, having considered the document GCF/B.17/19 titled “Strengthening and
scaling up the GCF pipeline: establishing strategic programming priorities”:
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(a)

Reaffirms the elements of funding proposal eligibility criteria embedded in previous
decisions, including those related to the results management framework, the investment
framework, country ownership, and engagement with nationally designated authorities,
focal points and accredited entities;

(b)

Requests the Secretariat, under the guidance of Co-Chairs, to develop a mapping document
that identifies all elements related to project and programme eligibility and selection
criteria included in previous decisions, conditions imposed by the Board on funding
proposals, and the Governing Instrument for the GCF that can contribute to strengthening
the eligibility criteria of the GCF, and present this for the Board’s consideration at its
eighteenth meeting as part of the ongoing process to simplify and clarify project and
programme eligibility and selection criteria and update the policies and procedures of the
GCF;

(c)

Also requests the Secretariat, under the guidance of the Co-Chairs, to develop a proposal
for the Board’s consideration at its nineteenth meeting, taking into account best practices
from other multilateral funds and other approaches, to address the following:

(d)

(i)

The development and application of an incremental cost calculation methodology
and/or alternative methodologies, as appropriate;

(ii)

Guidance on the approach and scope for providing support to adaptation
activities;

(iii)

A policy on co-financing; and

(iv)

Options for further guidance on concessionality, building on related work; and

Reaffirms the importance of the following ongoing work of the Board that will contribute
to providing policy guidance in the development of funding proposals:
(i)

Reviews of the financial terms and conditions of GCF financial instruments;

(ii)

Indicative minimum benchmarks; and

(iii)

Risk management framework.

Under the same agenda sub-item, the Co-Chairs recalled that during the informal
working meeting of the Board, discussions had been held on the establishment of a strategic
programming priorities policy for the GCF. Following a proposal by a Board member, the CoChairs circulated a draft decision on the topic and invited the Board to adopt it.
254.

Two Board members said that certain elements of the draft decision were reiterations of
existing decisions and proposed that those elements be deleted. One Board member suggested
an amendment to the text to state that the review of the climate mitigation and adaptation
needs should be focused only on the added value of GCF funding, rather than the overall global
climate needs.
255.

Another Board member expressed opposition to the adoption of the draft decision on
the basis that it required extensive further development.
256.

The Co-Chairs proposed that further consultations be carried out on the topic of
strategic programming with a view to submitting a draft decision for consideration by the Board
at B.18.
257.

258.

The agenda item was closed.

Agenda item 16: GCF risk management framework

GCF/B.17/22
Page 37

The Co-Chairs opened the item and introduced document GCF/B.17/12 titled “GCF risk
management framework: Risk Management Committee proposal” which presented the proposal
from the RMC on the first set of components of the updated GCF risk management framework
(RMF) for consideration by the Board.
259.

They thanked the Secretariat and the RMC for all their hard work in developing the
document. They invited the Secretariat to present an introduction.
260.

A representative of the Secretariat provided an overview of the revised RMF including
its components. The work on the RMF was undertaken in response to requests from the Board
to enhance the Secretariat’s risk management capacity. The framework supported the strategy
of the GCF to invest in high-risk projects and programmes to achieve its climate impact targets.
A summary of the five components for discussion was given, noting that the RMF complemented
the broader investment framework and did not define investment strategy. The representative
explained the guidelines that were being proposed to prevent extreme concentration and
ensure diversification, emphasizing that the guidelines were not target amounts. A note was
made that the objective of the RMF was to give the Board the right information to make
informed decisions.
261.

262.

The Co-Chairs invited the coordinator of the RMC to comment.

The coordinator, Mr. Cyril Rousseau, reminded Board members that the document was a
result of work of the Secretariat and a consulting firm. On behalf of the RMC, the coordinator
thanked the Secretariat for the quality of work and the interaction with the RMC. The process
for the development of the RMF had been very inclusive, involving the RMC, the Co-Chairs’
teams, a question and answer format (Q&A) with committees, engagement with Board
members, and a Q&A with developing and developed countries. The work had been guided by
the GCF mandate to promote paradigm shift in the context of low-emission and climate-resilient
development. This involved the GCF taking risks which other institutions and funds may not be
willing or able to take. The RMF sought to provide for adequate risk-taking on funding proposals
while mitigating other risks such as fiduciary, operational or reputational risks.
263.

In terms of the Committee’s assessment of the RMF, there were three key points the
Committee wished to highlight:
264.

(a)

The need to ensure that the RMF supported the strategic plan of the GCF;

(b)

It was essential that the RMF did not impair the GCF mandate and did not overlap with
other policies. Furthermore, it was not an investment framework;

(c)

The risk appetite statement incorporated guidelines to prevent concentration that could
involve high risk to the GCF. The Committee’s view was that it was important to have
concentration guidelines for two reasons: (a) to prevent extreme concentration such as
an adverse event in a project, result area or country which could catastrophically affect
the viability of the GCF or its ability to meet its mandate; (b) to protect the GCF from the
reputational risk of being perceived as favouring a particular country or project. The
coordinator stressed that these were only ‘guidelines’ and hence were presented in
brackets for Board consideration.

In conclusion, the RMC deemed the updated RMF to be sound and balanced and
proposed that the document be approved by the Board.
265.

The Co-Chairs thanked the RMC for their work, and the coordinator for the report, and
asked Board members to consider the decision in annex I. They opened the floor for comments.
266.

267.

Several comments and suggestions were made by Board members.

General comments
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A number of Board members commended the Secretariat and the RMC for their work
and expressed support for the RMF, including the draft decision.
268.

One Board member stated that the RMF would be an important factor in increasing the
ability of the GCF to leverage funds.
269.

Two Board members commended the Q&A approach which had been taken by the
Secretariat. This approach provided a useful precedent to enable issues to be resolved ahead of
Board meetings, which would then make them more efficient.
270.

One Board member underlined the need for the Secretariat to continue to increase its
risk management capacity.
271.

Specific comments and questions
Concentration risk
Board members held an initial discussion on the concentration risk described in annex
IV: Risk management framework component III – risk dashboard. One Board member expressed
concern at the concentration risk. They recalled that they had raised concerns regarding
concentration at the sixth meeting of the Board (B.06) as recorded in the report of the meeting.
A number of other Board members present, and also present in the current meeting, provided
an assurance that there was no need for concern regarding a concentration issue. The Board
member stated that the RMF should not be used to determine an allocation framework for the
GCF. They said that it looked like a way of introducing an ex-ante cap. If this was the case, they
could not support it. They expressed serious concern that there was considered to be no risk
with AEs, when around USD 1 billion was sitting with AEs which had not signed AMAs. In terms
of a guideline, they proposed avoiding any percentage allocation but rather having a threshold
above which the Secretariat would be required to inform the Board. The same Board member
wished to know which benchmarking had been used by the Secretariat. Two Board members
expressed support for the comments of the Board member above, with one stating that
concentration risk already existed in terms of types of entities being accredited. The second
Board member, while recognizing the point made by the coordinator of the RMC that this was a
risk and not an allocation, noted that it read like an allocation. However, another Board member
expressed strong support for concentration risk. They stated that concentration limits were
particularly relevant because GCF was a new fund with a significant volume of resources and
working across different sectors and partners. The GCF needed to proactively manage risk and
ensure a diversified portfolio.
272.

Accredited entities
A Board member wished to know why the GCF was not proposing to assess AEs and was
merely ‘monitoring’? Since boundaries were being determined, a figure should be set for AEs.
This view was echoed by another two Board members. One of these Board members stated that
figures would be indicative and if there were any proposal to exceed figures set then this should
be brought to the attention of the Board.
273.

Foreign exchange risk
A Board member stated that under section 5.3 “Tolerance level 2”, the document needed
to be clearer in respect of foreign exchange risk in terms of running projects in different
currencies.
274.

Reputational risk
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A Board member sought clarification on reputational risk. The member noted that
reputational risk, as one of the major risks facing the GCF was, in part, driven by other risks and,
as such, zero tolerance was not possible. The Board member proposed separating reputational
risk driven by other risks from reputational risk associated with the GCF, its Board members or
Secretariat behaviour. Another Board member said that there were reputational risks for which
zero tolerance was needed while other such risks needed to be managed.
275.

Funding proposals
A Board member asked if the proposed RMF would introduce changes at the project
level and who would determine where to allocate a funding proposal into low/medium/high
risk categories. Would the Secretariat bring a funding proposal that was high risk for
consideration by the Board, if high risk were associated with an element of the project?
276.

Current risk assessment
Another Board member wished to know what risks or set of risks were considered most
concerning for the Secretariat at the present stage in the development of the GCF.
277.

Decision
One Board member requested that paragraph (d) not be tied to the scheduling of Board
meetings but instead be done on a quarterly basis.
278.

Active observers
The CSO active observer stated that in previous interventions on the RMF they had
warned that the GCF needed to take reputational risk and compliance risk with a zero- to lowtolerance approach. They requested clarification on whether the United Nations Guiding
Principles on Business and Human Rights were considered in the development of the RMF,
because civil society believed it to be a relevant framework to identify and manage potential
risks related to climate change actions. Furthermore, such an approach was being used by the
private sector.
279.

The observer underlined that it was critical that, in its approach to financial investment
and impact, the GCF be a risk-taking institution. As had been emphasized on previous occasions,
the GCF should not be tied to the risk-averseness of its AEs and it should be prepared to lose its
money in first-loss tranches, where necessary. In this regard, the observer generally welcomed
the proposed risk appetite statement in annex III.
280.

However, civil society had several concerns regarding annex III and the risk appetite
statement as follows:
281.

(a)

In section 5.2.1 under the sub-heading “compliance risk” the stated “zero tolerance” for
working with Parties subject to sanctions, embargoes and so on was ambiguous because
it seemed to refer just to countries. It should be made clear that this zero-tolerance
approach also extended to firms that were sanctioned for reasons of fraud or corruption
by international institutions (e.g. those debarred in accordance with the Agreement for
Mutual Enforcement of Debarrement Decisions);

(b)

In section 5.2.2, the consequences of “compliance breaches” were not spelled out, and
how these would be applied to Board members (and whether they would also apply to
alternate members or advisers). However, the observer welcomed a “zero-tolerance”
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approach to breaches of the Gender policy and action plan, among other measures. A
future policy on indigenous peoples should be added to this section;
(c)

In section 5.3.4, the observer also wished to see a “zero-tolerance” approach applied to
non-compliance by AEs against international requirements, for which the risk appetite
under this section stated a “moderate risk tolerance”. This section also failed to make
reference to the Information Disclosure policy or a future policy on indigenous peoples;

(d)

Furthermore, the observer expressed concern that the indicative targets under section
5.3.1 on “concentration risk” were currently set too high for total investible amounts
going into a single results area, into a single country and into a single proposal
respectively. They suggested that these be lowered before the adoption of any decision;

(e)

In annex V, section 4.1, regarding the provision of guidelines for assessing risk of
programme/project failing to make an impact, the observer noted a concern that this
section introduced language about mitigation and adaptation that seemed unnecessary.
Efforts to define the role of the GCF as a “critical catalyst” in “directly” achieving
adaptation objectives could be used as part of a push for a narrower definition of
adaptation and should not be included in the RMF; and

(f)

Finally, they stated that the draft decision and annex V referred to the proposed new
“risk guidelines for funding proposals” replacing interim risk and investment guidelines
adopted in decision B.13/36. The observer sought reassurance from the Board that with
the new guidelines being adopted, the GCF would maintain its ability to provide up to
100 per cent of agreed full and agreed incremental costs as grants for public-sector
proposals in line with paragraph 35 of the Governing Instrument; this was the guideline
in decision B.13/36, annex VIII that would now be superseded.

The PSO active observer expressed support for the RMF as broadly comprehensive and
which set out clear guidelines on the GCF risk management strategy. The observer made two
recommendations, as follows:
282.

(a)

The RMF set out guidelines for the AEs, which would be monitored at the funding
proposal level, but it was not explicit on how the guidelines should apply to
intermediaries in developing countries, especially in relation to the management of
credit and currency risk. The guidelines supported the notion that the GCF would
actively take credit risk, and to some extent currency risk, to meet its strategic mandate
of promoting paradigm shift. However, it was unclear how the AEs would manage this
risk in its interaction with intermediaries. The observer stated that this point related to
their previous comments on how concessionality would be passed through to private
sector entities in developing countries (such as small and medium-sized enterprises,
microfinance institutions and other commercial institutions that had been identified in
funding proposals as the intermediaries that would be co-opted to assist with roll-out of
energy efficiency programmes). They recommended that high-level guidelines be
included to address this; and

(b)

As part of future developments and updates to the RMF, the PSO active observer
recommended that the Secretariat should develop risk methodologies which would
encourage and promote the use of different guarantee structures, rather than only
grants and concessional loans as part of the objective to mobilize resource at scale. To
ensure linkage with the Operational Framework on complementarity and coherence, the
observer also suggested cooperation and engagement with other climate finance
institutions and MDBs offering similar structures to ensure a coordinated approach.

Secretariat response
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In terms of the query from a Board member as to who would assess risk at the funding
proposal level, the AEs provided the initial assessment. The Secretariat then undertook a further
assessment using financial models and summarized this information for the relevant Secretariat
divisions (i.e. Division of Mitigation and Adaptation and PSF).
283.

Regarding benchmarking, the representative of the Secretariat stated that the Clean
Technology Fund of the CIFs and its Scaling Up Renewable Energy in Low Income Countries
Program (SREP) were used to set some of the guidelines.
284.

Regarding setting a tolerance to reputational risk, this was an overarching risk. In a fund
similar to the GCF, it was usually split between financial and operational risk. Operational risk
included lack of proper information technology (IT), emails sent out accidentally and high staff
turnover.
285.

Regarding the risk of most concern at this stage in the development of the GCF, this was
at the operational level in terms of the effective building of the institution, including the
appropriate culture and effective technology.
286.

Regarding whether to set a tolerance or guideline level of risk at the AE level, this had
been the subject of extensive discussion between the Secretariat and the RMC. The conclusion
reached was that it was too early to take that decision; there was a need to build up the AE
portfolio and when this reached a critical mass, a decision could be taken. Feedback on
concentration would be provided to the Board on a quarterly basis.
287.

Risk Management Committee coordinator response
The coordinator said that the AE risk was quite concentrated in the early stages of the
GCF portfolio. Although it needed to be taken into consideration, the RMC had not wanted to set
limits too high; it was too early to set lasting guidelines for AEs. In the early stages, it was
necessary to build the capacity of the Secretariat to assess different types of investment
products. Furthermore, as the Secretariat had stated, the Board would have feedback on the
concentration risk quarterly.
288.

289.

The Co-Chairs adjourned the item.

The Co-Chairs reopened the item on the second day of the Board meeting and asked the
coordinator of the RMC to provide an update.
290.

The coordinator informed the Board members of amendments to the document and on
behalf of the RMC recommended that the decision be approved.
291.

A Board member stated that they still had a concern regarding concentration risk and
Board members entered into a further discussion on this. One Board member noted that in the
revised document, country concentration risk would now only be “monitored”, as “guidelines”
had been removed. It therefore merely provided a statement of facts. This would allow the
dashboard to be further developed.
292.

The coordinator of the RMC reminded the Board that concentration risk was not the
main element of the RMF. Furthermore, in terms of timescale, the risk dashboard was not due to
be presented to the Board before the nineteenth meeting of the Board (B.19). In this regard, the
coordinator proposed that the Board consider the dashboard at B.18 when other risk policy
documents were considered.
293.

The Board member who had initially raised this concern asked if it was possible to
separate elements of the RMF ‘package’ to enable a decision to be taken on some of these. The
Board member also stated that they would like to have further input from their own risk experts
on the matter. They emphasized that this issue was most important because this was about the
294.
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impact of climate change on people’s lives, and was not merely about financial risk. The Board
member asked if the GCF would only be measuring the GCF component or the broader risks,
including entities. They also noted that the GCF was dealing with a variety of different
instruments including loans, guarantees and blending.
The RMC coordinator stated that what was presented was not a financial risk indicator;
the calculation represented the approval amount over the investible amount. It was to show the
exposure of the GCF, not purely in financial terms but overall.
295.

Another Board member stated that annex III: Risk management framework component
II – risk appetite statement was misleading. Under “concentration risk” the focus was on money,
not on greenhouse gas reductions or per capita investment. For said Board member it was
premature for the GCF to be considering concentration risk and further analytical work from the
Secretariat was required.
296.

On the revised document, a Board member applauded the removal of “country limit”
from the document. In terms of other risk categories, the Board member noted that the
document did not reflect the risks associated with the absence of privileges and immunities.
There were several mitigation measures that the GCF could consider, including purchasing
liability insurance. The risks needed to be highlighted, not hidden in an annex. If it was not
possible for the GCF to obtain United Nations status as discussed under the agenda item on
privileges and immunities (agenda item 8 (a)), then it would be essential to incorporate the
work of the Independent Redress Mechanism in risk considerations. It was important for the
Secretariat to identify those links and the possible mitigation measures which could be
considered. On the question of AEs, the Board member requested that a figure be inserted.
297.

A Board member suggested deleting the term “concentration risk” in the document
(section 5.3.1, p. 26) and insert instead “investment by approved funding”. Two Board members,
one of whom had raised the original concern, stated that amending text was not sufficient to
advance the issue and that fresh thinking around country concentration was needed. One of the
Board members was of the opinion that taking a decision on this could impact the pipeline.
298.

299.

The Co-Chairs called for a further adjournment.

The Co-Chairs reopened the item later on the second day of the Board meeting and
informed the Board that it had prepared a revised draft decision and further changes to the
document for Board consideration.
300.

301.

There being no further objections, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/12.

302.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/11
The Board, having reviewed document GCF/B.17/12 titled “GCF risk management
framework: Risk Management Committee proposal”:
(a)

Adopts the first set of components of the risk management framework as contained in
annexes VI to IX to this document as follows:
(i)

Risk management framework component I – revised risk register, as set out in
annex VI;

(ii)

Risk management framework component II – risk appetite statement, as set out in
annex VII;

(iii)

Risk management framework component III – risk dashboard, as set out in annex
VIII;
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(iv)

(b)

Risk management framework component IV – “Risk guidelines for funding
proposals”, as set out in annex IX;

Agrees that the:
(i)

Risk management framework component I – revised risk register referred to in
paragraph (a) (i) above replaces the risk register adopted through decision
B.12/34;

(ii)

Risk management framework component II – risk appetite statement referred to in
paragraph (a) (ii) above replaces the risk appetite methodology adopted pursuant
to decision B.10/08 and contained in annex XXIV to decision B.10/08 (annex XXIV
to document GCF/B.10/17);

(iii)

Risk management framework component III – risk dashboard referred to in
paragraph (a) (iii) above replaces the risk dashboard adopted pursuant to decision
B.10/08 and contained in annex XXIII to decision B.10/08 (annex XXIII to
document GCF/B.10/17);

(iv)

Risk management framework component IV – “Risk guidelines for funding
proposals” referred to in paragraph (a) (iv) above replaces the “Interim risk and
investment guidelines for the public sector” and “Interim risk and investment
guidelines for the private sector” adopted pursuant to decision B.13/36 and
contained in annexes VIII and IX, respectively, to decision B.13/36 (annexes VIII
and IX to document GCF/B.13/32/Rev.01);

(c)

Notes that the first set of components of the risk management framework as contained in
annexes VI to IX complements the financial risk management framework adopted pursuant
to decision B.07/05;

(d)

Takes note of the proposed preliminary risk dashboard in annex VIII; and requests the
Secretariat to further develop the risk dashboard and the underlying methodologies for
consideration by the Board at its eighteenth meeting; the risk dashboard will be published
every quarter thereafter;

(e)

Takes note of the risk rating approach as set out in annex X;

(f)

Requests the Secretariat to continue with the development of appropriate risk rating
models with the support from an external professional service provider and in consultation
with the Risk Management Committee and present the risk rating models for consideration
by the Board at its nineteenth meeting; and

(g)

Also requests the Secretariat to continue with the development of the risk management
framework and its remaining components in consultation with the Risk Management
Committee and present these for consideration of the Board at its eighteenth meeting.

Agenda item 17: Performance management agreements for Boardappointed officials
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item in an executive session and introduced limited
distribution document titled, “Performance criteria and measurement procedures for Boardappointed officials”.
303.

A full report on this agenda sub-item is included in the limited distribution addendum to
the report.
304.

305.

A decision was adopted under this agenda item:
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DECISION B.17/12
The Board:
(a)

Decides to adopt the Performance criteria and measurement procedures for the Executive
Director as presented in annex X; and

(b)

Agrees to use the table as presented in annex X as a template for all Board-appointed
officials for their performance framework.

Agenda item 18: Matters related to accreditation
(a)

Consideration of accreditation proposals

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and introduced document GCF/B.17/05
entitled “Consideration of accreditation proposals.”
306.

They invited the Secretariat and the chair of the Accreditation Panel (AP) to make
presentations.
307.

A representative of the Secretariat presented an overview of the overall pipeline of
accreditation, the direct access pipeline, including geographical spread by region, support for
DAEs, improvements to the process that were being undertaken, and a summary of entities
recommended for accreditation by the AP for the Board’s consideration at B.17. If all 6 entities
were accredited the overall portfolio of AEs would increase from 48 to 54, and the portfolio of
DAEs would increase from 48 per cent to 50 per cent in relation to international access entities
(IAEs). The representative of the Secretariat indicated that a correction to the Board document
was to be made regarding a reference.3
308.

The chair of the AP presented an update on the six accreditation recommendations. All
except one were located in the Asia-Pacific region and all except one were involved in large or
medium scales of financing or high or medium environmental and social risk category. This
package reflected the priorities set by the Board. The chair noted that the Board may be
concerned by the number of entities recommended, but pointed out that the assessment was
getting more difficult. All six entities had conditions, and in one case the entity was encouraged
to seek readiness and preparatory support. There were two common types of conditions:
conditions prior to first disbursement by the GCF; and conditions to a specific financing request.
In two cases, the AP had downgraded the requirements of applicants, because of a) size and (b)
environmental and social risk category. The AP was also working on clearing conditions of AEs
and upgrade applications. Assessments were now taking longer because most of the entities
eligible for fast-tracking were already accredited. The mean timescale for assessments during
Stage II (Step 1) was 3–6 months. As such, it was not generally possible to finalize assessments
between two Board meetings, and therefore was likely that an entity could be presented at a
subsequent Board meeting. For B.18, the AP anticipated a minimum of four DAEs with one
upgrade, but in the best-case scenario, eight entities may be recommended.
309.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments and requested that all those making
interventions did not name the entities seeking accreditation, because they were not present. It
was important that the process was seen to be fair by all those involved.
310.

General comments

3

The correction to the document GCF/B.17/05 on page 91 relating to applicant 053 in paragraph 37(b)(iii)(1) would
be changed from “paragraph 37(b)(i)” to “paragraph 37(b)(ii)(3)”.
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Several Board members thanked the AP and the Secretariat for their hard work. One
Board member expressed concern at the small number of entities being presented to the Board
for accreditation. They urged the Secretariat and the AP to focus on ensuring a large volume
were presented in future. Another Board member echoed the need to accelerate the
accreditation process and welcomed suggestions from the Secretariat on how this might be
achieved. They also commended the Secretariat and the AP for operationalizing the Board’s
requests regarding accreditation, which supported the notion of a learning-by-doing approach,
noting that the package presented was well balanced. They said that current progress would not
have been possible without extensive readiness support. Another Board member expressed
support for all six entities. Regarding the pipeline, a further Board member wished to know how
many entities in Stages I and II (Step 1) were eligible for fast-tracking? The Secretariat
explained that of the fast-track entities, 15 of the 74 in Stage I were considered to be able to
proceed through the fast-track process. However, they noted that fast-track eligible entities
were not necessarily the types of entities in the Board’s prioritization decision, so this would
affect those entities coming forward in the process.
311.

One Board member requested that the Secretariat provide an update on how IAEs could
support DAEs.
312.

Entity portfolios and carbon footprints
A broader theme was raised by one Board member. The Board member noted that the
CSOs had expressed concerns regarding the carbon footprint of two entities recommended for
accreditation. They noted that it was important for the GCF to engage with these kinds of
entities and provide incentives to shift these entities in a sustainable direction. This would help
to shift the global financial flows towards low-carbon and climate-resilient development
pathways, in line with the Paris Agreement. Their progress in reducing their carbon footprint
would be monitored by the AP; and this would also affect their re-accreditation in the absence
of progress. Furthermore, they stated that accreditation did not mean approval of projects.
Another Board member supported the concerns expressed by the first Board member, stating
that the portfolios of some entities being recommended for accreditation were not what they
wished to see. However, this was exactly the direction the GCF needed to take in shifting
portfolios around the world. A third Board member echoed this view, stating that they wished
to see all entities seeking accreditation showing commitment to climate-resilient pathways.
Furthermore, they wished to see specific projects and proposals from all entities showing
innovation and transformational change. A fourth Board member supported the views
expressed by the first three Board members in terms of seeking portfolio improvement from
these agencies seeking accreditation. They had carefully considered all six entities
recommended by the AP and had received representations on them. Based on the expectation of
seeing improvements in their portfolios, they were prepared to support the accreditation of all
six entities. A fifth member echoed this view.
313.

Gender
Two Board members expressed concern that four out of six entities had gender-related
conditions attached to their recommendations. They requested that the Secretariat provide an
update on gender-related conditions of previously accredited entities. The Secretariat stated
that six entities which had been accredited with conditions related to gender had addressed
those conditions, and that these were considered closed by the AP. Furthermore, the Secretariat
indicated it was working with the remaining entities with accreditation conditions related to
gender to conclude these as soon as possible.
314.

Decision
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315.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to adopt the decision.

A Board member raised a point of order and requested that the Co-Chairs invite the
active observers to make their intervention prior to the adoption of the decision.
316.

The Co-Chairs clarified that in accordance with the Rules of Procedure, active observers
were invited to make interventions based on the prerogative of the Co-Chairs. The Co-Chairs
were now inviting the Board to take note of the document and adopt the decision.
317.

318.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/05.

319.

There being no objections, the Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/13
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/05 titled “Consideration of
accreditation proposals”:
(a)

Takes note with appreciation the assessments conducted by the Secretariat and the
Accreditation Panel contained in the relevant annexes for the following applicants:
(i)

Applicant 050 (APL050) is CDG Capital S.A. (CDG Capital), based in Morocco, as
contained in annex XII;

(ii)

Applicant 051 (APL051) is Infrastructure Development Company Limited (IDCOL),
based in Bangladesh, as contained in annex XIII;

(iii)

Applicant 052 (APL052) is the Small Industries Development Bank of India (SIDBI),
based in India, as contained in annex XIV;

(iv)

Applicant 053 (APL053) is the Micronesia Conservation Trust (MCT), based in
Micronesia (Federated States of), as contained in annex XV;

(v)

Applicant 054 (APL054) is the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. (BTMU),
headquartered in Japan, as contained in annex XVI; and

(vi)

Applicant 055 (APL055) is the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA)
headquartered in Japan, as contained in annex XVII;

(b)

Accredits applicants APL050, APL051, APL052, APL053, APL054 and APL055 pursuant to
paragraph 45 of the Governing Instrument for the GCF, subject to and in accordance with
the assessments by the Accreditation Panel contained in the relevant annexes for each of
the applicants. A summary of the recommended accreditation types and conditions and/or
remarks, if any, for each applicant is contained in annex XVIII;

(c)

Takes note, pursuant to decision B.08/03, paragraph (k), that the Secretariat, in
consultation with the Accreditation Panel, is proposing that eligibility to apply under the
fast-track accreditation process be extended to those entities listed in annex XIX; and

(d)

Decides that those entities referred to in annex XIX are also eligible to apply under the fasttrack accreditation process for the standards of the GCF, in accordance with decision
B.08/03, paragraph (f) for entities accredited by the Adaptation Fund and decision
B.08/03, paragraph (g) for entities accredited by the Directorate-General for International
Development and Cooperation.

Following the adoption of the decision, the Co-Chairs invited active observers to make
interventions. The Co-Chairs reminded the active observers that the names of the entities
seeking accreditation should not be stated because they were not present, but that entities
could be referred to in general terms.
320.
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The CSO active observer expressed comments on three entities. The first concerned a
commercial bank in Japan. The Board’s accreditation of said bank would pose a serious
reputational risk to a fund that was meant to combat climate change. They stated that this bank
was one of the most coal-addicted banks. It had received the lowest rating of “F” among 37
international banks assessed for their management of climate risk in the “Banking on Climate
Change” 2017 report. Along with Japanese colleagues, whose statement had been sent to the
Secretariat, their accreditation was unequivocally opposed by civil society.
321.

The active observer warmly welcomed the accreditation of another entity working in a
SIDS in the Asia-Pacific region, which they stated was a highly vulnerable region very much in
need of adaptation and resilience that was not well represented among AEs. The organization
understood how to reach the local level and made use of on-the-ground knowledge to adapt
to climate change. The accreditation also showed small grants had an important place in the
GCF; civil society hoped the accreditation of this entity by GCF would encourage similar
organizations to follow their example.
322.

The third entity was an international bilateral entity which, along with the
socioeconomic development initiatives in developing countries, supported coal-powered
projects. The active observer indicated that the international bilateral entity financed USD 3.7
billion for coal power plants in India, Viet Nam and Bangladesh between 2003 and 2017.
Another 1000 MW coal-fired project was in the pipeline for financing, despite the opposition of
local community groups in Indonesia. The observer concluded with a recommendation to the
GCF Board that the latter should require the entity, at a minimum, to disclose its exposure to
carbon-related assets and financing policies to manage the climate risk in line with the 1.5 – 2degree scenario and targets for decarbonizing the financing portfolio, and to commit not to
finance any coal projects in the future.
323.

324.

The Co-Chairs thanked the CSO active observer for their balanced intervention.

A Board member requested that in future active observers be invited to speak before
decisions were taken by the Board.
325.

The Co-Chairs again reminded Board members of the Rules of Procedure, namely
paragraph 37 of the Rules of Procedure, that the Co-Chairs may invite active observers to
participate in the deliberations of the Board. The contribution of active observers was greatly
valued. The Co-Chairs also had to take into account the many sensitivities in chairing the
meeting, including considerations regarding participation of active observers, the reputation of
the GCF and the reputation of AEs.
326.

327.

The agenda item was closed.

(b)

Accreditation policy matters

The Co-Chairs opened the sub-item and reminded Board members of previous decisions
regarding this matter, ref. B.10/06, B.12/21, B.13/19, B.13/28 and B.14/08.
328.

They invited the AC to update the Board on the progress made in addressing these
mandates.
329.

The chair of the AC, Ms. Diann Black-Layne, informed the Board that there had been
several changes in the six-person Committee in the past year. The chair reminded Board
members that a draft strategy on accreditation had been presented at the fourteenth meeting of
the Board (B.14) and that document, without amendments, had been re-issued along with the
policy gaps document. Following a large amount of work by the Committee, members were
considering the best way forward. For the benefit of new Board members, the chair provided a
brief summary as follows:
330.
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When considering the strategy on accreditation, the Board had identified a number of
policy gaps including: (i) access modalities; (ii) post-accreditation and upgrading; and (iii) types
of entities eligible for accreditation.
331.

On (i) access modalities, some proposals had been developed to provide a clearer
definition of DAEs; the Committee had also looked at geographical scope for DAEs and they
were still considering accreditation and affiliates.
332.

On (ii) post-accreditation and upgrading, the chair of the AC indicated that the
Secretariat could provide further details regarding standards and time requirements for
upgrades.
333.

On (iii) types of entities eligible for accreditation, the chair stated that they had been
able to meet with the AP and this had provided valuable input in terms of two possible
approaches for consideration –a principle-based approach and a list of entities-deemedineligible approach.
334.

The chair noted that, notwithstanding the prioritization approach, and work by the AP
and the Secretariat, the accreditation process was still very lengthy. The number of policy gaps
was increasing; furthermore, the number of entities which were eligible for fast-tracking was
shrinking. While not necessarily a Committee view, the chair stated that from feedback received,
including at structured dialogues in the Caribbean, the accreditation framework was too
onerous and something needed to be done to make it more efficient.
335.

The Co-Chairs thanked the chair of the AC for the report and acknowledged the hard
work and the difficulties faced by the Committee.
336.

Several Board members expressed thanks to the chair for the leadership and to the
Committee for their hard work.
337.

A Board member noted the need for a substantive discussion on this item but suggested
that, given the time constraints at this meeting, Board members submit written statements to
the Secretariat to enable a decision to be taken at B.18. They also requested that the Secretariat
should provide further Stage I assessment on alignment of the entity’s policies with the
standards of the GCF.
338.

The Co-Chairs invited Board members to submit written statements to the Secretariat in
the interest of time.
339.

Noting that it had been the Board’s policy to accredit entities with conditions following
the same principle as for funding proposals, a Board member stated that the GCF should aim to
move away from this approach. Although not an absolute requirement, this should be the
direction of travel. To this end, they informed the Co-Chairs that they would submit their
proposal in writing to the Secretariat.
340.

Another Board member stated that municipalities should not be part of the eligible
entities for accreditation as their scope was too narrow for the GCF mandate. Secondly,
regarding the possibility of accrediting consortia, this depended on how they were defined. The
Board member suggested that if several entities came together for the purpose of working with
the GCF, this could be an option for accreditation.
341.

The CSO active observer stated that the AP had done an inadequate assessment of the
grievance mechanisms of AEs, their environmental and social track records and the extent to
which the safeguards of AEs were equivalent to the safeguards of the GCF. There was a need for
the GCF to actually check that such mechanisms existed and were fit for purpose in all
accredited entities, particularly for AEs with medium- and high-risk projects. The CSO active
observer requested that Secretariat staff such as the Environment Specialist and the staff of the
Independent Redress Mechanism be consulted in reviewing applicants for accreditation. They
342.

GCF/B.17/22
Page 49

expressed concern at the long delay in providing modalities for third-party input in order to
provide solid verification of policies and procedures of applicants. DAEs should be defined as
domestic entities based in developing countries and implementing activities in that specific
country. Regional entities should be exceptions for regions where States were of small size and
low capacities, such as SIDS. Apart from these exceptions, those seeking to implement GCF
activities in multiple countries should not be considered as DAEs. The observer stated that civil
society supported exclusions of some entities from accreditation, especially individuals and
import–export agencies. However, they supported the inclusion of municipalities because they
played a vital role in providing services in developing countries; exclusion would contradict
paragraph 41 of the Governing Instrument. They welcomed the recommendation from the AP to
launch a call for proposals for a baseline for the whole portfolios for AEs in terms of low-carbon,
climate-resilient development due for B.18. They expressed concern at the recommendation by
the AP that AEs could only have one upgrade per replenishment cycle. They suggested that a
time-bound and publicly reported international mentoring programme be made mandatory for
international AEs. They requested an update on how international AEs supported DAEs. They
supported partnerships in LDCs and SIDS.
The Co-Chairs thanked the CSO active observer for their statement and invited the chair
of the AC to make any final comments.
343.

The chair noted that on the theme of minimizing conditions, it would be necessary to
allow some time for transition because new policies, including the environmental and social
management system and an environmental and social policy, would be considered at B.18, and
entities would need time to adapt to these. Regarding the grievance mechanism, this was being
worked on by the Committee with the independent units. Third-party input was being worked
on, including a workshop to be held between the Committee and the AP the following day. The
eligibility exclusion list remained a challenge for the Committee, which would continue to try to
make progress on this matter.
344.

A representative of the Secretariat stated that they looked forward to receiving written
submissions from Board members. They hoped to be able to work on this under existing
mandates but, where not, the Committee may need to address these as they considered the
policy for B.18.
345.

The Co-Chairs invited Board members to propose a way forward. One Board member
suggested that the Board take note of the comments and that the Co-Chairs should invite further
comments in written form.
346.

Another Board member echoed the proposal to take note and stated that the Co-Chairs
were bound by international law to allow the accreditation policies to be heard, discussed and
decided at B.18.
347.

The Co-Chairs stated that all comments would be taken on board, including written
statements, and the report by the Committee chair. They informed the Board that the Co-Chairs
would consult and come back with a proposal to close all policy gaps at B.18.
348.

349.

There being no objections, it was so decided.

350.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.10.

351.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/14
The Board:
Requests the Co-Chairs to undertake consultations with members and alternate members
of the Board in relation to decision B.13/28, paragraph (b), and decision B.14/08,
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paragraph (c), and present a proposal on matters related to the accreditation framework
and policy gaps for consideration by the Board at its eighteenth meeting.

(c)

Accreditation master agreements

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item in a closed session and introduced limited
distribution document GCF/B.17/Inf.05 titled, “Status of accreditation master agreements and
funded activity agreements” and document GCF/B.17/15 titled, “Approval of the accreditation
master agreement agreed with Conservation International Foundation”.
352.

A full report on this agenda sub-item is included in the limited distribution addendum to
the report.
353.

354.

Two decisions were adopted under this agenda sub-item:

DECISION B.17/15
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/Inf.05 titled “Status of accreditation
master agreements and funded activity agreements”:
Requests the Secretariat to report at the eighteenth meeting of the Board the details of the
substance and nature of outstanding issues preventing the signature of accreditation
master agreements.
DECISION B.17/16
The Board, having reviewed document GCF/B.17/15 titled “Approval of the accreditation
master agreement agreed with Conservation International Foundation”:
(a)

Takes note of the text of the accreditation master agreement agreed with Conservation
International Foundation, as contained in annex XIX, which marks the changes against the
template accreditation master agreement;

(b)

Approves the substantive change in the accreditation master agreement agreed with
Conservation International Foundation from the template accreditation master agreement
as set out in annex XIX;

(c)

Authorizes the Executive Director to negotiate changes, which are in substance similar to
those contained in the accreditation master agreement agreed with Conservation
International Foundation, to the accreditation master agreement to be entered into with
other institutions whose structure, object and purpose is similar to that of Conservation
International Foundation without requiring further Board approval in respect of such
changes; and

(d)

Authorizes the Secretariat to finalize the negotiation of the third-party liability cap with
respect to the part of the funded activity to be implemented by Conservation International
Foundation under FP026.

Following the closed session of the meeting on the same agenda sub-item, the Co-Chairs
reopened the agenda sub-item in an open session and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/20 titled “Extension of the deadline for the fulfilment of conditions for
FP038 and FP044, related to the execution of accreditation master agreements” and invited the
Board to adopt the draft decision contained in annex I to the document.
355.

Underlining that delays in the signing of AMAs had a negative impact on the countries
where projects were intended to be implemented, a Board member said that they did not wish
356.
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to adopt the draft decision because for one of the entities in question there was no indication of
when the AMA would be signed if not within the requested 120-day extension.
357.

Another Board member asked for clarification on the terms of the proposed extensions.

358.

The Co-Chairs invited the General Counsel ad interim to respond.

Mr. Herrera said that the approval of funding proposals at B.16 had been subject to the
signing of the respective AMAs within a deadline of 120 days, which was due to expire on 4
August 2017. The draft decision contained a request to extend such deadline for an additional
120 days for FP038 and FP044. In the case of FP044, the AMA was subject to approval by the
Board of the EIB, which was due to meet in September 2017; and in the case of FP038, the
situation had been explained during the closed session of the meeting.
359.

A Board member proposed an extension of the deadline by 180 days instead of 120
days, with the added condition that no further extension would be granted following the expiry
of this new deadline.
360.

Another Board member said that, regardless of the length of any deadline extension, the
Secretariat must explicitly inform the respective NDAs of the new deadline for the signing of the
AMA and of any conditions attached to such an extension.
361.

A further Board member added that not only the Secretariat, but also the AEs must be
required to inform the NDA of the aforementioned situation.
362.

The Co-Chairs proposed that the originally proposed extension of 120 days be
maintained in the draft decision, which should be amended only to reflect that the extension
would be the final one to be granted. They also suggested that the proposed requirement for the
AE to inform the NDA of the deadline should be reflected in the report of the meeting.
363.

Two Board members asked whether the proposed ‘final extension’ would mean that if
the deadline was missed, the approved funding proposal would be automatically cancelled.
Another Board member wished to know the legal implications of such an eventuality: would the
project in question be declared null and void, or would the country in question be able to use a
different AE to continue with the same project?
364.

The General Counsel ad interim explained that if the Board decided not to extend the
deadline for the signing of an AMA and the deadline passed, the approval of the relevant funding
proposal would lapse.
365.

A number of Board members expressed concern that if an approved funding proposal
were cancelled as a result of the failure to conclude AMAs, the victims would be the countries in
question.
366.

A Board member recalled that the Secretariat had been mandated by decision B.17/09
to develop a policy on restructuring and cancellation of projects, for consideration by the Board
at B.18, and stated that no decision should be taken on the potential cancellation of an approved
funding proposal until the cancellation policy had been adopted. In any case, the public record
of the current discussion was sufficient to send a clear message to those concerned that the
Board was willing to take serious measures to ensure that AMAs were signed as soon as
possible. They also noted that public perception of the current discussion could constitute a
reputational risk to the GCF.
367.

Another Board member expressed agreement with the previous speaker and said that
although a strong message needed to be sent to AEs on the urgency of signing AMAs, any
proposed cancellation measures should apply to funding proposals to be approved in the future,
not those already approved by the Board.
368.
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A further Board member emphasized the need for transparent and equitable decisionmaking by the Board and said that if the Board were willing to not approve funding proposals
such as FP032 (United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Bangladesh) and FP046
(UNDP Ethiopia), then it should also be prepared to cancel approved projects in circumstances
such as those under discussion. They suggested that the Secretariat and the AE should inform
the NDA of the situation to allow it to seek another AE to work with if it so wished.
369.

A Board member replied to the intervention above that when projects were not
approved, it was because they did not meet the Board’s criteria for approval, whereas the late
implementation of approved projects could arise as a result of unforeseeable events, for which
the countries should not be penalized.
370.

Another Board member underlined the need for consistency and proposed that the
deadline extension should apply to the FAA instead of the AMA.
371.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments by Board members and concluded that the
amendments proposed so far should not be included in the draft decision. They invited the
Board to adopt the original draft decision contained in GCF/B.17/20, without amendments.
372.

373.

Two Board members expressed support for the adoption of the original draft decision.

A Board member proposed that the decision be amended to include a request to the
Secretariat to write a communication explaining to all NDAs that if they endorsed projects
proposed by AEs that had not yet signed AMAs, there was a risk that such projects may
eventually be cancelled in the event that AMAs were not signed.
374.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to adopt the draft decision as amended by the previous
speaker. Seeing no further objections, they took it that the Board wished to adopt the draft
decision.
375.

DECISION B.17/17
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/20 titled “Extension of the deadline for
fulfilment of conditions for FP038 and FP044, related to the execution of accreditation master
agreements”:
(a)

Recalls that funding proposals FP038 and FP044 were approved by decision B.16/02,
subject to a condition that the relevant accredited entity execute an accreditation master
agreement with the GCF, in a form and substance satisfactory to the GCF, within 120 days
of Board approval;

(b)

Recognizes that absent an extension of time, decision B.16/02, in relation to FP038 and
FP044, will lapse if an accreditation master agreement is not entered into with the
relevant accredited entity by 4 August 2017;

(c)

Decides to extend the deadline by an additional 120 days starting on 4 August 2017 for the
fulfilment of the condition relating to the execution of an accreditation master agreement
with the GCF, with respect to the following funding proposals:

(d)

(i)

FP038 (European Investment Bank (EIB) and Global Energy Efficiency and
Renewable Energy Fund NeXt (GEEREF NeXt)); and

(ii)

FP044 (World Bank and Solomon Islands); and

Requests the Secretariat to inform all national designated authorities of the risks involved
in supporting a project or programme being proposed to the GCF by an accredited entity
that has not signed an accreditation master agreement with the GCF.
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Agenda item 19: Matters related to support for REDD-plus
(a)

REDD-plus results-based payments

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document B.17/13 titled “Pilot Programme for REDD+ Results-based Payments”. They invited a
member of the Secretariat to take the floor.
376.

A representative of the Secretariat gave a presentation highlighting the robust
consultation process and analysis by the Secretariat in order to develop Board document
B.17/13 and presented to the Board the matters for consideration at B.17, which included: the
size of the envelope for the pilot programme; the eligibility results period; the distribution of
payments; and the application of the scorecard.
377.

The Co-Chairs invited the two REDD-plus champions to provide an introduction for the
discussion.
378.

Ms. Caroline Leclerc said that while it may not be possible to agree on all elements of the
pilot at the current meeting, the priority was to advance the discussion and give clear guidance
to the Secretariat to allow it to finalize the RFP and the scorecard. The Secretariat would also
assess GCF policies and processes which were built for activity-based projects and work out
how best to apply them to the system of results-based payments (RBPs). She encouraged Board
members to be as clear as possible with their comments and emphasized that the initial RFP
would function as a pilot from which finance could be mobilized and lessons could be learned to
improve this innovative initiative in future.
379.

Mr. Tosi Mpanu Mpanu concurred with the comments made by Ms. Leclerc and urged
the Board to give the Secretariat a mandate to continue its work on RBPs, and not to allow
unresolved issues on GCF policies to stand in the way of progress on this agenda item. Noting
that the suggested fixed price for RBPs was USD 5 per t CO2 eq, he emphasized that some
countries had been obliged to spend more than that to reduce emissions and said that if the GCF
intended to be transformational then a price premium could be introduced. He also noted the
need to consider not only the size but also the structure of the RFP and to ensure that the RFP
was not restricted to a small number of countries. On behalf of both champions, he expressed
gratitude to the Board members and REDD-plus experts for their input to the consultation
process.
380.

381.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

General comments
Board members expressed general support for the proposed pilot programme and
commended the Secretariat and REDD-plus champions on their work, in particular the extensive
consultations that had been carried out under this agenda item, with one Board member
welcoming the extensive engagement with the LDCs constituency.
382.

A Board member said that RBPs for REDD-plus offered an important opportunity to
enhance climate action and allow the GCF to start performing the key role assigned to it by the
COP. Another said that the GCF could play a critical role in all phases of REDD-plus, including
phase 3, and that the RBPs represented a good opportunity to maintain the momentum of
REDD-plus around the world. A further Board member said that RBPs should be used to
promote transition to low-emission economic development and transformation of the land
sector. Another highlighted the high expectations surrounding the programme and urged swift
and decisive action to establish the pilot programme.
383.
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A number of Board members concurred that the champions should continue to hold
informal consultations and that the pilot programme should be further developed before a
substantive decision could be taken, and expressed the hope that such a decision could be taken
on the RFP at the following meeting; one Board member stressed the need to launch the RFP
before the end of 2017.
384.

Two Board members expressed support for the draft decision, and another said that
their opinion had swayed in favour of the RBPs initiative since their initial scepticism, and
expressed support for the proposed approach, on the condition that the actions leading to
results were consistent with GCF policy, in particular the policies on environmental and social
safeguards and indigenous peoples.
385.

A Board member said that while the document provided a solid basis for discussion, it
had been issued late and some Board members had not been offered an opportunity to
comment on the draft versions.
386.

Funding volume of the pilot programme
With regard to the amount of funding to be allocated to the pilot programme, various
views were expressed, with some Board members highlighting the need to be ambitious, and
others advocating starting with a small amount.
387.

Three Board members said that the maximum amount allocated to the pilot programme
should be USD 500 million. Another Board member expressed support for the proposed range
of USD 300 million to USD 500 million. One Board member said that USD 500 million
corresponded to the upper end of their preference, and recommended that the amount be set
somewhere between USD 250 million and USD 500 million, depending on the structure of the
RFP. Another Board member expressed support for the minimum proposed allocation of USD
300 million. A further Board member said that the proposed size of the RFP was inadequate and
should be bigger than that of previous RFPs issued by the GCF to reflect the level of ambition of
the programme and to provide strong incentives to countries engaged with REDD-plus to take
ambitious action in the forest sector.
388.

Several Board members said that the volume of funding for the RFP could not be agreed
until the details of the pilot programme had been finalized, including the criteria for the
scorecard.
389.

A Board member said that payments for future results should be included in the
programme and therefore taken into account in determining the size of the envelope.
390.

Eligibility date for results and length of the request for proposals
Three Board members said that the eligibility date for results should start at 2015.
Another said that the eligibility date could either be set at 2010, being the year when the Cancun
safeguards came into effect, or 2013, being the year of the agreement of the Warsaw Framework
for REDD-plus, and that other dates would be difficult to justify.
391.

In terms of the length of the RFP, a Board member said that the RFP should last from
2015 to 2020 because of the importance of testing that RBPs would work in a longer-term
model. Another Board member said that the period of 2015–2018 could be considered, while
noting that further discussion and analysis would be required before agreement could be
reached. A further Board member proposed that the eligibility period be set at 2013–2018, in
line with the Warsaw Framework.
392.

Financial valuation of results
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Several Board members expressed support for the proposed fixed price of USD 5 per t
CO2 eq of reduced emissions, with one noting that this had already been used in previous
agreements and would therefore promote complementarity and coherence. Two Board
members said that the proposed price per t CO2 eq was inadequate. One Board member called
for efforts to explore different approaches for pricing with a view to enhancing cobenefits, while also acknowledging that this issue could be revisited after the pilot stage.
393.

394.

One Board member asked whether the price of USD 5 would set a precedent for future

RFPs.
Scorecard
Several Board members expressed support for the principle of using a scorecard, while
also underlining the need to further refine the scorecard parameters to guarantee its
effectiveness. One Board member said that the scorecard was indispensable to allow proper
evaluation of proposals based on clearly defined criteria.
395.

A Board member stressed the need for an independent assessment of the funding
proposals against the scorecard criteria; this could be carried out, for example, by giving the
independent Technical Advisory Panel a stronger role, or by using another independent body or
a selection of independent REDD-plus experts from the UNFCCC roster of experts.
396.

A Board member said that the scorecard should reflect not only whether reports had
been submitted to UNFCCC, but also whether the process had been conducted around the first
phases of the REDD-plus process.
397.

Another Board member said that many participants at the Bali workshop, from both
developed and developing countries, had stated the need to declare the ‘non-carbon benefits’ of
projects, in order to promote the long-term sustainability of REDD; on that basis, the Board
member proposed the inclusion of a specific section on scorecard dedicated to ‘non-carbon
benefits’.
398.

Ex-ante and ex-post financing
A Board member expressed opposition with the inclusion of ex-ante financing in the
pilot programme on the basis that RBPs, by definition, should be paid on the basis of results, not
anticipated future results.
399.

Another Board member said that the Secretariat must also develop a robust assessment
process for retroactive results payment. Another Board member said that retroactive payments
could only be considered if the actions in question were thoroughly documented and had taken
place no earlier than 2013.
400.

Two Board members expressed support for a hybrid approach using both ex-post and
ex-ante payments, with a view to incentivizing future action.
401.

Another Board member said that the RFP should better reflect the views expressed in
some of the discussions in Bali at the Bali workshop that a lower share of funding be paid for
past performance and a larger share for future performance.
402.

Ownership, legal title and implications on nationally determined contributions
A Board member said that no emissions reduction should be transferred to any entity,
including the GCF; instead, emissions reduction should be country-owned and related to the
country’s nationally determined contributions (NDCs).
403.
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Another Board member said that paragraph 33 (a) of the document indicated potential
future discussions on the transfer of ownership of emission results, which would mean that
developing countries may not be able to account for those reductions towards their NDCs; the
Board member strongly objected to that notion within the GCF on the basis that it contradicted
not only Articles 4, 5 and 9 of the Paris Agreement but also the very concept of climate finance.
404.

A Board member called for the strengthening of country ownership, including through
its inclusion in the eligibility criteria.
405.

Adjustments to GCF policies
A number of Board members called for an assessment to be carried out on the need for
adjustments to GCF policies to deal with this new context. One Board member emphasized the
need to close the existing GCF policy gaps, and another said that while work needed to be done
on adapting GCF policies to apply to the new context, this should be done in parallel to
launching the RFP; a further Board member said that the analysis of existing GCF policies must
not delay the launch of the pilot programme.
406.

Environmental and social safeguards and standards on indigenous peoples
Two Board members emphasized that although the RBP programme was a pilot, it
would create a framework and set an example for similar future initiatives and must therefore
be well designed from the start. Several Board members called for a high level of ambition,
integrity and transparency, stringent safeguarding and high standards of environmental and
social integrity. A Board member underlined the need to take into account the standards used
by other financing entities and mechanisms as a baseline; two Board members noted that this
would also promote complementarity and coherence.
407.

Recalling that a policy on indigenous peoples was due to be submitted to the Board at
B.18, a Board member suggested that the pilot programme could be aligned with the policy, or
even that the policy be integrated into the phase 2 scoring system. They noted that there were
already good references to the Cancun safeguards, while pointing out that they were not as
strong as in the Paris Agreement or the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous
Peoples.
408.

A Board member emphasized the need for an equitable approach, stating that the RFP
should incentivize future action and not allow certain countries to reap disproportionate
benefits compared to others.
409.

A Board member said that the “Lima REDD+ Information Hub” had a valuable role in
improving the transparency of REDD-plus results-based actions and finance. They also said that
the Cancun safeguards for REDD-plus should be secured for GCF projects and programmes and
it should be considered whether the GCF safeguards need to be adapted in order to be
applicable to REDD-plus.
410.

Double payment and double financing
A Board member stated for the record their strong concern that the reference to “double
financing” seemed to be based on the erroneous assumption that action in the forest sector
could be exclusively attributed to international support, thus disregarding the effort and
domestic resources invested by developing countries; further discussion was needed on this
issue to ensure a balance between internationally supported results and national investments.
411.

Another Board member said that double financing and double counting of the same
emission reductions should be excluded. A further Board member welcomed the principle that
412.
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phase 3 results should be paid only once, thus avoiding payment for results already paid for by
other initiatives.
A Board member said that the final product must reflect the results of the work
undertaken so far, in terms of convergence and compromise.
413.

Use of proceeds
A Board member expressed satisfaction that the use of proceeds from REDD-plus RBPs
had been included in the TOR of the RFP. Another Board member said that the proceeds should
be reinvested in REDD-plus related activities and be compatible with the goals and investment
criteria of the GCF. A third Board member stated that the proceeds should be reinvested
according to priorities set out in the countries’ NDCs.
414.

A further Board member highlighted the importance of considering not only NDCs but
also how the proceeds could be used to benefit communities that had achieved emission
reductions.
415.

Scope of the pilot programme
A Board member called for concerted efforts to engage all countries in the programme,
even those with small populations and correspondingly low forest emissions.
416.

A Board member said that although the pilot programme would not cater for the private
sector, it was important to consider how to engage the private sector in such initiatives in the
future.
417.

Other comments
A Board member expressed opposition to the consideration of phase 1 and 2 funding as
phase 3 competitors, stating that phase 1 and 2 support should be considered separately from
phase 3 payments, with the exception of phase 2 pilot demonstrations, where funding could be
provided for achieved results.
418.

In terms of the distribution of payments, two Board members emphasized the need for
equitable geographical distribution.
419.

A PSO active observer said that while they understood that priority must be given to the
national and subnational level approach in the longer term, many landscape-scale projects had
already been verified as having robust standards that had been shown to be in alignment with,
and in many cases to exceed, the requirements under the UNFCCC. Without a robust market,
those projects were at risk of reversal, which would be very detrimental for the future of REDDplus and the 2-degree climate target. The observer suggested that the GCF could play a role in
rewarding such projects with RBPs, provided that they were endorsed by the relevant national
focal point and aligned with national accounting systems, and specified that payments should be
contingent on those projects working to nest into subnational and national programmes over
time.
420.

The observer also expressed concern that a fixed price did not account for the
differences between types of REDD-plus programmes (e.g. adaptation co-benefits), and may not
attract wide private sector participation into the GCF pilot. If the Board wished to catalyse
private sector investment in the REDD-plus programme, pricing should reflect an adequate level
at which private sector funds were mobilized. Furthermore, to attract private sector investment,
other factors should be taken into account, including the application and approval process and
available financial instruments. It was also important to use experience gained during the pilot
421.
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phase to adjust future initiatives with a view to incorporating innovative blended finance
mechanisms and effectively crowding in private sector stakeholders.
A CSO active observer commended the Secretariat and REDD-plus champions on their
work and welcomed the transparency of the process and the level of detail in the proposed TOR
and scorecard for the initial RFP, highlighting the need to consider the scorecard in detail in
advance of B.18. Highlighting the large gap in the document left by the current absence of a
policy on indigenous peoples, the observer called for the policy, once adopted, to be integrated
into the scorecard as part of the list of GCF policies with which funding proposals must be in
line.
422.

The observer welcomed the incorporation of UNFCC guidance into the draft scorecard
and suggested that certain elements of safeguard compliance should be rated on a scale of 1 to
3, but the Cancun safeguards should be rated only as a pass or fail. To ensure compliance with
the Cancun safeguards, an independent third party should assess and verify the summary of
information presented. Where overlaps were identified between the Cancun safeguards and the
GCF interim standards on environmental and social safeguards, the highest standard should
apply. Given the importance of incentivizing non-carbon benefits for the long-term
sustainability and co-benefits of REDD-plus implementation, the scorecard should be designed
in a way that gave more weight to non-carbon benefits. In addition, whenever REDD-plus
projects were implemented in indigenous peoples” territories and forest-dependent
communities, a benefit-sharing plan and clarity on land tenure should be included in the
scorecard as a pass-or-fail requirement. Lastly, the GCF should plan staff capacity in advance
and establish implementation guidelines to ensure that all requirements were met for
environmental integrity, safeguards and stakeholder consultations.
423.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and requested the REDD-plus champions to
continue the informal consultations on this agenda item.
424.

425.

The agenda item was suspended.

The Co-Chairs reopened the agenda item and invited the REDD-plus champions to
introduce the draft decision, which had been circulated to the Board.
426.

Speaking on behalf of Mr. Mpanu Mpanu, alternate member Mr. Nagmeldin Goutbi
Elhassan introduced the draft decision, stating that its adoption would enable the Secretariat to
conduct further analysis on how GCF policies would apply to REDD-plus activities, with a view
to a further discussion on this agenda item at B.18.
427.

Ms. Leclerc explained the amendments that had been made to the draft decision since
the previous discussion and expressed satisfaction at the constructive manner in which Board
members had engaged in the consultations.
428.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to adopt the draft decision contained in annex I to
document GCF/B.17/13.
429.

A Board member stressed the need for timely publication of documents under this
agenda item so as to allow adequate time for consultation.
430.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comment by a Board member. Seeing no further
comments, they took it that the Board wished to adopt the draft decision.
431.

432.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/13.

433.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/18

GCF/B.17/22
Page 59

The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/13 titled “Pilot Programme for REDD+
Results-based Payments”:
(a)

Takes note of the progress made in preparing the draft request for proposals for the pilot
programme for REDD-plus results-based payments, as mandated in decision B.14/03, and
the related draft scorecard in the form set out in annex II and annex III to document
GCF/B.17/13;

(b)

Requests the Secretariat to undertake a further analysis of existing GCF policies and
procedures adopted by the Board and reflect in the draft request for proposals referred to
in paragraph (c) below the manner in which such policies and procedures would need to be
applied or otherwise considered in order to operationalize GCF REDD-plus results-based
payments proposals; and

(c)

Also requests the Secretariat to finalize the draft request for proposals for the pilot
programme for REDD-plus results-based payments and the related draft scorecard in the
light of the final analysis referred in paragraph (b) above and the discussions of the Board
at its seventeenth meeting on this matter and present it to the Board for its consideration
at its eighteenth meeting.

(b)

Further guidance for national designated authorities and focal points on
how to engage with the GCF in the early phases of REDD-plus

The Co-Chairs opened the agenda sub-item and drew the attention of the Board to
document GCF/B.17/16 titled “Green Climate Fund support for the early phases of REDD‐plus”.
They recalled that the Co-Chairs had appointed Mr. Mpanu Mpanu and Ms. Leclerc to act as
REDD-plus champions to lead consultations. They invited a representative of the Secretariat to
introduce the document.
434.

A representative of the Secretariat gave a presentation describing the content of the
Board document GCF/B.17/16, which provided information on GCF funding modalities in the
context of implementation of early phases of REDD-plus and the need to ensure
complementarity and coherence with other funds.
435.

The Co-Chairs thanked the representative of the Secretariat for their presentation and
invited the REDD-plus champions to take the floor.
436.

Mr. Mpanu Mpanu said that the forestry and land use sector was of high importance to
many countries and underlined that the GCF would be involved in all three phases of REDD-plus
(i.e. development of strategies and capacity-building; implementation; and measured, reported
and verified results-based actions) and that no country would be left behind.
437.

Ms. Leclerc said that as the GCF and REDD-plus were among the top achievements of
UNFCCC, it made absolute sense for the two mechanisms to work together. Following a call for
input, the REDD-plus champions had received 22 responses from Board members and 23 from
stakeholders. Subsequently, a workshop had been help in Bali, attended by 60 experts from a
range of Board constituencies and observer groups. The outcome of that process was reflected
in document GCF/B.17/16. Drawing attention to the draft decision contained in annex I to the
document, she highlighted that the document was a first draft which would evolve as part of an
ongoing learning process.
438.

Many Board members praised the quality of the document, commended the REDD-plus
champions on their work under this item, in particular the constructive and successful manner
in which they had led the consultations and the workshop in Bali, and expressed support for
their ongoing work.
439.
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Several Board members made positive comments on GCF support for REDD-plus,
including that it would help the GCF to deliver on its mandate from the COP, and voiced support
for the adoption of the draft decision.
440.

A number of Board members underlined the need to enhance coordination,
complementarity and coherence between the GCF and other funds and programmes, especially
in the early stages of REDD-plus; one Board member emphasized the need to send clear
messages showing the comparative advantage of the GCF. Two Board members requested the
inclusion in the draft decision of a clause stating that the GCF should “seek complementarity and
coherence for REDD-plus financing in the other funds and initiatives”.
441.

With regard to phase 2 of REDD-plus, a Board member encouraged the Secretariat to
mobilize multiple stakeholders to prepare for the implementation of readiness support
programmes. Two Board members underlined the need to strengthen the role of the REDD-plus
country focal points and NDAs in orchestrating activities, and maintain a perspective focused on
the ultimate goal of progressing to phase 3 of REDD-plus.
442.

A number of Board members emphasized the need to leverage the private sector and
strengthen its role in all phases of REDD-plus, through a range of activities including supplychain management. One Board member said that results-based financing should not be
provided for project-level activities, including those carried out by the private sector.
443.

A Board member said that the GCF should play a significant role in the reduction of
emissions. Another called for efforts to ensure that all countries were included in the work of
the GCF on REDD-plus. A further Board member underlined the need to create enabling
conditions to ensure the rights, including land tenure, of indigenous peoples.
444.

A CSO active observer welcomed the inclusion of safeguards and the land tenure rights
of indigenous peoples in a number of elements of the document and urged the GCF to
strengthen the traditional land tenure rights of local communities and indigenous peoples in its
activities in support of REDD-plus, with due consideration to the role of women. The observer
expressed support for the Secretariat’s efforts to communicate effectively with NDAs and focal
points and encourage them to submit concept notes, PPF requests and funding proposals that
would facilitate support for early phases of REDD‐plus. Underscoring the need for full and
effective participation of all stakeholders, including indigenous peoples and women, at both the
national and local level of all land use and reform processes, they noted that support for
capacity-building and consultation processes would be required to ensure such participation.
Lastly, the observer stressed the need for complementarity and coherence with other funds in
the REDD-plus space, at both the national and international levels.
445.

A representative of the Secretariat took note of the comments and said that while the
GCF was in the process of becoming the key player in the REDD-plus finance sector, the
Secretariat was aware of the need to capitalize on the experience gained through other
initiatives, to promote complementarity and coherence. At the same time, they underlined the
need for an efficient approach to reduce the transaction costs for countries seeking support for
the early phases of REDD-plus. They acknowledged the need for effective coordination between
the various parts of the GCF, which covered all sectors within its own structure, so as to provide
optimum support to countries, and noted that a document on engagement with the private
sector would be submitted to the Board for consideration at a future meeting.
446.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and the suggested amendment by a Board
member to the draft decision, and invited the Board to adopt the draft decision as amended.
447.

448.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/16.

449.

The Board adopted the following decision:
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DECISION B.17/19
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/16 titled “Green Climate Fund support
for early phases of REDD-plus”:
(a)

Takes note of the document provided to support efforts by national designated authorities
and focal points to engage with the GCF in the early phases of REDD-plus using existing
modalities, tools and programmes, and seeking complementarity and coherence for REDDplus finance with other funds and initiatives;

(b)

Encourages national designated authorities and focal points to access readiness support
directly, or to collaborate with readiness delivery partners and accredited entities to
submit readiness requests, for the early phases of REDD-plus, using the existing modalities
for accessing readiness and preparatory support;

(c)

Also encourages national designated authorities and focal points to collaborate with
accredited entities to submit concept notes, Project Preparation Facility requests and
funding proposals that will facilitate support for the early phases of REDD-plus; and

(d)

Requests the Secretariat to prepare appropriate communication material in order to
facilitate access to the information presented in document GCF/B.17/16 and update the
information provided in the light of future decisions when needed.

Agenda item 20: Status of resources
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and introduced document GCF/B.17/Inf.04 titled
“Status of the Initial Resource Mobilization process”. They informed the Board that it provided
an update on the Initial Resource Mobilization process and included the financial report of the
Green Climate Fund Trust Fund (GCFTF).
450.

They thanked the Secretariat and the Interim Trustee for their work in developing the
paper and invited the Secretariat to provide an overview.
451.

A representative of the Secretariat reminded Board members of the definition of the
commitment authority for the GCF (i.e. the total amount of available resources for funding
decisions in the form of cash and promissory notes (PNs)) with the GCFTF. As at 31 March 2017,
the commitment authority was USD 2,428 million in cash and USD 1,511 million in PNs, giving a
total of USD 3,939 million. As at B.16, funding decisions amounted to USD 2,413 million. This
gave a balance of USD 1,526 million which was the available commitment authority.
452.

In terms of the projected additional commitment authority, by the end of 2017 GCF
would receive an additional USD 1.936 billion in loans plus PNs plus cash instalments, and in
2018, GCF would receive an additional USD 1.527 billion in loans, PNs and cash instalments.
453.

The representative stated that the projected commitment authority for the end of 2017
was important for the Board to bear in mind when making funding decisions. At the end of
2017, the total amount projected was USD 4.312 billion. Of this, funding decisions by the Board
were estimated to between USD 2 billion and USD 2.5 billion. Therefore, including the already
approved funding, there would be sufficient commitment authority by end of 2017. The forecast
of cash available was important for disbursement. In summary, GCF would receive additional
USD 1.316 billion in cash in 2017, following by USD 1.217 billion in 2018 and with further
projections for the years to 2023.
454.

455.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

A Board member requested clarification on the numbers. Document GCF/B.17/Inf.04
stated that the GCF had signed contribution agreement/arrangements amounting to USD 10.1
456.
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billion, and later in the document it mentioned that, given exchange rate fluctuations, it had
been reduced to USD 8.75 billion. The difficulty was that on the GCF website where resource
mobilization was presented, it indicated that the USD 3 billion pledge from the United States of
America has been signed. In the contribution arrangement between the United States and the
GCF4, it stated that the contributor intended to make available to the GCFTF USD 3 billion,
subject to the availability of funds. Further, it also stated that upon signature of the contribution
arrangement the contributor would make available to the GCFTF, for the benefit of the GCF, USD
500 million. They asked the Secretariat to clarify whether USD 3 billion was signed, as it
appeared that the GCF may be overstating the amount of contributions which had been
committed based on formally signed documents.
The Secretariat explained that the contribution arrangement was signed and fully
executed, but there were conditions attached to the availability of funds and, indeed as per the
arrangement, it was an intention by the contributor.
457.

The Board member from the United States stated that the United States had paid USD 1
billion not USD 500 million into the GCFTF.
458.

The Board member, who had initially requested the clarification, asked whether the
signed commitment was for USD 3 billion or USD 500 million.
459.

The Secretariat explained that an arrangement had been reached which was not a
commitment; the arrangement was for USD 3 billion. The disbursement to date was for USD 1
billion.
460.

The Co-Chairs stated that this helped to clarify the question, namely that this was not a
commitment but an arrangement.
461.

The Board member noted that the GCF website said “signed”; it did not say an
arrangement or commitment. They asked what amount had been “signed”.
462.

463.

billion.

The Secretariat responded that a contribution arrangement had been signed for USD 3

Another Board member requested that, in the future, the table on the website should not
include countries which had not yet signed full contribution agreements; as currently presented
the information was not correct.
464.

A further Board member noted that an intention was just an intention, and it was not a
payment of contribution. They said that the Secretariat should not calculate contributions based
on intentions. They asked, from the view point of the law of agreements, if the GCF could agree
to accept agreements or arrangement which included intentions, or conditions for payments
based on availability of funds. They requested that documents should be more accurate and that
this point should to be clarified in the future. This was supported by another Board member
who stated that this point was particularly relevant for the replenishment trigger.
465.

466.

The Co-Chairs stated that the comments had been duly noted.

467.

There being no further comments, the Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.04.

Agenda item 21: Issues related to the staffing of the Secretariat

4Trust

Fund Contribution Arrangement among the United States of America, the Green Climate Fund, and the
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, serving as the Interim Trustee of the Green Climate Fund
Trust Fund concerning the Green Climate Fund Trust Fund (MTO No. 069022)
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The Co-Chairs drew the attention of the Board to document GCF/B.17/Inf.03 titled
“Report on the status of the staffing of the Secretariat”, congratulated the Secretariat on its
progress on staffing and welcomed the new staff members who had joined the Secretariat since
the previous meeting.
468.

A representative of the Secretariat provided an update on progress towards the target of
140 Secretariat staff by the end of 2017. The current figure stood at 117, and 55 potential staff
were in the pipeline for recruitment. There had been 10 resignations during the first half of
2017, which was considered a high turnover rate for the size of the Secretariat; the combined
number of current staff and positions in the pipeline therefore added up to over 140, in order to
take account of potential turnover. Per the current trend, the Secretariat would reach 140 by the
end of the year. In terms of geographical distribution, 61 per cent of international staff were
from developing countries and 39 per cent from developed countries, with 85 per cent and 15
per cent respectively for administrative staff. With regard to gender balance, 41 per cent of
international staff were female and 59 per cent male, with 65 per cent and 35 per cent
respectively for administrative staff. In response to challenges faced in recruitment and
retention, including concerns about the geopolitical environment and the quality of air in
Songdo, the Secretariat had established a comprehensive emergency plan, conducted a study on
office air quality, hired an ombudsperson as well as a consultant for spouse employment
support, implemented merit-based pay and promotions, and introduced learning and training
opportunities, and was continuing the revision of its Human Resources policy.
469.

470.

The Co-Chairs opened the floor for comments.

A Board member thanked the Secretariat for the clear presentation and document under
this agenda item. Noting that the proposed short-term organizational structure as contained in
the document contained similar functions to the existing structure, they questioned whether the
PPF should fall under the remit of the Country Programming Division, and whether recent
changes to the proposal approval process might make it appropriate to restructure the
Secretariat divisions. The Board member also wished to know what impact the consulting firm’s
assessment of the capacity of the Secretariat would have on the Secretariat’s structure and
whether the current job descriptions of posts were flexible enough to accommodate any
necessary changes of role. They suggested that the high staff turnover may be due in part to
systemic deficiencies in the organizational structure of the Secretariat and stated that the
current system was untenable.
471.

Another Board member said that further action was needed to improve the gender
balance of Secretariat staff in the Secretariat. In addition, now that staff numbers were
approaching the required targets, attention should be shifted towards improving the
unsustainable working conditions of staff, for whom 12-hour working days and work on
weekends were currently not uncommon; on that basis, the Board member requested the
Secretariat to make clear recommendations on how to improve staff working conditions. They
also expressed support for the initial proposals in the interim report to create an External
Affairs Division and appoint a Deputy Executive Director.
472.

The Co-Chairs clarified that the report by the consultancy firm would serve as input for
the Secretariat’s own assessment of the required changes to its structure.
473.

The Executive Director said that the primary focus was on building a sense of
organizational culture, particularly in the light of the high turnover of staff in senior positions,
and noted that the consultancy firm had emphasized the need to enhance coordination across
the various divisions before carrying out a restructuring exercise. For the time being, the
Secretariat had been implementing a number of ad-hoc activities, which had received positive
feedback; following that phase, the organizational structure would be addressed, taking the final
report by the consultancy firm into account. The Executive Director underlined the need to
474.
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ensure that all staff members felt involved in the review of the capacity of the Secretariat, and
confirmed that the Secretariat would not be taking any action on changing its structure without
Board approval. Mr. Bamsey also expressed agreement on the need to improve working
conditions and noted that, in the long term, the consultancy firm had been asked to recommend
the total number of staff required to carry out the workload of the Secretariat based on a
reasonable number of working hours per employee; according to current estimates, that figure
was likely to be around 200. Lastly, he underlined the pressing need to appoint a Deputy
Executive Director, to provide sufficient support to the GCF senior staff.
A Board member reiterated their query on whether staff job descriptions would need to
be changed following an eventual restructuring of the Secretariat, and asked whether the
Secretariat had a sufficient budget for staff retraining as necessary. They expressed support for
swift action to appoint a Deputy Executive Director, especially in view of the typical length of
the recruitment process.
475.

The Executive Director replied that the current budget for 2017 was sufficient to cope
with any staff retraining requirements.
476.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and reaffirmed their commitment to the
welfare of GCF staff. They invited the Board to take note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.03 and
adopt a decision expressing support for the proposal of the Executive Director for the position
of Deputy Executive Director.
477.

A Board member questioned whether the decision to appoint a Deputy Executive
Director should be taken on a seemingly ad-hoc basis and underlined the need to establish
where the proposed Deputy would fit into the chain of command at the Secretariat.
478.

Another Board member replied that the creation of a Deputy Executive Director position
had been under consideration for over a year, and could therefore not be described as ‘ad hoc’.
They also underlined that the initial structure approved by the Board at its fifth meeting had
included the position of Deputy Executive Director, attached to the Director of the Country
Programming Division, and that the position had been removed without Board authorization,
while other positions such as General Counsel and Secretary had been created, also without
Board authorization; thus, all that was being proposed was the restoration of a position that had
been part of the original structure. The Board member also said that the Executive Director had
given a convincing argument justifying the need for a Deputy, and proposed that the Board
approve the creation of the position itself, as a post separate from the Director of the Country
Programming Division, and discuss the details of the job description and chain of command at a
later date.
479.

Two Board members said that it was not the responsibility of the Board to oversee the
details of how the Executive Director appointed staff, and another Board member proposed that
the Board should simply endorse the proposed expression of support and not enter into further
detail on the matter.
480.

The Co-Chairs invited the Board to adopt a decision expressing support for the proposal
by the Executive Director for the position of a Deputy Executive Director.
481.

482.

There being no objections, it was so decided.

483.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/Inf.03.

484.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/20
The Board:
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Expresses support for the proposal by the Executive Director for the position of a Deputy
Executive Director.

Agenda item 22: Country ownership guidelines
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to document
B.17/14 titled “Guidelines for enhanced country ownership and country drivenness”. They
recalled that the Board had appointed Board member, Mr. Amjad Abdulla, and alternate
member, Mr. Daniel Reifsnyder, to carry out consultations under this agenda item and asked
them to introduce the draft guidelines.
485.

Mr. Abdulla said that the draft country ownership guidelines were the result of
constructive and collaborative efforts to reach consensus among Board members, and thanked
all those involved for their contributions, in particular, Mr. Colin Young and Ms. Kate Hughes,
who had been in charge of earlier work on the guidelines. He gave an overview of the
consultation process and said that the draft guidelines represented a good compromise between
the views of all Board members. A number of elements of the text were the result of input from
the recent round of consultations, including: reflection of the need for country ownership to be
maintained throughout all stages of a country’s engagement with the GCF; inclusion of an
explicit statement that NDAs and focal points must be kept informed on the progress of concept
notes and funding proposals that related to their countries; and the removal of a number of
ambiguities in the text. The guidelines would be continually reviewed based on lessons learned,
and that the implementation of the guidelines would be reviewed at least every two years.
486.

Mr. Reifsnyder endorsed the summary provided by Mr. Abdulla and highlighted the need
to make further adjustments to the text of the draft decision in the light of decision B.17/18.
487.

The Co-Chairs took note of the comments and proposed to submit a revised draft
decision for consideration by the Board later in the meeting.
488.

489.

The item was suspended.

The Co-Chairs reopened the agenda item later the same day and invited Mr. Abdulla and
Mr. Reifsnyder to take the floor.
490.

Mr. Abdulla provided an update on the amendments made to the draft decision since its
consideration earlier that day and encouraged the Board to adopt the draft decision. Noting that
the current Board meeting was the last one that Mr. Reifsnyder would attend as alternate
member, Mr. Abdulla thanked him for his excellent work and collaborative efforts during his
time on the Board.
491.

492.

Mr. Reifsnyder also encouraged the Board to adopt the draft decision.

The Co-Chairs expressed gratitude to Mr. Reifsnyder for his dedicated work as alternate
member and invited the Board to adopt the draft decision.
493.

494.

The Board took note of GCF/B.17/14.

495.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/21
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/14 titled “Guidelines for enhanced
country ownership and country drivenness”:
(a)

Adopts the guidelines for enhanced country ownership and country drivenness contained
in annex XXI to this document;
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(b)

Requests the Secretariat, accredited entities, delivery partners and national designated
authorities/focal points to follow these guidelines;

(c)

Also requests the Secretariat to assess annually the experiences gathered from the
application of these guidelines and to continue to improve the guidelines based on lessons
learned and observations from current best practices; and

(d)

Decides to undertake a review of the implementation of these guidelines as needed, or at
least every two years.

Agenda item 23: Report on the execution of the administrative budget
and 2016 audited financial statements
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to document
GCF/B.17/06 titled “Report on the execution of the 2017 administrative budget of the GCF as at
31 May 2017” and document GCF/B.17/07 titled “Audited financial statements of the Green
Climate Fund for the year ended 31 December 2016”. They invited a representative of the
Secretariat to take the floor.
496.

497.

A representative of the Secretariat gave a presentation as follows:

(a)

The external audit of the financial statements of the GCF for 2016 was undertaken by
Grant Thornton during the months of April and May 2017. The financial statements
were prepared by the Secretariat in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards and audited in accordance with the International Standards on
Auditing;

(b)

The financial statements were presented to the Budget Committee on 30 May and the
EAC on 1 June 2017; and

(c)

The draft “Independent auditor’s report” was contained in “Green Climate Fund Report
on Audits of Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016” (GCF/B.17/07)
(see page 6, annex II). It clearly stated the draft audit opinion as follows:
(i)

“In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Fund as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.”

The EAC recommended that the Board approve the financial statements of the GCF for
the year ended 31 December 2016.
498.

The Co-Chairs thanked the representative of the Secretariat for their presentation and
opened the floor for comments.
499.

A Board member said that the documents were highly important because they were the
only ones that allowed the Board to exercise its fiduciary responsibility, and expressed concern
that only five minutes had been allocated to the agenda item, leaving insufficient time for Board
members to make comments on how to improve the presentation of data in the documents.
500.

A representative of the Secretariat said that, in response to previous comments from the
Budget Committee and the EAC, a section had been included on the Readiness and Preparatory
Support Programme in document GCF/B.17/07, and affirmed that the financial statements for
2017 would include an additional section on the independent evaluation units.
501.
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The Co-Chairs invited the Board to take note of document B.17/06 and approve the
financial statements contained in document B.17/07, in line with the draft decision contained in
annex I to the document.
502.

503.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/06 and document GCF/B.17/07.

504.

The Board adopted the following decisions:

DECISION B.17/22
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/06 titled “Report on the execution of
the 2017 administrative budget of the GCF as at 31 May 2017”:
Takes note of document GCF/B.17/06.
DECISION B.17/23
The Board, having considered document GCF/B.17/07 titled “Audited financial statements
of the Green Climate Fund for the year ended 31 December 2016”:
Approves the audited financial statements of the GCF for the year ended 31 December 2016
as contained in annex XXII.

Agenda item 24: Policy on ethics and conflicts of interest for active
observers of the Green Climate Fund
The Co-Chairs opened the item and drew the attention of the Board to document
GCF/B.17/17 titled “Policy on ethics and conflicts of interest for active observers of the Green
Climate Fund”. They thanked the EAC and the Secretariat for their hard work in developing the
document. They reminded the Board that the Co-Chairs had asked two members of the EAC,
Board member, Ms. Ludovica Soderini, and alternate member, Mr. Nauman Bhatti, to consult
with Board members and active observers on the policy.
505.

506.

The Co-Chairs invited the two EAC members to give an update on their consultations.

Ms. Soderini informed the Board that she had undertaken consultations with her
constituency and that some Board members wished to have further legal advice from experts in
their capitals on the policy; they asked that it be deferred until B.18. Mr. Bhatti stated that there
had also been difficulties in getting proper feedback on the document, because many members
had not been able to go through the policy in view of its late issuance.
507.

The Co-Chairs stated that they would continue consultations on this policy between B.17
and B.18 and would also invite comments from Board members, active observers and observers.
The item would be brought back to the Board for its consideration at B.18.
508.

509.

The Board took note of document GCF/B.17/17.

Agenda item 25: Dates and venues of the following meetings of the
Board
The Co-Chairs opened the agenda item and drew the attention of the Board to document
GCF/B.17/04 titled “Date and venue of the following meeting of the Board”. Noting that a
proposal to alter the dates of the following meeting from those stated in decision B.16/08 had
been circulated to Board members between meetings but had not been approved, the Co-Chairs
invited the Board to adopt the draft decision contained in annex I to document GCF/B.17/04,
510.
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which contained, among other elements, a draft decision to hold the eighteenth meeting of the
Board (B.18) in Cairo, Egypt, from Saturday, 30 September to Monday, 2 October 2017.
A Board member said that steps should be taken in order for the Board to consider a
greater number of funding proposals than currently foreseen during the remainder of 2017,
particularly in view of the Board’s decision not to bring any funding proposals for consideration
at the current meeting. To that end, they proposed that – depending on the availability of the
Secretariat – either B.18 be extended from three days to four, or an additional Board meeting be
held in December 2017.
511.

While Board members expressed general agreement on the need to consider as many
funding proposals as possible in 2017, a range of views were expressed on the optimum
approach. Some Board members stressed that consideration of funding proposals was a top
priority and expressed support for the proposal to hold an additional meeting in December, or
at least to extend B.18, so as to increase the number of proposals to be considered during the
current calendar year. Other Board members said that an additional meeting in 2017 could
overburden the Secretariat and hinder its ability to make progress on issues other than funding
proposals, and highlighted that recently-approved changes to policy and process should speed
up the process of considering funding proposals in future, leaving no need for an additional
meeting in 2017. Further issues raised included the potential difficulty for Board members to fit
an extra meeting into their own schedules and the need to promote complementarity and
coherence by ensuring that GCF meetings did not overlap with those of other relevant
institutions.
512.

The Executive Director clarified that according to the current schedule, the Secretariat
would be able to submit between 12 and 14 proposals for consideration at B.18, and estimated
that, should an additional meeting be held in December 2017, the Secretariat may be able to
bring a further 8 to 10 funding proposals for consideration at such a meeting. The Executive
Director stressed that the only way the Secretariat could organize another Board meeting in
2017 in a satisfactory manner would be if it were restricted to one agenda item, namely
consideration of funding proposals. This would be just about manageable for the Secretariat
because the personnel involved in the twenty-third session of the Conference of Parties to the
UNFCCC were mainly concentrated outside the project divisions responsible for preparing
funding proposals.
513.

514.

Following further discussion, no amendments were made to the draft decision.

515.

The Board adopted the following decision:

DECISION B.17/24
The Board, having reviewed document GCF/B.17/04 titled “Date and venue of the
following meeting of the Board”:
(a)

Decides that the eighteenth meeting of the Board will take place in Cairo, Arab Republic of
Egypt, from Saturday, 30 September to Monday, 2 October 2017;

(b)

Also decides that the nineteenth meeting of the Board will take place from Tuesday, 27
February to Thursday, 1 March 2018 in Songdo, Republic of Korea;

(c)

Recommends that the Secretariat propose, at the second Board meeting of each calendar
year, the schedule of Board meetings for the following calendar year, with this process to
begin at the twentieth Board meeting; and

(d)

Requests the Secretariat, in presenting the indicative schedule of Board meetings, to take
into account all official United Nations holidays, including both fixed and floating holidays.
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The Board member from Egypt, Mr. Omar El-Arini, said that it would be an honour to
host B.18, and expressed the hope that the meeting would be productive and successful, and
would include a large number of funding proposal approvals. To conclude, he affirmed that
Egypt, as the mother of the world, welcomed all visitors as her children.
516.

The Co-Chairs thanked Mr. El-Arini for his words and said that it would be an honour to
have Egypt as a host.
517.

Agenda item 26: Other matters
A Board member called for a Board discussion to be held with a view to establishing an
investment policy for the GCF funds held in trust. To allow sufficient time for consideration of
that issue, the Board member proposed that it be considered as a stand-alone agenda item at the
following Board meeting and requested the Secretariat to present a paper prior to the meeting
on possible options for such a policy, with the aim of providing guidance to the Trustee of the
GCF on the financial management of the GCF funds held in trust, in line with Board decision
B.13/10, the mandate of the GCF and international best practice for environmental, social and
governance standards, as well as conducting a consultation with GCF stakeholders on the issue.
518.

519.

Four Board members expressed support for the above proposal.

Another Board member highlighted that the process of selecting a permanent trustee for
the funds of the GCF was still under way and said that any such investment policy would not
form a condition for the selection of the Trustee; instead, the investment of GCF resources
would be the subject of continuous discussions and negotiations between the GCF and the
Trustee, once selected. While agreeing that a general document could be prepared by the
Secretariat on the investment of large amounts of money in portfolios that did not include
greenhouse gas-emitting activities, the Board member said that in order to maximize the profits
of the GCF uncommitted resources in the current volatile market, the investment portfolio
should be determined by the Board and the Trustee through their ongoing negotiations and
should not be subject to pre-determined restrictive measures.
520.

521.

Two Board members expressed support for the above statement.

The Co-Chairs said that the inclusion of a stand-alone agenda item as proposed by a
Board member would only be permissible if it were consistent with the Rules of Procedure and
Governing Instrument and proposed to consult the relevant procedures before confirming
whether the proposed agenda item could be included on the agenda for B.18.
522.

523.

The meeting was adjourned.

At a later stage in the meeting, the Board member who had requested the inclusion on
the agenda for B.18 a stand-alone item on an investment policy for the GCF funds held in trust
asked the Co-Chairs to confirm whether “agenda item 26: Other matters” had been opened at
the current meeting.
524.

525.

The Co-Chairs confirmed that agenda item 26 had been opened at the current meeting.

Under this agenda item, the proposed 2017 budget for the IEU was also discussed by the
Board; the discussion is reflected in the report under agenda item 5: Report on the activities of
the Co-Chairs, including the outcomes of the Co-Chairs’ consultations, and the updated Board
work plan for 2017.
526.

527.

The agenda item was closed.
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Agenda item 27: Report of the meeting
The Co-Chairs reminded Board members that the decisions as adopted and their
corresponding annexes would be distributed to Board members within 2 hours of the meeting.
528.

Document GCF/B.17/21/Drf.01 titled “Decisions of the Board – seventeenth meeting of
the Board, 5-6 July 2017” was duly distributed to Board members.
529.

Agenda item 28: Close of the meeting
In drawing the seventeenth meeting to a close, the Co-Chairs expressed thanks to the
Board. They noted that several Board members and alternate members would no longer be
continuing on the Board. These included Board members Mr. Mikio Mori, Ms. Caroline Leclerc
and Mr. Stephan Kellenberger and alternate members Mr. Daniel Reifsnyder and Mr. Frank FassMetz. On behalf of the Board, they expressed thanks to the Secretariat and to the GCF family as a
whole. They looked forward to meeting everyone in Egypt at B.18.
530.

531.

The meeting was closed on Thursday, 6 July 2017 at 6 p.m.
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Annex I: Updated work plan of the Board for 2017
Issue

B.16

B.17

B.18

Strategies and plans
Work plan for 2017

Strategic plan for the GCF
(decisions B.11/03 and B.12/20)

Provide a progress report on the
implementation of the strategic plan
(decision B.12/20, para. (d))

Strategy on accreditation
(decision B.10/06, para. (r),
decision B.12/21, and decision
B.13/19, para. (b));

Circulation of an updated 2017 work plan
incorporating B.16 decisions

Adoption of a work plan for 2018

• Consideration of the decision on the
frequency of reporting for the Strategic
Plan (matter outstanding from B.16,
relating to decision B.12/20, para. (d))
• Update on country and entity work
programmes

Provide a progress report on the
implementation of the strategic plan
(decision B.12/20, para. (d))

• Consideration of matters related to the
accreditation framework and policy,
including
• An update on the strategy on
accreditation (decision B.14/08, para.
(b)

Accreditation strategy: consideration of
matters related to the accreditation
framework and policy

Communications strategy
(decision B.01-13/05, para (c), and
decision B.04/14, para. (c),
B.13/25, para. (f))

Presentation of a communications strategy
for adoption (decision B.13/25, para. (f))

Governance – Guidance from COP
COP guidance and reports
(Governing Instrument for the
GCF, paras. 6(a-c))
Complementarity and coherence,
(decision B.12/07, para. (a), and

Update on progress in addressing COP 22
guidance (decision B.15/03)

Approve the sixth GCF report to the COP,
including the biennial report on privileges
and immunities (report to address
mandates in decision B.13/11, para. (a),
and decision B.15/03, paras (d), (f), (h))
The presentation of an operational
framework on complementarity and
coherence (decision B.13/12, para. (a))

The presentation of options for the
operationalization of the key elements of
the operational framework on
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Issue
decision B.13/12, para. (a), and
decision B.13/05, B.BM-2017/02)

B.16

B.17

• Presentation of recommendations on
further steps to enhance cooperation
and coherence with the Technology
Mechanism (decision B.14/02, para. (d));
and
• Consider options for GCF support for
collaborative research and development
in developing countries (decision
B.14/02, para. (f))

Technology-related matters
(decision B.12/07, para. (b))

Update on work regarding support for
REDD-plus

The presentation of:
• An RfP for REDD-plus results-based
payments; and
• Further guidance for NDAs and focal
points on how to engage with the GCF in
the early phases of REDD-plus
(decision B.14/03, para. (b))

Presentation of actions being taken to
facilitate an increase in proposals from
direct access entities in the pipeline

Consideration of actions to be taken by the
Board in order to facilitate an increase in
proposals from direct access entities in the
pipeline:

Results-based payments for REDDplus (decision B.12/07, para. (d))

Alternative policy approaches
(decision B.12/07, para. (e))
Mobilization of private sector
finance to progress GCF forestryrelated results areas (decision
B.12/07, para. (f), B.BM-2017/02)
Increasing proposals from direct
access entities in the pipeline
(decision B.15/03)

B.18
complementarity and coherence (decision
B.13/12, para. (c))
[The first annual dialogue with climate
finance delivery channels proposed to
commence in the margins of B.18]

Governance – committees, panels and groups

Any follow-up matters after the adoption of
the REDD-plus RfP and guidance for NDAs
and focal points on how to engage with the
GCF in the early phases of REDD-plus
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Issue

Committees, panels and groups
(annexes XVI-XIX to decision
B.05/13 (annexes XVI-XIX to
document GCF/B.05/23)

Code of conduct for the
Accreditation Panel
(decision B.07/02, annex V, para.
14 (document GCF/B.07/11, annex
V, para. 14))
Establishment of an appointment
committee as a standing
committee (decision B.12/08 and
decision B.15/02 (a))

Review of the iTAP
(Decisions B.10/09, para. (d) and
B.15/06 para. (c), and Decision
B.09/10, annex XII)

B.16

B.17

B.18
• Presentation of ToRs for the review of
• To include Ethics and Audit Committee
committees, panels and groups, to be
recommendations on various matters
followed by a review of committees,
regarding conflicts of interest of persons
panels and groups
engaged with the GCF (Document GCF/
B.16/23, para.8)
• Presentation of work programmes of
committees and panels that include
actions outlined in the strategic plan
(decision B.12/20, para. (f), B.BM2017/02)
Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs
report of the Co-Chairs

Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs
report of the Co-Chairs

Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs

• Presentation of findings of the review of
the structure and effectiveness of the
independent Technical Advisory panel
(decisions B.10/09, para. (d), B.14/01,
para. (h) and B.15/06 para. (c)); and
• Adoption of ToRs for the performance
review of the iTAP members (Decision
B.09/10, annex XII), to be followed by a
presentation of findings of the
performance review of iTAP members;
and
• Matters related to the appointment of
iTAP members
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Issue

B.16

B.17

Adoption of the terms of references for the
Review of the Accreditation Panel review of the accreditation panel members
(Decision B.07/02, annex V, and
decision B.BM-2017/03)

B.18
Presentation of findings of the performance
review of the Accreditation Panel (decision
B.BM-2017/03);

Governance – Board procedures and observers
Decision-making in the absence of
consensus (decision B.12/11 and
decision B.15/02 (a))

Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs

Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs

Decision-making without a Board
meeting (decision B.12/12 and
decision B.15/02 (a))

Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs

Co-Chairs provide a progress report in the
report of the Co-Chairs

Participation of observers
(decision B.01-13/03, annex XII,
para. 17 (document GCF/B.0113/12, annex XII, para. 17),
decision B.05/23, para. (b),
decision B.BM-2016/11 decision
B.13/27, para. (b) and B.BM2017/02)

Presentation of policies on ethics and
conflicts of interests for active observers
(decision B.13/27, para. (b))

Presentation of the outcomes of the review
of guidelines on observer participation
(decision B.BM-2016/11, B.BM-2017/02);
and

Governance – Permanent Trustee selection
Competitive process for the
selection of the Permanent Trustee
(decision B.08/22, para. (b) and
decision B.15/08 para. (a),
B.16/05, annex II)
Board-appointed officials

Adoption of terms of reference of the ad
hoc Trustee Selection Committee

Presentation of:
Presentation of the recommended final
nominee to the Board for its decision
• The terms of reference for the
(B.16/05, annex II)
Permanent Trustee;
• Selection process and criteria, and
timeframe; and
• Approval of the announcement of the
open, transparent and competitive
process (B.16/05, annex II)
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Issue

B.16

Executive Director of the
independent Secretariat (decision
B.12/22, para. (f), B.14/05)

B.17

B.18

Presentation of the performance criteria
and measurement procedures (decision
B.14/05)
Presentation of the performance
management framework of the Heads of the
Units

Heads of the Accountability Units
(decision B.10/05, para. (j))
Review of Board processes and policies
Risk management framework
Update on matters related to risk
(decisions B.12/34, B.13/36, para.
(a), B.14/01, para. (c) and B.BM2017/02)

Consideration of matters related to the GCF • Update on matters related to risk;
risk management framework, (decision
• Presentation of updated risk policies and
B.12/34, decision B.13/36, para. (a), and
the grant equivalent calculator (decision
decision B.14/01, para. (c))
B.12/34)

Initial investment framework:
annual review of the financial
terms and conditions of the GCF’s
financial instruments

Adopt a decision on the annual review of
financial terms and conditions of the GCF
financial instruments (decision B.15/05,
para. (b))

Initial investment framework:
high-level and low-level
concessional terms for the public
sector (decisions B.12/17, para.
(b), and para. (a), and B.BM2017/02)

Adopt a decision on the cases in which highlevel and low-level concessional terms for
the public sector will apply (decision
B.12/17, para. (a))
Presentation of a proposal on indicative
minimum benchmarks (decision B.13/02)
(Investment Committee)

Initial investment framework:
indicative minimum benchmarks
Policy matters related to the
• Update on:
approval of funding proposals
o The update and the review of the
initial proposal approval process;
(PAP: Decision B.11/11, para. (j),
o
The simplified process for
(SAP: Decisions B.12/10 and
approval of proposals for certain
(B.14/01 (l))
activities, in particular for small(B.15 FP policy matters: (decision
scale activities
B.15/07 para. (k))

• Conclusion of the update and review of
the initial proposal approval process
(Decision B.11/11, para. (j));
• Status of the fulfilment of conditions on
relevant approved projects (decision
B.14/07, paras. (i) and (j))
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Issue

B.16
o Policy guidelines on programmatic
approach
• Adoption of the list of policy matters
arising from the consideration of
funding proposals at B.15

B.17
Matters arising from the informal Board
discussions. The Board is to consider the
way forward on:
• Consideration of a proposal to address
the list of policy matters arising from the
consideration of funding proposals at
B.15 (decision B.15/07 para. (k)); and
• Simplified process for approval of
proposals for certain activities, in
particular for small-scale activities
(Decisions B.12/10 and (B.14/01 (l))
• Consideration of recommendations on
needed actions to align the GCF portfolio
composition with the initial results
management framework as contained in
decision B.07/04 (decision B.09/02,
para. (b))

B.18

A mechanism to draw on
appropriate scientific and
technical advice (decision B.04/09,
para. (d), and decision B.14/07,
para. (o))

Presentations of options for a mechanism to
draw on appropriate scientific and technical
advice (decision B.14/07, para. (o))

GCF Gender policy and Gender
Update on actions taken to include gender Update on actions taken to include gender
action plan (decisions B.09/11
considerations in the activities of the fund considerations in the activities of the fund
B.12/16, B.14/01, para. (g), B.BM- in the report of the Secretariat
in the report of the Secretariat
2017/02)

Presentation of findings of the review of the
Gender policy and Gender action plan

Information disclosure policy
(decision B.12/35)

• Approval of the modalities for the
qualitative and quantitative review of
the webcasting service (decision
B.12/35, para (f))
• Establishment of the independent
appeals panel (decision B.12/35, annex
XXIX, para.28)
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Issue

B.16

Travel policy (decision B.01Report on the Co-Chairs’ consultations in
13/02, para. (e), decision B.12/13, the report of the Co-Chairs
and decision B.15/02 para. (a))
Co-financing arrangements with
other financial institutions
(decision B.13/05, and decision
B.15/02)

B.17

Report on the Co-Chairs’ consultations in
the report of the Co-Chairs

B.18
• Presentation of recommendations on the
review of the relevant disclosure
requirements once the environmental
and social management system is
developed (decision B.12/35, para. (b))
Report on the Co-Chairs’ consultations in
the report of the Co-Chairs

Report on the Co-Chairs’ consultations on Report on the Co-Chairs’ consultations on Report on the Co-Chairs’ consultations on
co-financing arrangements in the report of co-financing arrangements in the report of co-financing arrangements in the report of
the Co-Chairs
the Co-Chairs
the Co-Chairs

Fund-wide Indigenous peoples’
policy
(decision B.15/01)

Presentation of a GCF Indigenous Peoples’
Policy

Approvals
Funding proposals

• Consideration of funding proposals; and Status of the GCF Portfolio and approved
• Status of the fulfilment of conditions on projects, including
relevant approved projects (decision
B.14/07, paras. (i) and (j))

Consideration of funding proposals

Approval of proposals

• Approval of proposals
• Presentation of ToR for request(s) for
proposals for the remainder of the
allocation for the MSME pilot
programme (decision B.13/22, para. (f))

Private sector MSME pilot
programme
Mobilizing funding at scale pilot
programme (decisions B.10/11,
B.09/09 and B.13/04

Presentation of an RfP for the mobilizing of
funding at scale pilot programme

Modalities that enhance direct
access pilot programme (decision
B.10/04, paras. (d) and (e))

Approval of proposals

Approval of proposals
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Issue
Project Preparation Facility
(decision B.12/25)

B.16

B.17

B.18

Status report on the PPF requests received Status report on the PPF requests received Status report on the PPF requests received
as part of the activities of the Secretariat
as part of activities of the Secretariat report as part of activities of the Secretariat report
report (decision B.13/21, para. (d)(ix))
(decision B.13/21, para. (d)(ix))
(decision B.13/21, para. (d)(ix))

Completion of the initial approvals
process
(decision B.07/03)

Policy for cancellation and termination
(decision B.07/03, para. (e))

Performance measurement
frameworks (decision B.08/07,
para. (b) and decision B.13/34)

Further development of some indicators in
the performance measurement frameworks

Accreditation
Accreditation of entities
Legal and formal arrangements
with accredited entities

Status of the AMAs

Consideration of proposals to accredit
entities

Consideration of proposals to accredit
entities

Status of the AMAs

Status of the AMAs

Accreditation review of applicant
026

Recommendations of the Accreditation
Panel in accordance with decision B.12/30,
paragraph (f)

Initial fiduciary standards
(decision B.07/02, decision
B.12/31, para. (i), and decision
B.14/08, para. (f))

• Integration of policies relating to
Presentation of policies relating to
prohibited practices, anti-money
prohibited practices, anti-money
laundering and countering the financing
laundering and countering the financing of
of terrorism in the interim fiduciary
terrorism (decision B.12/31, para. (i), and
standards (decision B.14/01, para. (f))
decision B.14/01, para (e)) (independent
(Accreditation Committee and
Integrity Unit). These include:
independent Integrity Unit)
• KYC policy to prevent and combat
•
Commencement of the review of the
money laundering and terrorist
initial fiduciary standards (decision
financing;
B.14/08, para. (f))
• Administrative disclosure and
declaration of interest statements
• Policy on prohibited practices
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Issue
Environmental and social
management system (decision
B.07/02, para. (n))

B.16
Report on progress under the report on
the activities of the Secretariat

B.17

B.18

Report on progress under the report on the Presentation of the environmental and
activities of the Secretariat
social management system

Policy on fees for accredited
entities (decision B.11/10, para.
(f), B.BM-2017/02)

Revised policy on fees for accredited
entities
Presentation of method and criteria for the
prioritization of entities applying for
accreditation (decision B.14/08, para.
(d)(ii))

Fast-tracking of entities
Modalities for the use of thirdparty evidence in the accreditation
process (decision B.14/08, para.
(e)(i))

Presentation of modalities for the use of
third-party evidence in the accreditation
process (decision B.14/08, para. (e))
Presentation of findings of the assessment,
including a gap analysis of the Adaptation
Fund’s environmental and social policy and
gender policy and recommendations on
potential accreditation and fast-tracking
(decision B.14/08, para. (e)(iii))

Assessment of the Adaptation
Fund’s environmental and social
policy and gender policy and
recommendations (decision
B.14/08, para. (e)(iii))
Country programming and readiness
Implementation of the Readiness
and Preparatory Support
Programme
(decisions B.06/11 (f) and
B.16/01, para. (c))
Independent evaluation of the
Readiness and Preparatory
Support Programme

Presentation of the progress report

• Readiness Programme progress and
outlook report (decision B.06/11 (f))
• Presentation of a detailed and updated
work plan for the Readiness and
Preparatory Support Programme
(B.16/01, para. (c))

Progress report on the implementation of
Readiness work programme, including the
updated readiness work plan (decision
B.06/11 (f), B.16/01, para. (c))

Status of NAP requests (decision B.13/09,
para. (k))

Status of NAP requests (decision B.13/09,
para. (k))

Status of NAP requests (decision B.13/09,
para. (k))

Consideration of the ToR for the
independent evaluation of the Readiness
and Preparatory Support Programme

Presentation of the results of the
independent evaluation of the Readiness
and Preparatory Support Programme and
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Issue
(decision B.08/11, para. (j), and
decision B.13/03)

B.16

Country ownership guidelines
(decision B.10/10, para. (d) and
decision B.14/06)

B.17
(decision B.13/03 and decision B.15/04
para (c))

B.18
Board decisions taken (decision B.08/11,
para. (j), and decision B.13/03, and decision
B.15/04 para(b))

Presentation of country ownership
guidelines

Private sector matters

Private sector matters
(decision B.13/05, para. (c), and
para. (d), and B.BM-2017/02)

• Presentation of results from an analysis
of barriers to crowding-in and
maximizing the engagement of the
private sector (decision B.13/05, para.
(c), B.BM-2017/02)
• Presentation of PSAG recommendations
on barriers to crowding-in and
maximizing the engagement of the
private (decision B.13/05, para. (c),
B.BM-2017/02)

Presentation of PSAG recommendations on
the development of a private sector
outreach plan (decision B.13/05, para. (d),
B.BM-2017/02)

Progress report

Progress report

Status update on the implementation of
decision B.12/09 in the report on the
activities of the Co-Chairs

Presentation of policies on the formal
replenishment process

Resource mobilization
Status of the Initial Resource
Mobilization
First formal replenishment
process of the GCF
(decision B.12/09)
Policies and procedures for
contributions from philanthropic
foundations and other non-public
and alternative sources (decision
B.08/13, annex XIX, paras. 5-7
(document GCF/B.08/45, annex
XIX, paras. 5-7) and decision
B.11/05, para. (d))

Progress report
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Issue

B.16

B.17

B.18

Independent accountability units
Presentation of fiduciary compliance and
Other follow-up matters as per the work
integrity policies as per the workplan of the plan of the IIU approved at B.15
IIU approved at B.15 (decision B.12/31,
para. (i), decision B.14/01, para. (e),
decision B.15/13), including:
• the whistle blower and witness
protection policy; and
• the integrity due diligence policy for the
private sector

Independent Integrity Unit

Approval of the interim work programme
and budget of the IEU
Independent Evaluation Unit

Independent Redress Mechanism

Presentation of revised terms of reference
for the independent Redress Mechanism
(decision B.13/24 para (e), decision
B.15/12 para (c))

Approval of the interim work programme
and budget of the IEU

• Approval of a complete work plan and
budget of the IEU for 2018
• Approval of the Evaluation policy and
three-year rolling evaluation work plans
(decision B.06/09, annex III, para. 5
(annex III to document GCF/B.06/18,
annex III, para. 5))
• Approval of the revised terms of
reference for the independent Redress
Mechanism (decision B.13/24 para (e),
decision B.15/12 para (c))
• Presentation of the detailed guidelines
and procedures of the independent
Redress Mechanism (decision B.13/24,
para. (b) and decision B.15/12 para. (d))

Administrative matters

Administrative guidelines

• Revised administrative guidelines on
human resources;
• Presentation of reviewed administrative
guidelines on procurement (decision
B.12/39, para. (a));
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Issue

B.16

• Presentation of a work programme of
the Secretariat and an adjusted
Work programme of the
administrative budget for 2017
Secretariat and the Administrative
(decision B.15/
budget
• Report on the execution of the
administrative budget
Presentation of 2016 unaudited financial
Financial statements
statements
Status of staffing of the Secretariat
Secretariat staffing

B.17

• Secretariat report on progress in
implementing the Secretariat work
programme for 2017
• A report on the execution of the
administrative budget for 2017

B.18
• Administrative guidelines on
information and communication
technology
• Report on the execution of the
administrative budget; and
• Approval of the administrative budget
and work programme of the Secretariat
for 2018

Presentation of 2016 audited financial
statements (to be presented as part of the
Secretariat report)
Issues related to the status of the staffing of Consideration of the review of the structure
and staffing of the Secretariat, including a
the Secretariat
proposal on Secretariat staffing for
communications and outreach (decision
B.13/25, para. (e))

Abbreviations: AMAs = accreditation master agreements, B.15-18 = fifteenth to eighteenth meetings of the Board, COP = Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change, IEU = independent Evaluation Unit, IIU = independent Integrity Unit, MSME = micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprise, NDAs = national designated
authorities, NAP = national adaptation plans, PPF = Project Preparation Facility, PSAG = Private Sector Advisory Group, RfP = request for proposal, ToR = terms of reference
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Annex II: Operational Framework for complementarity and
coherence
Purpose
The Operational Framework for complementarity and coherence (hereinafter referred as
Operational Framework) operates in a diverse and evolving climate finance landscape. It seeks
to strengthen complementarity and enhance coherence with regards to operations and
processes across climate finance institutions. The Operational Framework may also incorporate
other institutions when appropriate and as the work evolves. Its evolution requires
collaboration with the other institutions.
The scope of the Operational Framework includes areas of relevance between the climate
finance delivery channels and the GCF, as per the pillars described below, and it may evolve
upon guidance from the Board.
The GCF Secretariat will report on outcomes and progress on the implementation of the
Operational Framework to the Board once a year. An update on work under the Operational
Framework is also to be included in the GCF report to the Conference of the Parties (COP),
starting in 2018.
Operational pillars
In decision B.13/08, the Board requested the Secretariat to prepare a document focusing on the
following four pillars for operationalizing complementarity and coherence:
Pillar I. Board-level discussions on fund-to-fund arrangements
Pillar II. Enhanced complementarity at the activity level
Pillar III. Promotion of coherence at the national programming level; and
Pillar IV. Complementarity at the level of delivery of climate finance through an established
dialogue
Each pillar is elaborated below, including where possible, potential complementary and
coherence outcomes.
Complementarity and coherence between the funds can occur at the institutional level as well as
at an operational level. In this context, the first pillar (Board-level discussions on fund-to-fund
arrangements), is intended to tackle complementarity and coherence at a more fundamental
institutional level, where changes to business models, governance structures or key policies
may be required. The remaining pillars aim to address it at the operational level within existing
institutional parameters of each institution.
Pillar I: Board-level discussions on fund-to-fund arrangements
Under this pillar boards/governing bodies of the various funds can explore and pursue
opportunities for complementarity and coherence that might entail changes to their existing
business models, governance structures and/or key policies. Overall, consideration by the
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Board on fund-to-fund arrangements could consider the comparative advantage of institutions
to maximize impact, including co-financing (e.g. activities financed, use of financial instruments)
and make arrangements to advance then.
Substantive matters that could fall under this pillar include:
Arrangements that commit one fund to provide co-financing to projects in another fund’s
pipeline;
Adjustment of existing policies or processes in search of alignment;
Arrangements with implications on funding decisions to GCF resources; and
Arrangements which delegate programming authority to another fund.
In each case, the boards of the different funds will need to carefully consider the implications of
any such arrangements on its existing business model, governance structure and key polices.
For example, in the case of the GCF, the Board shall consider implications on its business model
of working through accredited entities, the accreditation framework, the results management
framework, the investment criteria, among others.
In particular, the governance bodies of the different funds will need to clearly identify whose
policies (e.g., relating to prohibited practices or monitoring and reporting), will need to be
applied to projects which have been funded pursuant to the types of arrangements that may be
discussed under this pillar of the Operational Framework.
The form of the fund-to-fund arrangements shall be determined by the relevant boards once the
substance of such arrangements has been discussed and agreed. The Board may also wish to
consider inputs from the governance of other Funds as it undertakes discussions on
arrangements.
Pillar II: Enhanced complementarity at the activity level
Under this pillar, the various funds should build upon synergies at the activity level in order to
enhance complementarity and avoid inefficiency, where possible. Such complementarity shall
occur at the operational level and within the existing business models and polices of the
different funds.
Table 1 below sets out outcomes sought to be undertaken in collaboration with the different
climate finance delivery channels to enhance complementarity at the activity level.
Table. 1. Enhancing complementarity at the activity level
Element 1: Readiness/capacity building
Outcomes
20172018

Exchange of information via operational coordination arrangements among climate
finance delivery channels on readiness support
Improvement of readiness support templates to foster complementarity

GCF/B.17/22
Page 85

Coordination through existing mechanisms, including joint activities, aimed at enhancing
countries capacity to programme climate finance
Element 2: Nationally determined contributions (NDCs), National Adaptation Plans (NAPs), National
Communications (Nat Coms) and technology
Outcomes
20172018

Exchange of information and coordination in the support and pipeline for activities
related to planning and reporting documents, such as NDCs, NAPs, Nat Coms,
Transparency etc. Special consideration will be given to technology and complementarity
with the Technology Mechanism of the UNFCCC
Revision of support request templates to foster complementarity
Coordination to avoid overlaps and maximize impact, and consider where possible
collaboration in workshops and other activities with countries

Element 3: Project preparatory support
Outcomes

Harmonization of policies related to project preparatory support to simplify access

20172018

Information sharing to avoid duplication of support for the same or overlapping
proposals

Element 4: Programming
Outcomes
20172018

Exchange experiences and identify opportunities to advance coherence of programming
approaches, such as programmatic funding proposals
Identification of thematic synergies, such as REDD+, technology, etc, between
project/programme portfolios
Conduct in collaboration with national designated authorities (NDAs) and accredited
entities (AEs) a country-specific landscape of climate finance to enhance coordination on
pipelines
Apply the lessons learned and best practices in order to improve enabling environments,
including with regards to stakeholder engagement

Element 5: Funding proposals
Outcomes
20172018

Synergies of existing policies and procedures related to the project cycle have been
identified, including providing clarification of terms across landscape, where appropriate
Opportunities to enhance the use of resources during project review processes have been
identified, including for scaling up successful experiences
Information sharing between funds to identify and help assess similar or linked
proposals from the same applicants (and to address forum shopping)
Developing standardised advice to applicants regarding the options available at the
climate finance delivery channels, if possible, which options are more suited to which
type of proposal
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Element 6: Accreditation and work with entities
Outcomes
20172018

Identification of opportunities to fast track accreditation of entities, leveraging the work
of other funds
Application of lessons learned and best practices across the accreditation process
Collaboration with entities, including information sharing, with regards to other elements
of the Operational Framework, such as on programming, capacity building, etc.

Element 7: Private sector engagement
Outcomes

Identification of opportunities for enhance and coordinate outreach to private sector

20172018

Identification of options to maximize the use of financial instruments across the climate
finance landscape
Sharing information on new, innovative instruments and experiences, for example,
drawing on the Request for Proposals for mobilising funds at scale

Element 8: Policies and procedures
Outcomes

Exchange of experiences and identify possible steps to:

20172018

Streamline the implementation of environmental and social safeguards (ESS), fiduciary
standards, monitoring and evaluation approaches
Harmonise methodologies, including on co-financing
c)

Standardise indicative minimum benchmarks

Exchange experiences and harmonize where possible the application policies related to
accredited entities (AEs), including on fees, safeguards, etc.
Element 9: Knowledge management and sharing
Outcomes
20172018

Collaboration on enhancing knowledge management and sharing across different climate
finance delivery channels
Integrate relevant lessons and best practices across different climate finance delivery
channels into operations of the GCF, and share GCF lessons for similar consideration

Element 10: Work of the independent evaluation unit
Outcomes
20172018

i. Sharing of information, lessons learned and best practices and collaboration across
different climate finance delivery channels
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Pillar III: Promotion of coherence at the national programming level
To promote greater coherence at the national level, the GCF and other funds need to consider
country investment programmes, national policy frameworks and the work programmes of
accredited/implementing entities/agencies. Table 2 below sets out those outcomes sought at
the operational level within the business models and policies of the different funds, in each case,
in close consultation with the relevant national authorities.
Table. 2 Actions to promote coherence at the national programming level
Element 1. Country programmes and country engagement
Outcomes
20172018

Coordination of country programming, investment planning and pipeline development
between funds (e.g. national designated authorities (NDAs), Global Environment Facility
Focal Points, CTCN National Designated Authorities, etc.).
Enhance sharing of information on support requests vis-à-vis national policies by NDAs
and accredited entities (AEs)
Explore opportunities to maximize use of resources during project review formulation

Element 2: Policy frameworks
Outcomes
20172018

Exchange best practices and coordinate in the application of GCF country ownership
guidelines
Climate finance delivery channels to coordinate financing of the national adaptation plans
(NAPs), Technology Needs Assessment (TNAs), Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions
(NAMAs), Measurement, Reporting and Verification (MRV), and so on, in consultation
with the respective stakeholders
Collaboration between climate finance delivery channels to maximize engagement with
AEs including direct access entities

Element 3: Country-driven coordination
Outcomes
20172018

Enhanced channels for communication between different focal points (NDAs and other
respective focal points under the different Funds within the country), where applicable
Coordinate the development of GCF country programmes to utilize opportunities across
the climate finance landscape as part of the process of engaging existing and prospective
implementing entities to identify the practical steps that will enable implementation of
the country’s strategies with support from the GCF.
Identify issues that may arise throughout the programming process where enhanced
coordination between NDAs and accredited entities can be beneficial to enhance the
support to help the country realize a paradigm shift in its efforts to achieve low-emission
and climate-resilient development.
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Pillar IV: Complementarity at the level of delivery of climate finance through an
established dialogue
Annual dialogue of climate finance delivery channels
The Annual Dialogue of climate finance delivery channels will support the implementation of
the Operational Framework by providing a space for high-level consultation and dialogue
between climate finance delivery channels, in line with decision B.13/12, paragraph (b). The
Executive Director will host and is responsible for the Annual Dialogue and will advise the CoChairs of the Board on the timing, scope and organization of the Annual Dialogue at least two
months in advance of the meeting. In the future, other Funds may offer to host the Dialogue in
collaboration with the GCF.
Coordination arrangements between secretariats
Coordination arrangements will facilitate the implementation of the Operational Framework.
Such arrangements are to be developed by the GCF Secretariat in collaboration with secretariats
of other climate finance delivery channels to advance operational matters of this framework.
Each participant is welcome to report, as appropriate, on progress and activities to their
respective board, in accordance with their own procedures and governance structures.
Coordination arrangements are to be efficient, results-oriented, avoid duplication and operate
in line with relevant guidance. Building on existing initiatives and lessons learned, such
arrangements may include working groups, information sharing platforms, and joint events and
so on. Where possible, however, the implementation of the framework, particularly lessons
learned, will be integrated into ongoing operations and processes.
Country programming as the interface to support work related to advancing coherence at
the national programming level
Actions to promote coherence at the national programming level are to be pursued in a countrydriven manner. Country programming will serve as the interface between actions to promote
coherence at the national programming level and enhancing complementarity at the activity
level. The Readiness and Preparatory Programme is available to support countries as they
pursue actions related to this work, in line with the overall objective and existing guidelines of
the programme.
Input to the Standing Committee on Finance
The Standing Committee on Finance could consider the information on the efforts under this
Operational Framework. Outcomes and updates related may be included in the report to the
COP.
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Appendix: Matrix of the GCF and other climate finance delivery channels
Table 1. Matrix of design and operational aspects of climate finance delivery channels*
GEF

Adaptation Fund

CIFS

GCF

Trust Fund (GEF 5
& 6) **

LDCF

SCCF

Established

2010

1991

2001

2001

2001

2008

2008

UNFCCC mandate

Operating entity of
the financial
mechanism of the
UNFCCC and of the
Paris Agreement

Operating entity of
the financial
mechanism of the
UNFCCC and of the
Paris Agreement

Serves the
UNFCCC and
the Paris
Agreement

Serves the
UNFCCC and the
Paris Agreement

Serves the Kyoto
Protocol, and
Decision 1/CMA1
decided it ““should
serve the Paris
Agreement” as well,
consistent with
decisions to be
taken at COP24

None

None

Governing Body

24-member Board:
• 12 developing
countries
• 12 developed
countries

32-member Board:
• 16 developing
countries
• 14 developed
countries

32-member
Board:
• 16 developing
countries
• 14 developed
countries

32-member
Board:
• 16 developing
countries
• 14 developed
countries

2 economies in
transition

2 economies in
transition

16-member Board:
• 2 from each of the
5 UN regional
groupings
• 1 SIDS
• 1 LDC
• 2 Annex I Parties
• 2 non-Annex I
Parties

16-member
trust fund
committee:
• 8 eligible
recipient
countries
•8
contributor
countries

16-member trust
fund committee:
• 8 eligible
recipient
countries
• 8 contributor
countries

Clean
Technology
Fund

Strategic Climate
Fund

Governance

2 economies in
transition

12-member subcommittees for
Pilot Program for
Climate Resilience
(PPCR), ScalingUp Renewable
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Energy in Low
Income Counries
Programme
(SREP), and
Forest Investment
Program (FIP)
each:
• 6 eligible
recipient
countries
• 6 contributor
countries
Capitalization
Cumulative
Funding pledged
(~billion USD)

USD 10.3

Contributor
countries
(developing in
brackets)

43 (9)

(2015 – 2018)

USD 3.03 [climate
allocation]

USD 1.225

39 (13)

25

GEF Political Focal
Points focus mainly
on governance,
including policies
and decisions, and
relations between
member countries
within their
constituencies.
Usually, they are the
ones who follow the
Council discussions

Same as GEF
Trust Fund.

USD 0.352

USD 0.64 [includes
CDM revenue], as of
March 2017

USD 5.4

USD 2.61

As of March
2017

As of March
2017

15

14

9

13

Same as GEF
Trust Fund.

The Designated
Authority (DA) is
responsible for
endorsing the use
of selected
implementation
modality, endorsing
accreditation
applications as
National, Regional,
and Sub-Regional
Implementing

Dedicated country focal points.
The CIF rely on the multilateral
development banks (MDBs)‐
established procedures and
country focal points for ensuring
the country no‐objection during
the preparation of project
proposals.

Promoting country ownership
National
coordination focal
point

National designated
entities or focal
points, which issues
the No objection
letter required to
approve funding;
proposes entities for
direct access
accreditation;
convenes
stakeholders at the
national level; put

GCF/B.17/22
Page 91

Readiness and
capacity support
provided

forward readiness
support requests and
ensures alignment on
funding proposals
with national
priorities (and other
functions)

and represent their
countries at the
Assembly.

Support in the areas
of: Establishing and
strengthening NDAs
and strategic
frameworks;
Preparation of
country programmes;
Accreditation for
direct access entities;
and Development of
projects and
programmes

PCCB and other CB
support, such as
strengthening or
establishment of
national climate
change secretariats
or national focal
point, development
of national reports,
enhancement and
transfer of
technologies, etc.

Entities, and
endorsing projects
and programmes
proposed by the
implementing
entities.

GEF Operational
Focal Points are
responsible for
operations of GEF
activities within
their countries. This
includes reviewing
and endorsing
project proposals.
Support for the
Preparation of
NAPAs and
NAPs

Global support
programme for
Non-LDC NAP
development

Small grants to
support
accreditation of
NIEs & to build
capacity to
undertake climate
finance readiness
activities
Including, grants
available for:
Project
formulation; Southsouth cooperation;
Technical
assistance; Global,
regional and subregional
workshops; and
webinars. One-onone exchange with
prospective IEs.

Preparation
of country
investment
plans, project
preparation
support, and
knowledge
sharing
events, all
contributing
to readiness
and capacity
support.

Preparation of
country
investment plans,
project
preparation
support, and
knowledge
sharing events, all
contributing to
readiness and
capacity support.
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Accreditation of
direct access
entities (Y/N)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Total accredited
entities: 48
• National direct
access: 14
• Regional direct
access: 9
• International access:
25

Total implementing
partners: 18
• Multilateral
agencies: 10
• Project agencies: 8

Total
implementing
partners: 18
• Multilateral
agencies: 10
• Project
agencies: 8

Total
implementing
partners: 18
• Multilateral
agencies: 10

Total accredited
entities (as of
October 2016): 43
• NIEs: 25
• RIEs: 6
• MIEs: 12

MDBs: 5

MDBs: 5

Country
programmes and
entity work
programmes lie at
the center of the
programming
exercise. These
living documents
facilitate the
alignment of
countries’
programming
priorities with the
expertise and
capabilities of the
accredited entities.

GEF holds
Expanded
Constituency
Workshops (ECWs)
for GEF
political/operational
focal points to
discuss GEF
programming and
strategy. GEF-6
Programming
Directions place an
emphasis on
supporting
synergy/integration
that combine
policies,
technologies, and
management
practices with

The Strategic
Priorities, Policies
and Guidelines
mandates to
finance concrete
adaptation projects
and programmes
that are country
driven and are
based on the
needs, views and
priorities of
eligible Parties.
Such projects and
programmes are to
also take into
account, national
priorities.

MDBs’ jointly
assess
interested
eligible
countries’
investment
potential to
meet CTF
investment
criteria.
Where there
is a potential
fit, MDBs
conduct a
joint exercise
involving
other relevant
development
partners. CTF
Trust Fund

PreProgramming

Access Modalities
Accredited
implementing
entities

Programming

GCF provides

Project agencies:
8

Projects and programs are designed
based on the information and
guidance provided in NCs, NAPAs
and INDCs, as well as. The ‘GEF
Programming Strategy on
Adaptation to Climate Change for
the LDCF and the SCCF for the
period 2014-2018 seeks to: (a)
Integrate CCA into relevant policies;
(b) Expand synergies between CCA
and other GEF focal areas.
SCCF to finance activities, programs
and measures relating to climate
change that are complementary to
those funded under the climate
change focal area of the GEFTF and
through other bilateral and
multilateral sources.

In assessing project
and programme

Committees agree
on country or
regional pilots
and criteria for
country selection.
CIF AU, through
MDBs inform
countries and
invite expression
of interest;
Programming
Phase
SCF SubCommittees
endorses
Investment Plan;
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readiness support
to assist countries,
inter alia, in the
elaboration of
strategic
frameworks.
GCF holds
Structured
Dialogues to
articulate regional
roadmaps for GCF
engagement.

significant
mitigation and
resilience potential.
GEF-6 Climate
Change Mitigation
Strategy seeks to
enhance synergies
across focal areas
and to enhance
complementarity
with other climate
financing options,
including the GCF.

proposals, the
Adaptation Fund
Board is to consider
consistency with
national
sustainable
development
strategies and
other policies. Aims
to move to a
programmatic
approach, avoid
duplication with
other funding
sources.

Committee
reviews the
investment
plan with a
view to
endorsing a
resource
envelope
authorising
designated
MDBs to
proceed with
development
and
preparation of
individual
investment
operations for
CTF cofinancing.

Investment and
financing
proposals are
developed; a SCF
Sub-Committee
approves
financing for
investments and
other proposals.

Project preparation support
Project preparation
support

Readiness activity
area 4 to support
pipeline development
- PPF (capped at USD
1.5 million per
request)

Project preparation
grants to develop
proposals from
concepts

Project
preparation
grants to
develop
proposals from
concepts

Project
preparation
grants to develop
proposals from
concepts

Project
preparation grants
(USD 30,000 + USD
15,000 technical
assessments if
necessary). For
regional projects,
up to USD 100.000.

Funding to develop investment
plans and project preparation.

• Adaptation
• Mitigation

• Mitigation
• Capacity-building

• Adaptation

• Adaptation
• Technology
transfer

• Adaptation

• Mitigation

Activities financed
Thematic focus

• Adaptation
• Mitigation
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Mitigation result
areas

• Energy access and
power generation
• Low emission
transport
• Building, cities and
industries and
appliances
• Forestry and landuse

• Energy efficiency
• Renewable energy
• Power
• Cities and
transport
• Forests
• Agriculture
• Manufacturing
• Waste

None

• Energy
• Transport
• Industry
• Agriculture
• Forestry
• Waste
management

None

Adaptation result
areas

• Most vulnerable
people and
communities
• Health and wellbeing, and food and
water security
• Infrastructure and
built environment
• Ecosystem and
ecosystem services

Not applicable

• Water
Resources
• Food Security
and
Agriculture
• Health
• Disaster
Preparedness
and Risk
Management
• Coastal Zone
Management
and
Infrastructure
• Natural
Resource
Management
• CommunityBased
Adaptation

• NAPA
Implementation
• water
resources
management
• land
management
• agriculture
• health
• infrastructure
development
• fragile
ecosystems,
• supporting
capacitybuilding,
including
institutional
capacity
• Technology
transfer
• Capacitybuilding
• Economic
diversification

• Food security
• Agriculture
• Water
management
• Coastal
management
• Multi-sector
• Rural
development
• Disaster risk
reduction
• Forests

• Renewable
energy
• Energy
efficiency
• Sustainable
transport

• Renewable
energy
• Forests and
landscapes

• Agriculture and
landscape
management
• Water
management
• Infrastructure
• Climate
information
systems and
disaster risk
management
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Financial
instruments
available

• Grants
• Concessional loans
• Equity
• Guarantees and
other risk mitigation
instruments

• Grants

Yes. A dedicated
Private Sector Facility
and a Private sector
advisory group. Also
Provides for
accreditation of
private sector actors
and of entities that
engage with the
private sector

Yes (through the
non-grant pilot
programme)

All developing
country Parties to the
UNFCCC (140
NDAs/FP registered)

Developing country
Parties to the
conventions the GEF
serves, or who are
eligible to receive
World Bank (IBRD
or IDA) financing or

Grants

Grants

Grants

• Grants
• Concessional
loans
• Equity
• Guarantees
and other
risk
mitigation
instruments
• Local
currency
financing

No primary
emphasis on
engagement with
private sector,
although some
engagement with
the private sector
has occurred;
projects involve inkind and parallel
inputs from private
sector entities

USD 2.3 billion (or close to 30 % of
$8.3 billion total CIF funding) has
been allocated for projects and
programs that aim to stimulate
private sector participation,
including USD 1.7 billion for
private sector projects specified in
CIF investment plans and ~ USD
640 million to specific private
sector facilities to achieve scale and
speed in response to market
demand, including $465 million
allocated through the CTF
Dedicated Private Sector Programs

Developing country
Parties to the Kyoto
Protocol which are
particularly
vulnerable to
climate change

ODA eligible
developing
countries
with active
MDB
programs

Non-grant
programme only
• Concessional loans
• Equity
• Guarantees and
other risk
mitigation
instruments

• Grants
• Concessional
loans
• Equity
• Guarantees and
other risk
mitigation
instruments

Engagement with
the private sector
Modalities for
engagement

Target recipients

The LDCF and SCCF engaged the
private sector, as reported in the
Annual Monitoring Report for the
LDCF and SCCF.
The programming strategy for the
LDCF and SCCF includes provisions
on private sector.

Least
developed
countries
(LDCs)

Non-Annex I
Parties to the
UNFCCC,
prioritizing
vulnerable
countries in

FIP and PPCR:
ODA eligible
developing
countries with
active MDB
programs
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UNDP technical
assistance

Africa, Asia and
SIDS

SREP: low income
countries eligible
for MDB
concessional
financing (i.e., IDA
or a regional
development
bank’s equivalent)
with active MDB
programs

Projects
Funding approved
(billion USD)

USD 2.24 billion

USD 2.54

USD 1.160

USD 0.348

USD 0.42

USD 4.92

USD 1.65

Projects approved

43

379

248

76

63

102

114

Countries with
approved projects

64

137

51

79

55

24

36

Co-financing
(billion USD)

USD 7.32

USD 24.7

USD 4.75

USD 2.62

USD 46

USD 5.4

Co-financing ratio

1:2.27

1:9.7

1:4.1

1:7.5

1:9.5

1:3.3

Data reported

Apr - 2017

Jun - 2016

May- 2017

May- 2017

May 2017

Dec - 2016

Dec - 2016

Project/programme
sizes

Micro (up to USD 10
million)

Enabling Activities
(EAS) (up to USD 10
million)

Medium (MSPs)
(up to USD 2
million)
- Full-sized
(FSPs) (more
than USD 2
million)
- Enabling
Activities
(EAS)

Medium (MSPs)
(up to USD 1
million)
- Full-sized
(FSPs) (more
than USD 1
million)
- Programmatic
Approaches
(PAs)

Small-size (up to
USD 1 million)
- Regular (more
than USD 1
million)
- Regional projects
up to USD 14
million

Average
funding per
project: USD
48.2 million

Average funding
per project: USD
11.1 – 16.5 million

Small (USD 10 to USD
50 million)
Medium (USD 50 to
USD 250 million)
Large (more than
USD 250 million)

Medium (MSPs)
(up to USD 2
million)
- Full-sized (FSPs)
(more than USD 2
million)
- Direct Access for
NPFEs and

-
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Convention
Reports
- Programmatic
Approaches (PAs)

- Programmatic
Approaches
(PAs)

Approach to environmental and social safeguards
• Requirement for
ESS
Policy states the principles with regards to social and
accreditation
environmental safeguards that the GEF shall apply to those
• Second level due
operations that it finance
diligence
Assessment of GEF Project Agencies and Assessment of the
assessment of
Existing GEF Agencies in accordance with 8 principles and
funding proposals
considering the comparative advantage of reach Agency.
• Monitoring &
accountability
No GEF Secretariat level screening of the implementation of
reporting
safeguards on a project-by-project basis
• IFC policy
World Bank policy
• Fast-tracking of
• The GEF Policy requires demonstration that Partner
entities from AF
Agency has relevant policies and systems in place including
institutional capacity.

- Requirement for
accreditation

Uses the respective policies of the
MDB partners

- Second level due
diligence
assessment of
funding
- The Policy
Statement requires
IE’s to develop an
ESMS
commensurate to
the potential scope
and severity of E&S
risks inherent in
the
project/programme
design.
- Monitoring &
accountability
reporting

Fiduciary and monitoring systems and safeguard policies and monitoring systems
• GCF fiduciary
• GEF environmental and social policy
Fiduciary and
standards
and
• GEF fiduciary standards
safeguard policies
interim safeguard
• GEF Gender Equality Action Plan and Gender
(applies the IFC’s
mainstreaming policy
performance
• Indigenous Peoples Policy
standards)

• AF environmental
and social policy
• AF Fiduciary
standards
• Gender policy and
action plan

• Applies fiduciary standards and
safeguard policies of each MDB
partner
• CIF Gender Action Plan (Phases
1&2)
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• Gender policy and
action plan
• Mandate to develop
and indigenous
people’s policy
Monitoring systems

• Transparency,
self-investigative
powers, and anticorruption
measures

• Accreditation:
Annual selfreporting on
systems compliance
with standards and
safeguards.
Secretariat conducts
midterm review and
any ad hoc
compliance reviews
• Activities: Quarterly
financials, semiannual progress
reports, and midterm and final
evaluations.
Participatory
monitoring
encouraged
• Spot checks: GCF
can conduct spotchecks using a riskbased system

• Annual reporting by agencies
• Agency-led mid-term review of full-size projects
• Agency-led terminal evaluations of projects/programmes,
which must have independent review
• Independent Evaluation Office plays a central role in
evaluations from more than one GEF agency

Annual project
performance.
Regular projects
subject to midterm
and terminal
evaluations.
Terminal
evaluations must be
conducted by an
independent
investigator of
entity’s choosing.
Small-scale project
evaluation will be
deemed as
necessary. The
Board can carry out
independent
reviews or
evaluations of the
projects and
programmes as and
when deemed
necessary.

• Applies the Results Frame
approved by the CIF governing
bodies and the Monitoring and
Reporting Toolkit developed for
each program. CIF core indicators
collected and presented in the
annual results report
(information from recipient
countries and MDBs).
• Applies each MDB’s system for
monitoring & evaluation of
projects.
• MDB lead med-term reviews and
completion reports.
• CIF Evaluation and Learning
Initiative conducts evaluations
and studies (thematic, sectoral,
strategic, etc.).

Fee cap for grants to
public sector

Projects (% of
grant)
• <USD 10m: 9.5

Cap: 8.5

Project grants
cap: 5% of
grant amount

Administration
Implementing
entity fees
(percent)

Average: 8.81

Average: 8.82

Negotiated caseby-case:
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projects/programmes
9% of grant):
• Micro (<=10m): 10
• Small (>10m <=50m): 9
• Medium ($50m and
<=$250m): 7
• Large (>=$250m):7
Private sector and
nongrant
concessional loan
public sector projects
decided case-by-case)

• >USD 10m: 9.0
Programmes:
• Approved by an
executive Board: 8
• Approved by other
agencies: 9
• Small grants
programme: 4
Average: 7.18

Average: 7.3

Public sector
loans and
guarantees:
• 0.18 semiannually, or
• 0.45 up front

• Lowest: 0.5
• Highest: 30.6
Average: 4.02

Private sector
projects
determined
on a case-bycase basis:
• Lowest 0.68
• Highest:
5.67
Overall
average: 0.66

* Table adapted from Amerasinghe, N. et al (2017). “The Future of the Funds. Exploring the Architecture of Multilateral Climate Finance”. World Resources Institute, with additional
information drawn from public documents and recent literature.
** Table does not consider the newly launched GEF Capacity-building Initiative for Transparency (CBIT). The Paris Agreement requested the GEF to support the establishment of the CBIT
through voluntary contributions during GEF-6 and future replenishment cycles. While the table does not consider all relevant details of CBIT as they are still being operationalize, the work
of the GEF on capacity-building on transparency is considered in Annex II in the Operational Framework with regards to the activity level.
Abbreviations: AF = Adaptation Fund, CIFs = Climate Investment Funds, GCF = Green Climate Fund, GEF = Global Environment facility, IFC = International Finance Cooperation, LDC = Least
developed country, LDCF = GEF Least Developed Country Fund, MDB = Multilateral development bank, MIE = Multilateral implementing entity, NAP = National Adaptation Plan, NAPA =
National adaptation plan of action, NIE = National implementing entity, ODA = Official development assistance, RIE = Regional implementing entity, SCCF = GEF Special Climate Change Fund,
SIDS = Small Island Developing States, UNFCCC = United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
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Annex III: Immediate actions that the Secretariat will implement
I.

Origination

(a)

Improve origination of funding proposals by supporting national designated authorities
(NDAs)/focal points (FPs) in accelerating the development of strategic country
programmes;

(b)

Encourage funding proposals and concept notes to be developed directly from country
and entity work programmes, and concept notes will include a clear rationale on the
concept of paradigm shift;

(c)

Derive strategic programming from the country and accredited entity (AE) work
programmes and requests for proposal (RFP);

(d)

Encourage and support NDAs to solicit AEs to support country programmes and the
preparation of the pipeline based on the principle of country ownership;

(e)

Continue to implement the no-objection procedure by NDAs on Project Preparation
Facility proposals before Secretariat consideration;

(f)

Inform NDAs or FP of concept note (CN) submissions to the Secretariat and, where
requested by the NDA/FP, inform on the feedback provided to the AE;

(g)

Improve and simplify the CN templates. Template to include a word- and length-limit as
technology development allows; and

(h)

Require country programmes, concept notes and funding proposals to satisfactorily
cover gender issues, stakeholder engagement and, where relevant, indigenous people
issues.

II.

Review

(a)

Develop an online CN and FP submission portal;

(b)

Consult with the Board on policy related issues raised in concept notes as necessary;

(c)

As part of the ongoing independent Technical Advisory Panel (TAP) review, explore
increased TAP and AE interactions;

(d)

Expedite timing, processing, transparency and guidance of concept notes and funding
proposals;

(e)

Increase transparency by publishing concept notes and the status of funding proposals
as per the confidentiality assessment of the AEs and in accordance with the Information
disclosure policy;

(f)

Publish the Secretariat’s assessment of funding proposals sent to the Board;

(g)

The Secretariat will check the feasibility of proposed conditions with the accredited
entity during the project review; and

(h)

Improve data management and analytics, for example the AE submission portal and
NDA portal. Provide updated note on proactive pipeline management and related
knowledge management by the eighteenth meeting of the Board (B.18).

III.

Post approval
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(a)

Take note of the budget implications of the implementation of conditions;

(b)

Provide an update on the status of the fulfillment of conditions attached to approved
funding proposals; and

(c)

Provide status update on Board approved funding proposals without a signed
accreditation master agreement.
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Annex IV: Updated project and programme cycle
Table. Updated project and programme activity cycle
KEY STAGES AND INDIVIDUAL
STEPS

ACTOR(S)

RESPONSIBILITY AND TASK

I. Country, regional and/or accredited entity programmes
1.1

Submission and
compilation of country
programmes

National designated
authority (NDA) or focal
point (FP)
Secretariat

1.

2.
3.
4.

1.2

1.3

Submission and
compilation of accredited
entity work programme

Accredited entity (AE)

Structured dialogues

Secretariat, NDAs/FPs
and AEs

Secretariat

1.
2.
3.

Submit country programme, including a national adaptation plan or voluntary adaptation
plan and appropriate elements of countries’ nationally determined contributions, to the
Secretariat.
NDAs may request support from the Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme under
the readiness activity areas outlined in decision B.13/32.
NDA/FP may inform the Secretariat of preferred AEs that will implement programmes and
projects under the country programme.
The Secretariat will compile country programmes and submit this to the Board for its
information.
AEs will submit annual and/or multi-annual work programmes to the Secretariat
AEs will develop annual and/or multi-annual programmes in consultation with NDAs/FPs
The Secretariat will compile AE work programmes to be submitted to the Board for
information and discussion.
In accordance with the strategic plan, the Secretariat will host an annual strategic dialogue at
the regional level in each region.

II. Generation of programme or project funding proposals
2.1

Strategic approaches

NDA, Secretariat and AEs

1.
2.

2.2

Requests for proposals

Board, Secretariat

Based on the country and AE work programmes, countries will identify priorities, analyse
financial needs and gaps and identify partners to design and implement funding proposals.
The Secretariat would provide support to NDAs/FPs and direct access entities to conduct the
process for pipeline origination through strategic approaches.
The Board may periodically approve requests for proposals to guide the development of the
GCF portfolio in specific areas in accordance with the initial strategic plan.
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2.3

Regular call for funding
proposals

Secretariat

1.
2.

The Secretariat will publish regular calls for funding proposals on the GCF website, as
directed by the Board.
NDAs/FPs and AEs may submit funding proposals to the Secretariat in response to requests
for proposals, as well as funding proposals included in country and AE work programmes,
which would be subject to the proposal approval process.

III. Concept note (Voluntary)
3.1

Concept note submission

AE, NDA/FP

1.
2.
3.

The NDAs/FPs and/or AEs submit the concept note to the Secretariat.
In accordance with the country ownership guidelines and relevant decisions, AEs are
encouraged to engage NDAs/FPs prior to the submission of concept notes.
The Secretariat acknowledges the submission of the concept note, and updates the concept
note pipeline accordingly.

3.2

Concept note
confirmation

AE, NDA/FP

On receipt of a concept note submission from an accredited entity, the Secretariat will seek
confirmation from the national designated authority or focal point that the concept note fits
under national priorities and country ownership.

3.3

Concept note pipeline

Secretariat

The Secretariat will present an updated concept note pipeline prior to each Board meeting.

3.4

Feedback and
recommendations on the
concept note

Secretariat, NDA/FP, AE

In consultation with the NDA/FP, the Secretariat will provide feedback and
recommendations to the AE, and advises if the concept is endorsed, not endorsed with
possibility of resubmission or rejected.

3.5

Project preparation and
development support

AE, Secretariat

1.

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

The Project Preparation Facility (PPF) will support project and programme preparation
requests from all accredited entities, especially direct access entities, for projects in the
micro to small size category.
The NDA/FP will submit the no-objection letter related to the PPF request through the
Accredited Entity.
AEs submit proposals based on the PPF application template.
The Secretariat will report to the Board at each meeting on the pipeline of PPF requests
received, approved and under implementation.
The Secretariat will report on the progression of concept notes receiving PPF support to
funding proposals submitted and approved by the Board.
Funding proposals developed with PPF resources should be submitted to the Board within
two years of PPF approval unless sufficient justification for an extension is provided.
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IV. Funding proposals
4.1

Full proposal pipeline

Secretariat

The Secretariat will update the information on the GCF portfolio prior to each Board meeting
and publish it on the GCF website.

4.2

No-objection letter

NDA/FP

The NDA or FP will provide a no-objection letter, in line with the GCF transparent noobjection procedure in accordance with decision B.08/10.

4.3

Funding proposal
submission to the
Secretariat

AE, Secretariat

4.4

Information disclosure

AE, Secretariat

1.
2.
3.

The full funding proposal submitted to the Secretariat.
The Secretariat acknowledges the submission of the documentation.
The Secretariat reviews the funding proposals for completeness of documentation.
In accordance with the comprehensive information disclosure policy of the GCF as in force.

V. Secretariat analysis and independent technical assessment and recommendations to the Board
5.1

Analysis and
recommendation to the
Board

Secretariat

1.
2.

The Secretariat will carry out necessary and appropriate second-level due diligence.
The Secretariat will assess compliance with the GCF interim environmental and social
safeguards, Gender policy, financial policies and any other policies promulgated by the Board,
in addition to the performance of the project or programme against activity-specific criteria.

5.2

Independent assessment

TAP, AEs

1.

The independent Technical Advisory Panel (TAP) will conduct technical assessment of the
performance of the project or programme against activity-specific criteria, as defined in the
initial investment framework (decision B.09/05).
The TAP will present the outcome of its technical assessment and its recommendations on
each funding proposal.
The Secretariat facilitates the response from AEs to the assessment and recommendations
from the TAP.
The TAP assessment and the AEs responses will be published on the GCF website.

2.
3.
4.

5.3

Submission of
documentation to the
Board

Secretariat

1.

2.

The Secretariat will only submit to the Board for its consideration those funding proposals
whose approval has been recommended by the independent Technical Advisory Panel and
the Secretariat.
The Secretariat will submit the following documentation to the Board:
(i)
The final funding proposal as submitted by the AE
(ii)
The Secretariat’s assessment of compliance with safeguards and policies and
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(iii)
(iv)

(v)

performance of the project or programme against activity-specific criteria. Proposals
that best achieve GCF objectives will be selected based on selection process
methodologies to be approved by the Board
A summary of the second-level due diligence carried out by the Secretariat
A cover note containing: the funding recommendation by the Secretariat; and a
summary of the proposal and the underlying assessments with respect to the
activity-specific criteria
The assessment of the TAP and responses from AEs (standard practice since the
fourteenth meeting of the Board).

VI. Board decision
6. 1

Board decision

Board

1.

The Board takes a decision to:
(i)
Approve the funding proposal; or
(ii)
Provide an approval that is conditional on modifications to project or programme
design or subject to availability of funding; or
(iii)
Reject the funding proposal.

6.2

Post approval follow-up

Secretariat

1.

The Secretariat will inform the AE and the NDA/FP of the Board’s decision and the next steps
in relation to the approval conditions.
The decision is recorded by the Secretariat and communicated to the Interim Trustee.
In the case of rejection, the Secretariat will inform the NDA/FP (decision B.04/04) that, in
accordance with decisions B.06/09 and B.13/24, they may request reconsideration of the
funding decision via the independent Redress Mechanism.

2.
3.

6.3

Implementation of Board
conditions

Secretariat

The Secretariat will report to the Board at each meeting on the status of implementation of
the approval conditions, and identify any matters that require further Board action.

VII. Legal arrangements for approved proposals
7.1

Funded activity
agreement

Secretariat with AE

1.
2.
3.

The Secretariat will work with AEs to conclude any necessary legal arrangements between
the GCF and the AE.
Legal agreements are signed by the Executive Director and the AE.
The Interim Trustee is notified.
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4.

The NDA/FP is informed of the outcome of the funded activity agreement.

7.2

Letter of commitment

Interim Trustee

The Interim Trustee provides a letter of commitment, subject to the availability of funding.

7.3

Funding proposal
conditions

Secretariat, AE, Board

The Secretariat will assess the conditions attached to funding proposals and, in the event any
such condition is considered by the Secretariat to be inconsistent with GCF policies, the
Secretariat will make a recommendation to the Board for further guidance and pending such
guidance, the relevant condition shall be deemed not to apply (decision B.16/02).
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Annex V: Risk Management Framework Component I – Revised Risk
Register
I.

Introduction

Through decision B.12/34, the Board adopted the risk register as contained in annex
XXVIII and requested the Risk Management Committee (RMC) to review the probability, impact
and resulting priorities of risks prior to the thirteenth meeting of the Board. A technical note
was compiled to provide an approach and rationale that estimates the probabilities, impacts
and resulting priorities in the risk register. Moreover, the Board indicated that the risk register
will be updated at least once a year. In addition, the Board requested the Secretariat to monitor
and report to the Board at each Board meeting any changes in the priorities of the risk register.
1.

The Board, through decision B.13/35, adopted the proposed revision of the risk register
and concluded that the proposal was reasonable. The RMC also recommended that the Board
change the risk register update interval from “at least once a year” to “as frequently as the RMC
deems necessary, but no less frequent than once every three years”, due to the fact that the risk
environment in which the Green Climate Fund (“GCF”, “the Fund”) operates evolves as a result
of external events, changes in the mix of instruments deployed by the GCF and other strategic
priorities.
2.

Through decision B.13/36, the Board requested the Secretariat, in consultation with the
RMC, to develop the necessary methodologies to enhance the Secretariat’s risk management
capacity.
3.

This document is a component of the Risk Management Framework (“RMF”), and it
contains an updated version of the GCF’s previous risk register (GCF/B.13/29). The updated
technical note from the RMC regarding the risk register is contained in Appendix I. The risk
register provides a comprehensive list of non-overlapping risk types that concern the GCF and a
clear definition for each risk type in that list. The risk register brings the following benefits:
4.

(a)

It provides a consistent terminology for the GCF to communicate about risk.

(b)

It helps define the mandate of the Office of Risk Management and Compliance by
clarifying what should be a risk concern versus what should be a strategy concern.

(c)

It defines the structure around which the rest of the RMF can be defined, thus bringing
consistency across the RMF.

Specifically, this new version ensures that the set of risks listed in the register are
comprehensive and non-overlapping, and that it clarifies the philosophy of what should be a
risk concern vs. strategic concern. Beyond the risk types and definitions, GCF’s previous risk
register also included some other parameters on each risk type – most importantly the
likelihood, impact, and mitigating actions. These other parameters too have been updated in this
version of the risk register. The main focus of these updates was to ensure greater consistency
in these parameters across various risk types and with the new proposed risk appetite
statement. However, the parameters have a strong dependence on the rest of the RMF
(including detailed processes and procedures which are a part of the RMF) which is currently
being revised. Hence, these parameters should be reviewed again after the rest of the RMF has
been detailed.
5.

II.
6.

Linkages with previous decisions and other documents
This document also has linkages with the following documents:
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(a)

Document GCF/B.12/17 titled “Initial risk management framework: risk register, risk
appetite update and Initial risk guidelines for credit and investment”

(b)

Document GCF/B.13/29 titled “Report on the proposed revision of the risk register”

III.

Objective

This document is a component of the Risk Management Framework (RMF), and it
contains an updated risk register. The risk register provides a comprehensive list of nonoverlapping risk types that concern the GCF, and a clear definition for each risk type in that list.
7.

Figure 1. Risk Management Framework (RMF) components

8.

The risk register brings the following benefits:

(a)

Provides a consistent language and terminology for the GCF to communicate about risk,
outlining a comprehensive set of non-overlapping risks that GCF faces with clear
definitions;

(b)

It helps define the mandate for the Office of Risk Management and Compliance by
clarifying what should be a risk concern versus what should be a strategy concern; and

(c)

It defines the structure around which the rest of the RMF can be defined, thus bringing
consistency across the RMF.

The risk register also summarizes mechanisms in place to identify, analyse and evaluate
the risks. It can be used to assess the relative priority of the risks and to take control actions to
mitigate them.
9.

IV. Effective date
The revised risk register set forth in appendix I will take effect on September 1st 2017. If
the Interim Trustee is unable to implement the requirements in the revised risk register, they
will become applicable after the selection of the Permanent Trustee. Until that time, the GCF
should monitor the Fund’s adherence to these requirements to the extent possible under the
current agreement. It should be noted that beyond the list of risk types and their definitions,
other parameters described in this risk register have a strong dependence on the rest of the
10.
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RMF (including the RMF’s detailed elements like processes and procedures) which is currently
being revised. Hence these parameters of the risk register should be reviewed again after the
rest of the RMF has been detailed.
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Appendix I: Updated technical note from the Risk Management
Committee and the revised risk register
I.

Introduction

In decision B.12/34, the Board adopted the risk register and requested the Risk
Management Committee (RMC) to review the probabilities, impacts and resulting priorities of
risks prior to the thirteenth meeting of the Board. This technical note was compiled to provide
an approach and rationale that estimates the probabilities, impacts and resulting priorities in
the risk register.
1.

This technical note has been updated as part of the revisions proposed to the risk
register in this document.
2.

II.

Definition

General definitions: Risk is a potential event that can threaten the achievement of an
organization’s objectives. Organizations take various actions to control risk within their risk
appetite and risk tolerances. Risk that exists before organizations take mitigating actions is
termed inherent risk, whereas risk that remains after control measures are taken is termed
residual risk. A risk register is a documented collection of the risks impacting an activity or the
organization, as well as the mechanisms in place to identify, analyze and evaluate the risks. It
can be used to assess the relative priority of the risks and to take control actions to mitigate
them. For each risk, the following parameters are identified:
3.

(a)

Probability and impact: The assessment of the likelihood of the risk events occurring
and, if the risk event occurs, the overall impact on the organization;

(b)

Risk tolerance: The level of appetite or tolerance that the organization has to the
particular type of risk;

(c)

Mitigation: Mechanisms that should ideally be in place to reduce the probability of
occurrence, or to reduce the impact of, each type of risk if it were to occur. Potential
mitigation measures include policies, procedures, internal controls, and analytical tools;

(d)

Priority: The relative importance to the organization of each risk based on the
combination of probability of occurrence and impact; and

(e)

Key risk indicator: The parameter(s) used to measure the level of risk that materialized.

Two other parameters from the previous risk register (GCF/B.13/29) - Triggers and
Owners – have been removed in this revision. The Triggers parameter was removed as it had
strong overlaps with the Mitigation parameter. The previous risk register (GCF/B.13/29) also
assigned multiple owners to each risk. It is recommended that the Owner parameter is
considered for inclusion again once the rest of the RMF has been detailed and there is further
clarity on ownership (i.e. a single owner) of each risk-related activity.
4.

III.

Proposed risk assessment approach

There are two types of risk: inherent risk and residual risk. Risk that exists before an
organization takes mitigation actions is inherent risk, and risk that remains after control
measures are taken is residual risk. The objective of risk management is to maintain the
residual risk level within risk appetite and tolerance set by the board of an organization.
5.

Ideally, the probability and impact of risk (and the resulting priority also) need to be
based on the actual risk/loss events of the GCF. In such cases, the GCF can observe the risk
6.
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probability and impact from its historical risk data, thereby directly arriving at risk priority.
However, many of the estimates of risks will always be based on "expert judgment" since some
of the risk types will occur very rarely so as to allow the development of a meaningful historical
database with any level of statistical significance.
As a start-up organization, the GCF does not have its own historical data, making it
inevitable that it will rely on experts’ professional judgment as a starting point. Therefore, it is
useful to follow the flow of logic from inherent risk to residual risk considering mitigation
measure.
7.

IV.

Initial assessment

8.

The Probability of occurrence and Impact are defined as follows:

(a)

Probability of occurrence

(b)

(i)

High – highly likely to occur within the next 12 months;

(ii)

Somewhat likely – would not be surprising if it occurred within the next 36
months;

(iii)

Somewhat unlikely – would be surprising if it occurred within the next 36
months; and

(iv)

Low – highly unlikely to occur within the next 36 months.

Impact
(i)

High – a material adverse impact that could impede the organization’s ongoing
viability and/or its ability to meet its strategic objectives;

(ii)

Somewhat disruptive – an adverse impact that would be disruptive to the
viability of the GCF and/or its ability to meet its strategic objectives;

(iii)

Somewhat non-disruptive – a relatively contained adverse impact that could
impact the financials of the GCF and/or its ability to meet its strategic objectives
by up to 10 per cent; and

(iv)

Low – minimal and contained impact.

The priorities for inherent and residual risks are assigned using the priority grid (Table
1) approved by the Board as part of the risk dashboard, and it is effectively the result of
combining the probability and impact of occurrence as an estimation of the importance of such
risks.
9.
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Table 1. Priority table

Impact
Low (L)

Probability
of occurrence

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

(SND)

(SD)

High (H)

Low (L)

Low priority

Low priority

Low priority

Medium priority

Somewhat unlikely (SU)

Low priority

Low priority

Medium priority

Medium priority

Somewhat likely (SL)

Low priority

Medium priority

High priority

High priority

High (H)

Medium priority

Medium priority

High priority

Very high priority

Source: Document GCF/B.10/07 titled “Initial risk management framework: methodology to determine and define the Fund’s risk appetite”
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Revised risk register
Risk code

1.1

1.2

Risk category

Compliance

Compliance

Subcategory

Internal compliance breach

Regulation and sanction/embargo breach and engagement in prohibited practices

Description

Failure of staff or Board members to comply with the
standards and codes of conduct, set by the GCF itself
through its policies and procedures, including: Travel
Policy (as appropriate), Administrative Policies of the
Fund, Policies on Ethics and Conflicts of Interest, Policies
on ethics and conflicts of interest for other Board
appointed officials and active observers, Information
Disclosure Policy, cross-subsidization between providers
of grants and loans (Financial Risk Management
Framework), Gender Policy and Action Plan, Fiduciary
Principles and Standards, Environmental and Social
Safeguards

Failure of the GCF, AE/EEs, or other related parties to adhere to the laws and regulations, including sanctions and
embargoes, in jurisdictions relevant to the operations or engagements of the GCF as well as to the GCF’s prohibited
practices requirements and Anti-Money Laundering and Countering the Financing of Terrorism Policy (as
appropriate), etc.

Inherent
risk

Prob.

Somewhat unlikely

Somewhat likely

Impact

High

High

Priority

Medium

High

Risk tolerance

GCF will completely avoid this risk (zero tolerance)

GCF will completely avoid this risk (zero tolerance)

Mitigation

The risk will be identified and mitigated as follows:

The risk will be identified and mitigated as follows:

1) All HR decisions will be screened for this risk.

1) Accreditation process: Potential AEs will be screened for this risk, and accreditation decisions will be taken
accordingly. GCF will continue to evaluate AEs for this risk through the ongoing AE monitoring and evaluation and
2) GCF will continuously evaluate internal processes and
take corrective action as required.
policies (including the GCF payments process) for this
risk and take corrective action as required. It will also
2) Projects / programmes: Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be screened for this risk, and such evaluations
take necessary action to improve the Compliance/Ethics will influence the final decisions taken on them. GCF will continue to evaluate projects / programmes for this risk
Culture across GCF through adequate communication
through the ongoing project / programme monitoring and review process and take corrective action as required.
efforts and staff and Board training.
3) All HR and procurement decisions will be screened for this risk.
3) GCF will continuously evaluate all internal processes
4) The GCF will continuously evaluate internal processes and policies (including the GCF payments process) for this
and policies, Funding Proposals, and GCF's overall
risk. and take corrective action as required. It will also take necessary action to drive a Compliance/Ethics Culture
investments in projects / programmes for potential
across GCF.
policy breaches, and take corrective action as required.
5) The GCF will continue to monitor for changes in laws and regulations, including sanctions and embargoes,
applicable to GCF and take corrective action as required. GCF will also secure necessary privileges and immunities
that are not yet in place and conduct periodic exchanges with home country authorities.
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Residual
risk

Prob.

Low

Somewhat unlikely

Impact

High

High

Priority

Medium

Medium

List of compliance breaches

List of compliance breaches; List of countries and exposures where GCF invests in without privileges and
immunities

Key risk indicator
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Risk code

2.1

2.2

Risk category

Legal risk

Legal risk

Subcategory

Contractual breach

Non-contractual breach

Description

Financial loss, sanction, and/or reputational damage resulting from the use of
defective contracts or contractual relationships

Financial loss, sanction, and/or reputational damage resulting from Non-Contractual
Rights Risk (the risk that GCF’s assets are not properly owned or are infringed by
others, or the infringement by GCF entity of another party’s rights)

Inherent
risk

Prob.

Somewhat likely

Low

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

High

Low

Risk tolerance

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

Mitigation

The risk will be identified and mitigated as follows:

The risk will be identified and mitigated as follows:

1) GCF will screen its legal contacts (AMAs, FAAs, procurement contracts, etc.) for this
risk.

1) GCF will continuously evaluate internal processes and policies for this risk and
take corrective action as required. It will also take necessary action to improve the
Compliance/Ethics Culture across GCF.

2) GCF will continuously evaluate internal processes and policies for this risk and take
corrective action as required. It will also take necessary action to improve the
2) GCF will continue to monitor for changes in law applicable to GCF and take
compliance culture across GCF.
corrective action as required.
3) GCF will continue to monitor for changes in law applicable to GCF and take
corrective action as required. GCF will secure necessary privileges and immunities
that are not yet in place and conduct periodic exchanges with home country
authorities.

3) The General Counsel will oversee legal documents and internal practices and take
corrective action as required. GCF may use external counsel, if necessary.
4) GCF will continue to monitor AMA and FAA commitments and take corrective
action as required.

4) The General Counsel will review all contracts, when applicable, and take corrective
action as required.
Residual
risk

Prob.

Somewhat unlikely

Low

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Medium

Low

List of legal disputes; List of countries and exposures where GCF invests in without
privileges and immunities

List of legal disputes

Key risk indicator
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Risk code

3

4.1

4.2

Risk category

Reputation risk

Operational and IT risk

Operational and IT risk

Subcategory

N/A

GCF operational process errors

Disasters and other events

Description

Adverse perception which has a material effect on
the credibility of GCF (beyond the Reputational
damage which may be incurred due to one of the
other risks in this register)

Failure to meet GCF's internal operations standards or
non-compliance with external requirements that affect
operations activities

Disruption of business due to natural or man-made
catastrophic disasters

Inherent
risk

Prob.

High

Somewhat likely

Somewhat unlikely

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Priority

High

Medium

Medium

Risk tolerance

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

Mitigation

Reputational risk can persist despite the broader risk
mitigation measures in place. GCF’s strategy will
include a clear plan to mitigate and manage this
risk1. GCF will be informed by reputational risk
monitoring, which will be identified and measured in
media monitoring and engagement with AEs, NDAs,
CSOs, and other stakeholders. GCF will also set a
stakeholder engagement plan that has to be executed
in cases where reputation risk is deemed high (e.g.
frequent negative international coverage on a GCFsupported project). For reputational risks resulting
from the complexity of applying for GCF funds or
slow, inefficient decision-making processes, GCF will
provide guidance and readiness programmes for
relatively inexperienced AE/EE/NDAs, and
distribute materials to facilitate awareness and
understanding of the process.

GCF will implement controls in its operational
processes to mitigate this risk. The effectiveness of
these controls will be continuously evaluated through
GCF’s Risk Control Self-Assessment, and corrective
action will be taken to modify controls where required.

GCF will set up a business continuity plan to prepare for
such events, and socialize and train the organization on it.
This plan will include a cloud-centric way of holding and
securing information assets, combined with mobile
computing to allow staff to work remotely and a business
continuity management system consistent with ISO
22301:2012.

Prob.

Somewhat likely

Somewhat unlikely

Low

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

High

Low

Low

Residual
risk

1

This will include a Communication strategy, which includes an approach to disseminating results. In addition, this risk will be mitigated through internal processes manuals, readiness
programme, accreditation process, Country Programming outreach, financial management processes of the GCF, media monitoring, and participation of observers in Board meetings.
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Key risk indicator

List of adverse publicity reports; List of grievances

Funding Proposal approval time; AE accreditation
approval time

List of natural catastrophes, geopolitical events, wars, and
terrorism affecting GCF's operations
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Risk code

4.3

4.4

4.5

Risk category

Operational and IT risk

Operational and IT risk

Operational and IT risk

Subcategory

IT systems failure

Cyber attack

Staffing risk

Description

Disruption of business due to unavailability /
inaccessibility of IT infrastructure and
applications.

Misappropriation of internal data and/or information
by a third party through IT means, such as system
security breach, hacking, phishing attacks, and
cybercrime. Also includes hacking damage and
malware / virus attacks.

Operational failures, losses and other disruptions arising from
the staffing model of the GCF, including staff headcount level
and external consultants as well as from problems with
recruitment, retention, succession planning, integrity and
morale among GCF staff.

Inherent
risk

Prob.

Somewhat likely

Somewhat likely

High

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Priority

High

High

High

Risk tolerance

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled
amount

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

Limited, controlled amount

Mitigation

GCF will set up an IT system evaluation,
GCF will set up appropriate systems to assess,
monitoring, and back-up strategy (in the event of a monitor, and prevent breaches, and establish
failure).
protocols in the case of system breaches or data theft
to minimize damages.

GCF will maintain a competitive compensation package,
effective performance management system, and continuous
learning opportunities. GCF will also take necessary actions to
reduce vacancies and turnovers, increase staff morale, and
address employee concerns or complaints.

Prob.

Somewhat unlikely

Somewhat unlikely

Somewhat likely

Impact

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Low

Low

Medium

List of IT system failures

List of information security breaches

List of complaints on employee behavior; Employee turnover
rate; Vacancy rate

Residual
risk

Key risk indicator
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Risk code

5.1

5.2

6.1

Risk category

Project/programme failure risk

Project/programme failure risk

Funding risk

Subcategory

Project/programme failure: Risk of noncompliance against internal requirements

Project/programme failure: Impact risk

Funds held in Trust: Foreign exchange (FX) risk

Description

Failure of the AE/EE or other related parties to
comply with GCF's internal policies, guidelines,
applicable regulations, and respective agreements
(e.g. AMA, FAA) with involved parties to a
project/programme.

Failure of the project/programme to deliver the
expected transformative mitigation and adaptation
climate impact

Loss in the value of contributions due to foreign exchange
rate fluctuations

Inherent
risk

Prob.

Somewhat likely

High

Somewhat likely

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Priority

High

High

High

Risk tolerance

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled
amount

GCF will actively take this risk to achieve its mandate

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

Mitigation

Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be
screened for this risk, and the evaluation will
influence the decisions taken on them. In addition,
the risk will also be identified and measured in the
accreditation process and AE monitoring process 1.
GCF will also continue to evaluate projects /
programmes for this risk through the ongoing
project / programme monitoring and review
process and take corrective action as required.

Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be screened
for this risk, and the evaluation will influence the
decisions taken on them. In addition, the risk will be
identified and measured in country programming
outreach efforts and readiness programme. GCF will
also continue to evaluate projects / programmes for
this risk through the ongoing project / programme
monitoring and review process 2 and take corrective
action as required.

The risk will be monitored by the Secretariat through a
contribution management system and mitigated through
conversion of cash received to one of GCF's holding
currencies, FX hedging, and continuous monitoring of the
resulting FX position (enabling corrective action if required).

Prob.

Somewhat unlikely

High

Somewhat unlikely

Impact

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Medium

High

Low

Residual
risk

Key risk indicator

1
2

List of countries where GCF invests in without
Portfolio distribution by Project Success Risk Rating,
privileges and immunities; Customer Due Diligence Accredited Entities, Country, Results Area, Projects /
Assessment Reports
Programmes etc.; Ongoing project delays; Impact
achievements (Measurement of core adaptation and
mitigation indicators)

Proportion hedged as percentage of total FX exposure

The AE monitoring process will include monitoring of media and other public sources, and periodic interaction with NDAs.
The project / programme monitoring and review process will include assessment based on the GCF results management framework.
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Risk code

6.2

6.3

6.4

Risk category

Funding risk

Funding risk

Funding risk

Subcategory

Funds held in Trust: Policy compliance risk

Funds held in Trust: Investment risk

Funding: Liquidity risk

Description

Failure to comply with GCF's policies on funds held Losses in the value of investments of GCF's funds held
in Trust
in Trust due to market movements in the price of the
securities

Timing mismatch between the cash inflows and cash
outflows leading to shortages in the ability of the GCF to face
its payment obligations

Inherent
risk

Prob.

Somewhat likely

Somewhat likely

Somewhat likely

Impact

High

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat disruptive

Priority

High

High

High

Risk tolerance

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled
amount

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled amount

Mitigation

GCF will set investment boundaries for its Trustee.
The investment portfolio will continuously be
monitored against those boundaries and the
boundaries will be enforced using the arrangement
with the Trustee 3.

GCF will set risk targets for its Trustee. The investment
portfolio will continuously be monitored against those
targets and the targets will be enforced using the
arrangement with the Trustee. GCF will also set
concentration targets for its Trustee and monitor
concentration levels4.

GCF's liquidity reserve will be analyzed in each Funding
Proposal, and it will guide the decision taken on the Funding
Proposal. GCF will continuously monitor its liquidity position
vis-a-vis its Risk Appetite through various tools, such as cash
flow models and contribution management system, and take
corrective action as required.

Prob.

Low

Somewhat unlikely

Somewhat unlikely

Impact

High

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Medium

Medium

Low

Confirmation that liquid asset portfolio 5 is not
invested against the mission of the GCF.

Average credit rating of liquid asset portfolio.
Confirmation that the Fund invests only in investment
grade securities. Confirmation of the average and
maximum duration for liquidity reserve 6 and other
funds (see risk appetite statement).

Cash flow projection; Liquidity reserve size vs. target; Credit
defaults

Residual
risk

Key risk indicator

If the Interim Trustee is unable to implement these requirements, they will become applicable after the selection of the Permanent Trustee. Until that time, the GCF should monitor the
Fund’s adherence to these requirements to the extent possible under the current agreement.
4 If the Interim Trustee is unable to implement these requirements, they will become applicable after the selection of the Permanent Trustee. Until that time, the GCF should monitor the
Fund’s adherence to these requirements to the extent possible under the current agreement.
5 The liquid asset portfolio is defined as securities, cash or cash equivalents held in Trust or in GCF’s bank accounts (see risk appetite statement).
6 The GCF will set an appetite level on the size of the GCF's liquidity reserve that will be equivalent to sufficient levels to sustain net funding requirements for 1 year (see risk appetite
statement).
3
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Risk code

6.5

7.1

7.2

Risk category

Funding risk

Financial investment risk

Financial investment risk

Subcategory

Funding: Contribution uncertainty risk

Equity investments: Valuation shock risk

Equity investments: Exit strategy risk

Description

Failure to convert all pledges into contributions in
total, or within the promised time frame

Severe negative shocks to valuations of GCF's equity
investments

Failure of GCF to exit its equity investments

Inherent
risk

Prob.

Somewhat likely

High

High

Impact

High

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

High

High

Medium

Risk tolerance

GCF will take this risk in a limited, controlled
amount

GCF will actively take this risk to achieve its mandate

GCF will actively take this risk to achieve its mandate

Mitigation

GCF will continuously evaluate its commitment
authority and encashment schedule, and risk of
payment roll backs and delays through the
contribution management system, periodic
engagements with contributors, and media and
other public sources monitoring. The Board will be
kept abreast with the funding position using the
resource mobilization reports.

Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be screened
for this risk, and such evaluations will influence the
decisions taken on them. GCF will continue to evaluate
projects / programmes for this risk through the
ongoing project / programme monitoring and review
process and take corrective action as required.

Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be screened for
this risk, and such evaluations will influence the decisions
taken on them. GCF will continue to evaluate projects /
programmes for this risk through the ongoing project /
programme monitoring and review process and take
corrective action as required.

Prob.

Somewhat unlikely

High

High

Impact

High

Somewhat disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Medium

High

Medium

Residual
risk

Key risk indicator

Deviation from expected payment, deposit or
Changes in equity valuations relative to the initial
encashment schedules; Percentage of pledges
equity investment per Funding Proposal; Changes in
remaining unsigned; Percentage exposure to
overall valuation of GCF's equity investment portfolio
contributors (by contributor, financial instrument)

List of equity investments without a clear exit strategy
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Risk code

7.3

7.4

Risk category

Financial investment risk

Financial investment risk

Subcategory

Credit: Counterparty risk

Credit: Convertibility and Transfer Risk

Description

The risk that a GCF loan financing recipient will become unwilling or unable to
satisfy the terms of a loan obligation to the GCF, or that the value of a loan asset
declines due to a deterioration in the creditworthiness of the issuer

The risk that a government will impose a moratorium on, or otherwise prohibit
private sector obligators from servicing their foreign currency debts in a timely
manner by restricting the ability of the obligor to convert a local currency balance to
a foreign currency balance and/or transfer a foreign currency balance to its foreign
currency creditors.

Inherent
risk

Prob.

High

Somewhat unlikely

Impact

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Medium

Low

Risk tolerance

GCF will actively take this risk to achieve its mandate

GCF will actively take this risk to achieve its mandate

Mitigation

Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be screened for this risk, and such
evaluations will influence the decisions taken on them. Accreditation decisions will
also be dependent on credit risk assessment. GCF will also continue to evaluate
projects / programmes / AEs for this risk through the ongoing project /
programme and AE monitoring (including credit risk monitoring) and review
process and take corrective action as required.

Concept Notes and Funding Proposals will be screened for this risk, and such
evaluations will influence the decisions taken on them. GCF will continue to evaluate
projects / programmes for this risk through the ongoing project / programme
monitoring and review process and take corrective action as required. NDAs will be
involved to further mitigate this risk.

Prob.

High

Low

Impact

Somewhat non-disruptive

Somewhat non-disruptive

Priority

Medium

Low

Deviation of reflows from loan disbursements (split by deviations driven by
counterparty risk vs. convertibility and transfer risk); List of delinquent loans with
degree of delinquency and delinquent amount (split by delinquencies driven by
counterparty risk vs. convertibility and transfer risk); Portfolio distribution by
Credit Risk Rating

Deviation of reflows from loan disbursements (split by deviations driven by
counterparty risk vs. convertibility and transfer risk); List of delinquent loans with
degree of delinquency and delinquent amount (split by delinquencies driven by
counterparty risk vs. convertibility and transfer risk)

Residual
risk

Key risk indicator
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Annex VI: Risk management framework component II – risk appetite
statement
I.

Introduction

Through decision B.13/36, the Board requested the Secretariat, in consultation with the
RMC, to develop the necessary methodologies to enhance the Secretariat’s risk management
capacity. This document presents the initial risk appetite statement to guide the level of risk
taking by the Green Climate Fund (“GCF”, “the Fund”) and, where required, steer mitigation of
such risks. This document is part of the broader Risk Management Framework (“RMF”).
1.

In order to achieve its mission to promote paradigm shift towards low-emission and
climate-resilient development pathways, the GCF will be required to take various forms of risks.
The definition of these risks is included in the risk register (part of the RMF).
2.

This document1 provides a statement of the levels of risk that the GCF is willing to take
(the Fund’s “appetite” for risk). The risks are differentiated across the types defined in the risk
register (part of the RMF), and are further differentiated between risks inherent with running a
large fund, and risks specific to the considered funding proposals.
3.

The risk appetite statement is the desired risk profile for the GCF as a whole across the
full spectrum of risk-types defined in the risk register (another component of the RMF).
4.

5.

The purpose of the risk appetite statement is to provide guidance on:

(a)

Overall level of risk that GCF is willing to take to achieve its objectives.

(b)

Types of risks to be monitored.

(c)

Qualitative appetite statements and quantitative metrics that can be cascaded to specific
business units to guide their day-to-day operations.

The risks faced by the GCF range from those for which the GCF has no appetite (e.g.
compliance risks) to those that the GCF has a relatively high risk appetite, e.g. certain Funding
Proposal (“FPs”, “proposals”) risks. Overall, the GCF has zero-tolerance for illegal practices and
integrity or policy breaches, relatively moderate risk tolerance for activities that arise as a result
of operating a global investment fund, and considerable risk tolerance for activities necessary to
realize GCF’s mandate.
6.

II.

Linkages with previous decisions and other documents

At its seventh meeting, the Board requested the Secretariat, in consultation with the
RMC, to prepare an analysis of the Fund’s potential risk appetite under different key
assumptions as part of its financial risk management framework (decision B.07/05).
7.

Furthermore, the Board took note of document, B.09/13 “Initial Risk Management
Framework: Survey of methodologies to define and determine risk appetite” (decision B.09/06).
8.

The Board requested the Secretariat, in consultation with the RMC, to present an initial
risk appetite statement for the GCF as per decision B.10/08.
9.

This document is part of a staged evolution of the RMF at the GCF, as the Fund seeks to
refine its vision around risk taking and risk culture. This document builds on previous decisions
undertaken by the Board:
10.

1

This document does not specify the process of risk assessment, the investment criteria for the GCF, or methods of
mitigating breaches. Such specific details are discussed in other policy documents.
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(a)

Paragraph 2 of the Governing Instrument established GCF’s mission to “promote the
paradigm shift towards low-emission and climate-resilient development pathways by
providing support to developing countries to limit or reduce their greenhouse gas
emissions and to adapt to the impacts of climate change,” taking into consideration the
needs of developing countries particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate
change.

(b)

Decision B.06/06 requested the GCF to strive to balance the portfolio based on a 50:50
theme-based allocation between mitigation and adaptation, and within adaptation, at
least 50% allocation for particularly vulnerable countries (including Least Developed
Countries (“LDCs”), Small Island Developing States (“SIDS”), and African States).

(c)

Decision B.07/05 established the initial financial risk management framework of the
GCF, consisting of financial risk policies, a financial risk monitoring and reporting
management system and financial risk governance arrangements. The financial risk
policies were further elaborated through decision B.08/13 as part of the policies for
contributions. Elements of the financial risk monitoring and reporting management
system were defined through decision B.08/18 (financial reporting and the external
auditing process) and decision B.BM-2015/06 (internal control framework).

(d)

Decision B.07/05 also requested the Secretariat to start the process of analysis to
determine the risk appetite of the GCF. Through decision B.09/06, the Board took note
of a survey of methodologies to define and determine the risk appetite and through
decision B.10/08 it adopted the risk dashboard, its related risk categories and
subcategories, and the methodology to be followed by the GCF to set its risk appetite.

11.

This document also has linkages with the following documents:

(a)

Financial Risk Management Framework (GCF/B.07/05);

(b)

Investment Framework (GCF/B.07/06);

(c)

Further development of the Initial Results Management Framework (GCF/B.08/07);

(d)

Policies for Contributions to the Green Climate Fund (GCF/B.08/16);

(e)

Initial Risk Management Framework: Survey of methodologies to determine and define
risk appetite (GCF/B.09/13);

(f)

Further development of the Initial Investment Framework: Sub-criteria and
Methodology (GCF/B.09/07);

(g)

Initial Risk Management Framework: risk register, risk appetite update and initial risk
guidelines for credit and investment (GCF/B.12/17); and

(h)

Initial Strategic Plan for the GCF: the need for improved and coherent guidance on the
Fund’s investment criteria and risk appetite (GCF B.12/32 Annex I).

III.

Objective

This document is a part of the comprehensive GCF RMF with the objective of setting the
appropriate level of risk taken by the GCF. The components of the framework are presented
below in Figure 1.
12.
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Figure 1. RMF components (in brackets for each component: the Board meeting when it is planned
to be discussed).

The objective of this document is to propose an initial risk appetite statement for the
Fund. The risk appetite describes the overall level of risk that the GCF is willing to take in order
to achieve its objectives. This statement will encompass:
13.

(a)

A set of top-down, Board level directions to steer level of risk taking.

(b)

An interpretation of the Governing Instrument into practical risks faced in day-to-day
operations.

(c)

An emphasis on key risks that could compromise the ability to achieve GCF’s strategic
mandate.

(d)

Quantitative metrics and qualitative statements describing acceptable risk levels.

IV.

Structure of the risk appetite statement

The GCF defines three levels of appetite for risk taking, from zero tolerance to
considerable tolerance, that differ across risk types:
14.

(a)

Prohibited risk taking (“zero risk tolerance”): Activities that the GCF will not engage in
and for which the GCF will have zero risk tolerance.

(b)

Risks to be carefully managed and where practicable minimized (“moderate risk
tolerance”): Risk taking based on activities that are a by-product of operating a
materially significant fund.

(c)

Risks taken to achieve strategic impact (“considerable risk tolerance”): Risks required
to be taken to fulfil the GCF mandate, to be compensated through climate change impact.
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V.

Risk appetite statement

5.1

Overall statement of risk appetite

The GCF is required to take risks in order to fulfil its mandate, however such risks will
be carefully managed:
15.

(a)

The Fund will uphold the highest level of integrity in conducting its operations and
hence has zero-tolerance towards partaking in prohibited practices, breaches of
international sanctions / embargoes, by staff, Board members, counterparties and
partners (especially Accredited and Executing Entities (“AEs” and “EEs”). The Fund will
also have zero tolerance for violations of applicable internal policies by staff or Board
members.

(b)

The GCF seeks a stable and moderate enterprise risk profile which will enable the Fund
to ensure adequacy and predictability of financial resources, maintain a well-balanced
portfolio of projects/programmes consistent with the principles of country ownership
and the Conference of the Parties’ guidance, and operate in a transparent, accountable,
and efficient manner.

(c)

In order to realize significant impact and promote paradigm shift to meet the Fund’s
strategic objectives, the Fund is willing to accept considerable uncertainties around
investment risks in return for impact potential, to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis
recognizing specifics of each proposal. The Fund will strive to mitigate programme risks
to provide reasonable assurance that investments can fulfil their stated objectives.

5.2

Tolerance level 1: zero risk tolerance

5.2.1

Compliance risk

Regulation and sanction/embargo breach and engagement in prohibited practices
The GCF will have zero tolerance towards its staff, Board members, counterparties and
partners (especially AEs and EEs) breaching the Fund’s prohibited practices requirements, and
Anti-Money Laundering, Countering the Financing of Terrorism Policy (as appropriate), etc.
16.

The GCF will also have zero tolerance for working with parties subject to sanctions,
embargoes, or similar measures issued by reputable international organizations such as the
United Nations (“UN”).
17.

5.2.2

Internal compliance breach

The GCF will have zero tolerance towards its staff and Board members breaching the
following policies:
18.

(a)

Policies on Ethics and Conflicts of Interest (for the Executive Director and external
members of the GCF panels and groups) (B.10/13/Rev.01).

(b)

Information Disclosure Policy (B.12/35).

(c)

Administrative Policies of the Fund (BM-2014/01).

(d)

Financial Risk Management Framework (B.07/05): cross-subsidization between
providers of grants and providers of loans.

(e)

Gender Policy and Action Plan (B.09/10).
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(f)

Guiding Framework and Procedures for Accrediting National, Regional and International
Implementing Entities and Intermediaries, Including the Fund’s Fiduciary Principles and
Standards and Environmental and Social Safeguards (B.07/02).

19.

The above lists of policies should be updated on a quarterly basis.

5.3

Tolerance level 2: moderate risk tolerance

5.3.1

Concentration risk

To ensure that the GCF maintains a diverse portfolio to optimize deployment of its
financial resources, the Fund will maintain prudential risk appetite levels on the amount of
funding allocated to result areas, countries, and projects. The GCF will monitor its exposure
levels (in nominal amount of cumulative GCF cash transfers and funding approvals for ongoing
projects at a Fund level, i.e. for PSF and DMA combined) for the following:
20.

(a)

The GCF will target no more than [50%] of total investible amount into a single results
area2.

(b)

The GCF will target no more than [10%] of total investible amount into a single
proposal.3

The total investible amount is defined as the sum of the GCF’s liquid asset portfolio size,
the nominal amount of GCF’s unencashed promissory notes with fixed encashment dates
deposited with the Trustee, and the total nominal amount disbursed to live projects /
programmes. The liquid asset portfolio is defined as securities, cash or cash equivalents held in
Trust or in GCF’s bank accounts.
21.

In addition, the GCF will monitor its exposure by country, AE and EE4 and the impact of
this exposure on other risk dimensions (e.g. credit risk, equity risk, impact risk). The Fund will
also balance its deployment of funding instruments (i.e. grant, equity, loan, and guarantees) in
accordance with its investment policies and guidelines.
22.

5.3.2

Foreign Exchange (“FX”) risk

23.

The GCF faces two major sources of FX Risk:

FX risk on the Asset side. The GCF operates with financial instruments in holding
currencies that could be repaid in currencies other than holding currencies to meet the Fund’s
mandate.
(a)

FX risk on the Liability side. Receiving contributions from countries in currencies that do
not match the currency in which future funding proposals will be denominated. This can further
be distinguished between:
(b)

(i)

Contributions through cash received and promissory notes encashed, held in the
Trustee account;

(ii)

Contributions through promissory notes received but not yet encashed;

(iii)

Contributions through cash not yet received and promissory notes not yet
deposited or encashed.

Results area is defined as one of: Energy access and power generation; Low emission transport; Building, cities, and
industries and appliances; Forestry and land use; Most vulnerable people and communities; Health and well-being,
and food and water security; Infrastructure and built environment; Ecosystem and ecosystem services.
3 Refer to risk dashboard for examples.
4 The GCF will review annually whether to include an appetite level for concentration by country, AE and EE.
2
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While the overall FX risk appetite for FX risk is moderate, the fund has markedly
different appetite across the above categories.
24.

Investments of the GCF that implement funding proposals with local currencies are
subject to a risk of repayment in holding currencies. The asset side FX risk can be of
considerable risk tolerance providing the Board a broader set of investment options, in line with
the Fund’s mission to promote paradigm shift towards low-emission and climate-resilient
development pathways.
25.

Contributions already received and encashed will be held in holding currencies,
converted on receipt of funds, at a proportion determined by the Secretariat based on their
expectation of future cash outflows (referred to in paragraph 23 (b) (i)).
26.

Contributions through promissory notes received but not yet encashed (referred to in
paragraph 23 (b) (ii)), and contributions through cash not yet received and promissory notes
not yet deposited and unencashed (referred to in paragraph 23 (b) (iii)) are not required to be
hedged, however the Secretariat may decide to implement a hedging strategy for additional
conservatism. Any such hedging must be guided by a clear policy to be approved by the Board.
Further, the Secretariat must ensure that the GCF has all necessary arrangements (models,
agreements etc.) in place before it engages in any hedging.
27.

5.3.3

Funds held in trust risk

The GCF will also actively manage its liquid asset portfolio through the Trustee in
accordance with the Fund’s investment policy or, should the Fund not have an investment
policy, by the Trustee's default investment strategy. The eligibility criteria for the liquid asset
portfolio securities will also be guided in the same manner. The GCF will be prudent in
establishing liquid asset portfolio investment policies and guidelines to maintain a conservative
risk profile with the following appetites:
28.

(a)

The Fund will only invest in investment grade securities;

(b)

The Fund will target average credit rating of [AA] equivalent by international rating
agencies, or an equivalent risk metric approved by the Board, for its liquid asset
portfolio;

(c)

The funds earmarked for the Fund’s liquidity reserve will only be invested in securities
with duration no longer than one year. All other funds in the liquid asset portfolio
(representing the Fund’s excess liquidity) will only be invested in securities with
duration no longer than five years and average duration no longer than two years; and

(d)

In its liquid asset portfolio, the GCF will refrain from making investments that go against
the Fund’s mission to promote paradigm shift towards low-emission and climateresilient development pathways. The Trustee will monitor the asset allocation of the
liquid asset portfolio in this regard and report to the GCF on it.

(e)

If the Interim Trustee is unable to implement these requirements, they will become
applicable after the selection of the Permanent Trustee. Until that time, the GCF should
monitor the Fund’s adherence to these requirements to the extent possible under the
current agreement.

5.3.4

Reputational risk

Given that the GCF will operate in new, transformational areas that may be untested,
continued support from global stakeholders will be essential to the GCF’s success, and the GCF
will seek to actively engage stakeholders and plan and respond to reputational issues which
may arise. That being said, the GCF will manage the reputational risk through stringent
monitoring and oversight policies applied across all GCF operations.
29.
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30.

The GCF will monitor and manage the following:

(a)

Adverse publicity;

(b)

Grievances from projects.

5.3.5

Project/programme: risk of non-compliance against internal requirements

The GCF is heavily reliant on the intermediary entity, the AE, for all stages of operation,
from project sourcing and due diligence to project execution, governance, and monitoring. The
GCF has policies and documents in place, which set the standards for actions by AEs, EEs and
other partners, and there is limited risk appetite to breaches of those standards:
31.

(a)

Gender Policy and Action Plan (B.09/10).

(b)

Guiding Framework and Procedures for Accrediting National, Regional and
International Implementing Entities and Intermediaries, Including the Fund’s Fiduciary
Principles and Standards and Environmental and Social Safeguards (B.07/02).

(c)

Accreditation Master Agreement.

(d)

Funded Activity Agreement.

(e)

Local regulations that are not explicitly covered in the Interim Policy on Prohibited
Practices.

In order to further mitigate this risk, the GCF will monitor the list of countries (and
corresponding approved funding) in which the Fund is investing but has not secured privileges
and immunities.
32.

5.3.6

Legal risk

Legal risk for the GCF is the risk of loss caused by defective transactions, penalties or
sanctions originating from lawsuits filed against the Fund, sanctions pronounced by a
regulatory or government body, and changes to legal frameworks. The GCF will manage its legal
risk by closely monitoring the number of any legal disputes that arise across the operations of
the GCF.
33.

5.3.7

Funding contribution uncertainty risk and liquidity risk

Predictable funding is essential for the GCF to achieve its objectives. The GCF will take
necessary actions to protect the predictability of its financial resources, including diversifying
sources of contributions across a range of contributor countries, managing cancellation,
postponement, and other changes in encashment schedules, ensuring to convert the pledges or
encashment of promissory notes in a timely manner, and preventing over-concentration of
contributions to be encashed. This will effectively help the GCF manage any risks associated
with cash flow mismatches, that is, mismatch that may arise between the effective duration of
the contributions and commitments with regards to pledge conversions, disbursements, or
reflow. Failure to manage cash flow could have an impact on the Fund’s ability to undertake and
fund projects/programmes.
34.

The GCF will ensure sufficient liquidity at all times. The GCF will set an appetite level on
the size of the GCF's liquidity reserve that will be equivalent to sufficient levels to sustain net
funding requirements for 1 year. This threshold should be reviewed in the future, when GCF’s
cash management practices are better established. Net funding requirements over a period of
time are defined as the planned outflows over the period of time (including disbursements and
Board and Secretariat expenses) net of the planned contribution encashments over the same
period of time. It should be noted that at present, GCF does not plan to use planned project
35.
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reflows to reduce Net funding requirements. This decision should be reviewed in the future
once reflows become a significant part of GCF’s planned inflows.
Currently the GCF approves FPs only if there is a known source of funds from
contributions rather than reflows. Further at present the GCF does not plan to depend on
project reflows for its liquidity needs. In the future, if the GCF starts depending on project
reflows to meet liquidity needs, the Board may consider maintaining an alternate source of
funding for the GCF to cover for unexpected shortfalls or delays in reflows.
36.

37.

The GCF will also monitor the following areas:

(a)

Projection of expected net inflows and outflows and deviations from expected
commitment schedules;

(b)

Concentration of funding contributors.

5.3.8

Operational and IT risk

The Fund will actively manage any operational and IT risks that may arise across all
stages of Fund operations, including process and execution, human resources (“HR”), systems
and information, and catastrophic events, and business continuity risks that may jeopardize the
Fund's day-to-day operations.
38.

39.

To do so, the GCF will closely monitor the following risk areas:

(a)

Timelines for FP approval and target timelines for AE approval.

(b)

Vacancy rate, employee turnover rate and internal or external complaints on employee
behaviour.

(c)

Number of information security breach attempts, and number of system failures.

(d)

Natural catastrophe occurrences, geopolitical events, wars, and terrorism.

5.4

Tolerance level 3: considerable risk tolerance

5.4.1

Financial investments: equity investments risk

The GCF will utilize equity investments, accepting the fact that such investments may
pose considerable financial risk. The Fund will seek to understand and manage the associated
risks, such as possibility of decline in equity valuation (resulting in decline in return on equity
investment below target) or illiquid equity markets that may affect the GCF's exit. The GCF will
regularly monitor changes in equity valuations relative to the initial equity investment through
the AE during the project lifecycle, depending on accounting requirements of the target country.
40.

5.4.2

Financial investments: credit risk

The GCF will actively take credit risk to meet its strategic mandate of promoting
paradigm shift towards low-emission and climate-resilient development pathways. The GCF is
willing to take on risks that other investors will not take.
41.

The GCF will aim to utilize its investments to crowd-in other debt, and to enhance the
credit worthiness of a project. The GCF will also enter relatively high risk transactions, such as
junior positions in credit structures or being the sole investor, in order to meet its strategic
mandate.
42.
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The GCF will set an initial required cushion for loss reserves being equal to 20% 5 (in
grants) of the face value of the loan contribution provided to the Fund by the loan contributors
for non-performing loans, and the adequacy of the cushion will be reviewed at the end of the
Initial Resource Mobilization (IRM) period. Loan cushions will not count toward grant
equivalency or individual debt limit calculations. The GCF will actively monitor the credit
performance of its funded portfolio.
43.

If the loan contributions provided to the Fund grow in the future and become a
significant portion of its investible amount, the GCF might consider updating this appetite
statement to further mitigate the risks of excessive credit losses, in order to ensure that the GCF
is able to repay the loan contributions.
44.

5.4.3

Project/programme programme failure: impact risk

The GCF will manage its project and programme risks, which include project
governance, execution, impact, and monitoring, as well as country risks that may impede
successful execution, to maximize the possibility of successful execution and delivery of the
desired impact. This will involve ensuring sufficient technical and institutional capabilities of
the AE/EEs and community readiness (awareness, preparation, commitment); monitoring of
country risks, including natural disasters, climate shocks, poor infrastructure, and economic and
political risks, as well as country ownership status. The GCF will closely monitor the following
areas:
45.

(a)

Projects delays or slippages

(b)

Impact achievements based on the GCF results framework

(c)

Distribution of cumulative cash transfers and funding commitments for ongoing projects
by Project Success Rating and Credit Risk Rating6

VI.

Effective date

The provisions of this risk appetite statement will take effect on September 1st 2017. If
the Interim Trustee is unable to implement the requirements in the risk appetite statement,
they will become applicable after the selection of the Permanent Trustee. Until that time, the
GCF should monitor the Fund’s adherence to these requirements to the extent possible under
the current agreement.
46.

VII.

Revisions to the risk appetite statement

The overall risk appetite will be revised and submitted to the Board for approval; (i)
whenever a new or revised Fund Strategy is formulated; or (ii) the Board or the RMC finds it
relevant to review the statement due to major changes in related policies.
47.

VIII. Reporting of risk appetite
The Secretariat will integrate the GCF’s risk appetite tolerance levels into the risk
dashboard (part of the RMF) and risk register (part of the RMF) based on the risk monitoring
and reporting management system under the RMF. The risk appetite will be reported to the
Board through the risk dashboard. The risk dashboard consists of regular snapshots of the
Board-agreed risk categories and subcategories that will be tracked by the Secretariat, the Risk
48.

5
6

Policies for Contributions (GCF/B.08/16)
Risk ratings are discussed in the risk rating approach document (part of the RMF).

GCF/B.17/22
Page 132

Management Committee and the Board. This reporting will be the basis for continuous review
and updating of the Fund’s risk appetite and risk management practices. The Fund would need
to conduct risk control and self-assessment, a process of identification, assessment, effective
internal control and action plans related to high-risk events, in a timely manner, in order to
ensure the robustness of the risk framework. Such periodic reporting from the Secretariat will
enable the Board to review the evolution of the risk borne by the Fund and to make any
necessary adjustments.
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Annex VII: Risk management framework component III – risk dashboard
I.

Introduction

The risk dashboard consists of regular snapshots of the Board-agreed risk categories and subcategories that will be tracked by the Secretariat, the
RMC and the Board. This reporting will be the basis for continuous review and updating of the Fund’s risk appetite and risk management practices.
1.

Figure 1. Risk dashboard – Introduction
DRAFT – DATA BEING VALIDATED

Risk Dashboard - introduction
GCF’s portfolio overview

Concentration risk and funding risk
DRAFT – DATA BEING VALIDATED

Concentration risk and funding risk
Investment Concentration by Approved Funding1
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3. If the Interim Trustee is unable to implement these requirements, they will become applicable after the selection of the Permament Trustee. 4. Calculated as cash + Promissory Notes to be encashed in 2017.

Project / Programme failure risk and
illegal practices / integrity breach /
policy breach risk

4

Financial investment risk

A 4-page summary to be
presented to the Board

A more detailed Risk
Dashboard for the Secretariat
2
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II.

Overview of the portfolio of the GCF
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III.

Concentration risk and funding risk
DRAFT – DATA BEING VALIDATED

Concentration risk and funding risk
Investment Concentration by Approved Funding1

PN2 FX Risk Exposure (in USD M)

(Denominator is the investible amount: ~$4 billion)

Energy
access

205
500

Appetite Level (50%)
Warning Level (35%)

23.5%
7.6%
Most
vulnerable
people

7.6%

7.4%

Status

EUR

By single results area

GBP
JPY

435
370

3.6%

Health and Infrastructure Buildings,
well-being
cities and
industries

Non-USD
Promissory Notes

Others
0

Information to be
determined / not
captured

Hedged

Hedged amount

By country
Liquid Asset Portfolio3
Weighted Average Credit Rating:

Note: to be developed

FP025

Appetite Level (10%)
Warning Level (7%)
6.6%
FP038

3.9%

3.3%

2.7%

FP039

FP030

FP041

EBRD

Key:

3,973

Information to be determined / not captured

8.7%

7.3%

6.4%

UNDP

EIB

IDB

No breach

Information to be
determined / not
captured

Projected Liquid Asset Portfolio at Year End4 (USD m)

By Accredited Entity
15.3%

AAcaptured

No investments against GCF’s mission:

By single Funding Proposal
9.4%

Weighted
Information to be
average:
determined / not

Warning level

3.7%
KfW

Above Appetite

2017

2018

2019

TBD

Source: iPMS, GCFTF Financial Report (as of 31 Mar 2017), GCF Division of Support Services (DSS) – Finance, Status of Initial Resource Mobilization process (B.16/Inf.10), GCF Report on Audits of Financial Statements for year ended Dec 31, 2016
1. Ratios measured as (Notional amounts approved / total investible amount). As of Mar 2017, the denominator is USD 4 billion. Numerators are collected from iPMS, as of 25 May 2017. Projects/programmes spanning across multiple countries, results
areas, etc. are split equally among them, as specific allocation proportion is not available 2. Promissory Notes deposited to the GCF as of Mar2017, based on Financial Report by the Interim Trustee. Other non-USD promissory notes includes Swedish Krona
3. If the Interim Trustee is unable to implement these requirements, they will become applicable after the selection of the Permament Trustee. 4. Calculated as cash + Promissory Notes to be encashed in 2017.

4
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IV.

Project/programme failure risk and illegal practices / integrity breach /policy breach risk
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V.

Financial investment risk
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Annex VIII: Risk management framework component IV – “Risk
guidelines for funding proposals”
I.

Introduction

Through decision B.13/36, the Board requested the Secretariat, in consultation with the
Risk Management Committee (“RMC”), to develop the necessary methodologies to enhance the
Secretariat’s risk management capacity. This document presents the “Risk guidelines for
funding proposals” – one of the developed methodologies.
1.

Paragraph 2 of the Governing Instrument for the Green Climate Fund (“GCF, “the Fund”)
defines the purpose of the Fund as follows: “In the context of sustainable development, the Fund
will promote the paradigm shift towards low-emission and climate-resilient development
pathways by providing support to developing countries to limit or reduce their greenhouse gas
emissions and to adapt to the impacts of climate change”.
2.

The GCF will have to take on certain risks to meet this purpose. When deploying its
financial resources towards projects with positive climate change impact potential, the Fund
will assess the investment risks and enforce appropriate controls. “Risk guidelines for funding
proposals” describe the approach to such risk assessment.
3.

This document1 provides guidelines for the risk assessment of Funding Proposals (“FPs”,
“proposals”) and Concept Notes (“CNs”) by the GCF. The goal of these guidelines is to ensure
that the risks relevant to the GCF are appropriately understood and addressed in a standardized
manner. This document divides guidelines into four types:
4.

(a)

Guidelines for assessing the risk of the project / programme failing to deliver its target
impact.

(b)

Risk guidelines for setting funding terms and conditions.

(c)

Guidelines for assessing alignment with GCF’s portfolio level risk limits.

(d)

Guidelines for assessing compliance with GCF’s policies and legal requirements.

All proposals under review should be assessed using these guidelines. This assessment
will be included as a part of the Secretariat Review to be reviewed by the Board when
considering the proposal for approval.
5.

II.

Linkages with previous decisions and other documents

The “Risk guidelines for funding proposals” are a part of a broader Risk Management
Framework (“RMF”) (discussed in more detail in Section III). The Funding Risk, Investment
Risk, and Operational and IT Risk Policies documents formalize measurement and mitigation of
the risks. The risk rating approach document describes the methodology of applying ratings to
assess particular risks. Previous decisions and documents relevant to “Risk guidelines for
funding proposals” are listed in Table 1.
6.

1

The guidelines contained in this document do not specify appropriate risk levels or investment criteria for the GCF.
The opinion on whether the risks are acceptable is delivered as an expert assessment in the Secretariat Review these guidelines define the required assessment dimensions and process.
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Table 1. Linkages to previous decisions and documents.

Document
GCF/B.13/27/Rev.02
“Interim Risk and
Investment Guidelines”
Governing instrument
for the GCF

GCF/B.05/07
“Business model
framework: terms and
criteria for grants and
concessional loans”

GCF/B.07/05
“Financial Risk
Management
Framework”
GCF/B.10/inf. 10
“Brief guideline on the
application of the caseby-case provisions in the
financial terms and
conditions of the Fund’s
instruments”
GCF/B.12/32 Annex I:
Initial Strategic Plan for
the GCF

Relevance
Previous document including proposal level guidelines for risk
assessment (superseded by this document).
Access modality and accreditation (para. 45):
“Access to Fund resources will be through national, regional and
international Implementing Entities accredited by the Board”
Financial instruments (para. 54):
“The Fund will provide financing in the form of grants and
concessional lending, and through other modalities, instruments
or facilities as may be approved by the Board. Financing will be
tailored to cover the identifiable additional costs of the
investment necessary to make the project viable. The Fund will
seek to catalyse additional public and private finance through its
activities at the national and international levels.”
Guiding principles (annex II, para. (b)):
Guiding principles applicable to public sector operations:
1.
“Grant elements should be tailored to incremental cost or
the risk premium required to make the investment viable;
2.
Concessional terms should not displace investments that
would otherwise have occurred, including for private
sector investment;
3.
Overall levels of public debt in the recipient country
should be taken into account so as not to encourage
excessive indebtedness.”
Guiding principles applicable to private sector operations:
1. “Structure terms on a case-by-case basis to address specific
barriers;
2. Minimize concessional terms by assessing needs, market
conditions and other factors;
3. Avoid distortion and crowding out commercial financing;
4. Maximize leveraging of other financing, including public
and private financing;
5. Promote long-term financial sustainability; and
6. Apply due diligence to assess the risk to the investment“
Definition of the initial financial risk principles, e.g. para. 6: “By
their nature, these activities and technologies would at times
assume a higher level of risk than conventional investments
undertaken on the market.“
Level and structuring of concessionality (para. 26):
“(…) the Fund will structure terms on a case-by-case basis to
address specific barriers, where the grant element of concessional
finance is tailored to provide the appropriate incentive to
facilitate the implementation of mitigation and adaptation
activities.”
Enhancing Accessibility and Predictability:
“Signal more clearly what kinds of projects and programmes it is
looking to finance. This requires providing improved and
coherent guidance on the Fund's investment criteria, risk
appetite, standards and processes to be published on the website
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GCF/B.12/17
“Initial Risk Management
Framework”

III.

and communicated through the Fund’s communication channels
and the Readiness Programme.“
Regarding Funding Proposals credit and project / programme
risk approach, the GCF has the ability to:
• Programme and manage financing at scale;
• Engage in partnerships with both public and private
actors at various levels;
• Take on risks that other funds/institutions are not able or
willing to take including risks associated with deploying
innovative climate technologies;
• Pilot and potentially scale-up and replicate innovative
approaches;
• Deploy the full range of financial instruments at its
disposal;
• Leverage additional financing inputs from innovative and
alternative sources; and
• Leverage its status as an operating entity of the financial
mechanism of the UNFCCC to set new standards with
regard to country ownership, direct access and level of
ambition impacting the global practice of climate finance
beyond its immediate engagement.
Defined the initial Risk Register, Risk Appetite, and Risk
Guidelines for Credit and Investment

Objective

This document is a part of the comprehensive GCF RMF, which has the objective of
setting the appropriate level of risk taken by the GCF, and establishing the risk management and
mitigation approach and processes. The guidelines support the notion that the GCF will actively
take credit risk to meet its strategic mandate of promoting paradigm shift towards low-emission
and climate-resilient development pathways, and that the GCF is willing to take on risks that
other investors will not take. The components of the framework are presented in Figure 1.
7.

Figure 1. RMF components (in brackets for each component: the Board meeting when it is planned
to be discussed).
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The objective of this document is to serve as a guideline for the risk analysis required as
a part of the review of FPs. The Secretariat can leverage this document as a guide for risk factors
to be included in the proposal assessment process, ensuring a consistent view on risk
assessment to support Board decisions.
8.

These guidelines are applicable at an individual FP level. Assessment of a particular
proposal should also be performed in conjunction with a broader portfolio and enterprise-level
risk management, e.g. managing concentration risks, foreign exchange risks, etc., which are
outlined separately in Funding Risk, Investments Risk, and Operational and IT Risk Policies.
While part of the assessment may be operationally done by the Accredited Entity (“AE”),
internal responsibility for the application of these guidelines lies with:
9.

(a)

Private Sector Facility (“PSF”) – for private proposals;

(b)

Division of Mitigation and Adaptation (“DMA”) – for public proposals

Office of Risk Management and Compliance (“ORMC”) should examine and
independently review the PSF and DMA’s assessment.
10.

The GCF can seek external independent support in the assessment process. The GCF may
especially consider such support in specific scenarios (e.g., a large funding request where GCF
has been requested to take a junior position relative to other co-investors).
11.

Where material information is lacking against the guidelines and a risk assessment
cannot be conclusive, further due diligence and examination may be required.
12.

The output of the analysis should be included in the Secretariat Review on the proposal
presented to the Board.
13.

This document is maintained by the ORMC who should review it once every two years or
upon a Board request.
14.

“Risk guidelines for funding proposals” are submitted to the Board for approval upon
prior review and approval by the RMC.
15.

IV.

Guidelines

16.

The guidelines are divided into four types:

(a)

Guidelines for assessing the risk of a project / programme failing to deliver its target
impact: While the GCF is only indirectly involved in project / programme execution, it
must consider risk of their failure. Consequences of failed projects / programmes may
not be limited to the disbursed funding, but might also mean additional costs to cover
the liabilities, or damage to GCF’s reputation.

(b)

Risk guidelines for setting funding terms and conditions: The GCF may accept a range of
deal structures varying in level of complexity, participation of co-investors, blending of
funding instruments and modalities, control and ownership structures, and financial
terms and conditions. The guidelines in this section seek to establish a comparable
standard in understanding and considering risks across diverse funding structures.

(c)

Guidelines for assessing alignment with GCF’s portfolio level risk limits: The GCF must
assess the risk of a proposal in the context of its current portfolio. A new proposal is not
a standalone risk, as it also influences GCF’s risks at the portfolio level.
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(d)

Guidelines for assessing compliance with GCF’s policies and legal requirements 2: As per
the risk appetite (part of the RMF), there is zero risk tolerance for illegal practices and
policy / integrity breaches.

17.

All the above four types of guidelines should be applied at the FP stage.

At the CN stage, guidelines of the types c) and d) should be applied. Additionally, the
Fund should apply guidelines of the types a) and b) at the CN stage to the extent possible.
18.

4.1

Guidelines for assessing the risk of a project / programme failing to
deliver its target impact

19.

Overall assessment

(a)

The proposal should clearly demonstrate that each funding request is directly connected
with the Fund’s objectives.

(b)

A broader programme proposal should either provide a clear description of each project
to be undertaken, or provide clear parameters for making delegated funding decisions.

(c)

The proposal should have adequate policy and regulatory support from the relevant
country. The GCF should assess the actual level of country support beyond the noobjection letter (e.g. stabilization clauses or governmental assurances).

20.

AE / EE3 capability

(a)

The proposal’s size, focus, Environmental and Social Safeguards (“ESS”) standard,
fiduciary standard and gender approach must be within the parameters of the
Accreditation Master Agreement (“AMA”). The AE must have a project monitoring
process and must deliver updates to the Fund at least as frequently as stated in the AMA.
The AE should also monitor and report to the GCF the impact of the project upon
successful execution.

(b)

The AEs and EEs should have adequate technical and institutional capabilities to execute
the project. They should especially provide adequate assurances about the ability to
ramp up the necessary staff and ability to manage third parties involved in the execution
(if the AE has specific limitations in the AMA, the proposal must not breach them). They
should also provide a clear description of their track record in delivering similar
projects. The AE and EEs should present their history of cooperation; the GCF should
review the performance of the AE and the EE on previous projects / programmes. The
GCF should consider the impact of the proposal on other projects managed by the AE in
GCF’s portfolio.

(c)

The EEs should have a stable internal management. The proposal should include an
assessment of the qualifications of the key management personnel.

(d)

The EEs should provide information about their business and strategic objectives in the
proposal. The EEs’ objectives should be tied to the successful execution of the project.

(e)

The AE and EEs should allow the GCF to request and audit documents and data related
to funded activities execution upon request to the extent as defined in the AMA. Should
certain risks related to funded activities arise and the GCF considers it is necessary to do
further due diligence, then the GCF should be allowed to verify the details at a later
stage.

This category covers GCF’s policies not included under other types of guidelines, i.e. specific to project execution,
funding structure or portfolio level risk limits.
3 Where EE has been finalized at the time of CN / FP preparation.
2
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21.

Project specific execution risks

(a)

The GCF should take execution risks into account. These risks include: staff movement
restrictions; construction risk (including permitting and siting); operating risk; and
supply risk.

(b)

The GCF should take country-specific execution risks into account. These risks include:
political risks; trade embargoes; stability of legal and regulatory environment; and
natural catastrophes.

(c)

The proposal should include a plan to mitigate risks of environmental and community
impact, and demonstrate adequate community engagement. The issues especially
covered are: limited awareness, preparation, and/or commitment of affected
communities, and tackling lack of motivation by the beneficiaries to adopt new
technologies.

22.

Financial viability

(a)

The proposal should be assessed against the Fund’s investment policies and guidelines.

(b)

The proposal should include financial and cash flow analyses, including stress analyses.
The specific areas that should be covered include (depending on the characteristics of a
particular proposal): market conditions analysis; sensitivity of the asset value and
liquidity to economic cycles; debt service financial ratios; repayment schedule; off-take
risk; and GCF’s control over reflows (including expropriation risk).

4.2

Risk guidelines for setting funding terms and conditions

23.

Funding terms

(a)

Any form of funding should be granted only to acceptable and identified EEs 4. The GCF
should assess the EEs’ capabilities and intent. The proposal should include a review of:
(i)

Public reports if the EE is a publicly listed company;

(ii)

Disclosed relevant documents otherwise.

For existing EEs, the previous dealings with the GCF and the AE should be taken into
account.
(b)

Where possible, the GCF should be a co-investor, rather than a sole investor. The
participation of co-investors can provide higher confidence in the diligence process, and
reveal information about the market’s pricing and perception of the risks. Coinvestment from the AE is encouraged where possible.

(c)

The requirements and proposed terms for co-investor participation should be clearly
articulated in the terms of the funding agreement.

(d)

The proposal should include an outline of GCF’s rights and responsibilities in case of
project failure. The AE should provide clarity around subordination, workout rules and
roles of each party, and the GCF should have reasonable assurance that it has the
technical and institutional capacity to fulfill its role (or otherwise engage a third party).

(e)

The execution liabilities should be borne by the AE and the EE (or particular
subcontractors) rather than the GCF. While the GCF receives updates about the project
progress, it does not actively manage the project operations, and thus shouldn’t be

4

Where EE has been finalized at the time of CN / FP preparation.
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responsible for dealing with grievances related to execution; however, the grievances
should be monitored by the GCF as well.
Additional analysis specific to loan / equity / reimbursable grant investments /
guarantees:
24.

(a)

Credit proposals should clearly prescribe the disbursement and repayment schedule,
and terms and conditions must comply with GCF’s Investment Risk Policy (a component
of RMF). The GCF needs to make future cash flow projections for Asset-Liability
Management. Credit should not be extended if there is strong doubt about the
borrower’s willingness or ability to repay from a clear, identifiable set of cash flows. The
GCF should also estimate the grant equivalent value of the credit.

(b)

When the structural subordination of a lending arrangement results in the GCF taking a
different level of credit risk compared to the level of credit risk taken by all other coinvestors, the GCF may consider an external independent risk evaluation, especially for
large funding requests.

(c)

When taking on an equity/mezzanine stake on different terms than the terms of all other
co-investors (including a situation when the GCF is the only equity / mezzanine
investor), the GCF may consider an external independent risk evaluation, especially for
large funding requests.

(d)

The GCF should consider reflows Foreign Exchange risk and hedging approach.

4.3

Guidelines for assessing alignment with GCF’s portfolio level risk
limits

(a)

GCF’s portfolio concentration should remain within the risk appetite after inclusion of
the proposal. The concentration across a number of metrics is defined in the risk
appetite statement document (part of the RMF). The GCF should calculate the
incremental impact of every proposal on those metrics during the approval process
(and a combined calculation for all the proposals discussed in a particular Board
meeting). Note: The Board retains the authority to approve FPs which may be
exceptions to the risk appetite statement. Hence if collected at the CN stage, breach of
concentration limits should not result in automatic rejection of the proposal.

(b)

Committing to the disbursement of funds as per the proposal should not breach GCF’s
liquidity tolerance. Otherwise, the Fund must take mitigating actions to ensure sufficient
liquidity in accordance with the risk appetite statement document (part of the RMF).
The timing of the investment must be clearly defined and there should be a prudent gap
in timing between disbursement of GCF’s investment and encashment of the relevant
contributions.

(c)

Equity proposals should provide financial projections, articulate any terms on exit (e.g.
lock-in period) and exit strategies (e.g. in illiquid markets), and discuss shareholder
roles and rights (e.g. potential future dilution). Similarly to the credit structures, the GCF
needs to make future cash flow projections for ALM purposes and estimate the level of
concessionality in equity structures. The GCF also requires that the AE update the
valuation periodically and deliver it to the GCF.

4.4

Guidelines assessing compliance with GCF’s policies and legal
requirements

(a)

The AE should demonstrate in the context of the particular proposal, that it can enforce
provisions agreed to in the AMA among the project participants (especially the
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Prohibited Practices policy) as GCF’s delegate. Specifically, the AE needs to submit its
‘Procedures for controlling procurement by third parties or Executing Agencies
undertaking projects financed by the entity’. The AMA and Funded Activity Agreement
(“FAA”) must be effective before disbursement of the funds.
(b)

The AE should verify the laws/policies in relevant countries and inform the GCF of any
discrepancies (especially if they are different than the AMA provisions), and propose a
resolution.

(c)

(Guideline applicable to loan funding, guarantees or reimbursable grants) Where there
is collateral held in escrow, it must not be invested in assets that go against the GCF’s
climate change mandate.
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Annex IX: Risk management framework component V – risk rating
approach
I.

Introduction

The Board, through decision B.13/36, requested the Secretariat, in consultation with the
Risk Management Committee (“RMC”), to develop the necessary methodologies to enhance the
Secretariat’s risk management capacity.
1.

This document is a component of the Risk Management Framework (“RMF”), and it
describes the set of ratings recommended for the Green Climate Fund (“GCF”, “the Fund”) to
maintain for prudent risk management purposes.
2.

3.

There are two risk ratings recommended for the GCF:

(i)

Project / Programme Success Rating (“PSR”): a project / programme level rating that
enables quantification of the likelihood of project / programme achieving the target
climate impact.

(ii)

Credit Risk Rating (“CRR”): a project / programme level rating that enables
quantification of the likelihood of project / programme defaulting.

Once developed, these ratings can immediately be applied by the GCF in a range of
applications including – supporting Funding Proposal (“FP”, “proposal”) decisions and
managing GCF’s portfolio mix.
4.

Risk ratings form a critical component of the overall RMF proposed for the GCF. Risk
ratings are forward looking estimates of the risk associated with a specific entity / funding
contract, mapped to a scale for easy and consistent communication across the organization.
Underlying a risk rating is usually a rating model, which defines the quantitative relationship
between the risk of a specific entity / funding contract and its various risk drivers. Figure 1
below illustrates a rating model aimed at estimating the risk of project’s failure to achieve its
target impact, some example inputs to the rating models and some example applications where
the output of the rating model can be used.
5.

Figure 1. Illustrative Risk Ratings (Project Success Rating Example)
Rating Model Inputs

Rating Model

Rating Model Outputs

Applications of the
Rating Model outputs

Information related to a project
/ programme (illustrative nonexhaustive list)
Executing Entity
characteristics
Execution process and
technology
Country support
Financial assessment

Funding structure
Legal assessment

Rating model
(summarizes the
information and
quantifies the
risk)

Rating
Illustrative example:
•
Project xxx has a Project
Success Rating of “B”
•
This translates into a
Probability of project not
achieving target climate
impact is 5-10%

Input in Funding Proposal
review
Portfolio monitoring (e.g.
distribution by rating grades)
Fast tracking decisions of low
risk FPs
Input for target portfolio
appetite
Criterion for individual
decision thresholds

Accredited Entity capabilities
Etc.

Potential early applications of
ratings
Future applications once ratings
are better understood in the Fund

Risk Ratings are commonly used by most financial institutions (including most
Multilateral Development Banks) in order to quantify risks associated with their clients or
6.
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funding contracts. These risk ratings are key inputs to several portfolio and individual client /
funding contract level decisions at the institution. However, depending on the institution’s
mandate and operating model, there is a variety of practices with regards to the specific risk
type the ratings aim to quantify (credit risk vs. equity risk etc.) and the entity for which the risk
is being assessed (client vs. affiliate vs. project etc.).
This risk rating approach document recommends a set of risk ratings appropriate for
the GCF, given its mandate and operating model (including describing which risks should be
quantified at the individual entity / project / programme level in the form of ratings, and what
should be the target of those ratings).
7.

Upon the Board taking note of this document, it is expected that the GCF will develop the
set of rating models required to generate the risk ratings described in this document, and
commence applying the risk ratings in day-to-day decision making.
8.

II.

Linkages with previous decisions and other documents

The risk rating approach is part of the broader Risk Management Framework (“RMF”)
(discussed in more detail in Section III). Relevant components of the RMF are submitted to the
Board in parallel to this document. Those components and previous decisions, and other
documents relevant to this document are listed in Table 1.
9.

Table 1. Linkages to previous decisions and other documents.

Document
Risk Appetite Statement
(part of the RMF, to be
considered at B.17)

Risk Guidelines for Funding
Proposals (part of the RMF,
to be considered at B.17)
Risk Checklist for
Accreditation (part of the
RMF, to be considered at
B.18)
GCF/B.07/02
“Guiding Framework and
Procedures for Accrediting
National, Regional and
International Implementing
Entities and Intermediaries,
Including the Fund’s
Fiduciary Principles and
Standards and
Environmental and Social
Safeguards”
GCF/B.12/17
“Initial Risk Management
Framework”

Relevance
This document provides guidance on:
• Overall level of risk that GCF is willing to take to
achieve its objectives.
• Types of risks to be monitored.
• Qualitative appetite statements and quantitative
metrics that can be cascaded to specific business units
to guide their day-to-day operations.
This document provides guidelines to ensure that the risks
relevant to the GCF are appropriately understood and
addressed in a standardized manner.
This document provides guidelines to ensure a consistent
assessment of Accredited Entity (“AE”) in the accreditation
process.
This document provides an initial guiding framework for the
Fund’s accreditation process.

Defined the initial Risk Register, Risk Appetite, and Risk
Guidelines for Credit and Investment.
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Decision B.13/36

III.

The Board’s request to develop the necessary risk
management methodologies.

Objective

This document is a part of the comprehensive RMF – the components of the framework
are presented below in Figure 2.
10.

Figure 2. RMF components

The objective of this document is to recommend a set of risk ratings appropriate for the
GCF, given its mandate and operating model.
11.

This document also provides an overview of how the proposed set of ratings can be
incorporated in various applications across the Fund. Finally, the document describes the roles
and responsibilities of various parties in the Fund in developing the underlying rating models,
and in the ongoing risk rating process.
12.

IV.

Proposed set of ratings for the GCF

The Governing Instrument defines GCF’s mandate as to “promote the paradigm shift
towards low-emission and climate-resilient development pathways by providing support to
developing countries to limit or reduce their greenhouse gas emissions and to adapt to the
impacts of climate change (…). The Fund will strive to maximize the impact of its funding for
adaptation and mitigation, and seek a balance between the two, while promoting
environmental, social, economic and development co-benefits and taking a gender-sensitive
approach.“ Further, the Governing Instrument states that GCF’s strategy is to achieve these goals
through investments made in projects / programmes, which are supervised by AEs: “Access to
Fund resources will be through national, regional and international implementing entities
accredited by the Board.”
13.

Given the above mandate and strategy, GCF’s success or failure is most closely linked to
the success or failure of its projects, and financial sustainability of the Fund. Thus, an
assessment of the likelihood of success of a project / programme and an assessment of the
credit risk for credit funded projects / programmes can be extremely useful for the GCF. These
14.
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assessments can support various critical decisions at the Fund, including decisions on FPs as
well as overall portfolio management.
15.

As a result, the following two risk ratings are proposed for the GCF:

(a)

Project / programme Success Rating (“PSR”): This will be a project / programme level
rating, quantifying the likelihood of project / programme achieving success defined as
the target climate change impact5. Example risk drivers expected to be seen in the
underlying risk model include – level of local government and community support for
the project, construction risk, financial viability (including stress analysis), etc.

(b)

Credit Risk Rating (“CRR”): This will be a project / programme level rating, quantifying
the likelihood of a project / programme entering a Default Event 6, resulting in reflow
delays or losses. Example risk drivers expected to be seen in the underlying risk model
include – financial guarantees, reliability of control of the project / programme assets by
the GCF in case of a default, probability of project success etc.

The lists of risk drivers in the rating models for PSR and CRR are expected to have fair
amount of overlap, and some correlation is expected between the PSR and CRR. However, it is
recommended that the Fund develops both risk ratings as:
16.

(a)

The PSR is most directly linked to the Fund’s mandate and is required to assess risk for
projects / programmes.

(b)

The CRR is closely tied to the Fund’s financial viability and because funding via credit
instruments is expected to grow significantly at the Fund, especially within Private
Sector Facility (“PSF”).

Upon the Board taking note of this document, it is expected that the GCF will develop the
set of rating models required to generate the risk ratings described above. Rating model
development would require analysis of a much longer list of potential risk drivers, of which a
few examples have been cited above.
17.

Additionally, an AE Capabilities Rating was considered for the GCF. An AE Capabilities
Rating is an AE level rating, reflecting its capability in ensuring success of the projects /
programmes executed through it. The current recommendation for the GCF is to deprioritize the
AE Capabilities Rating as:
18.

(a)

There is already an implicit categorization of the AEs as a result of the accreditation
process.

(b)

This rating can be developed in the future once the recommended two risk ratings are
well understood and embedded.

19.

The proposed set of ratings is expected to bring the following benefits to the GCF:

(a)

The ratings will bring a common language within the Fund to communicate about and to
compare the risk of various projects / programmes. The ratings will bring further
structure and consistency to the evaluation process for FPs.

(b)

The ratings will enable gradation of risk and improved financial analysis.

(c)

The ratings will support improving several decisions taken by the Fund (See further
elaboration in Section V).

5
6

Covering both mitigation and adaptation targets.
Precise definition of a Default Event is set for each Funding Proposal individually in its FAA.
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V.

Application of the ratings

Once developed, the ratings can immediately be used by the GCF in the following
applications:
20.

(a)

Supporting FP Review: The risk rating of a project / programme can be one of the key
inputs that the Board can consider while taking a decision on an FP. It should be noted
that based on the Risk Appetite Statement (part of the RMF), the Fund is willing to
accept considerable uncertainties around investment risks in return for impact
potential, to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis recognizing specifics of each FP. The
risk ratings are one of several factors that can influence this evaluation.

(b)

Portfolio monitoring: The distribution of GCF’s portfolio by PSR and CRR can be
monitored over time, to assess the Fund level risk profile.

As the Fund’s understanding of the ratings and their implications deepens with time,
their application can be expanded into other areas including – fast tracking decisions on low
risk proposals; setting target portfolio appetite level based on the ratings; setting individual
decision thresholds linked to the ratings; project reflows classification by ratings.
21.

VI.

Roles and responsibilities

Office of Risk Management and Compliance (“ORMC”) will be responsible for developing
and maintaining the rating models. The Secretariat may seek the help of external expertise to
develop these models, or to customize off-the-shelf models available in the market.
22.

The Secretariat will be responsible for generating the PSR and CRR for each proposal,
with strong support from the AEs in gathering the relevant data. Both Ratings will be generated
at first during the proposal review process, and then refreshed at least annually, usually
together with the project / programme review process.
23.

In order to optimize the use of resources engaged in the rating process, rating refresh is
expected to follow a simpler process, focusing on updating key rating model inputs.
24.
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Annex X: Performance criteria and measurement procedures of the
Executive Director of the Green Climate Fund Secretariat
I.

Guiding principles

The Executive Director’s performance criteria and measurement procedures
(Performance Framework) is based on, but not limited to, the following principles:
1.

•
•
•
•

•

the accountability of the Executive Director to the Board of the Green Climate Fund;
the compliance with Board decisions and the guidance provided by the Co-Chairs of the
Board.
the application of the Policy on Ethics and Conflicts of Interest for the Executive Director
of the Green Climate Fund Secretariat pursuant to decision B.10/13;
the functions of the Secretariat as provided in the Governing Instrument, and the
Executive Director’s primary roles and responsibilities, as provided in decision B.12/22;
and
work accomplishments, competencies and behavioral standards against the roles and
responsibilities outlined below and in the relevant articles of his/her contract with the
GCF.

The Performance Framework should be consistent with the Work Programme of the
Secretariat .
2.

II.

Roles and responsibilities of the Executive Director 1

1. Strategic leadership and delivery
The Executive Director will lead the Secretariat’s team of professionals, responsible to
execute the day-to-day operations of the Fund to, inter alia:
3.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Develop a Secretariat that will service and be accountable to the Board
Cultivate a work programme and annual administrative budget of the Secretariat and
Trustee for approval by the Board;
Operationalize the project and programme cycle processes;
Prepare performance reports on the implementation of activities under the Fund;
Implement the Strategic Plan of the GCF;
Establish and run effective knowledge management and learning practices; and
Build productive relationships with members, accredited entities, and cooperating
bilateral and multilateral institutions and agencies.

2. Building organisational capacity and capability
The Executive Director, being accountable to the Board, will inter alia:

4.

•
•

Clearly articulate to the Board the Secretariat’s needs and challenges in terms of staffing
numbers, skills and capability;
Maintain the recruitment and retention of a cadre of international and local professional
staff for the Secretariat, ensuring that selection is open, transparent and based on merit,
taking into account geographic and gender balance, in accordance with the
organizational structure and administrative budget approved by the Board;

1 Decision

B.12/22
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•
•
•

Effectively manage staff, and develop staff’s capabilities, in order to maximize their
performance and promote an inclusive and healthy working environment;
Provide regular and structured performance feedback to Secretariat staff, including
direct reports; and
Ensure opportunities for personal learning and development for all Secretariat staff are
a priority.

3. Managing GCF finance and systems
Operational management
The Executive Director will lead the Secretariat's efforts in supporting the Board with
the continued development and implementation of:
5.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Fund's operational modalities, access modalities and funding structures;
Specific operational policies and guidelines, including for programming, project cycle,
administration and financial management, as necessary;
Funding criteria, modalities, policies and programmes;
Environmental and social safeguards and fiduciary principles and standards that are
internationally accepted as best practice;
Monitoring and evaluation functions;
The Fund’s Information Disclosure policy to maximize transparency, awareness of the
GCF and learning;
Portfolio management and oversight including the timely conclusion of administrative
arrangements necessary to facilitate disbursements; and
Criteria and application processes for the accreditation of implementing entities of the
Fund.

Financial management
The Executive Director will lead the Secretariat's efforts in supporting the Board with
the continued development and implementation of:
6.

•
•
•
•
•

A framework for the monitoring and evaluation of performance and the financial
accountability of activities supported by the Fund and any necessary external audits;
Support the Board in arranging and concluding successful replenishment processes;
Prepare financial agreements related to the specific financing instrument to be
concluded with an implementing entity;
Monitor financial risks of the portfolio; and
Manage the relationship with the interim Trustee including to conclude all contribution
agreements.

4. Provide effective and timely support to the Board
The Executive Director will lead the Secretariat’s team of professionals in, inter alia:

7.

•
•
•

Organizing and executing all administrative duties, including the preparation for
meetings of the Board and its subsidiary bodies;
Reporting information on the Fund's activities and implement the Fund’s
communication strategy; and
Implementing Board decisions and guidance.

5. Establish and nurture effective relationships
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The Executive Director will:

8.

•

•

Work to achieve the objective of the Fund, by establishing and maintaining effective
relationships with the Fund’s stakeholders, including partner Governments, the Board
and its Members, and other components of the Fund including the Independent
Accountability Units, as well as the Trustee, the Conference of the Parties (COP),
relevant bodies under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change,
GCF Accredited Entities, observer organizations, multilateral, bilateral and development
agencies and other stakeholders; and
Establish and maintain effective relationships with the Government of the Republic of
Korea pursuant to the Host Country Agreement; in maintaining the support provided to
the offices in Songdo and ensuring that the officials of the Fund continue to enjoy the
privileges and immunities associated with their official functions and status in the
Republic of Korea and that Members, alternate Members, advisors and other
participants of GCF Board meetings and activities are provided the essential facilities to
participate in official GCF Board meetings and other events.
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1

Competency area

Objective/criterion

Expected output

Strategic leadership and
delivery

To execute effective and efficient programming
of resources

Expeditious disbursement of resources, as directed by Board
approvals and decisions

To help develop a strong network of accredited
entities

A balance of accredited entities’ applications presented for Board’s
consideration

To implement the Initial Strategic plan

Successful and timely implementation of the Initial Strategic plan
and the work programme of the Secretariat
Structured dialogues organized in all regions
Expeditious rate of readiness and project preparation support
approved

To implement the operations and the proposal
approval processes effectively and efficiently

Programme and project cycles implemented expeditiously,
including improved, streamlined and simplified operations, , in
line with Board guidance

To expedite the delivery of the GCF’s resources

Disbursements for approved projects have started and the rate is
steadily increased
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2

3

Organizational capacity

Administrative matters

To continue to develop the workforce according
to need, and recruit qualified and motivated
professional staff, enabling gender and
geographical balance

The workforce grows in line with Board decisions and represents
balance in terms of gender and geography

Staff satisfaction surveys are carried out and, where
necessary, responsive actions are identified and
implemented

To ensure effective and efficient Secretariat
structure

The structure is reviewed so that it responds directly, efficiently
and effectively, to the needs the Fund

To ensure a well-functioning financial
management system

Established internal processes and procedures ensure high quality
management of financial resources
Effective and efficient application of risk register and risk and
investment policies

To prepare and present policy and procedural
options for Board’s consideration, as
appropriate

Quality documents are drafted in a timely manner for the Board’s
consideration and implemented when agreed by the Board, with
further guidance provided by Co-Chairs, when requested

To execute contribution agreements and
arrangements

All signed contribution agreements and arrangements are
executed in a timely and efficient way

To ensure the start and completion of the
replenishment process

Replenishment procedures agreed by the Board are executed in a
timely and efficient manner
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4

5

Support to the Board

Relationships with stakeholders

To present quality documents for Board’s
consideration

Timely submission of quality draft documents Board proceedings
recorded (through live streaming, accurate decisions and reports
of the meetings)

To strive for open and regular communication
with the Board and the Co-Chairs

Regular calls on issues pertinent to the operations, priorities and
reputation of the GCF ensuring that the Co-Chairs are notified in a
timely manner

Take appropriate actions necessary to respond
to COP guidance

Report to the COP submitted with actions and measures taken to
address COP guidance

Targeted communications and outreach

Factual, timely and constructive information on the GCF
operations
Targeted annual communication and outreach events

To strengthen relationship with National
Designated Authorities (NDAs), accredited
entities and observer organizations

Targeted outreach activities and active participation in events
with the NDAs, accredited entities and observer organizations

To continue to ensure a positive relationship
with Host country

Regular communication with the Host country through progress in
handling of GCF related matters as per the Headquarters
Agreement
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To facilitate a wide coverage of privileges and
immunities for the GCF

Increased number of Agreements on Privileges and Immunities
signed with countries

To engage in relevant global fora and
international events

Attendance at relevant UNFCCC events
Participation in other climate related events targeting GCF
stakeholders
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Methodology
The Executive Director’s performance review should consider qualitative and
quantitative feedback, using multiple methods, which may include self-assessment, yearly 360degree feedback, mid-year and end of year performance discussions with the Co-Chairs of the
Board of the Green Climate Fund, as well as an overall performance evaluation as may be
decided by the Board in accordance with the Guidelines Principles and the Roles and
Responsibilities detailed above.
9.

(a)

At the end of year performance discussion, the Co-Chairs, in consultation with the Board,
will recommend one of the four performance ratings, pursuant to the Performance
Management and Development System (Superior, Fully Competent, Competent and
Unsatisfactory) for Board approval.

10.

Annual performance reviews will be shared with the Board on a confidential basis.

The means of verification of the performance results shall be presented to the Board
through multiple reports submitted for Board’s consideration, including the Work Programme
of the Secretariat, report on the status of Fund’s pipeline, report on the activities of the
Secretariat, report of the Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme, status of the Staffing
of the Secretariat and other relevant updates.
11.

The Executive Director is also instructed to develop an annual personal work plan,
based on this Performance Framework and the Work Programme of the Secretariat, which will
be agreed with the Co-Chairs.
12.

The personal work plan should outline individual-level core and general objectives,
including metrics and weightings, which will assist the Co-Chairs in rating the performance of
the Executive Director.
13.

The personal work plan could also include developmental goals and opportunities and
will form the basis of the annual performance assessment of the Executive Director, in addition
to other sources mentioned in paragraph 11 above.
14.

The Performance Framework will stand as policy document for all Executive Directors
of the Secretariat and shall be updated periodically.
15.

The Performance Framework will also serve as an input for an independent evaluation
of the performance of the Executive Director, which could commence one year before the
conclusion of the term of the Executive Director.
16.
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Annex XI: Accreditation assessment of Applicant 050 (APL050)
I.

Introduction

Applicant 050 (APL050), the CDG Capital S.A. (CDG Capital), is a national entity based in
Morocco, with a project portfolio that is composed of a variety of sectors and financial
instruments. The applicant has provided financing through equity, loans and guarantees for
both public and private sector projects in sectors such as power generation and distribution,
port infrastructure, water supply infrastructure, real estate, rail, highways, telecommunications,
services and industry.
1.

The applicant submitted its application for accreditation to the Secretariat via the Online
Accreditation System on 19 March 2016. The Stage I institutional assessment and completeness
check was completed on 20 April 2017 and was progressed to the Stage II (Step 1) accreditation
review, which has been concluded with the publication of this assessment. The applicant has
applied to be accredited for the following parameters under the fit-for-purpose approach of the
GCF:
2.

(a)

Access modality: direct access, national, private sector. The applicant received a
national designated authority nomination for its accreditation application from
Morocco;

(b)

Track: normal track;

(c)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme: large;1

(d)

Fiduciary functions:2
(i)

Basic fiduciary standards; and

(ii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans, equity
and guarantees); and

(e)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: medium risk (Intermediation 2
(I-2)).3

II.

Stage I institutional assessment and completeness check

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
by the Secretariat during Stage I.
3.

2.1

Legal status, registration, permits and licences

The applicant provided documents on its establishment and licences to operate, where
relevant, as a part of the application. The Caisse de Dépôt et de Gestion was authorized to create
4.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45), “large” is defined as “total projected costs at
the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 250 million for an
individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), Category A is defined as “Activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented” and Intermediation 1 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio
includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential significant adverse
environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented”.
1
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CDG Capital S.A. as a subsidiary by decree no. 2-06-178 issued on 4 April 2006 by the Moroccan
authorities.

2.2

Institutional presence and relevant networks

CDG Group, including the applicant, has a track record of blending its own funds with
international partners such as the European Investment Bank, Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau
and Caisse de Dépôt et de Gestion. CDG Group is also a member of the International
Development Finance Club supporting climate finance initiatives. It has recently voiced its
support for the “common principles for climate mitigation finance tracking” aiming at further
increasing transparency and credibility of mitigation finance reporting.
5.

The applicant is the fully owned asset management, financing and investment banking
arm of CDG Group, serving both private and public clients. The applicant, along with the larger
CDG Group, intends to continue supporting the implementation of the national climate strategy
in Morocco and to develop adaptation projects to adjust to the consequences of climate change
in the following sectors: energy, landfill gas management, water management, agriculture and
forestry, transport, and housing and urbanization (including new cities).
6.

7.

CDG Capital seeks accreditation to the GCF in order to:

(a)

Support efforts to promote the paradigm shift towards low-emission and climateresilient development pathways in Morocco;

(b)

Make available relevant financial instruments and resources for economic operators to
achieve scalable energy efficiency and renewable energy projects;

(c)

Protect vulnerable communities by investing in water security projects; and

(d)

Share knowledge on climate change mitigation and adaptation topics with partners in
Morocco and other African countries who need technical and financial assistance to fight
climate change.

2.3

Track record

The applicant has placed socially responsible investment and climate change as one of
its main objectives. The applicant indicated that it has previously partnered with government,
the national utility supplier, the private sector, civil society organizations and local communities
in Morocco to achieve climate change mitigation and adaptation projects.
8.

The applicant’s track record in financing climate change-related projects includes the
following:
9.

(a)

USD 3.5 million of USD 21 million (Emission Reduction Purchase Agreement through the
clean development mechanism) for a wind farm project in Morocco;

(b)

USD 10.2 million of USD 818 million (loans, investment credit line) for the Moroccan
public utility supplier (financing the electricity distribution network) in Morocco;

(c)

USD 15.3 million of USD 90 million (equity) for the Agadir Desalination project in
Morocco;

(d)

USD 4.1 million of USD 816 million (loans) for the Moroccan public utility supplier
(overdraft credit line in the energy sector) in Morocco; and

(e)

USD 6.2 million of USD 81.6 million (guarantees) for the Casablanca bus transport
concessionaire, financing the purchase of new equiptment in Morocco.
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III.

Stage II accreditation review assessment

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
against the standards of the GCF by the Accreditation Panel (AP) during Stage II (Step 1).
10.

As part of this assessment, the AP consulted the applicant’s website and third-party
websites to complement the information provided in the application.
11.

3.1

Fiduciary standards

3.1.1

Section 4.1: Basic fiduciary standards: key administrative and financial capacities

The applicant has an organizational and corporate governance structure that is
appropriate for the size and scope of its activities. The applicant’s board of directors has two
oversight committees: audit and risk management. In addition, the applicant has six internal
committees: credit, conduct and ethics, steering committee of internal control, recovery and
litigation, and provisions. The corresponding terms of reference, and descriptions of the roles
and composition for each committee were provided by the applicant. The applicant has a
process for setting long- and short-term objectives aligned with its overall mission; a process for
preparing annual budgets and monitoring of these budgets; and a process for monitoring and
assessing the performance of the entity against the set objectives.
12.

The applicant’s consolidated annual financial statements for the years 2012, 2013 and
2014 were prepared in accordance with the requirements of the International Accounting
Standards Board, which include the International Financial Reporting Standards and the
International Accounting Standards. The financial statements present comprehensive corporate
financial information, including information on the evaluated assets and liabilities, cash flows,
taxes, costs, interest expenditure and value, other business revenues, cost of risk, shareholders’
equity, earnings per share, investments in associates and joint ventures, subsidiaries, and
consolidation principles.
13.

The applicant has a well-developed financial information system in place that reflects
the cash flow reports on the entities’ operations, including private equity funds. The applicant
has transparent and consistent payment and disbursement systems in place with documented
procedures and clear allocation of responsibilities.
14.

The applicant has an established internal audit process under which activities are
directly and regularly monitored by the applicant’s audit and investigation department, which
reports to the audit committee. The operation of the internal audit in accordance with its audit
charter is evidenced by appropriate evidence such as minutes of meetings, audit plans, sample
audit reports and reports on the status of actions taken with regard to the recommendation of
the internal auditors, which were provided by the applicant. The applicant complies with
international standards and the code of ethics of the Institute of Internal Auditors and also
undertakes the periodic assessment of the overall effectiveness of the internal audit function.
15.

The applicant has appointed an external auditor to independently review financial
statements at an overall organizational level. The external audit controls were carried out in
accordance with professional standards applicable in Morocco and in accordance with
Moroccan accounting standards. In the opinion of the external auditor the consolidated financial
statements, in all significant aspects are true and fair, and correctly reflect the financial
performance and cash flows for the corresponding financial years. The recommendations of the
external auditor were shared with the applicant’s board of directors and management of the
entity, and all the actions taken in response to the recommendations were further recorded.
16.

The applicant has a well-developed internal control framework, which is outlined in the
internal control charter document. The internal control function covers supervision of the
measures for strengthening and improving the ongoing monitoring system for the applicant’s
17.
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performance and its subsidiaries. The details of the control records are contained in the
summary of the internal monitoring and audit committee reports, and in documentation with
regard to the control consolidation meetings with the business lines and the meetings of the
steering committee for internal monitoring, as well as records of audit and risk committee
meetings.
The applicant has procurement policies and procedures that are found to be
comprehensive and adequate for its procurement activities. The applicant’s procurement is
based on the following principles: the promotion of fairness and transparency, sustainable
development and responsible purchasing; development of e-commerce; continuous
improvement of service quality; the promotion of innovation; economic performance;
optimization of expenditures; and asset protection. The applicant’s procurement policy rules,
regulations and guidelines ensure free access to the ordering and purchasing process,
competitive bidding principles, equal treatment of competitors and transparency in the choice
of service providers.
18.

3.1.2

Section 4.2: Basic fiduciary standards: transparency and accountability

The applicant has in place the appropriate processes, authorities and key documents for
supporting ethical behaviour of the employees and other parties associated with the applicant’s
operations, such as an ethics and professional conduct committee, a code of professional
conduct and relevant guidelines. The code of professional conduct, as well as supporting
policies, also addresses the issues related to the conflict of interest and management of
confidentiality.
19.

Prevention of financial mismanagement is regulated by a specific set of internal financial
policies with regard to fraud prevention. The applicant’s management team have committed to a
zero-tolerance policy in relation to fraud, and have adopted the general principles of prohibited
practices that are in compliance with the GCF interim policy on prohibited practices.
20.

The applicant has provided the evidence that the investigative function is carried out by
its audit and investigation department. The investigation process, as well as the process of
handling complaints, is described in the new internal investigation procedure. The procedure
covers occurrence of fraud, incident, actual or potential significant loss and other serious issues.
In response to the occurrence of serious issues, which can considerably affect the interests of
the bank, its customers, shareholders and partners, the audit and investigation department
undertakes special missions of investigation and reports on the outcomes to the board of
directors. The web link to receive complaints on suspected fraud cases from the general public
is posted on the applicants’ website. However, the link does not provide the information on the
process of handling complaints received from the general public.
21.

The applicant has provided a statement that there have been no cases of violation of the
code of ethics in the past three years.
22.

The applicant provided its policy on anti-money laundering and countering the
financing of terrorism, which has been approved by its board of directors. The policy establishes
the rules for the examination of the customer and its risk profile, and the methods for the
identification of suspicious activities. The policy also contains the general principles and types
of prohibited practices to be developed by the applicant, which are found to be in a full
compliance with the list of the prohibited practices contained in the GCF interim policy on
prohibited practices.
23.

The applicant’s due diligence process of its customers and counterparts with regard to
combating money laundering and the prevention of financing terrorism is established and
operating in accordance with the corresponding policies and manuals, and is found to be
transparent, efficient and mature. The applicant requires all the customers, including
independent persons and legal entities to provide the complete information on their business
following the ‘know-your-customer’ (KYC) due diligence manual. The system is supported by
24.
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the well-established procedure and in-house electronic control system for undertaking KYC due
diligence, as well as for close monitoring of the electronic fund transfers. The corresponding
sample KYC due diligence reports, as well as sample reports on the electronic transfers were
provided.
3.1.3

Section 5.1: Specialized fiduciary standard for project management

25.

The applicant did not apply for assessment against this standard at this time.

3.1.4

Section 5.2: Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms

26.

The applicant did not apply for assessment against this standard at this time.

3.1.5

Section 5.3: Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending

The applicant is the fully owned asset management, financing and investment banking
arm of the larger financial group and, as such, has profound experience in undertaking strategic
investments and financing sustainable development projects, while also providing various
financial services for both private and public group clients, such as asset management services,
providing financial guarantees, debt and equity financial structuring and bonds issuance, and
the management of private equity funds and of one-off infrastructure funds. The financial group
to which the applicant belongs is the 100 per cent government-owned manager of public
pension funds and regulated deposits of Morocco, with over USD 20 billion assets under
management.
27.

The applicant has a mature set of procedures on the determination of the equity and
debt investments in the projects, as well guidelines on providing financial guarantees. The
funding mix of the project is determined considering the project’s risk allocation principles, risk
diversification strategy and market standards for the relevant type of project.
28.

The applicant has also demonstrated sound investment policies for asset management,
private equity and infrastructure funds investment policies, investment financial risk and
management policies, supported by the regular corporate risk diversification reports. The
applicant also has in place procedures and organizational structures that ensure appropriate
segregation of the duties of the treasury function and operations.
29.

The applicant has a documented framework for undertaking due diligence of the
financial opportunities, with clearly defined roles and responsibilities and applicable guidelines
and procedures for assessing the capabilities of the organizations seeking financing or a
guarantee from the applicant. Sample due diligence reports in respect of its equity financing and
on-lending and blending operations, as well as samples of the guarantee agreements, show
effective use of and compliance with the existing policies and procedures.
30.

Until recently, the applicant did not have in place a policy on the disclosure of
information to the public on its on-lending and blending operations, project beneficiaries,
project results achieved and lessons learned, which is required by the GCF fiduciary standards.
In order to address these gaps, the applicant has developed the required procedures, which
were recently approved by the applicant’s board. However, in order to fully meet the
requirements of the GCF, the applicant would need to provide evidence of the effective
implementation of its new information disclosure policy.
31.

The applicant stated that currently it does not lend to financial institutions, therefore it
does not have any assessment reports on the lending portfolio of such intermediaries. However,
it also stated that it might use the services of a financial institution in the future, for example as
a managing company to run an equity fund where the applicant has an equity stake. In this case
it would need to provide the corresponding assessment report of the intermediary contracted
for the management of the project(s) approved by the Board.
32.
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3.2

Environmental and social safeguards

3.2.1

Section 6.1: Policy

The applicant provided its environmental and social safeguard (ESS) policy, which came
into effect in July 2016. The applicant’s ESS policy is endorsed by its management, as indicated
in the introductory letter signed by the general management in the original version in French.
The ESS policy was communicated by the applicant’s management to all of its staff by email on
21 September 2016. The policy covers the scope, purpose, objectives and principles which guide
the applicant in its decision-making processes and includes the roles and responsibilities of
various units. Furthermore, the policy refers to the performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF
interim ESS, including adherence to the country’s obligations under international law. The
applicant has expressed its commitment to comply with the GCF interim ESS for both
Intermediation 2 and 3. The ESS policy includes the requirement that its executing entities,
when they execute projects financed by the applicant, address cumulative impacts, analysis of
alternatives, baseline data standards and mitigation hierarchy.
33.

As evidence of the applicant’s implementation of the performance standards, the
applicant provided guidelines and checklists that will be used in screening projects against
performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS.
34.

3.2.2

Section 6.2: Identification of risks and impacts

The applicant has provided its procedure for environmental and social (E&S) risk and
impacts identification in line with performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS. The
procedure also provides an E&S risks and impacts identification form, which systematically
addresses performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS. The applicant has provided the
terms of reference and job description of the person in charge of implementing the E&S risks
and impacts identification procedure, who is the environmental and social specialist. The
applicant’s ESS team is in charge of performing E&S risk identification and categorization. The
applicant has also provided sample projects showing an identification of E&S risk and impacts
analysis carried out per the International Finance Corporation’s performance standards,
indicating the applicant’s capability of undertaking this task in line with the GCF interim ESS.
35.

3.2.3

Section 6.3: Management programme

The applicant has committed to develop and provide the GCF full E&S risk mitigation
and management reports for projects that it will finance using GCF resources. Similarly, the
applicant has committed to develop and provide the GCF with an audit report to improve the
effectiveness of its institutional management related to programmes financed using GCF
resources.
36.

The applicant provided a sample of a monitoring plan for a wind farm project, and the
sample is quite extensive in terms of key technical indicators. However, the key indicators did
not cover social issues such as grievances received/resolved. In addition, the full monitoring
report was not provided.
37.

3.2.4

Section 6.4: Organizational capacity and competency

The applicant has provided its overall organization chart, which includes identification
of all departments that would be involved with the applicant’s ESS team and a detailed chart of
the ESS team, which reports to its chief executive officer. The ESS project cycle chart describes
the tasks and interactions of the ESS team with other teams in the design and implementation of
projects. The ESS team is made up of a manager and two environmental specialists. External
consultants are used to support the team in its tasks, as necessary. Job descriptions of the duties
of the environmental and social specialist and of the ESS and gender manager, are also provided
in line with the GCF interim ESS. This set up of the applicant’s organization capacity and
competencies is sufficient to undertake I-2 and I-3 projects and programmes.
38.
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3.2.5

Section 6.5: Monitoring and review

The applicant’s ESS monitoring procedures provide a detailed description of actions and
guidelines to ensure the consistent application of the monitoring programme. It addresses how
the projects will be monitored periodically and systematically with a clear monitoring
methodology (planning, data collection, analysis, corrective action tracking, issue resolution and
reporting); tools/reporting templates; and description of responsibilities. The procedures on
internal monitoring describe the annual reporting to the chief executive officer by the ESS team
and the annual meeting of the ESS committee to review the effectiveness of the applicant’s
environmental and social management system. In addition, an external audit will ensure E&S
compliance of the financing channelled by the applicant.
39.

The applicant has not provided adequate sample monitoring reports except for the
monitoring planning phase, because its procedures are new (July 2016). The applicant has made
a commitment to develop a track record for further and more robust E&S-related monitoring of
its projects, particularly for projects it will finance using the GCF resources, and to share reports
of periodic performance reviews with its senior management on the effectiveness of the
environmental and social management system.
40.

3.2.6

Section 6.6: External communications

The applicant’s updated external communications procedure provide a detailed
description of the ESS-related disclosure and a consultation policy for Intermediation 2 and
Intermediation 3, which also addresses the grievance mechanism. The procedure includes the
location of the procedure on its website, as well as the description of the assigned
responsibilities for those who would manage the communication and disclosure process.
41.

The applicant has indicated that it has no register of enquiries or complaints available
because its policies are new, and that it has not received any complaints on its past
programmes. The applicant is willing to develop and maintain a register for the applicant’s
projects financed using GCF resources.
42.

3.3

Gender

The applicant has provided its gender policy which has been endorsed by its
management. The applicant has also provided its gender procedures, which describe the action
plan to ensure gender mainstreaming in the applicant’s operations (both in projects and inhouse). The procedure also includes tools for:
43.

(a)

The identification of gender risks;

(b)

The management of gender risks;

(c)

Monitoring; and

(d)

External communications.

As the applicant’s gender policy and procedures are relatively new, it has no track
record with regards to gender and related competencies. However, the applicant has provided a
detailed action plan to develop internal capacity and competency in line with the GCF Gender
policy.
44.

IV.

Conclusions and recommendation

4.1

Conclusions

45.

Following its assessment, the AP concludes the following in relation to the application:
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(a)

The applicant partially meets the requirements of the GCF basic fiduciary standards and
specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending for loans, equities and
guarantees. In some respects the applicant’s policy is new (e.g. information disclosure),
and there is no evidence yet of implementation. In the case of complaints in general,
information is not disclosed to the public. There is also no track record of working
through a financial intermediary and corresponding policy;

(b)

The applicant has applied for GCF large size category. However, the applicant did not
demonstrate any track record on providing project financing of an amount higher than
USD 55 million. Therefore, the AP can only recommend the accreditation of the applicant
for the medium size category;

(c)

The applicant partially meets the requirements of the interim ESS of the GCF in relation
to medium E&S risk (I-2). As the applicant’s ESS policy and procedures are relatively
new, it has not been able to demonstrate its track record in terms of E&S mitigation and
management, and E&S monitoring and external audit. The applicant has also committed
to enhance its external communications procedure regarding ESS public consultation
and disclosure, and for receiving and responding to E&S-related complaints; and

(d)

As the applicant’s gender policy and related procedures are relatively new, it has not
demonstrated its competencies to implement its gender policy consistent with the GCF
Gender policy. The applicant has also not demonstrated that it has experience with
gender considerations in the context of climate change. However, the applicant has
submitted a work programme to address these shortcomings.

4.2

Recommendation on accreditation

The AP recommends, for consideration by the Board, applicant APL050 for accreditation
as follows:
46.

(a)

Accreditation type:
(i)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme:
medium4 (including micro5 and small6);

(ii)

Fiduciary functions:

(iii)

(b)

1.

Basic fiduciary standards;

2.

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans,
equity and guarantees); and

Maximum environmental and social risk category: medium risk (I-2)
(including lower risk (I-37)); and

Conditions: the applicant will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on how it has complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess

As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “medium” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of
application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 50 million and up to and including
USD 250 million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
5 As per annex I to decision B.08/02,“micro” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of up to and including USD 10 million for an individual project
or an activity within a programme”.
6 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “small” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 10 million and up to and including USD 50
million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
7 As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category C is defined as “Activities with minimal or no adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts” and Intermediation 3 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have minimal or negligible adverse
environmental and/or social impacts“.
4
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whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by
the Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes;
(i)

Condition to be met by the applicant prior to submitting the first funding
proposal to the GCF wherein the applicant would be providing GCF resources
through a financial intermediary:
1.

(ii)

(iii)

Conditions to be met for each funding proposal:
1.

Provide in its funding proposal an E&S management framework that
describes the applicant’s project-specific approach to E&S risk and
impact categorization, mitigation and management, E&S monitoring and
reporting; and

2.

Provide in its funding proposal a gender action plan that reflects the
applicant’s adequate competency in terms of human and financial
resources and a system for maintaining data that addresses gender
aspects in line with the GCF Gender policy;

Condition to be met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF for the first
approved GCF project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

(iv)

Submit a description of the approach the applicant will undertake to
assess the financial intermediary as the executing entity;

Provide, on the applicant’s website, a description of the arrangements
and procedure for managing complaints before, during and after the
investigation process; and

Condition to be met on an annual basis for three consecutive years starting with
the end of the first year of the implementation of the first GCF-funded
project/programme:
1.

Provide the evidence that the reports on beneficiaries and results during
implementation of all GCF-funded activities were prepared and
published in accordance with the applicant’s procedures for public
access to information.

The applicant has been informed of the recommendation for accreditation, including the
accreditation type and condition(s), as identified in paragraph 46 above, and agrees to the
recommendation.
47.

GCF/B.17/22
Page 168

Annex XII: Accreditation assessment of Applicant 051 (APL051)
I.

Introduction

Applicant 051 (APL051), the Infrastructure Development Company Limited (IDCOL), is a
national entity in Bangladesh with a vision to help to ensure the economic development of the
country and to improve the standard of living of the people of Bangladesh through sustainable
and environmentally-friendly investments. The applicant has been promoting and financing in
the private sector since its inception in 1997, focusing on infrastructure, renewable energy and
energy efficiency projects. The applicant seeks accreditation to the GCF in order to scale up its
renewable energy projects with innovative technologies and new sustainable business models
in order to generate a greater impact countrywide.
1.

The applicant submitted its application for accreditation to the Secretariat via the Online
Accreditation System on 10 September 2015. The Stage I institutional assessment and
completeness check was completed on 3 November 2016 and was progressed to the Stage II
(Step 1) accreditation review, which has been concluded with the publication of this
assessment. The applicant has applied to be accredited for the following parameters under the
fit-for-purpose approach of the GCF:
2.

(a)

Access modality: direct access, national. The applicant received a national designated
authority nomination for its accreditation application from Bangladesh;

(b)

Track: normal track;

(c)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme: medium;1

(d)

Fiduciary functions:2
(i)

Basic fiduciary standards;

(ii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management; and

(iii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans); and

(e)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: medium risk
(Category B/Intermediation 2 (I-2)).3, 4

II.

Stage I institutional assessment and completeness check

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
by the Secretariat during Stage I.
3.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45), “medium” is defined as “maximum total
projected costs at the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 50
million and up to and including USD 250 million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), Category B is defined as “Activities with
potential mild adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally sitespecific, largely reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures” and Intermediation 2 is defined as
“When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial
exposure to activities with potential limited adverse environmental or social risks and/or impacts that are few in
number, generally-site specific, largely reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures; or includes a
very limited number of activities with potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or
impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented”.
4 The applicant initially applied for environmental and social (E&S) Category A/Intermediation 1, however, it had not
provided an adequate track record for this category and subsequently indicated that it wished to apply for Category
B/I-2 instead.
1
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2.1

Legal status, registration, permits and licences

The applicant provided documents on its establishment and licences to operate, where
relevant, as a part of the application. The applicant was incorporated by the Government of
Bangladesh under the Companies Act (XVIII) of 1994.
4.

2.2

Institutional presence and relevant networks

The applicant has 12 regional offices in Bangladesh from which the applicant manages
the projects and programmes that it implements. It has well-established partnerships with
government institutions; the private sector, which includes but is not limited to micro-finance
institutions, non-governmental organizations; as well as bilateral and multilateral development
agencies. Together with its partners, the applicant has acquired a track record mainly in
investing in sustainable infrastructure, renewable energy and energy efficiency that is assisting
Bangladesh to migrate towards climate-resilient development pathways.
5.

The applicant seeks to contribute towards furthering the climate mitigation and
adaptation objectives of the GCF by using its experience in managing projects and programmes
in the areas of renewable energy, energy efficiency, infrastructure, agriculture and
environmental services. Through piloting new renewable energy technologies in collaboration
with the private sector, the applicant has been able to design a sustainable business model that
ensures the delivery of clean, affordable and reliable energy services to the end users living
mostly in remote areas. With the support of GCF resources, the applicant can scale-up these
intervention schemes countrywide, which in turn could reduce the overall carbon emissions of
the country.
6.

Furthermore, the applicant seeks to strengthen country ownership by providing
technical assistance in the form of training and capacity-building services to its local partners.
7.

2.3

Track record

The applicant leverages its partnerships to mobilize financial resources from the
Government of Bangladesh through national institutions, and by engaging with bilateral and
international organizations. The applicant intends to continue cooperating with its partners in
order to assist Bangladesh to achieve sustainable development that mainstreams climate
change by implementing infrastructure projects in that country.
8.

The applicant undertakes climate-resilient sustainable development by mainstreaming
climate mitigation and adaptation in all the sectors that it operates in. The applicant has a track
record in financing infrastructure, renewable energy, agriculture and energy efficiency projects
in Bangladesh. Its track record in financing sustainable development and climate change
projects in these sectors to date includes the following:
9.

(a)

USD 997 million (loans, grants and equity) for the Solar Home System Programme;

(b)

USD 380 million (loans, grants and equity) for the 450MW Meghnaghat-1 Power Plant;

(c)

USD 14.69 million (loans, grants and equity) for the Domestic Biogas and Biogasfertilizer Programme; and

(d)

USD 10.2 million (loans, grants and equity) for the Solar Mini-grid and Solar Irrigation
Programmes; and

(e)

USD 8 million (grants) for the Improved Cook Stove Programme.
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III.

Stage II accreditation review assessment

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
against the standards of the GCF by the Accreditation Panel (AP) during Stage II (Step 1).
10.

As part of this assessment, the AP consulted the applicant’s website to complement the
information provided in the application.
11.

3.1

Fiduciary standards

3.1.1

Section 4.1: Basic fiduciary standards: key administrative and financial capacities

The applicant's governance structure includes several internal oversight bodies: an
audit committee, ethics committee, credit risk management committee and asset liability
management committee. The audit committee comprised five members from both the public
and private sectors. Profiles of the committee members and sample minutes of committee
meetings provided show that the members have the expertise and experience to carry out their
responsibilities adequately.
12.

The applicant's financial statements are prepared in accordance with the country’s
financial reporting standards, Companies Act 1994, Financial Institutions Act 1993, and other
applicable laws and regulations. The country’s financial reporting standards meet the standards
required by the International Financial Reporting Standards. Evidence of certification by the
International Financial Reporting Standards was provided by the applicant. The applicant uses a
customized data management system for the recording of day-to-day financial transactions and
year-ending financial reporting.
13.

The applicant has its own disbursement policies and procedures which are detailed in
its accounting, audit and internal control manual, but also follows the disbursement guidelines
of its development partners, where required. Its procedures provide for a clear segregation of
approval and disbursement responsibilities and authorities. Audits of the applicant’s payment
and disbursements system are carried out periodically.
14.

The applicant has a well-established and adequately staffed internal audit department.
In order to ensure its independence, the department reports directly to the applicant’s board.
The applicant’s annual financial statements are audited by an external audit firm. The sample
external audit reports provided show that the financial statements were audited in conformity
with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Bangladesh. Complete external audit reports for the past three financial years
were provided by the applicant.
15.

The applicant has a comprehensive internal control framework which is overseen by an
internal control and compliance committee to ensure the efficiency and effectiveness of
organizational activities, reliability, completeness and timelines of financial and management
information, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and accountability to the
applicant’s board.
16.

The applicant has a detailed procurement policy that guides the procurement of goods
and services. In addition to its own procurement policy, the applicant follows the respective
procurement policies of the donor agencies under the project they finance. The sample
procurement documents provided show that the applicant’s procurement policies are
consistent with recognized international practice. The applicant also has uniform procurement
guidelines for the executing agencies under the projects its finances. It conducts procurement
audits on its partner organizations, which are affiliated with different projects and programmes
funded by the applicant. For the resolution of procurement disputes, the applicant generally
follows the provisions under country’s Public Procurement Rules.
17.
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While the applicant meets all other GCF requirements relating to administrative and
financial capacities, it does not have a process in place to monitor and assess the overall
effectiveness of the internal audit function, and it has not provided evidence to show that checks
and audits of its procurement activities are carried out. The applicant is taking the appropriate
steps to address these shortfalls in meeting GCF requirements.
18.

3.1.2

Section 4.2: Basic fiduciary standards: transparency and accountability

The applicant has a draft code of conduct (pending its board’s approval) that defines
ethical standards to be upheld by employees and all parties functionally related to the
organization. Even though it is still in draft form, the code of conduct is communicated to the
employees and the other targeted parties through appointment letters and signed contracts,
respectively.
19.

Oversight of the applicant’s ethics is carried out by an integrity committee, the terms of
reference of which were provided along with the sample minutes of meetings of the committee.
20.

The applicant has a financial mismanagement policy, which is detailed in the accounting,
audit and internal control manual. A sample case demonstrating the procedures for handling
financial mismanagement was provided. The information provided demonstrates the
applicant’s experience and track record in accessing financial resources from international
sources, including the main multilateral development banks and bilateral aid agencies.
21.

The applicant has a “Zero tolerance policy against fraud corruption and other
sanctionable practices”, which is posted on the applicant’s website, including a provision for
reporting fraud, corruption and other forms of misconduct. The applicant has put in place a
whistle-blower protection policy and conflict of interest review and resolution procedures. The
policy on zero tolerance of fraud is complemented by a detailed mechanism for investigating
cases of suspected or alleged fraud and other forms of misconduct. In order to ensure
objectivity, investigations are carried out by an inquiry commission comprised of senior staff
from three different departments rather by a single officer. A copy of the case register that
shows details of the cases investigated and their current status or final disposition was provided
by the applicant.
22.

In order to combat money laundering and to counter the financing of terrorism, the
applicant recently put in place:
23.

(a)

An anti-money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism policy which is
based on the “Guidance notes on prevention of money laundering and anti-terrorist
financing” formulated by the country’s Central Bank; and

(b)

A comprehensive ‘know-your-customer’ due diligence process.

The applicant also has a detailed mechanism for monitoring the electronic transfer of
funds which is implemented in collaboration with commercial banks and parties with which the
applicant has business relationships.
24.

3.1.3

Section 5.1: Specialized fiduciary standard for project management

The applicant has well-documented operational procedures, including project
preparation, appraisal, credit risk management, monitoring and evaluation policies and
guidelines. The applicant has also recently prepared a draft project closure policy which is
awaiting approval by its board. Their effective use is demonstrated by sample project appraisal
reports and other supporting documents provided, which also show that the applicant has the
capacity to examine and incorporate the technical, financial, economic and legal, environmental
and social aspects of the project at the appraisal stage.
25.

The applicant has satisfactory procedures and processes for undertaking project quality
reviews through a sequential review process involving several units within the organization,
such as the business unit, credit risk management unit, credit risk management committee,
26.
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credit committee and the board of directors. Sample reports of the quality reviews undertaken
during project preparation and appraisal process for two different projects were provided.
The applicant has a mature monitoring and evaluation function. The function places
emphasis on continuous oversight of the project implementation process and periodic reporting
on the project’s implementation status to the applicant’s operations committee, which
comprises the heads of the relevant department of project executing agencies and is chaired by
the applicant’s chief executive officer. Sample implementation status reports as well as sample
minutes of operations committee meetings were provided.
27.

The applicant does not have an in-house capability for the independent evaluation of
project results at implementation completion. Instead, it relies on external expertise to carry out
the independent evaluations normally under the funding of respective donor agencies. The
terms of reference for independent evaluation and the sample evaluation reports provided
demonstrate that the evaluation function complies with recognized professional standards and
methods.
28.

As part of its project implementation monitoring process, the applicant has a project-atrisk system to identify and address project problems before they become entrenched and
inhibit the attainment of project objectives. The system is primarily managed by project
relationship officers who are responsible for the follow-up of project activities at different
stages in coordination with the monitoring and technical teams.
29.

Although the applicant meets all other requirements related to the specialized fiduciary
standard for project management, it has only recently developed some of the required policies
and procedures which are yet to be approved by its board. These include policies relating to
project closure, the publication of monitoring and evaluation reports on GCF-financed activities,
the independent evaluation of results of GCF-funded activities, and the public disclosure of
evaluation reports. The applicant is taking appropriate steps to address these shortfalls in
meeting GCF requirements, including securing the approval of the draft policies and procedures
by the applicant’s board.
30.

3.1.4

Section 5.2: Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms

31.

The applicant did not apply for assessment against this standard at this time.

3.1.5

Section 5.3: Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending

The applicant’s on-lending and blending operations are supported by a set of policies,
procedures and guidelines, including a project appraisal manual, lending policy and credit risk
management guidelines. The applicant has been involved in on-lending and/or blending
activities since its inception in 1997. It has a proven track record in receiving and on-lending
and/or blending resources from major funding agencies such as the World Bank, the Asian
Development Bank, the Japan International Cooperation Agency, the United Kingdom
Department for International Development, Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau and the United
States Agency for International Development. Examples of on-lending, including information on
the intermediaries and sources of funding, were provided by the applicant. The sample project
appraisal reports provided are comprehensive and contain all the pertinent areas that are
normally contained in a completed due diligence report.
32.

The applicant has appropriate operating guidelines which ensure that the funds it
provides are channelled transparently and used effectively. The applicant’s disbursement
process and the utilization of funds by its partner organizations are audited by external auditors
to ensure that the funds are used for the intended purposes. Copies of sample disbursement
audit reports were provided. The applicant also provided information on two projects, which
shows that advantages to the final beneficiaries of projects funded by the applicant are regularly
monitored and evaluated.
33.
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In order to comply with the guidelines of the country’s financial sector regulatory
authority on “Managing core risks of financial institutions and asset liability management”, the
applicant has put in place robust financial risk management guidelines which bolster its
capability to assess, identify and address key financial risks in its on-lending and blending
activities. The attention paid to financial risk management is evident from the sample minutes
of recent meetings of the applicant’s asset and liability committee.
34.

The applicant partially meets the GCF requirements relating to the specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans), as it has only recently developed the
required policy on the disclosure of information to the public regarding the applicant’s
decisions on on-lending and/or blending operations, and a policy on publication of monitoring
and evaluation reports on projects that would be funded by the GCF. The applicant is taking the
appropriate steps to address these shortfalls in meeting GCF requirements, including securing
approval from its board of the draft policies and procedures.
35.

3.2

Environmental and social safeguards

3.2.1

Section 6.1: Policy

The applicant’s environmental and social management system (ESMS) includes its E&S
policy, environmental and social management framework (ESMF) and environmental and social
safeguard framework (ESSF). The applicant’s renewable energy financing portfolio, including its
solar home system programme, solar irrigation, solar mini-grid, biogas programme, biogasbased electricity, and improved cook stove programme, is guided by its ESMF, which was
accepted by all development partners and adopted by the applicant in 2014. On the other hand,
the applicant’s infrastructure financing is guided by its ESSF, which was adopted in 2011 and
applies to solar roof-top and solar grid-tied projects the applicant finances.
36.

The applicant is now updating its ESMS to be compatible with operational policy 4.03 of
the World Bank,1 which is to be followed by the applicant for solar roof-top and solar grid-tied
projects, taking into account performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim environmental
and social safeguards (ESS). The ESMF and ESSF are consistent with performance standards 1 to
8 of the GCF interim ESS; are endorsed by the applicant’s senior management; and are
communicated to all levels of its organization and communicated publicly on its website. The
applicant has confirmed its willingness to require its executing entities, when they execute
projects implemented or financed by the applicant, to address cumulative impacts where
relevant, provide an analysis of alternatives, and employ baseline data standards and mitigation
hierarchy.
37.

In view of the above, the applicant’s ESMS comprising an ESMF and ESSF, is in line with
the GCF interim ESS.
38.

3.2.2

Section 6.2: Identification of risks and impacts

The applicant’s ESMS describes the environmental and social (E&S) risk identification
criteria for classifying projects based on its red, orange or green (i.e. high, moderate or low) risk
categories which have been harmonized with the Asian Development Bank’s safeguards system
for classifying Categories A, B, C and FI (for financial institutions) projects, which is also
consistent with the GCF interim ESS.
39.

The applicant’s ESMS includes a business process flow chart, which includes the
applicant’s environmental and social safeguard unit. This unit has the responsibility for the
implementation of E&S risks and impacts identification and is consistent with good
international industry practice and PS 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS. The applicant has provided
40.

1

World Bank. 2013. Operational policy 4.03, “Performance Standards for Private Sector Activities”. Available at
<https://policies.worldbank.org/sites/ppf3/PPFDocuments/090224b0822f7442.pdf>.
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evidence of its track record in terms of sample project documents for E&S risk Categories B/I-2
and C/I-3.
3.2.3

Section 6.3: Management programme

The applicant’s ESMS describes the applicant’s institutional process for managing
mitigation measures and actions stemming from the E&S risk identification process, which is
also shown in the business flow chart. This is further complemented by several protocols
containing guidelines for ensuring proper disposal of batteries and other wastes generated from
solar home systems, and mini-grid and biogas projects. The applicant has provided sample
projects showing how this institutional process is applied for Category B/I-2 and Category C/I-3
projects.
41.

3.2.4

Section 6.4: Organizational capacity and competency

The applicant has provided an organization chart showing the placement of its
environmental and social staff and their roles, responsibilities, reporting lines and authority for
implementation of the ESMS. The applicant’s environment and social safeguards management
unit is responsible for institutionalizing the environmental and social management in its
operation. The ESMS includes a flow chart of the process at each stage of the project cycle and
interaction with the various relevant departments such as investment, legal, etc. The applicant
has provided the curricula vitae of two full-time environmental specialists under its renewable
energy department. The applicant has provided a list of various E&S related training undertaken
by its technical staff to enhance their knowledge of PS 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS and to
properly categorize potential funding proposals.
42.

3.2.5

Section 6.5: Monitoring and review

The ESMS describes a monitoring and review process, including the institutional
structure responsible for it its implementation, and timelines for various types of reports
submitted to its senior management for approval before being disclosed on the applicant’s
website. Evidence of communication related to approval by senior management for disclosure
purposes was provided by the applicant. Sample monitoring reports for Category B/I-2 and C/I3 projects have also been provided, including information on or examples of how supervision
and auditing have helped to improve the effectiveness of the management review and have
resulted in an updating of the ESMS.
43.

3.2.6

Section 6.6: External communications

The applicant’s ESMS indicates that it follows the Asian Development Bank’s disclosure
policy for Category A projects, which requires disclosure of E&S assessment documents 120
days in advance of the consideration and approval of the project. However, no clear policy is
mentioned regarding Category B projects for which the GCF Information disclosure policy
requires 30 days. The applicant has agreed to apply the GCF Information disclosure policy for
activities financed using GCF resources.
44.

The operational procedure section of the ESMS includes the description of the
applicant’s information disclosure policy and practice. The applicant discloses on its website
various monitoring reports on the environmental and social aspects of its renewable energy
projects. The applicant has provided weblinks to project documents as evidence of project-level
disclosure carried out as a requirement of international funding agencies through its own
website. The applicant has a provision on its website to receive and register external
communications. It duly responds to grievances, queries and suggestions received through its
website as well as through Facebook, as applicable. The applicant has indicated that no
complaints regarding environmental or social safeguard issues have been received.
45.

3.3

Gender
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The applicant adopted a gender policy which was put into effect in January 2016 to
systematically address gender-related issues. The gender policy was circulated to all of the
applicant’s employees. The applicant’s ESMS also contains the gender action framework
developed for the project and it has also provided its gender action plan. The applicant has
provided supporting documentation, including the curricula vitae of its staff to demonstrate the
competencies to implement gender considerations in its project lending. The applicant has also
provided sample climate change project documents with specific references to men and women
that have benefitted from them. The applicant has further provided examples of projects of its
executing entities which show that the projects to which the applicant lends have nondiscriminatory practices in terms of benefits and remuneration for both men and women
employees.
46.

IV.

Conclusions and recommendation

4.1

Conclusions

47.

Following its assessment, the AP concludes the following in relation to the application:

(a)

The applicant partially meets the requirements of the GCF basic fiduciary standards,
specialized fiduciary standard for project management, and specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans);

(b)

The applicant meets the requirements of the interim ESS of the GCF in relation to the
medium E&S risk (Category B/I-2). While the applicant initially applied for E&S
Category A/I-1, it did not provide an adequate track record for Category A/I-1 and
subsequently indicated that it wished to apply for Category B/I-2 instead; and

(a)

The applicant has demonstrated that it has competencies, policies and procedures in
order to implement its gender policy, which is found to be consistent with the Gender
policy of the GCF, and has demonstrated that it has experience with gender
consideration in the context of climate change.

4.2

Recommendation on accreditation

The AP recommends, for consideration by the Board, applicant APL051 for accreditation
as follows:
48.

(a)

Accreditation type:
(i)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme:
medium (including micro2 and small3);

(ii)

Fiduciary functions:
1.

Basic fiduciary standards;

2.

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management; and

3.

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for
loans); and

As per annex I to decision B.08/02,“micro“ is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of up to and including USD 10 million for an individual project
or an activity within a programme“.
3 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “small” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 10 million and up to and including USD 50
million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2
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(iii)

(b)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: medium risk (Category
B/I-2) (including lower risk (Category C/I-34)); and

Conditions: the applicant will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on how it has complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess
whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by
the Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes;
(i)

Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF for an approved
project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

(ii)

Provide evidence of the establishment and introduction of the policies
and processes listed below:
a.

Establish a process to monitor and assess the overall
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including its
procurement activities;

b.

Adopt a code of conduct, approved by the applicant’s board;

c.

Adopt a project closure policy, approved by the applicant’s
board;

d.

Adopt a policy on the public disclosure of project monitoring and
evaluation reports, and project results, approved by the
applicant’s board; and

e.

Adopt a policy on the public disclosure of information regarding
the applicant’s decisions on on-lending and/or blending
operations, approved by the applicant’s board; and

Conditions to be met within one year of the first disbursement by the GCF for an
approved project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide a copy of a procurement oversight/audit report; and

2.

Provide evidence of monitoring of the observations contained in
procurement oversight/audit reports and appropriate management
response and actions.

The applicant has been informed of the recommendation for accreditation, including the
accreditation type and condition(s), as identified in paragraph 48 above, and agrees to the
recommendation.
49.

4

As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category C is defined as “Activities with minimal or no adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts” and Intermediation 3 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have minimal or negligible adverse
environmental and/or social impacts“.
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Annex XIII: Accreditation assessment of Applicant 052 (APL052)
I.

Introduction

Applicant 052 (APL052), the Small Industries Development Bank of India (SIDBI), is a
national entity focusing on promoting and financing the development of micro-, small- and
medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs), primarily those in the manufacturing and services sectors.
The applicant also supports national action plans on climate change and has taken initiatives to
promote responsible business practices, including sustainable financing, energy efficiency and
cleaner production in the MSMEs sector through both financial and non-financial support.
1.

The applicant submitted its application for accreditation to the Secretariat via the Online
Accreditation System on 16 July 2015. The Stage I institutional assessment and completeness
check was completed on 27 September 2016 and was progressed to the Stage II (Step 1)
accreditation review, which has been concluded with the publication of this assessment. The
applicant has applied to be accredited for the following parameters under the fit-for-purpose
approach of the GCF:
2.

(a)

Access modality: direct access, national. The applicant received a national designated
authority nomination for its accreditation application from India;

(b)

Track: normal track;

(c)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme: large;1

(d)

Fiduciary functions:2
(i)

Basic fiduciary standards;

(ii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management;

(iii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and

(iv)

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans, equity
and guarantees); and

(e)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: high risk
(Category A/Intermediation 1 (I-1)).3

II.

Stage I institutional assessment and completeness check

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process and was assessed by
the Secretariat during Stage I.
3.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45), “large” is defined as “total projected costs at
the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 250 million for an
individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), Category A is defined as “Activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented” and Intermediation 1 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio
includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential significant adverse
environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented”.
1
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2.1

Legal status, registration, permits and licences

The applicant provided documents on its establishment and licences to operate, where
relevant, as a part of the application. The applicant was established in 1990 under an Act of the
Parliament of India (no. 39 of 1989).
4.

2.2

Institutional presence and relevant networks

The applicant is the principal financial institution for the promotion, financing and
development of the MSME sector and for the coordination of the functions of the institutions
engaged in similar activities in India. It has partnered with multilateral agencies to raise
resources at attractive rates and thus incentivizes and motivates MSMEs through the extension
of concessional loans, equity, guarantees and technical and capacity-building assistance.
5.

The applicant seeks accreditation to the GCF in order to encourage innovative mitigation
and adaptation programmes for adopting low-emission and climate-resilient practices. These
programmes would help MSMEs to adopt green technology options and to generate a
demonstrative effect to encourage other financial intermediaries to adopt climate mitigation
policies in their lending strategies. The intended climate change programmes to be
implemented with GCF support include, but are not limited to:
6.

(a)

Assistance for green, smart and eco-cities projects through public–private partnerships;

(b)

Increasing energy efficiency and cleaner production investments in green infrastructure,
sustainable transport, waste to energy projects, waste recycling and management, etc.;

(c)

Providing end-to-end energy efficiency solutions to Indian MSMEs;

(d)

Providing direct assistance to solar energy and solar power projects; and

(e)

Providing training and education to stakeholders in order to increase awareness of
climate change and capacity to manage resulting risks and realize opportunities.

2.3

Track record

The applicant has taken initiatives to promote responsible business practices, including
sustainable financing, energy efficiency and cleaner production in the MSME sector with
assistance from domestic, bilateral and multilateral funding. These initiatives have resulted in a
total investment of around USD 928 million and benefited more than 6,000 MSMEs with an
estimated annual electricity saving of 1,043 million kilowatt-hours and a reduction of
909 kilotonnes of carbon dioxide annually.
7.

8.

The climate change mitigation and adaptation activities undertaken by SIDBI include:

(a)

USD 55 million (loans) for the Environmental Line and Cleaner Production of Credit
Project to promote investment in cleaning production;

(b)

USD 241 million (loans) for the Financing MSMEs Energy Saving Project to promote
energy efficiency; and

(c)

USD 564 million (loans and guarantees) for the MSMEs Financing and Development
Project.
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III.

Stage II accreditation review assessment

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
against the standards of the GCF by the Accreditation Panel (AP) during Stage II (Step 1). It is
noted that the AP did not assess any of the applicant’s subsidiaries and has not issued a
recommendation for any of the applicant’s subsidiaries (e.g. this recommendation pertains to
SIDBI itself).
9.

As part of this assessment, the AP consulted the applicant’s website and third-party
websites to complement the information provided in the application.
10.

3.1

Fiduciary standards

3.1.1

Section 4.1: Basic fiduciary standards: key administrative and financial capacities

The applicant has an established organization structure and oversight bodies, which are
appropriate for its size and scope of operations. Its main internal oversight bodies are its board
of directors, risk committee, audit committee and executive committee and, as a state-owned
financial institution, it is subject to the oversight of the national parliament and is supervised by
the national financial authorities.
11.

The applicant maintains a financial and accounting reporting system that includes the
required financial statements. As a state-owned regulated financial entity, the financial and
accounting information is prepared in accordance with the guidelines established by the
banking regulators and by the national Institute of Chartered Accountants.
12.

The applicant’s risk management framework includes a risk management function
independent from the business units, documented risk management procedures and risk
management tools required of a financial entity. The risk management committee of the
applicant’s board meets periodically and reviews the entity’s risk management policies and
procedures.
13.

The SIDBI internal control structure is clearly documented and decision authority is
clearly established in the delegation of powers documents. The applicant’s board of directors
oversees the internal control framework and promotes the internal control environment
required of financial entities. Furthermore, the applicant’s internal and external audit structure
provides assurance of an effective internal control environment. The relevant regulations issued
by the country’s Central Bank regulate the applicant’s internal audit function, including the
responsibilities of the audit committee of the applicant’s board. In addition to the requirements
of local regulations, the applicant has established a framework of regular audits at the head
office level as well as at the branch office level.
14.

The applicant’s procurement activities are regulated by internal regulation and by the
national regulations applicable to contracts to which the state is a party. Its procurement policy
establishes the mechanisms that provide reasonable assurance that the vendor selection
process is appropriate, that procurement is conducted in a transparent manner and that all
suppliers are treated in an equitable manner.
15.

3.1.2

Section 4.2: Basic fiduciary standards: transparency and accountability

The applicant’s code of ethics is established in its staff regulations and its fair banking
practices documentation, which are communicated to all employees. These documents establish
the standards of conduct that are to be observed when performing activities on behalf of the
applicant. In addition to its internal documentation, the applicant complies with the ethical
guidelines and requirements established in the national regulations for public sector entities.
16.

The function of an ethics committee is undertaken by the applicant’s human resources
department, supported by the vigilance and internal audit departments, which have the
17.
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designated authority to ensure that all the actions undertaken by the applicant’s employees,
while fulfilling their professional duties comply with the applicant’s ethical standards defined in
its internal ethics documents and the applicable national regulations.
The applicant’s investigation function is performed by the vigilance department and the
internal audit department. The framework for the investigation function is based on
appropriate internal regulations, the guidelines of the national vigilance commission and
national banking regulations. Furthermore, the applicant has an established whistle-blower
policy and is subject to the oversight of the country’s central vigilance commission.
18.

The applicant has an anti-money laundering (AML) and countering the financing of
terrorism (CFT) programme that is appropriate to the type of financial transactions it executes
as part of its regular operations. The applicant’s AML/CFT policies and procedures are
developed based on the requirements of the local banking authorities, including regular
reporting to the country’s financial intelligence unit, as well as on international standards such
as those established by the Financial Action Task Force.
19.

In order to comply with local regulations regarding AML/CFT, the applicant has
appropriate ‘know-your-customer’ due diligence processes, which incorporate the following
critical aspects:
20.

(a)

A policy for customer on-boarding;

(b)

Well-defined customer identification procedures;

(c)

Procedures for the monitoring of transactions; and

(d)

Risk management based on the assignment of an AML/CFT risk score to each of its
customers.

Furthermore, the applicant has the required automated systems to monitor suspicious
transactions, these automated systems include verifying the specially designated individuals
and sanctioned jurisdiction lists issued by the country’s central bank.
21.

3.1.3

Section 5.1: Specialized fiduciary standard for project management

For the assessment of projects, the applicant undertakes due diligence following
established guidelines. The project assessment and approval guidelines include clearly defined
tasks to be completed and the recording of information in the credit support systems.
22.

The applicant’s project management policies and procedures include at-risk project
management tasks that allow for the identification of early warning signs and effective
corrective actions.
23.

SIDBI indicated that within its organization structure there is no independent project
evaluation unit, nor does the applicant have an independent project evaluation policy. However,
the evidence of independent third-party project evaluation reports was provided.
24.

The applicant indicates that there is no specific policy for the disclosure of project
information. However, the applicant did reference the national regulations concerning right to
information, which provide mechanisms for the public to access project information that is not
protected by banking secrecy regulations.
25.

The applicant’s project assessment and management procedures are well-documented
in its loan policy, credit policy and loan recovery policy. As a financial institution, the applicant’s
project assessment and management procedures are contained within the credit approval
process, which includes appropriate financial, ‘know-your-customer’ and technical analysis
guidelines.
26.

As an apex financial entity, the applicant has developed the required competencies and
standard operating procedures to appropriately assess, monitor and evaluate the performance
of the intermediaries through which it disburses project resources.
27.
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The applicant’s procedures to monitor projects ensure that appropriate oversight is
exercised and that project risks are appropriately managed. Periodic reviews aimed at
identifying resource inputs, the relevance of project activities and the achievement of project
performance indicators are periodically undertaken. The applicant has standardized procedures
to undertake project monitoring. Project monitoring is assigned to the business units in charge
of the client relationship. In order to provide assurance of the effectiveness of the project
monitoring activities, the applicant has standardized procedures for the regular project
oversight by the internal audit and risk functions.
28.

The applicant has an established track record and experience in project management,
with expertise in assessing project viability and monitoring project performance during the
development and operational stages. The applicant, as its country’s apex entity established to
meet the financial and capacity-building needs of the MSME sector, has successfully acted as the
nodal agency for financing programmes established by its country’s government, as well as
programmes implemented with assistance from international development entities.
29.

3.1.4

Section 5.2: Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms

The applicant’s grant award policies and procedures satisfy the requirements of the GCF
specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation mechanisms. Both the
documented policies and the practical evidence provided, demonstrate uniform procedures for
grant evaluation and award, appropriate the execution of eligibility criteria, as well as effective
monitoring and evaluation of grant award programmes.
30.

The applicant’s grant award procedures include the clear delegation of decision
authority, the establishment of appropriate grant award committees, mechanisms to ensure the
appropriate use of funds as well as mechanisms for the recovery of funds that are misused.
31.

The strengths of the applicant’s internal controls and internal audit function provide the
assurance of appropriate control over grant funds, as well as their disbursement and
appropriate use.
32.

The applicant has an established track record for the management of awarding grants.
The applicant’s track record in awarding grants includes grant programmes funded by its
country’s central government and those funded by international development agencies. The
applicant has demonstrated its capacity to effectively serve as the nodal agency for government
designed grant programmes, as well as the executing agency for international development
entity-designed grant programmes.
33.

In addition to the grant award programmes in which the applicant serves as the nodal or
executing agency, as part of its corporate social responsibility programmes, the applicant has
implemented and executed grant award programmes directed towards capacity-building
efforts. These programmes are executed following appropriate grant award procedures,
including the use of clear guidelines for the grant appraisal and award committees, appropriate
control over the good use of funds and appropriate internal controls over the disbursement of
funds.
34.

It is noted that the applicant has published extensive information on its grant award
programmes, however, further disclosure of grant award information (e.g. beneficiaries) will be
required for programmes funded by the GCF.
35.

3.1.5

Section 5.3: Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending

The applicant, as its country’s main apex financial entity for the MSME sector, has
established policies and procedures for managing lending activities through financial
intermediaries. The applicant has guidelines for evaluating financial intermediaries, which
include performance indicators, and it does so periodically. The applicant provided evidence of
36.
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its experience as an executing agency for credit programmes funded by international and
regional development banks.
It is noted that the main component of the applicant’s balance sheet is its refinance
portfolio. However, the applicant has also implemented credit analysis and risk tools for its
direct MSMEs portfolio, including risk rating tools and well-defined credit assessment and
approval mechanisms.
37.

The applicant provided documentation regarding its loan policy, credit manual and loan
recovery policy. These documents contain the guidelines for loan operations that are required
in a financial entity, such as the applicant. Furthermore, copies of credit due diligence reports,
credit approval documents and loan monitoring reports were provided for assessment by the
AP.
38.

The applicant provided information on the specific risk metrics it calculates to assess,
monitor and evaluate its risk exposures. The availability of the appropriate information, the
independence of the internal auditor and of the risk management function, and the supervision
of the national financial regulators provide assurance of the adequacy of the applicant’s risk
management environment.
39.

The applicant provided extensive information regarding its financial management
policies and their implementation. It has clear delegations of power and appropriate separation
of functions within its treasury unit, and between the business focused units, operational units,
risk management units and control units.
40.

The applicant also provided copies of the minutes of its asset and liability management
committee which validate the effective functioning of this committee, and copies of its
investment policy and its asset and liability management policy.
41.

The applicant has a proven track record deploying equity resources, however the
applicant notes that it does not deploy equity on a stand-alone basis, instead it deploys equity as
part of a financing package that includes quasi-equity financing such as subordinated debt. The
due-diligence procedures for quasi-equity and equity include appropriate assessment of
business potential and financial aspects, as well as the use of due diligence reports prepared by
venture capital funds and external rating agencies.
42.

The applicant has provided information regarding its capacity to issue guarantees. The
information provided demonstrates the applicant’s capacity to issue and manage financial
guarantees. The credit due-diligence processes are appropriate and based on the same
principles used for the credit analysis of loans.
43.

3.2

Environmental and social safeguards

3.2.1

Section 6.1: Policy

The applicant formulated its environmental and social risk management framework
(ESMF) in 2004 (revised in 2014) for its programmes financed by the World Bank. The ESMF,
available on the applicant’s website, covers performance standards (PS) 1 to 4 and 6 of the GCF
interim environmental and social safeguards (ESS); the applicant does not finance projects
involving land acquisition (PS 5), indigenous peoples (PS 7) or cultural heritage (PS 8).
44.

It is important to note that the ESMF has already been adopted and applied within loan
programmes to 10,000 MSMEs. The applicant complies with the national environmental and
social impact assessment regulation (which covers the assessment of cumulative and ancillary
facility impacts and the use of a mitigation hierarchy) and has demonstrated the capacity to
comply with other international environmental and social (E&S) standards through its
successful projects with the World Bank, the Japan International Cooperation Agency,
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau, the Asian Development Bank, and the Department for
45.
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International Development of the United Kingdom. The applicant is in the process of developing
a new entity-wide ESMF, which will be rolled out from 2017 to 2020, to fully align with GCF
interim ESS (e.g. it will cover PS 1 to 8 and GCF information disclosure requirements).
3.2.2

Section 6.2: Identification of risks and impacts

Under the existing ESMF, all candidate borrowers complete a screening form. The
Relationship Manager (or headquarters staff in the case of projects industries with high
pollution potential (E-I)) will check the information during the due diligence site visit and then
determine the risk category. The regional credit officer will integrate the E&S requirements into
a project’s risk rating before submitting the project to the credit committee.
46.

The ESMF, which applies to the applicant’s programmes financed by the World Bank,
categorizes those projects into the following three E&S risk groups:
47.

(a)

E-I, industries with high pollution potential;

(b)

E-II, industries associated with some pollution; and

(c)

E-III, industries that have negligible discharge.

Two lists were provided, showing projects that were categorized from E-I to E-III. A
project classified as E-I within the MSME sector is not typically a Category A/I-1 project, due to
its small scale.
48.

3.2.3

Section 6.3: Management programme

E&S risk management is integrated into the applicant’s project cycle. The candidate
borrower must have a certificate for its establishment and one to operate from the state
pollution control board. These certificates are checked during the appraisal visit and loan
sanctioning process. After the safeguards due diligence, the Regional Credit Officer integrates
risk management measures into disbursement conditions and covenants.
49.

When deciding on whether to approve a loan, the credit committee considers the
appraisal note, credit risk rating, E&S risk category, status of regulatory compliance and
proposed mitigation measures. The credit committee may approve, reject or stipulate additional
pre- or post-E&S disbursement conditions and covenants.
50.

The Relationship Manager checks that pre-disbursement conditions are met. Internal
audits track loan performance during project implementation. At this time, the E&S risk
management framework targets directly financed projects. The new entity-wide ESMF (2017
version) will cover the direct and indirect financing modality.
51.

The AP notes that the assessment framework for an MSME sector programme has to be
adapted to the MSME sector, given that a programme may involve thousands of small entities,
each with a very small pollution load, but with some potential for cumulative impacts. One tool
that has proven useful to assess multiple, similar projects in different locations is a programmelevel strategic environmental assessment.
52.

3.2.4

Section 6.4: Organizational capacity and competency

E&S tasks are integrated into the responsibilities of bank officers at various levels, as
mentioned in sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 above. In addition, there are environmental staff at the
central level to support the regional managers and local credit officers. The applicant provided
E&S job descriptions, the curricula vitae of key in-house E&S staff, and the list of officers who
have attended E&S training.
53.

The applicant has conducted about 40 E&S capacity-building programmes for MSMEs,
industrial associations and various industrial clusters to generate demand for energy efficiency
and to build awareness of the benefits of E&S management and monitoring.
54.
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In order to operationalize the new ESMF (2017 version), the applicant will assess the
staffing needs (e.g. its need to hire a social expert). It will revise related policies and procedures
(e.g. loan policy and monitoring system) and the organization chart based on the ESMF
requirements.
55.

3.2.5

Section 6.5: Monitoring and review

The applicant reviews its clients’ compliance to national environmental and labour
legislation during the loan appraisal process. After loan sanction and disbursement, the
relationship managers monitor and follow-up on E&S covenants through site visits. The field
reports are submitted to management.
56.

The applicant monitors and evaluates its international projects in collaboration with the
funding agencies to comply with each agency’s approach. Four progress reports and two
external audits were provided to show the monitoring and evaluation of international projects.
Examples were provided to show that E&S lessons were used to improve the ESMF system (e.g.
integration of the code of conduct assessment).
57.

The ESMF (2017 version) will provide a framework to monitor and evaluate the E&S
performance of its direct and indirect financing modalities.
58.

Similar to the point made in paragraph 52, on environmental assessment in the MSME
sector, the AP notes that a monitoring and auditing framework for an MSME sector programme
has to be adapted to the MSME sector, given that a programme may involve thousands of small
entities, each with a very small pollution load, but with some potential for cumulative impacts.
Typically, a representative sample number of industries can be audited, and appropriate action
can be taken based on the routine monitoring reports and/or auditing results. The monitoring,
evaluation, and auditing framework must provide a reasonable approach that fits the
characteristics of the MSME sector programme.
59.

3.2.6

Section 6.6: External communications

The applicant complies with the national Right to Information Act (2005). The applicant
received 274 applications seeking information in 2016 and all were adequately addressed.
Policies, financial statements and project-level monitoring and evaluation reports are in the
public domain and on the applicant’s website.
60.

An enquiry or grievance, including an E&S complaint, can be received through branch
and regional offices, head office, the applicant’s website, or through a national governmentoperated grievance-redressal system. Public information officers in the applicant’s complaints
unit register and process enquiries and complaints, all of which are reported to a customer
service committee on a quarterly basis. The applicant also has officers to process appeals. E&S
complaints have not been received to date.
61.

MSME projects under national law are not required to issue public notices, hold
hearings, conduct environmental and social impact assessments, or strategic environmental
assessments, or develop environmental and social management plans (ESMPs). If accredited by
the GCF, the applicant has indicated that it will comply with GCF requirements to disclose E&S
information as per the GCF Information disclosure policy.
62.

3.3

Gender

The applicant complies with labour laws, the national gender policy, and the Convention
on Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women. Women employees are provided
with equal opportunities. There are also regulations that support maternity leave and protect
staff from workplace sexual harassment. Although the applicant does not have an entity-wide
gender policy, it has implemented programme-/project-level gender policies, programme/project-specific gender analysis and gender training programmes.
63.
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Within its various projects and programmes, the applicant shows significant experience
in providing microfinance to women of low income and linking to women’s particular needs in
health, sanitation, green energy, and savings and financial literacy. Some of its programmes
have provided women entrepreneurs with easier access to credit or equity for incomegenerating activities.
64.

IV.

Conclusions and recommendation

4.1

Conclusions

65.

Following its assessment, the AP concludes the following in relation to the application:

(a)

The applicant meets the requirements of the GCF basic fiduciary standards, and partially
meets the specialized fiduciary standard for project management, specialized fiduciary
standard for grant award and/or funding allocation mechanisms and specialized
fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans, guarantees and equity);

(b)

The applicant only partially meets the requirements of the interim ESS of the GCF in
relation to high E&S risk (Category A/I-1);

(c)

The applicant has demonstrated that it has competencies, policies and procedures to
implement the national gender policy, which is found to be partially consistent with the
gender policy of the GCF. It has demonstrated that it has experience in integrating
gender considerations into its programmes/projects.

4.2

Recommendation on accreditation

The AP recommends, for consideration by the Board, applicant APL052 for accreditation
as follows:
66.

(a)

Accreditation type:
(i)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme:
large (including micro4, small5 and medium6);

(ii)

Fiduciary functions:
1.

Basic fiduciary standards;

2.

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management;

3.

Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and

4.

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans,
equity and guarantees); and

As per annex I to decision B.08/02,“micro“ is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of up to and including USD 10 million for an individual project
or an activity within a programme“.
5 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “small” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 10 million and up to and including USD 50
million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
6 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “medium” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of
application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 50 million and up to and including
USD 250 million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
4
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(iii)

(b)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: medium risk (Category
B/I-27) (including lower risk (Category C/I-38)); and

Conditions: The applicant will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on how it has complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess
whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by
the Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes;
(i)

Conditions associated with the GCF fiduciary standards, to be met prior to the
first disbursement by the GCF for an approved project/programme to be
undertaken by the applicant:
1.

(ii)

Develop a policy for the public disclosure of information regarding
projects, including grant award programmes and on-lending/blending
operations, to be undertaken with GCF funds. This policy must include, at
the minimum, the following:
a.

Guidelines for the publication of independent project evaluation
reports;

b.

Guidelines for the public disclosure of information on
beneficiaries of grant awards and/or loans disbursed, purpose of
the grants and/or loans and amounts disbursed; and

c.

Identification of the media/channels through which the
information will be disclosed, as well as the timeline for
disclosure;

2.

Establish an independent project evaluation policy and capacity;

3.

Develop, for GCF-funded grant award programmes to be implemented
through executing entities, the policies and guidelines to be followed by
the executing entity; and

4.

Develop the operating procedures the applicant will follow to ensure the
executing entity’s compliance with the policies and guidelines for the
grant award programme mentioned in the previous paragraph; and

Condition associated with the ESS and gender policy, to be met prior to
submitting the first funding proposal to the GCF for consideration:
1.

Submit to the AP for its review a copy of the new entity-wide ESMF
(2017 version) and the revised policies, procedures and organization
chart highlighting the integration of the 2017 ESMF into the entity.

The applicant has been informed of the recommendation for accreditation, including the
accreditation type and condition(s), as identified in paragraph 66 above, and agrees to the
recommendation.
67.

As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category B is defined as “Activities with potential mild adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally site-specific, largely reversible, and readily
addressed through mitigation measures” and Intermediation 2 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential
limited adverse environmental or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally-site specific, largely
reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures; or includes a very limited number of activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented”.
8 As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category C is defined as “Activities with minimal or no adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts” and Intermediation 3 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have minimal or negligible adverse
environmental and/or social impacts“.
7
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4.3

Remarks

It is noted that, as previously mentioned, the applicant has served as the implementing
agency for grant programmes designed by the central government and/or international
development agencies. However, the applicant has limited experience independently designing
grant programmes. Therefore, special attention needs to be given to the design of grant award
programmes that the applicant may seek GCF funding for.
68.

In this regard, the applicant indicated that specific guidelines are developed with the
assistance of international development entities. It is expected that the appropriate guidelines
will be developed in a similar way for programmes funded by the GCF.
69.

The AP will assess whether the new ESMF is fully aligned with GCF interim standards,
and will specifically confirm that the new ESMF sufficiently provides for the direct and indirect
financing modality. If the AP identifies any significant gap with respect to GCF requirements,
additional measures should be integrated into each specific GCF project/programme.
70.

With respect to completing the environmental assessment of a programme to be funded
by the GCF, the AP recommends that the applicant employ external expert(s) of international
standing:
71.

(a)

To conduct a strategic environmental assessment (SEA) (or similar assessment) for
Category B/I-2 programmes; and

(b)

To prepare an ESMP for such programmes based on the results of the SEA (or similar
assessment).

72.

The SEA (or similar assessment) as well as the ESMP should:

(a)

Comply with GCF requirements for information disclosure and gender analysis;

(b)

Exclude any subproject that could be classified as Category A;

(c)

Provide a monitoring, evaluation and auditing system adapted to the MSME sector; and

(d)

Address both direct and indirect financing modalities (e.g. cases wherein the applicant
executes part or all of the programme or in cases where the applicant works through
executing entities to execute part or the entire programme on behalf of the applicant).

The applicant applied for the high E&S risk Category A/I-1. Given the applicant’s
experience and typical mandate, the AP recommended accreditation for Category B/I-2. The AP
recognizes that the MSME sector typically encompasses thousands of small entities, with each
entity conducting small-scale activities within industrial zones. Each subproject is likely to be
Category B/I-2 or Category C/I-3. However, there are some MSME activities, no matter how
small scale, which could be Category A/I-1 (e.g. projects involving the production of pesticides).
All Category A/I-1 activities should be excluded at this time (see para. 72(b) above).
73.

However, the applicant may wish to apply for an upgrade in its accreditation type
related to the E&S risk category once it has demonstrated a track record of successfully applying
GCF requirements for Category B/I-2 and Category C/I-3 projects/programmes, and has
accrued a track record of implementing Category A projects/programmes under the 2017 ESMF
(while using other funding sources). This could be within the first five-year accreditation period.
74.

The applicant is encouraged to seek readiness and preparatory support, where
applicable, to assist it with:
75.

(a)

Rolling out the 2017 ESMF;

(b)

Revising the policy and procedural framework in the light of the 2017 ESMF in the
context of GCF financing;

(c)

Preparing a programme-specific ESMP;
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(d)

Implementing a programme-specific strategic environmental assessment;

(e)

Developing an independent project evaluation function; and

(f)

Designing grant award programmes.
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Annex XIV: Accreditation assessment of Applicant 053 (APL053)
I.

Introduction

Applicant 053 (APL053), the Micronesia Conservation Trust (MCT), is an entity based in
Micronesia (Federated States of) operating in that country with a mission to promote
biodiversity conservation and related sustainable development. In order to achieve its mission,
it focuses on providing long-term sustained funding through grant programmes, building the
capacity of organizations of the Federated States of Micronesia to design and manage
conservation and climate adaptation programmes, providing regional forums for collaborations
among government, the private sector, the community and non-profit organizations to
collectively address the challenges of natural resource management and climate adaptation, and
managing endowment funds and other piloting revolving funds for ecosystem services.
1.

The applicant submitted its application for accreditation to the Secretariat via the Online
Accreditation System on 31 December 2016. The Stage I institutional assessment and
completeness check was completed on 26 April 2017 and was progressed to the Stage II
(Step 1) accreditation review, which was concluded with the publication of this assessment. The
applicant has applied to be accredited for the following parameters under the fit-for-purpose
approach of the GCF:
2.

(a)

Access modality: direct access, regional. The applicant received nominations for its
accreditation application from the national designated authorities of the Micronesia
(Federated States of) and Palau;

(b)

Track: fast track under the Adaptation Fund;

(c)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme: micro;1

(d)

Fiduciary functions:2
(i)

Basic fiduciary standards;

(ii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management; and

(iii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and

(e)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: minimal to no risk (Category
C/Intermediation 3 (I-3)).3

II.

Stage I institutional assessment and completeness check

The applicant is eligible for, and applied under, the fast-track accreditation process as an
Adaptation Fund accredited entity. Its application has been assessed by the Secretariat during
Stage I in accordance with the requirements and gaps identified in decisions B.08/03 and
B.10/06.
3.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45), “micro“ is defined as „total projected costs
at the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the Fund, of up to and including US$ 10
million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), Category C is defined as „“Activities with
minimal or no adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts“ and Intermediation 3 is defined as “When
an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have
minimal or negligible adverse environmental and/or social impacts“.
1
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2.1

Legal status, registration, permits and licences

The applicant provided documents on its establishment and licences to operate, where
relevant, as a part of the application. The applicant is constituted as a non-profit corporation,
subject to the provisions of the non-profit corporation charter, Articles of Incorporation and
Bylaws of the Corporation filed with the Federated States of Micronesia Registrar of
Corporations of the, and to the laws of Micronesia (Federated States of) in 2002.
4.

2.2

Institutional presence and relevant networks

The applicant is a civil society organization comprised of 10 full-time staff and is
governed by a 10-member independent board of trustees. The applicant supports biodiversity
conservation, climate change adaptation and related sustainable development for the people of
the Marshall Islands, Micronesia (Federated States of), the Northern Mariana Islands, Palau and
the Territory of Guam. The applicant has been active in small-sized grant-making at the
community level, sustaining operations and working with the government, United Nations
agencies and other donors. The applicant has a diverse network at both the regional and
national levels.
5.

In order to advance the objectives of the GCF, the applicant aims to build the resilience
of communities of the Federated States of Micronesia through ecosystem-based adaptation
strategies, capacity-building, and sustainable and innovative funding mechanisms. It intends to
direct resources to community stakeholders based on resource management plans, policy
frameworks and strategies that have been driven primarily by community-identified needs and
priorities and informed by science and other technical inputs.
6.

The applicant anticipates addressing emission reductions from energy generation and
access as well as increasing the resilience of health, food and water security, and livelihoods and
communities. It will also continue managing the Micronesia Challenge Endowment to serve as a
resource providing bridging funding for new initiatives.
7.

2.3

Track record

The applicant has been working with local partner organizations and people at the
community level, and undertakes projects largely focused on climate change adaptation. It has
implemented projects related to marine and forestry conservation, the management of
protected areas in small-scale and capacity-building activities.
8.

The applicant’s track record in financing climate change related projects includes the
following:
9.

(a)

USD 1.1 million (grants) for Building the Resilience of Communities and their
Ecosystems to the Impacts of Climate Change in Micronesia and Melanesia;

(b)

USD 850,000 (grants) for Supporting More Effective Natural Resource Management in
Micronesia Fisheries, management, terrestrial and nearshore conservation,
scholarships;

(c)

USD 600,000 (grants) for Enhancing sustainable coral reef monitoring and management
capacity for the Micronesia Challenge, and beyond;

(d)

USD 150,000 (grants) for Increasing Coastal Resilience of Micronesia’s Mangroves –
Terrestrial Conservation, mangrove conservation/climate change resilience; and

(e)

USD 115,000 (grants) for the implementation of Micronesia Challenge and Climate
Adaptation Plans for Forest Areas in Micronesia (Federated States of) – Terrestrial
conservation, Micronesia Challenge Terrestrial Goals.
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III.

Stage II accreditation review assessment

The applicant is eligible for, and applied under, the fast-track accreditation process as an
Adaptation Fund entity. Its application has been assessed by the Accreditation Panel (AP)
during Stage II (Step 1) against the standards of the GCF in accordance with the requirements
and gaps identified in decisions B.08/03 and B.10/06.
10.

As part of this assessment, the AP consulted the applicant’s website and third-party
websites to complement the information provided in the application.
11.

3.1

Fiduciary standards

3.1.1

Section 4.1: Basic fiduciary standards: key administrative and financial capacities

As per paragraph 10 above, the basic fiduciary standards concerning key administrative
and financial capacities is considered to have been met by way of fast-track accreditation.
12.

3.1.2

Section 4.2: Basic fiduciary standards: transparency and accountability

As per paragraph 10 above, the basic fiduciary standards concerning transparency and
accountability, with the exception of item 4.2.4, investigation function, and item 4.2.5, antimoney laundering and countering the financing of terrorism policies, have been met by way of
fast-track accreditation.
13.

Regarding item 4.2.4, the applicant has an investigation function in place, including a
transparent formalized process for the submission and handling of complaints and concerns
regarding actual or suspected violations of national law and actual or suspected violations of the
applicant’s internal policies for misconduct in the projects financed by the applicant. The
whistle-blower protection policy and the mechanism that allows the public to launch complaints
are available on a dedicated webpage.
14.

The applicant’s operations manual specifies the corresponding authorities for
conducting an investigation. In particular, if the report of a concern is directed at an employee,
the investigation function is carried out under the authority of the executive director, who takes
a decision on the action taken regarding the disciplinary process. In cases where the complaint
is directed to the executive director, the investigation function is carried out by the applicant’s
board executive committee that decides on actions to be taken. However, the existing
investigation procedures do not describe the process of conducting the investigation itself, once
the merit of it is recognized by the corresponding authority. The applicant has indicated to the
AP that it is currently in the process of updating the corresponding clauses in its operations
manual in order to clearly spell out the investigation process and corresponding follow-up
actions.
15.

The applicant has provided a statement that there have been no fraud or corruptionrelated investigations in the last three years.
16.

Regarding item 4.2.5, the applicant has anti-money laundering and countering the
financing of terrorism policies, which are approved by the applicant’s board of trustees. Both
policies include a statement on adherence to the corresponding national laws, the Patriot Act of
the United States of America and the United Nations General Assembly resolution
A/RES/70/291, and they contain the requirement to check on the United Nations and United
States of America’s federal list of debarred individuals or entities. However, the anti-money
laundering and countering the financing of terrorism policies do not include a definition of the
prohibited practices as is required to be fully in line with the list of the prohibited practices
contained in the GCF interim policy on prohibited practices.
17.

Risk-based ‘know-your-customer’ counterparty due diligence is carried out by the
applicant using specific operational tools and worksheets to collect and analyse the necessary
18.
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information on the credibility of the potential grantee organization, as well as on the eligibility
of the potential on-granting project activity. The sample copies of recently undertaken ‘knowyour-customer’ due diligence reports were provided.
The applicant has a sound mechanism for the approval and recording of the wire
transfers that targets payments that are undertaken though banking transactions. Specifically,
the mechanism aims to ensure that payments are approved by the designated authority and
processed in accordance with a specific banking instruction. Copies of the wire transfers to the
sub-contractors were provided. Due to the small amount of payments, the applicant has not
deemed it necessary to develop a complex in-house electronic payment system. However, this is
considered acceptable by the AP given the size of the institution and the scale of projects
financed through the grant award mechanism.
19.

3.1.3

Section 5.1: Specialized fiduciary standard for project management

As per paragraph 10 above, the specialized fiduciary standard for project management
is considered to have been met by way of fast-track accreditation.
20.

3.1.4

Section 5.2: Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms

The applicant’s grant award mechanism procedural framework is found to be mature
and well-developed. The grant management procedure, contained in the policy and operations
manual, as well as its supporting guidance documents include clear standardized provisions for
conducting calls for proposals, evaluating proposals and awarding grants, eligibility criteria for
projects and potential grantees, due diligence procedures, as well as roles and responsibilities
for grant disbursements and reporting.
21.

The applicant’s grant award management procedure also includes standardized
provisions for the recovery of funds paid to the grantees, in respect of expenditures which are
unauthorized or fall outside the scope of the funding for projects, procedures for the
suspension, reduction or termination of grants in the event of the beneficiary failing to comply
with its obligations and systems to prevent irregularities in the use of grant funds.
22.

The competitive grant award programme is managed by the applicant through the
supporting manuals and scoring tools that are used by its technical committee in the
preparation of the recommendations on the grant awards to the applicants’ board of trustees.
The terms of reference and records of the work of the technical committee and the board of
trustees were provided and contain evidence of the competence and independence of their
members and objectivity of the decision-making.
23.

The applicant has provisions for the periodic reviews of its grant award activities and
has provided the examples of the mid-term reviews of the programmes implemented in the last
two years. In addition, the applicant provided reports compiled by its donor partners
(multilateral organizations) containing positive observations and conclusions on the
performance of the applicant in respect of its management of projects and grant award
programmes.
24.

Although the applicant publishes information on grant award notices on its website in
the form of a press release, it does not have a formal procedure in place to provide public access
to information on the grant award decisions and grant award programme results, mainly
because the local communities in Micronesia (Federated States of) still do not have access to the
Internet and newspapers. The applicant is currently in the process of creating a system of
knowledge management to record and effectively communicate project and programme
information, results and lessons learned to the wider community. The development of the
system is expected to begin in September 2017 and to be finalized by the end of 2017.
Therefore, in order to fully meet the GCF specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or
funding allocation mechanisms, the applicant would need to provide a policy for the public
25.
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disclosure of grant award information and results, as well as to demonstrate the effective
implementation of the policy.
The applicant conducts close monitoring of the projects implemented under its grant
award programme and undertakes regular site visits to support its beneficiaries, disseminate
best practices and maintain good relations with the grant awardees. Examples of such site visit
reports were provided to demonstrate the effective implementation of the monitoring
procedures.
26.

Overall, following the assessment, it has been concluded that the grant award
mechanisms implemented by the applicant are mature and well-established and can be
applicable to GCF-funded activities subject to the development and implementation of the policy
for the public disclosure of grant award information and results.
27.

3.1.5

Section 5.3: Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending

28.

The applicant did not apply for assessment against this standard at this time.

3.2

Environmental and social safeguards

3.2.1

Section 6.1: Policy

While an environmental and social (E&S) policy is not required for Category C/I-3, the
applicant has provided its E&S policy that was approved by its board of trustees in October
2016. This policy was developed in order for the applicant to meet the requirements of the
Adaptation Fund, and also with the view to becoming accredited to the GCF.
29.

3.2.2

Section 6.2: Identification of risks and impacts

The applicant has provided its updated guide to project performance, environmental
and social risk assessment and management framework (dated May 2017). This document
guides the applicant’s staff in identifying the E&S risks and impacts of projects and programmes
as they evolve over the project life cycle. The framework includes an environmental and social
risk rating matrix, which rates the consequences of projects as minimal, limited or significant.
These correspond to the GCF E&S risk Categories C, B and A, respectively. The applicant
indicated that its grants officers, conservation programme manager or capacity building
programme manager will have the primary responsibility for managing the applicable grant
award and the associated projects and contracts. The applicant provided a list of project
examples, and their retrospective categories (i.e. applying the newly established procedure to
existing experience), indicating that the projects fall under E&S risk Category C/I-3. The
applicant has planned further training of its staff in implementing its newly established E&S risk
and impacts identification procedure.
30.

3.2.3

Section 6.3: Management programme

The applicant has stated that currently no document describing an institutional process
to identify and manage risks (including unanticipated risks and impacts) exists. The applicant’s
Monitoring and Evaluation Specialist is in the process of developing an institutional monitoring
and evaluation system to include the requisite processes for monitoring mitigation measures,
including unanticipated risks and impacts, which is expected to be available by September 2017.
The document will also include designated roles and responsibilities for implementing the
projects and programmes.
31.

3.2.4

Section 6.4: Organizational capacity and competency

The applicant has provided an organization chart and indicated roles and
responsibilities of its staff related to E&S risks and impacts identification and management. The
staff have adequate knowledge of performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim
32.
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environmental and social safeguards, and are able to properly categorize potential funding
proposals through a screening process.
3.2.5

Section 6.5: Monitoring and review

The applicant has provided a description of its project monitoring process in its
operations manual, and in the use of the grant instruments. However, it has not provided
sample project monitoring reports with respect to E&S requirements. The applicant is willing to
maintain such data for projects and programmes financed using GCF resources.
33.

3.2.6

Section 6.6: External communications

The applicant’s documented procedure with assigned responsibilities for receiving,
registering and handling complaints is provided in its policy and operations manual. The
applicant’s website for sharing relevant E&S reports with the public is under design. The
applicant indicated that its register for receiving and responding to E&S related complaints does
not currently exist, however, there have been no complaints launched against it. However, the
applicant is willing to maintain such a registry for projects financed using GCF resources.
34.

3.3

Gender

The applicant has provided its final approved gender policy, which is in line with the
GCF Gender policy. The applicant also provided its gender assessment tool to implement its
policy. The applicant stated that all of the projects to which the applicant provides financing
have non-discriminatory practices. The applicant’s staff have undergone gender training and it
has demonstrated its project and programme experience with gender consideration in the
context of climate change. However, the applicant could not provide sample projects showing
gender disaggregated data and non-discriminatory practices in terms of benefits and
remuneration for both men and women employees.
35.

IV.

Conclusions and recommendation

4.1

Conclusions

Following its assessment and noting that the applicant has applied under the fast-track
accreditation process, the AP concludes the following in relation to the application:
36.

(a)

The applicant partially meets the requirements of the GCF basic fiduciary standards,
meets the specialized fiduciary standard for project management and partially meets the
specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation mechanisms.
In the course of the accreditation assessment, some minor procedural gaps were
identified, in particular with regard to the investigation procedures and a procedure for
making information on the grant award decisions and grant award results publicly
available;

(b)

The applicant partially meets the requirements of the interim environmental and social
safeguards of the GCF in relation to the minimal to no E&S risk (Category C/I-3). The
applicant’s system to systematically carry out and document E&S mitigation and
management measures and related subsequent E&S monitoring of its programmes is
under development. The applicant’s external communications system, particularly its
channels and website to receive, register and respond to E&S related complaints, is
under development; and

(c)

The applicant’s gender policy and related assessment tools demonstrate that it has the
required competencies, policies and procedures in order to implement its gender policy
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in line with the GCF Gender policy. However, the applicant did not provide adequate
evidence of track record in implementing its gender policy.

4.2

Recommendation on accreditation

The AP recommends, for consideration by the Board, applicant APL053 for accreditation
as follows:
37.

(a)

Accreditation type:
(i)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme:
micro;

(ii)

Fiduciary functions:

(iii)

(b)

1.

Basic fiduciary standards;

2.

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management; and

3.

Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and

Maximum environmental and social risk category: minimal to no risk
(Category C/I-3); and

Conditions: the applicant will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on how it has complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess
whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by
the Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes.
(i)

Condition to be met for each funding proposal:
1.

(ii)

(iii)

Provide in its funding proposal a gender action plan that reflects the
applicant’s adequate competency in terms of human and financial
resources and a system for maintaining data that addresses gender
aspects in line with the GCF Gender policy;

Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF for an approved
project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide an investigation procedure containing the description of the
investigation process and corresponding follow-up actions to be taken;

2.

Provide anti-money laundering and countering the financing of
terrorism policies that are fully in line with the GCF interim policy on
prohibited practices;

3.

Provide an approved policy for the public disclosure of the decisions on
grants awarded under a grant award programme;

4.

Provide evidence of the adoption of the applicant’s procedures for the
mitigation, management and monitoring of the E&S risks and impacts,
including those that are unanticipated, of its programmes; and

5.

Provide evidence of the establishment of an external communication
channel, which may include a website to receive, register and respond to
E&S complaints; and

Condition to be met within one year of the first disbursement by the GCF for an
approved project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide evidence of the implementation of the policies and procedures
referred to in paragraph 37(b)(ii)(3) above, in regard to the public
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disclosure of the results of the grants awarded under a grant award
mechanism, under the projects/programmes approved and funded by
the GCF.
The applicant has been informed of the recommendation for accreditation, including the
accreditation type and condition(s), as identified in paragraph 37 above, and agrees to the
recommendation.
38.

4.3

Remarks

The applicant may wish to consider providing to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on the knowledge management system referred to in paragraph 25 once it is
launched.
39.
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Annex XV: Accreditation assessment of Applicant 054 (APL054)
I.

Introduction

Applicant 054 (APL054), the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. (BTMU), is an
international private-sector entity headquartered in Japan. As one of the largest commercial
banks in Japan, BTMU provides comprehensive financial services and products globally through
a variety of financial instruments. The applicant has funded sustainable development and
climate projects with a focus on renewable energy, including hydropower, geothermal, solar
power and wind, and infrastructure including railways, with a goal to contribute towards
solving social issues through core financial businesses, as well as realizing a sustainable society.
1.

The applicant submitted its application for accreditation to the Secretariat via the Online
Accreditation System on 23 May 2015. The Stage I institutional assessment and completeness
check was completed on 14 July 2016 and was progressed to the Stage II (Step 1) accreditation
review, which has been concluded with the publication of this assessment. The applicant has
applied to be accredited for the following parameters under the fit-for-purpose approach of the
GCF:
2.

(a)

Access modality: international access;

(b)

Track: normal track;

(c)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme: large;1

(d)

Fiduciary functions:2
(i)

Basic fiduciary standards; and

(ii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans, equity
and guarantees); and

(e)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: high risk (Intermediation 1
(I-1)).3

II.

Stage I institutional assessment and completeness check

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
by the Secretariat during Stage I.
3.

2.1

Legal status, registration, permits and licences

The applicant provided documents on its establishment and licences to operate, where
relevant, as a part of the application. The applicant was established in 2006 from the merger of
4.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45), “large” is defined as “total projected costs at
the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 250 million for an
individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), category A is defined as “Activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented” and Intermediation 1 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio
includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential significant adverse
environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented”.
1
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The Bank of Tokyo–Mitsubishi, Ltd. and UFJ Bank Limited, and was authorized by the Ministry
of Finance under Kura No. 8950.

2.2

Institutional presence and relevant networks

The applicant provides finance globally and has a strong presence and operations in
about 50 countries across Africa, Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin America. As one of the largest
commercial banks in Japan, the applicant has also provided financing as a part of Japan’s
overseas development assistance in the environmental field. With the capability to provide
financial support for climate change mitigation and adaptation projects, the applicant aims to
expand its support as an implementing intermediary of the GCF by providing the following
financial services, which may include:
5.

(a)

Providing funds, such as loans, received from the GCF, to be blended with the applicant’s
own resources;

(b)

Intermediating subordinated loans from the GCF and co-financing senior loans with
other banks or funds; and

(c)

Structuring projects and making projects feasible by applying guarantees through the
GCF for risks which commercial banks cannot undertake.

In particular, the applicant plans to prepare developing countries for accessing climate
finance by catalysing its readiness support programme to allow them to adopt climate-resilient
development pathways. It also intends to improve its capacity to finance larger projects that
have broader positive impacts on the environment. Additionally, the applicant intends to
support country ownership by assisting subnational and national entities to meet the
requirements of the GCF by using its own accreditation experience.
6.

2.3

Track record

The applicant mobilizes financial resources for its climate change projects and
programmes by partnering with other financial institutions and international organizations. It
also participates in public–private partnerships through collaborations with national and
subnational entities. The applicant intends to continue cooperating with the public and private
sector organizations in order to achieve adaptation and mitigation of climate change impacts.
7.

The applicant has a track record in financing sustainable development and climate
change-related projects in the areas of renewable energy and transportation, using loans, equity
and guarantees as financial instruments. In 2016, the applicant was ranked No.1 in Bloomberg’s
Lead Arranger for Clean Energy & Smart Technologies league table4 by closing USD 2.9 billion of
the relevant projects. This was largely attributable to the initiatives the applicant has
undertaken in renewable energy (solar, hydropower, wind and thermal) around the world.
8.

9.

The applicant’s climate change-related projects include the following:

(a)

USD 273.52 million (loans) for the Barka Independent Water Desalination Project in
Oman;

(b)

USD 644.72 million (loans) for the 290 MW Nam Ngiep I Hydropower Plant Project in
Laos;

(c)

USD 1,170.0 million (loans) for the 321 MW Sarulla Geothermal Project in Indonesia;
and

4

The information is available at <https://data.bloomberglp.com/bnef/sites/14/2017/01/BNEF-2016-Clean-EnergyEST-League-Tables-1.pdf>.
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(d)

USD 225.0 million (loans) for the 115 MW Parque Eolico El Arrayan Wind Power Plant
in Chile.

III.

Stage II accreditation review assessment

The applicant applied under the normal track accreditation process, and was assessed
against the standards of the GCF by the Accreditation Panel (AP) during Stage II (Step 1).
10.

As part of this assessment, the AP carried out a site visit to the applicant’s headquarters,
consulted the applicant’s website and third-party websites, such as the Financial Action Task
Force on Money Laundering, to complement the information provided in the application.
11.

3.1

Fiduciary standards

3.1.1

Section 4.1: Basic fiduciary standards: key administrative and financial capacities

The applicant has an established organizational structure and oversight bodies which
are appropriate for its size and the global scope of its operations. The applicant’s main oversight
bodies include the governance committee of its board (whose main role is oversight of
corporate governance, policies and operational approach), the internal audit and compliance
committee (which oversees the internal audit, financial reporting and regulatory compliance
functions), and the risk committee (which handles matters relating to risk management and
control).
12.

The applicant’s financial information is disclosed as part of the reporting of its parent
company, Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group (MUFG). The parent company files financial
statements to both the Japanese authorities and the Securities and Exchange Commission of the
United States of America. Preparation of the financial statements follows the Japanese Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles and the United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
The applicant’s annual financial statements are audited by an independent external audit firm.
The information provided in the audit reports shows that the external auditors conduct the
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Copies of
consolidated audited annual financial statements for MUFG for the past five years were
provided. The applicant also demonstrated that it has a sound information and reporting
system, which generates timely and accurate information required for managerial decisions and
regulatory reporting.
13.

The applicant’s internal audit framework is based on the International Professional
Practice Framework issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors. A process for periodic
assessment of the overall effectiveness of the internal audit function is in place. An assessment
carried out by one of the big four global accounting firms in 2013 concluded that there were no
major gaps between the applicant’s internal audit system and that prescribed by the Institute of
Internal Auditors.
14.

The applicant has in place a control framework which is in line with the “Internal
Control Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. The control framework is adopted to meet regulatory requirements
in the jurisdictions in which the applicant operates. The applicant has a comprehensive written
guide which sets internal policies, procedures and delegation of authority for disbursements.
The procedures provide for a clear segregation of approval and disbursement responsibilities
and authorities.
15.

The applicant has a well-documented risk assessment and management process that
allows it to identify, assess and provide a basis for proactive risk responses in each of the
financial management areas. Risks are assessed at multiple levels, and plans of action are in
place for addressing risks that are deemed significant or frequent.
16.
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The applicant has documented standards and procedures which specify procurement
requirements, accountability and authority to make procurement decisions. The procedures
provide reasonable assurance that the vendor selection process is appropriate, that
procurement is conducted in a transparent manner and that suppliers are treated in an
equitable manner.
17.

While the applicant meets all other GCF requirements relating to the GCF basic fiduciary
standard on key administrative and financial capacities, it has not provided evidence of:
18.

(a)

The checks and audits of the payment and disbursement of funds under projects
financed by the applicant;

(b)

The required procedures for overseeing procurement activities of executing entities
under activities that would be funded by the GCF;

(c)

A policy requiring public disclosure of procurement policies/procedures and awards
under projects that would be funded by the GCF; and

(d)

An accessible and transparent procurement dispute resolution process in respect of
activities that would be funded by the GCF.

However, the applicant is currently in the process of developing the required policies
and procedures to meet the requirements of the GCF.
19.

3.1.2

Section 4.2: Basic fiduciary standards: transparency and accountability

The applicant has a code of ethics, known as the “Principles of Ethics and Conduct”,
which applies to all of its employees. The code is available through the applicant’s internal
portal and booklets distributed to all employees, who are also required to attend mandatory
training sessions. To ensure compliance with the code, a whistle-blowing system exits through
which employees can contact a “compliance hotline”. The applicant has appointed independent
law firms as external whistle-blowing contacts for employees to report possible violations of
laws and regulations to ensure the independence and integrity of the process is maintained. The
applicant’s “Principles of Ethics and Conduct” is complemented by a financial disclosure policy
that establishes the necessary financial disclosures of possible, actual, perceived or apparent
conflicts of interest by its employees.
20.

The applicant has a structure for investigating cases of misconduct. Investigations are
handled either internally or through the use of third parties such as law firms, depending on the
nature of the case. Information on investigated cases of misconduct is eventually reported to the
internal audit and compliance committee of the applicant’s board.
21.

The applicant has a comprehensive anti-money laundering (AML) and countering the
financing of terrorism (CFT) policy detailed in its standard compliance manual. The policy has
four pillars:
22.

(a)

Verification of customer identification by official documents;

(b)

Conducting know-your-customer due diligence to provide reasonable assurance that the
customer is not using the bank for illegal or improper activities;

(c)

A strict embargo on providing services or products to shell companies that have no
physical presence in any jurisdiction; and

(d)

The identification and reporting of suspicious transactions to authorities in all
jurisdictions where the applicant operates.

As part of its ‘know-your-customer’ due diligence process, the applicant uses the
questionnaire procedures which are widely adopted by global banks to obtain the required
customer information. The applicant’s overall AML/CFT policies are based on international
best practice standards, specifically the 40 recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force,
as well as the requirements of the regulators in the countries where the applicant operates.
23.
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The applicant uses a transaction filtering system and “due diligence decision sheets” to
monitor electronic funds transfers. Copies of recent electronic funds transfer monitoring
reports were provided. The information provided demonstrates the presence of a mechanism
for tracing and monitoring the electronic transfer and wiring of funds.
24.

In spite of having a comprehensive AML/CFT policy in place, the applicant has been
subject to regulatory action due to failures in its internal control and compliance systems. The
regulatory actions have been settled at a significant financial cost to the institution. The
applicant has taken actions to address the weaknesses in its regulatory compliance in the United
States and in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (only applicable to
paragraph 25(d) below) jurisdictions. Specifically, the applicant has:
25.

(a)

Installed an independent consultant for a term of one year to evaluate risk controls
relating to sanctions compliance and the implementation of appropriate corrective
measures;

(b)

Taken measures to improve its United States Bank Secrecy Act and AML-related
sanctions compliance programmes, policies and procedures, and to enhance
management oversight of those programmes;

(c)

Relocated its United States Bank Secrecy Act and AML compliance and Office of Foreign
Assets Control sanctions compliance programmes to New York to facilitate compliance
oversight by relevant authorities in the United States of these programmes; and

(d)

Developed and implemented measures to enhance the sharing of information relating to
regulatory investigations with authorities in jurisdictions where the applicant has
operations.

In order to fully meet the requirements relating to the GCF basic fiduciary standard on
transparency and accountability the applicant needs to develop and put in place an appropriate
mechanism with clear terms of reference for continuous oversight of the ethics function. The
applicant should also provide evidence to show that an independent assessment of the
effectiveness of the measures and actions for improving its AML and sanctions compliance
programmes has been carried out.
26.

3.1.3

Section 5.1: Specialized fiduciary standard for project management

27.

The applicant did not apply for accreditation against this standard at this time.

3.1.4

Section 5.2: Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms

28.

The applicant did not apply for accreditation against this standard at this time.

3.1.5

Section 5.3: Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending

The applicant, a global commercial bank with presence and operations in about 50
countries across Africa, Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin America, has an established track record,
institutional experience and capacities for on-lending and blending with resources from other
international commercial banks and multilateral development finance institutions. Its onlending and blending operations are supported by comprehensive operational procedures that
guide the due diligence process. All of the applicant’s transactions are required to undergo a
“Ringi” process – an assessment and approval procedure. As an institution that has adopted the
Equator Principles (EP), the applicant also carries out environmental impact assessments as
part of the due diligence process.
29.

The applicant is a global leader in project finance and has a proven track record as a
mandated lead arranger. This track record demonstrates that the applicant has the required
controls and procedures to adequately manage financial resources received from third parties
as well as for ensuring that the financing it provides is channelled transparently and used
30.
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effectively. Project examples that demonstrate the applicant’s capacity to manage projects that
use loans, guarantees and equities as the investment instrument were provided.
The applicant provided ample evidence of its expertise in successfully structuring and
closing project finance transactions. These transactions require the securing of funds from
various sources and the use of a variety of instruments (e.g. loans, guarantees and equity
investments). The applicant’s credibility to attract investors to co‐finance the transactions it
structures is demonstrated by the global market leadership position it has attained.
31.

The applicant has been rated by each of the three rating agencies. Its long-term rating by
Standard & Poor’s Rating Service, Moody’s Investor Service and Fitch Group is A+, A1 and A,
respectively.
32.

While the applicant meets all other GCF requirements relating to the specialized
fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending for loans, equities and guarantees, it does not
have policies or guidelines for providing information to the public regarding its decisions on onlending and/or blending operations in respect of projects that would be funded by the GCF.
However, the applicant is currently in the process of developing the required policies to meet
the requirements of the GCF.
33.

3.2

Environmental and social safeguards

3.2.1

Section 6.1: Policy

The applicant’s environmental and social management system (ESMS) has been built
around the EP, which is based upon the Performance Standards of the International Finance
Corporation. The applicant first adopted the EP in December 2005 and started applying the EP
II to all of its projects since July 2006. In June 2013, the EP went through another revision and
the applicant started applying EP III5 in January 2014. As an EP financial institution, the
applicant adheres to all of the EP requirements when extending loans to projects and its ESMS
has achieved substantial progress in tandem with the EP progress since 2013. The applicant’s
ESMS is therefore in line with the GCF interim environmental and social safeguards (ESS). The
ESMS includes the requirement that the applicant’s executing entities, in implementing projects
financed by the applicant, address cumulative impacts, analysis of alternatives, baseline data
standards and mitigation hierarchy.
34.

3.2.2

Section 6.2: Identification of risks and impacts

The applicant’s environmental and social (E&S) risks and impacts identification and
assessment procedure is conducted in line with the implementation guidelines for EP III. The
procedure is integrated into the business process as described in the applicant’s business
workflow process. The applicant’s Social & Environmental Risk Assessment Office (SERAO) is
responsible for the E&S risks and impacts identification and assessment. SERAO conducts the
E&S risks and impacts identification and assessment following its operation guideline, which
provides the procedure for the E&S risks and impacts identification and assessment. The
applicant uses an environmental and social impact assessment checklist for the risk assessment
of the Intermediation 1 and Intermediation 2 projects in line with the requirements of the
35.

5 EP

III extended its scope of applicable products to project-related corporate loans and bridge loans. Growing
attention to climate change led to the EP requirement for the project proponent to publicly report the project’s
greenhouse gas emission levels annually during operation when greenhouse gas emission levels exceed 100,000
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. In terms of transparency, the EP requires that the project’s environmental and
social impact assessment summary is accessible and available online, and each EP financial institution is required to
report project information to the EP association so that the EP association may post the information on its website
subject to the project proponent’s consent. Monitoring is another aspect of the EP III that has been strengthened
from its previous iteration. To assess project compliance with the EP III and to ensure ongoing monitoring and
reporting after financial close and over the life of the loan, the appointment of an independent environmental and
social consultant is required for all Category A and, as appropriate, Category B projects.
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performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS. The environmental and social impact
assessment and categorization procedure of the applicant was externally audited as shown in
the independent assurance report indicating the applicant’s adherence to its policies. The
applicant also provided a list of projects from the past three years and their E&S risk categories
determined in line with the performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS.
3.2.3

Section 6.3: Management programme

The applicant conducts E&S assessments per its internal procedures for the application
of the EP using the environmental and social impact assessment checklist. For the
Intermediation 1 and Intermediation 2 projects, the applicant requires the borrower of
Intermediation 1 and Intermediation 2 projects to establish and maintain an ESMS. The
applicant’s borrowers are required to have an independent environmental and social consultant
not directly associated with the client to prepare an environmental and social impact
assessment and an environmental and social management plan (ESMP) regarding the matters
identified in the assessment process. The establishment of an ESMS for all Intermediation 1 and
Intermediation 2 projects is checked by SERAO. The applicant’s environmental and social
impact assessment review may also receive and integrate comments by an independent
environmental and social consultant. In addition, compliance with the ESMP and periodic
reports, which document compliance with the ESMP, is reflected in financing agreements for all
Intermediation 1 and Intermediation 2 projects.
36.

The applicant provided examples of an environmental and social impact assessment and
an ESMP. The applicant also provided a sample independent assurance report conducted by the
independent auditor to review the applicant’s E&S assessment process, indicating compliance
with its application of the EP.
37.

3.2.4

Section 6.4: Organizational capacity and competency

The applicant has provided its organizational structure related to E&S considerations
and its reporting lines and responsibilities including its senior management and the experience
of its staff as it relates to the application of performance standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim ESS.
The applicant’s SERAO has the primary responsibility for the review of implementation of the
EPs. SERAO consists of a general manager and four team members. The key responsibilities and
implementation process are communicated through an internal website and through the
internal education and training programme conducted by SERAO. The team members of SERAO
also attend training programmes such as the International Finance Corporation’s Performance
Standard Community of Learning on a regular basis. The site visit conducted by the AP further
confirmed the applicant’s E&S organizational capacity and experience on E&S matters.
38.

3.2.5

Section 6.5: Monitoring and review

The applicant has provided a description of its internal processes to support project
monitoring as per the implementation guidelines for the EP. For all E&S risk Intermediation 1
and Intermediation 2 projects, the periodic reports prepared by in-house staff or third-party
experts document compliance with the ESMP, and provide representations of compliance with
relevant local, state and host country environmental and social laws, regulations and permits by
a borrower based on the financial agreement with the applicant. The applicant checks the
compliance with the covenants in the financial agreement by regular reporting submitted by a
borrower in the case of project finance. Monitoring reports prepared by the members of SERAO
are submitted to senior management every quarter to acknowledge the conditions of the
projects.
39.

Based on its experience with supervision, the applicant has improved the effectiveness
of the management as evident from the updated checklist and the applicant’s adoption of
progressive improvements in the application of the EP. The results of E&S supervision and
auditing are made available on the applicant’s website to help disseminate the EP
implementation process both internally and to the public.
40.
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3.2.6

Section 6.6: External communications

The applicant’s external communication process is contained in its implementation
guidelines for the EP, and in the internal procedures for the application of the EP. The
information related to the applicant’s implementation of the EP is communicated externally
through its website. The applicant has an organizational structure for environmental and social
communications and receives a wide range of information and proposals on social and
environmental initiatives through dialogue with stakeholders, including non-governmental
organizations. The applicant takes such information into consideration when making decisions
on project financing. Additionally, project information is published by the EP association on its
website in the case of project finance.
41.

In the past three years, the applicant has not received any enquiries, complaints or
responses regarding the projects or the implementation of the EPs. The applicant has provided
details of one specific complaint it had received from a non-governmental organization in 2011
and how it was assessed and responded to. The applicant also shared its corporate social
responsibility report with the public, including its E&S activities, to receive public opinion
through its bank holding company in which the applicant serves as the core retail and
commercial banking arm.
42.

The applicant has provided its procedure on the public consultation and disclosure
procedures it will apply for activities financed using the GCF resources. The applicant’s
procedure for the public disclosure and consultation with project stakeholders of E&S project
documents, including a grievance mechanism at the level of the applicant’s own institution as
well as at the level of its executing entities, is in line with the GCF Information Disclosure policy.
43.

3.3

Gender

The applicant has provided its draft gender policy which is in line with the GCF Gender
policy. Although the applicant’s gender policy has not yet been adopted, the applicant has
provided sample projects it has financed that demonstrate experience with gender and climate
change, including a track record of lending to both men and women as well as evidence to show
that projects to which the applicant lends have non-discriminatory practices in terms of benefits
and remuneration for both men and women employees.
44.

IV.

Conclusions and recommendation

4.1

Conclusions

45.

Following its assessment, the AP concludes the following in relation to the application:

(a)

The applicant partially meets the requirements of the GCF basic fiduciary standards and
specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending for loans, equity and
guarantees;

(b)

The applicant meets the requirements of the interim ESS of the GCF in relation to the
high E&S risk (I-1); and

(c)

Although the applicant’s gender policy has not yet been adopted, the applicant has
demonstrated that it has competencies and procedures in order to implement its gender
policy, which is found to be consistent with the gender policy of the GCF, and has
demonstrated that it has experience with gender considerations in the context of climate
change.
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4.2

Recommendation on accreditation

The AP recommends, for consideration by the Board, applicant APL054 for accreditation
as follows:
46.

(a)

Accreditation type:
(i)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme:
large (including micro,6 small7 and medium8);

(ii)

Fiduciary functions:

(iii)

(b)

1.

Basic fiduciary standards;

2.

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for loans,
equity and guarantees); and

Maximum environmental and social risk category: high risk (I-1) including
lower risk (Intermediation 29 and Intermediation 310)); and

Conditions: the applicant will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on how it has complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess
whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by
the Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes:
(i)

Condition to be met prior to signature of the accreditation master agreement for
completion of Stage III of the accreditation process:
1.

(ii)

Provide a report on an independent assessment of the effectiveness of
the applicant’s measures and actions for improving its AML and
sanctions compliance programmes; and

Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF for an approved
project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide evidence to show that the applicant:
a.

Carries out checks and audits of the payment and disbursement
of funds under projects financed by the applicant;

b.

Has a publicly accessible and transparent procurement dispute
resolution process;

As per annex I to decision B.08/02,“micro” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of up to and including USD 10 million for an individual project
or an activity within a programme”.
7 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “small” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 10 million and up to and including USD 50
million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
8 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “medium” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of
application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 50 million and up to and including
USD 250 million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
9 As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category B is defined as “Activities with potential mild adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally site-specific, largely reversible, and readily
addressed through mitigation measures” and Intermediation 2 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential
limited adverse environmental or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally-site specific, largely
reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures; or includes a very limited number of activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented”.
10 As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category C is defined as “Activities with minimal or no adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts” and Intermediation 3 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have minimal or negligible adverse
environmental and/or social impacts“.
6
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(iii)

c.

Has an appropriate mechanism with clear terms of reference for
continuous oversight of the ethics function;

d.

Has procedures for overseeing procurement activities of
executing entities under GCF-funded activities;

e.

Has a policy requiring the public disclosure of procurement
policies and procedures, and procurement contract awards
under GCF-funded activities;

f.

Has a policy and guidelines on the public disclosure of
information regarding the applicant’s decisions on on-lending
and/or blending operations in respect of activities that would be
funded by the GCF; and

g.

Has adopted a gender policy in line with the GCF Gender policy;
and

Condition to be met within one year of the first disbursement by the GCF for an
approved project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide evidence of the implementation of the items identified in
paragraph 46(b)(ii) above.

The applicant has been informed of the recommendation for accreditation, including the
accreditation type and condition(s), as identified in paragraph 46 above, and agrees to the
recommendation.
47.
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Annex XVI: Accreditation assessment of Applicant 055 (APL055)
I.

Introduction

Applicant 055 (APL055), the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), is an entity
headquartered in Japan with a strong global presence. The applicant has been providing
financial and technical support to climate change mitigation and adaptation projects, focusing
on energy efficiency, renewable energy, public transport systems, stable water supply, climateresilient agriculture, sustainable forest management, disaster risk reduction and coastal
protection. Building upon international best practices, the applicant aims to make the best use
of Japanese knowledge, experience and technologies in driving a paradigm shift towards a lowcarbon and climate-resilient society in developing countries.
1.

The applicant submitted its application for accreditation to the Secretariat via the Online
Accreditation System on 4 December 2015. The Stage I institutional assessment and
completeness check was completed on 8 February 2017 and was progressed to the Stage II
(Step 1) accreditation review, which was concluded with the publication of this assessment.
JICA has applied to be accredited for the following parameters under the fit-for-purpose
approach of the GCF:
2.

(a)

Access modality: international access;

(b)

Track: normal track;

(c)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme: large;1

(d)

Fiduciary functions:2
(i)

Basic fiduciary standards;

(ii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management;

(iii)

Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and

(iv)

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for blending);
and

(e)

Maximum environmental and social risk category: high risk
(Category A/Intermediation 1 (I-1)).3

II.

Stage I institutional assessment and completeness check

The applicant applied and was assessed by the Secretariat during Stage I under the
normal track accreditation process.
3.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45), “large” is defined as “total projected costs at
the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 250 million for an
individual project or an activity within a programme”.
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), Category A is defined as “Activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented. High level of intermediation (I1): When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio includes,
or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential significant adverse
environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented“.
1
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2.1

Legal status, registration, permits and licences

The applicant provided documents on its establishment and licences to operate, where
relevant, as a part of the application. JICA was established by the Government of Japan in 1974
and is registered under the Act on General Rules for Incorporated Administrative Agency
(1999). This law does not allow the applicant to borrow long-term money from international
organizations like the GCF, however, the applicant has a track record in financing projects by
blending resources from international sources to increase the project viability and impacts. As
such, the applicant applied for the specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending
for blending only (see para. 2 (d)(iv) above).
4.

2.2

Institutional presence and relevant networks

The applicant has a strong global presence and operations in the Asia-Pacific region,
Africa, Latin America, the Middle East, as well as Europe. This global presence has allowed the
applicant to establish and deepen relationships with national governments and other national
and international institutions, and to contribute towards the environmental resiliency of
developing countries through the projects it finances.
5.

As a Japanese Government organization, the applicant has indicated that it is in a
position to make the best use of Japanese advanced knowledge, technology and experience in
combating climate change. Particularly, it intends to provide new solutions to the small island
developing States in the areas of energy, coastal ecosystem and resources management, water
and waste management.
6.

7.

The applicant seeks accreditation to the GCF in order to:

(d)

Support climate actions of the small island developing States;

(e)

Support climate-related disaster risk reduction projects; and

(f)

Apply innovative technologies to climate change mitigation and adaptation projects.

In addition, the applicant plans to provide on-site capacity support and training
programmes for potential national entities to meet GCF accreditation criteria in areas of internal
audit, financial management, procurement, stakeholder engagement and environmental and
social standards.
8.

2.3

Track record

Over the past 43 years, the applicant has contributed to the United Nations Millennium
Development Goals, infrastructure improvement, human resource development, global
environment development, rural development, industrial development and public policy and
initiatives such as public–private partnerships.
9.

In particular, the applicant has contributed towards both climate change mitigation and
adaptation by introducing renewable energy and energy-saving projects, improving urban
public transportation system, developing forest management and afforestation projects,
providing tailored capacity-building for individual countries and providing support for climate
change measures in developing countries.
10.

The applicant has a track record in financing climate change related projects in the
sectors of energy, transport, forestry, land use, institutional systems, infrastructure, water
management and ecosystem. Activities related to climate change financed by the applicant
include:
11.
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(a)

JPY 992 million (technical cooperation) for the Participatory Forest Management Project
in Belete-Gera Regional Forest Priority Area (Phases 1 and 2) in Ethiopia;

(b)

JPY 683 million (grant) for the Project for Upgrading of the Mechanical System for
Sewerage and Drainage Service in Faisalabad in Pakistan;

(c)

JPY 268.1 billion (concessional loans) for Mass Transit System Project (Phases I to III) in
Bangkok (Red Line) in Thailand;

(d)

JPY 6.7 billion (grant) for the Project for Rehabilitation of Baluchaung No. 2 Hydropower
Plant in Myanmar; and

(e)

JPY 80 billion (concessional loans) for the Support Programme to Respond to Climate
Change (Phases I to VII) in Vietnam.

III.

Stage II accreditation review assessment

The applicant applied under the normal-track accreditation process. Its application has
been assessed against by the Accreditation Panel (AP) during Stage II (Step 1) against the
standards of the GCF in accordance with the accreditation requirements.
12.

As part of this assessment, the AP carried out a site visit to the applicant’s headquarters
and consulted the applicant’s website to complement the information provided in the
application.
13.

3.1

Fiduciary standards

3.1.1

Section 4.1: Basic fiduciary standards: key administrative and financial capacities

The applicant has a well-established governance structure with several oversight
bodies, including its board of directors, audit committee, finance oversight committee and
procurement oversight committee. The independent audit committee comprises three
independent auditors, while the other committees comprise senior managers within the
organization. The committees have clear terms of reference and their composition clearly shows
that the members have the experience and expertise to effectively carry out their designated
roles.
14.

JICA prepares five-year medium-term strategic plans based on which it composes
annual management plans along with corresponding budgets. Both the medium-term strategic
plan and the annual plans are aligned with the applicant’s broad mission.
15.

The applicant has an internal audit office headed by a senior executive at the rank of
Director General. An assessment of the effectiveness of the audit office carried out by the
Institute of Internal Auditors shows that the audit office is independent and complies with the
Institute of Internal Auditors’ “Guidelines for the Practice of Internal Auditing”.
16.

The applicant uses a customized, “People Soft” financial reporting system to control
revenue and expenditure accounting and financial accounting. The applicant's annual financial
statements are comprehensive and allow for comparability of financial statements in terms of
consistency over different reporting periods. The financial statements are audited by an
independent external audit firm and the external auditor’s reports provided indicate that the
financial statements are prepared, presented and audited in conformity with generally accepted
accounting and auditing principles (applicable to incorporated administrative agencies in
Japan).
17.

The applicant has a well-documented internal control framework the principal purpose
of which is to ensure operational effectiveness and efficiency, compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, asset preservation and proper financial reporting. The applicant's procurement
18.
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activities are guided by internal regulations, which together with other evidence provided, show
that the applicant’s procurement practices are consistent with international practice.
3.1.2

Section 4.2: Basic fiduciary standards: transparency and accountability

The applicant has a code of ethics which applies to all employees and all contracted
parties. A compliance and risk management committee is responsible for oversight of the ethics
function. The applicant has documented strategies and active measures for preventing financial
malpractices. These include a strong internal control framework and “Anti-Corruption
Guidance”, which in addition to being publicized on the applicant’s website, is distributed to all
employees, related parties such as consultants and contractors, and is disseminated to
governments of partner countries and participating entities. In order to encourage the reporting
of misconduct, the applicant has put in place a mechanism for protecting whistle-blowers. JICA
has an in-house independent and objective function for investigating allegations of fraudulent
and corrupt practices. The function is headed by a senior deputy director, a high rank in the
applicant’s management hierarchy.
19.

The applicant’s policy on anti-money laundering and countering the financing of
terrorism is contained in its compliance manual which includes a specific section on “Rules on
Response to Antisocial Forces”. As part of its ‘know-your-customer’ due diligence process, the
applicant takes the necessary steps to ensure that all parties with which it has business
relationships are not associated with “antisocial forces” by requiring a written pledge from the
parties to this effect and checking the parties’ information against databases such as those
issued by the public organization affiliated with the National Police Agency of Japan. The
applicant also complies with sanction lists published by Japanese Government which reflect
international measures against money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism,
such as resolutions of the United Nations Security Council.
20.

In order to confirm that funds’ remittances are received by the intended beneficiaries,
the applicant monitors the electronic transfer of funds through two key documents: a
‘remittance specification’ letter which the applicant receives when it requests a commercial
bank to remit funds, and a ‘remittance letter’ which the commercial bank sends to the applicant
when the transaction is complete.
21.

3.1.3

Section 5.1: Specialized fiduciary standard for project management

As one of the world’s largest bilateral aid agencies, with its significant experience and
proven track record in financing and managing projects in 154 developing countries and over
USD 20 billion in annual commitments, the applicant has comprehensive operational policies
and procedures that guide project cycle management from project preparation to closure. The
applicant’s procedures include guidelines for incorporating the projects’ technical, financial,
economic and legal aspects as well as possible environmental, social and climate change aspects,
and relevant assessments thereof, into the funding proposals at the appraisal stage.
22.

The applicant has well-documented project risk assessment procedures, including the
development of appropriate risk mitigation and management strategies. The risk management
function is differentiated from project implementation and supervision responsibilities. The
sample project preparation, appraisals, monitoring and closure reports provided demonstrate
the effective use of the operational policies and procedures. The applicant uses a two-stage
project-at-risk system as an early warning system to identify and address project problems in a
timely manner. At the operational level, the applicant’s implementing department identifies
risks during the project monitoring process. The risks are shared/reviewed with the applicant's
related departments and recipient countries. All the parties involved participate in devising
measures to address the risks; and if the risks become serious, they are elevated to the high
level meeting / monitoring process, in which the applicant’s board members are involved.
Examples of project problems identified and the mitigation actions taken to demonstrate the
effectiveness of the system were provided.
23.
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The applicant has a policy and operational systems, procedures and formats for the
preparation of project implementation plans as well as the periodic reporting and publishing of
the status of projects during the implementation phase. Project implementation planning is
supplemented by a strong monitoring and evaluation function.
24.

The applicant has a policy on independent evaluation of project results. For projects
considered by the applicant to be large (i.e. those over 1 billion yen) and those with a high
likelihood of providing valuable lessons, ex-post evaluations are conducted by independent
external experts. The sample evaluation reports provided demonstrate that the evaluation
function follows impartial, widely recognized, documented and professional standards and
methods. The applicant also has an evaluation disclosure policy which requires the disclosure of
all external evaluation reports on the applicant's website to enhance transparency.
25.

3.1.4

Section 5.2: Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms

The applicant has a mature grant award system that includes the defined roles and
responsibilities of the grant evaluation committee, the grant approval authority and other
relevant personnel. The applicant provided evidence relating to a review undertaken by the
Global Fund regarding its experience in the handling of grant funds. The applicant issues grant
notices in the form of grant application guides which are posted on its website to attract a wide
range of potential grantees. The grant award system relies on a documented framework and
formats for undertaking due diligence to assess the eligibility and capabilities of potential grant
awardees and benefits from the applicant’s significant experience and track record in managing
a transparent grant award mechanism and awarding grants on the basis of clearly defined
eligibility criteria. The due diligence process includes checking of the legality of the operations
to be undertaken with the grant funds.
26.

Grant award decisions are taken by the applicant based on the recommendations and
consultation from external entities such as the evaluation committee which comprises staff of
the applicant and representatives of selected third-party entities. The terms of reference and
composition of the grant evaluation committee are disclosed on the applicant's website for
transparency. The relevant ministries in Japan check to ensure that grant proposals do not
include activities that contravene government laws and policies. Grant award decisions are
adequately publicized on the applicant’s website. Evidence documents provided by the
applicant demonstrate transparency and objectivity in decision-making. While the applicant
notifies all entities applying for grants of its decisions in writing, the reasons for rejection are
explained in face-to-face consultation meetings with the unsuccessful grant applicants who
request such meetings. The applicant uses this approach to avoid misunderstandings and
disputes and to provide the grant applicant with constructive feedback on how to improve the
rejected proposal should it reapply to JICA in the future.
27.

The procedures for undertaking audits and checks of the expenditures made by the
grantees are laid out in the applicant’s accounting guidelines. The applicant has suitable
procedures for the recovery of funds paid to the grantees, in respect of expenditures which are
unauthorized or fall outside the scope of the funding for the project. The applicant’s right to
conduct audits/checks is stipulated in the grant agreements which also include the
procurement rules and procedures which the grant beneficiary is required to apply, and
procedures for the suspension, reduction or termination of the grant in the event of the
beneficiary failing to comply with its obligations.
28.

While the applicant meets all other GCF requirements relating to the awarding of grants,
it does not have the required policy in place for providing public access to information on the
periodic progress of individual projects, or a policy requiring periodic independent review and
external audit of grant award activities, which will be required for GCF funding. However, the
applicant is currently in the process of developing the required policies to fully meet the GCF
requirements for this standard.
29.
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3.1.5

Section 5.3: Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending

As indicated in paragraph 4 above, by its statute, the applicant is not permitted to obtain
funds from external sources for on-lending purposes. For this reason, it intends to use GCF
funds only for “blending” operations. The applicant has documented policies and procedures for
its blending operations. The sample due diligence reports and related supporting documents
provided by the applicant demonstrate the effective use of these policies and procedures.
30.

In order to enhance rigour in credit risk management, the applicant, though not a
deposit taking institution, conducts self-assessments of its credit risk management practices
based on the “Inspection Manual for Deposit-Taking Institutions”, which are regulated by the
Government Financial Services Agency of Japan. An overview of the applicant’s planned and
implemented financial and credit risk management strategies are disclosed in its annual report
which is posted on the applicant’s website. The information provided also demonstrates that the
applicant has the capacity and systems in place to channel funds transparently and effectively,
and, if accredited, to transfer the GCF funding advantages to final beneficiaries.
31.

Based on the evidence documents provided, the applicant has also demonstrated sound
financial risk and asset and liability management policies, procedures and governance and
organizational structures that ensure the appropriate segregation of duties of the treasury
function and operations.
32.

33.

The applicant has been rated by Standard & Poor's Rating Services as A+ (stable).

While the applicant meets all other GCF requirements relating to blending operations, it
does not have the required policy in place for providing information to the public regarding its
decisions on blending operations, or a policy requiring periodic audits of the use of funds that
would be provided by the GCF. However, the applicant is in the process of developing the
required policies to fully meet the GCF requirements for this standard for blending operations.
34.

3.2

Environmental and social safeguards

3.2.1

Section 6.1: Policy

The applicant’s environmental and social (E&S) guidelines published in 2010 constitute
its E&S policy which articulates overarching E&S objectives and principles guiding the
institution. The E&S guidelines state that the E&S standards the institution adheres to, including
laws implementing host country obligations under international law. The E&S guidelines are
endorsed by the applicant’s senior management and indicate the specific units within the
institutions responsible for ensuring conformance with the policy execution and are
communicated to all levels of its organization as well as publicly. The applicant’s policy requires
its executing entities in implementing projects financed by the applicant to address cumulative
impacts, the analysis of alternatives, baseline data standards and mitigation hierarchy. The
applicant, being an active member of the Multilateral Development Bank’s Environmental
Group, has as part of harmonizing E&S procedures across multilateral development banks, have
kept abreast of international norms and practices on the environmental assessment and
reflected them in its own environmental and social management system.
35.

3.2.2

Section 6.2: Identification of risks and impacts

The applicant’s E&S guidelines referred to in paragraph 35 above also describe its E&S
risks and impact the identification and assessment procedure. The operational department (e.g.
regional department, sectorial department and the representative office in the applicant’s
partner country), and credit risk analysis and environmental review departments also
participate in the environmental and social considerations of applicant’s lending operations.
The operational department has the primary responsibility for categorization, confirmation of
the adequacy of environmental and social considerations, and monitoring for individual
36.
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projects. The environmental and social consideration review division of the credit risk analysis
and environmental review department checks compliance with the applicant’s E&S guidelines.
In addition, when a project is categorized as Category A/Intermediation 1 (i.e. a potentially high
E&S impact project), the environmental division staff, including Safeguard Specialists conduct
an environmental and social review of the project by performing an on-site inspection and
report to the applicant’s E&S advisory committee and the committee gives advice as needed.The
applicant also provided a list of projects from the past three years and their E&S risk categories.
The applicant has provided a checklist that addresses how each of the performance
standards 1 to 8 of the GCF interim environmental and social safeguards is assessed. The
applicant has provided sample project documents as evidence of its track record with E&S risks
and impacts identification and assessment procedure in line with the performance standards.
The applicant has also provided a sample external audit report which indicates that the
applicant’s internal control system is in compliance with its E&S policy and procedure.
37.

3.2.3

Section 6.3: Management programme

The applicant’s procedure for environmental and social considerations provides
documented institutional processes for managing E&S risks and impacts mitigation measures
and actions stemming from the E&S risk identification process. The applicant has provided
sample project documents as evidence of the effectiveness of the implementation of its
procedures. The applicant has provided a brief write up on its practices relating to the audit of
its overall operations. Additionally, the applicant provided a sample of external audit reports as
evidence of the effectiveness of its institutional management programme for mitigation actions.
38.

3.2.4

Section 6.4: Organizational capacity and competency

The applicant has provided its organization chart, including the roles, responsibilities,
reporting lines and authority to implement the environmental and social management system,
which includes its senior management. The technical staff with the direct responsibility for the
project or programme performance have the knowledge, skills and experience necessary to
understand and ensure the implementation of performance standards 1 to 8. The applicant has
provided information on its technical staff E&S training as well as a sample of work of their
work as evidence of their knowledge of performance standards 1 to 8.
39.

3.2.5

Section 6.5: Monitoring and review

The applicant’s E&S procedure describes its internal processes to support a monitoring
and supervision programme that tracks and ensures the completion of mitigation and
performance improvement measures. The internal process defines the roles and responsibilities
and timelines to monitor and supervise a project in a separate document on procedures for
review supervision. Project monitoring results on the effectiveness of the applicant’s
implementation of its environmental and social management system are reported every six
months to the applicant’s advisory committee for environmental and social considerations. The
applicant has provided evidence of its senior management’s participation and guidance to
ensure that the intent of the institutions policy is met and that procedures, practices and plans
are implemented appropriately.
40.

3.2.6

Section 6.6: External communications

The applicant provided its external communications procedure which includes a
website for receiving external comments and complaints on the project’s environmental and
social aspects. The applicant also provided a link to its complaints register on complaints
received and how they were addressed and resolved. Its procedure for public disclosure and
consultation with project stakeholders of E&S project documents, including a grievance
mechanism at the level of the applicant’s own institution as well as at the level of its executing
entities, are in line with the GCF Information disclosure policy.
41.
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3.3

Gender

The applicant’s mission statement published in 2008 reflects its vision on gender
equality and women empowerment. The applicant’s vision for gender mainstreaming is
articulated in its policy, organization structure and operational procedure. The operational
procedure published in 2009 describe a step-by-step process in terms of project screening from
a gender perspective at the appraisal stage, followed by the relevant department integrating a
gender perspective into projects and an implemented project is subsequently monitored and
evaluated by relevant departments in consultation with the unit for gender equality and poverty
reduction. The applicant has designated a vice-president in charge of gender supported by a
gender-dedicated unit for gender equality and poverty reduction.
42.

The applicant has provided sample project documents which contain specific reference
to women and men who have benefitted from climate change projects. The applicant has also
provided sample standard bidding documents reflecting non-discrimination and equal
opportunity clauses as evidence of the applicant’s requirements of its executing entities’ nondiscriminatory practice. The applicant’s gender policy, procedures and competency are in line
with the GCF Gender policy and Gender action plan.
43.

IV.

Conclusions and recommendation

4.1

Conclusions

44.

Following its assessment, the AP concludes the following in relation to the application:

(a)

The applicant meets the requirements of the GCF basic fiduciary standards and
specialized fiduciary standard for project management, but partially meets the
requirements of the GCF specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding
allocation mechanisms and specialized fiduciary standard for blending;

(b)

The applicant meets the requirements of the interim environmental and social
safeguards of the GCF in relation to the high E&S risk (Category A/I-1); and

(c)

The applicant has demonstrated that it has competencies, policies and procedures in
order to implement its gender policy, which is found to be consistent with the Gender
policy of the GCF, and has demonstrated that it has experience with gender
considerations in the context of climate change.

4.2

Recommendation on accreditation

The AP recommends, for consideration by the Board, applicant APL055 for accreditation
as follows:
45.

(a)

Accreditation type:
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(i)

Maximum size of an individual project or activity within a programme:
large (including micro,4 small5 and medium6);

(ii)

Fiduciary functions:

(iii)

(b)

1.

Basic fiduciary standards;

2.

Specialized fiduciary standard for project management;

3.

Specialized fiduciary standard for grant award and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and

4.

Specialized fiduciary standard for on-lending and/or blending (for
blending only); and

Maximum environmental and social risk category: high risk (Category A/I-1)
(including lower risk (Category B/I-27 and Category C/I-38)); and

Conditions: the applicant will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat,
information on how it has complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess
whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by
the Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes:
(i)

(ii)

Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF for an approved
project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Develop a system for providing public access to information on the
periodic progress of all GCF-funded activities;

2.

Develop a policy of periodic independent reviews/external audits of all
grant award programmes funded by the GCF; and

3.

Develop policies/guidelines for providing information to the public
regarding all decisions on blending operations funded by the GCF; and

Condition to be met within one year of the first disbursement by the GCF for an
approved project/programme to be undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide evidence of the implementation of the items identified in
paragraph 45(b)(i) above.

As per annex I to decision B.08/02,“micro“ is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of up to and including USD 10 million for an individual project
or an activity within a programme“.
5 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “small” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of application,
irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 10 million and up to and including USD 50
million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
6 As per annex I to decision B.08/02, “medium” is defined as “maximum total projected costs at the time of
application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, of above USD 50 million and up to and including
USD 250 million for an individual project or an activity within a programme”.
7 As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category B is defined as “Activities with potential mild adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally site-specific, largely reversible, and readily
addressed through mitigation measures” and Intermediation 2 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential
limited adverse environmental or social risks and/or impacts that are few in number, generally-site specific, largely
reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures; or includes a very limited number of activities with
potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented”.
8 As per annex I to decision B.07/02, Category C is defined as “Activities with minimal or no adverse environmental
and/or social risks and/or impacts” and Intermediation 3 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or
proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have minimal or negligible adverse
environmental and/or social impacts“.
4
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The applicant has been informed of the recommendation for accreditation, including the
accreditation type and condition(s), as identified in paragraph 45 above, and agrees to the
recommendation.
46.
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Annex XVII: Summary of recommendations
A summary of recommendations by the Accreditation Panel (AP) for entities to be considered by the Board for accreditation is presented in the
table below.
1.

For all conditions of accreditation proposed, the entity will be required to submit to the AP, through the Secretariat, information on how it has
complied with the condition(s). The AP will thereafter assess whether the condition(s) has/have been met. This assessment will be communicated by the
Secretariat, on behalf of the AP, to the Board for information purposes.
2.

Table 7: Summary of recommended accreditation types and conditions

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Applicant
Access
number
modality
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category
Basic
fiduciary
standards;
Direct access, Medium
APL050
Medium risk (I-2)3
and
CDG Capital national,
private sector
Specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending
and/or blending (for loans,
equity and guarantees)

Accreditation conditions
Condition to be met by the applicant prior to submitting the
first funding proposal to the GCF wherein the applicant would
be providing GCF resources through a financial intermediary:
1.

Submit a description of the approach the applicant will
undertake to assess the financial intermediary as the
executing entity.

Conditions to be met for each funding proposal:

“Size” refers to the total projected costs at the time of application, irrespective of the portion that is funded by the GCF, for an individual project or an activity within a programme. Four size
categories (micro, small, medium and large) are defined in annex I to decision B.08/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.08/45).
2 Decision B.07/02.
3 As per annex I to decision B.07/02 (annex I to document GCF/B.07/11), category B is defined as “Activities with potential mild adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts
that are few in number, generally site-specific, largely reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures” and intermediation 2 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing
or proposed portfolio includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities with potential limited adverse environmental or social risks and/or impacts that are few
in number, generally-site specific, largely reversible, and readily addressed through mitigation measures; or includes a very limited number of activities with potential significant adverse
environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented”.
1
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Applicant
number

Access
modality

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category

Accreditation conditions

1.

Provide in its funding proposal an E&S management
framework that describes the applicant’s project-specific
approach to E&S risk and impact categorization,
mitigation and management, E&S monitoring and
reporting; and

2.

Provide in its funding proposal a gender action plan that
reflects the applicant’s adequate competency in terms of
human and financial resources and a system for
maintaining data that addresses gender aspects in line
with the GCF Gender policy.

Condition to be met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF
for the first approved GCF project/programme to be
undertaken by the applicant:
1.

Provide, on the applicant’s website, a description of the
arrangements and procedure for managing complaints
before, during and after the investigation process.

Condition to be met on an annual basis for three consecutive
years starting with the end of the first year of the
implementation of the first GCF-funded project/programme:
1.

Provide the evidence that the reports on beneficiaries and
results during implementation of all GCF-funded activities
were prepared and published in accordance with the
applicant’s procedures for public access to information.
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Applicant
number
APL051
IDCOL

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Access
modality
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category
Basic fiduciary standards;
Direct access, Medium
Medium risk
national
(Category B/I-2)
Specialized fiduciary
standard for project
management; and
Specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending
and/or blending (for loans)

Accreditation conditions
Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the
GCF for an approved project/programme to be undertaken by
the applicant:
1.

Provide evidence of the establishment and introduction of
the policies and processes listed below:
a.

Establish a process to monitor and assess the overall
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including
its procurement activities;

b.

Adopt a code of conduct, approved by the applicant’s
board;

c.

Adopt a project closure policy, approved by the
applicant’s board;

d.

Adopt a policy on the public disclosure of project
monitoring and evaluation reports, and project
results, approved by the applicant’s board; and

e.

Adopt a policy on the public disclosure of information
regarding the applicant’s decisions on on-lending
and/or blending operations, approved by the
applicant’s board.

Conditions to be met within one year of the first disbursement
by the GCF for an approved project/programme to be
undertaken by the applicant:
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Applicant
number

APL052
SIDBI

Access
modality

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category

Direct access, Large
national

Basic fiduciary standards;
Specialized fiduciary
standard for project
management;
Specialized fiduciary
standard for grant award
and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and
Specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending
and/or blending (for loans,
equity and guarantees)

Medium risk
(Category B/I-2)

Accreditation conditions

1.

Provide a copy of a procurement oversight/audit report;
and

2.

Provide evidence of monitoring of the observations
contained in procurement oversight/audit reports and
appropriate management response and actions.

Conditions associated with the GCF fiduciary standards, to be
met prior to the first disbursement by the GCF for an
approved project/programme to be undertaken by the
applicant:
1.

Develop a policy for the public disclosure of information
regarding projects, including grant award programmes
and on-lending/blending operations, to be undertaken
with GCF funds. This policy must include, at the minimum,
the following:
a.

Guidelines for the publication of independent project
evaluation reports;

b.

Guidelines for the public disclosure of information on
beneficiaries of grant awards and/or loans disbursed,
purpose of the grants and/or loans and amounts
disbursed; and

c.

Identification of the media/channels through which
the information will be disclosed, as well as the
timeline for disclosure;
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Applicant
number

Access
modality

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category

Accreditation conditions
2.

Establish an independent project evaluation policy and
capacity;

3.

Develop, for GCF-funded grant award programmes to be
implemented through executing entities, the policies and
guidelines to be followed by the executing entity; and

4.

Develop the operating procedures the applicant will
follow to ensure the executing entity’s compliance with
the policies and guidelines for the grant award
programme mentioned in the previous paragraph.

Condition associated with the ESS and gender policy, to be
met prior to submitting the first funding proposal to the GCF
for consideration:
1.

APL053
MCT

4

Direct access, Micro
regional

Basic fiduciary standards;
Specialized fiduciary
standard for project
management; and
Specialized fiduciary
standard for grant award

Minimal to no risk
(Category C/I-3)4

Submit to the AP for its review a copy of the new entitywide ESMF (2017 version) and the revised policies,
procedures and organization chart highlighting the
integration of the 2017 ESMF into the entity.s

Condition to be met for each funding proposal:
1.

Provide in its funding proposal a gender action plan that
reflects the applicant’s adequate competency in terms of
human and financial resources and a system for

As per annex I to decision B.07/02, category C is defined as “Activities with minimal or no adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts” and intermediation 3 is defined as
“When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio includes financial exposure to activities that predominantly have minimal or negligible adverse environmental and/or social
impacts”.
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and/or funding allocation
mechanisms

maintaining data that addresses gender aspects in line
with the GCF Gender policy.
Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the
GCF for an approved project/programme to be undertaken by
the applicant:
1.

Provide an investigation procedure containing the
description of the investigation process and
corresponding follow-up actions to be taken;

2.

Provide anti-money laundering and countering the
financing of terrorism policies that are fully in line with
the GCF interim policy on prohibited practices;

3.

Provide an approved policy for the public disclosure of
the decisions on grants awarded under a grant award
programme;

4.

Provide evidence of the adoption of the applicant’s
procedures for the mitigation, management and
monitoring of the E&S risks and impacts, including those
that are unanticipated, of its programmes; and

5.

Provide evidence of the establishment of an external
communication channel, which may include a website to
receive, register and respond to E&S complaints.

Condition to be met within one year of the first disbursement
by the GCF for an approved project/programme to be
undertaken by the applicant:
1. Provide evidence of the implementation of the policies
and procedures referred to in paragraph 37(b)(ii)(3) of
annex VIII of this document, in regard to the public
disclosure of the results of the grants awarded under a

GCF/B.17/22
Page 223

Applicant
number

APL054
BTMU

Access
modality

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category

International Large
access,
private sector

Basic fiduciary standards;
Specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending
and/or blending (for loans,
equity and guarantees)

High risk (I-1)5

Accreditation conditions
grant award mechanism, under the projects/programmes
approved and funded by the GCF.
Condition to be met prior to signature of the accreditation
master agreement for completion of Stage III of the
accreditation process:
1.

Provide a report on an independent assessment of the
effectiveness of the applicant’s measures and actions for
improving its AML and sanctions compliance
programmes.

Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the
GCF for an approved project/programme to be undertaken by
the applicant:
1.

5

Provide evidence to show that the applicant:
a.

Carries out checks and audits of the payment and
disbursement of funds under projects financed by the
applicant;

b.

Has a publicly accessible and transparent
procurement dispute resolution process;

c.

Has an appropriate mechanism with clear terms of
reference for continuous oversight of the ethics
function;

As per annex I to decision B.07/02, category A is defined as “Activities with potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or
unprecedented” and intermediation 1 is defined as “When an intermediary’s existing or proposed portfolio includes, or is expected to include, substantial financial exposure to activities
with potential significant adverse environmental and/or social risks and/or impacts that are diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented”.
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Applicant
number

Access
modality

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category

Accreditation conditions
d.

Has procedures for overseeing procurement activities
of executing entities under GCF-funded activities;

e.

Has a policy requiring the public disclosure of
procurement policies and procedures, and
procurement contract awards under GCF-funded
activities;

f.

Has a policy and guidelines on the public disclosure of
information regarding the applicant’s decisions on
on-lending and/or blending operations in respect of
activities that would be funded by the GCF; and

g.

Has adopted a gender policy in line with the GCF
Gender policy.

Condition to be met within one year of the first disbursement
by the GCF for an approved project/programme to be
undertaken by the applicant:
1.
Provide evidence of the implementation of the items
identified in paragraph 46(b)(ii) contained in annex IX of
this document.
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Applicant
number
APL055
JICA

Accreditation type being recommended under the
fit-for-purpose approach
Access
modality
Environmental and
Size1
Fiduciary functions2
social risk category
Basic fiduciary standards;
International Large
High risk
access
(Category A/I-1)
Specialized fiduciary
standard for project
management;
Specialized fiduciary
standard for grant award
and/or funding allocation
mechanisms; and
Specialized fiduciary
standard for on-lending
and/or blending (for
blending only)

Accreditation conditions
Conditions to be met prior to the first disbursement by the
GCF for an approved project/programme to be undertaken by
the applicant:
1.

Develop a system for providing public access to
information on the periodic progress of all GCF-funded
activities;

2.

Develop a policy of periodic independent
reviews/external audits of all grant award programmes
funded by the GCF; and

3.

Develop policies/guidelines for providing information to
the public regarding all decisions on blending operations
funded by the GCF.

Condition to be met within one year of the first disbursement
by the GCF for an approved project/programme to be
undertaken by the applicant:
1.
Provide evidence of the implementation of the items
identified in paragraph 45(b)(i) of annex X to this
document.
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Annex XVIII: Additional entities of other relevant funds for fast-track
accreditation eligibility
I.

Background

In decision B.08/03, paragraphs (e–g), the Board decided that entities accredited by the
Global Environment Facility (GEF), the Adaptation Fund (AF) and the Directorate-General for
International Development and Cooperation (DG DEVCO) up to and including 17 October 2014
and in full compliance with those institutions’ requirements, as contained in annex V to decision
B.08/03 (annex V to document B.08/45), are eligible to apply under the fast-track accreditation
process for the accreditation requirements of the GCF identified in the relevant paragraphs of
the decision.
1.

In decisions B.10/06, B.12/30, B.14/09 and B.15/09 the Board expanded the list of
entities eligible to apply under the same fast-track approach, assuming all prerequisite criteria
were met to include those under the GEF, the AF and DG DEVCO up to and including 9 July 2015,
9 March 2016, 14 October 2016 and 17 December 2016, respectively.
2.

The entity presented below has been accredited by DG DEVCO since 17 December 2016.
No new entities have been accredited by the AF or the GEF since that time.
3.

II.

Directorate-General for International Development and
Cooperation

Table 8: Directorate-General for International Development and Cooperation
Name

Acronym

Center for International Forestry Research

CIFOR

The international organizations listed in table 8 have been confirmed either by DG
DEVCO to the Secretariat or via evidence provided by the organizations regarding their
successful assessment against DG DEVCO pillar assessments, meet the requirements of the
relevant European Union legislation and are authorized to carry out European Union budget
implementation tasks without conditions concerning their institutional compliance.
4.

GCF/B.17/22
Page 227

Annex XIX: Accreditation Master Agreement between the Green
Climate Fund and Conservation International Foundation
(marked to show changes from the template AMA)
This annex was distributed to the Board on a limited distribution basis.
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Annex XX: Guidelines for enhanced country ownership and country
drivenness
I.

Introduction

In decision B.10/10, the Board recognized the importance of enhancing country
ownership, country drivenness and the role that national designated authorities (NDAs)/focal
points (FPs) can play in this regard. The Board also affirmed that all efforts should be undertaken
to: (1) strengthen the key role of NDAs/FPs in the formulation of country programmes/project
pipelines, the consideration of implementation partners, and financial planning, and enhance
capacity, including through the programme and readiness support; (2) also strengthen the role
of NDAs/FPs in monitoring and providing feedback regarding the impact of Fund operations
within countries in terms of the degree to which the Fund’s initiatives add value to national
development priorities, building institutional capacity, and promoting a paradigm shift towards
low carbon and climate resilient development; and (3) promote a central and leading role of
NDAs/FPs in the coordination of the Fund’s engagements within countries while highlighting the
importance of the different roles between the Secretariat, Accredited Entities and NDAs/FPs in
relation to country programming.
1.

In this regard, the Board requested the Secretariat to prepare a proposal of guidelines,
drawing upon learning experiences and best practices across NDAs/FPs, for consideration by the
Board. The Fund will consider country ownership as the measure through which countries,
through meaningful engagement, including consultation with relevant national, local,
community-level, and private sector stakeholders, can demonstrate ownership of, and
commitment to, efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change. The Fund will continue to
strengthen the [principle of country ownership] and continuously reflect it in its policies and
activities.
2.

II.

Guiding Principles

The principle of country ownership is reflected in the Governing Instrument and various
Board decisions. The Governing Instrument for the Green Climate Fund provides that “The Fund
will pursue a country driven approach and promote and strengthen engagement at the country
level through effective involvement of relevant institutions and stakeholders.” Decision B.04/05
reaffirms that country ownership and a country driven approach are the core principles of the
Fund, and establishes the functions of the NDAs/FPs. Decisions B.07/03, annex VII and B.08/10,
annex XII establish the role of the NDA or focal point in the initial approval process, including the
no-objection procedure. Decisions B.08/10, Annex XIII also provides initial best-practice
guidelines for the selection and establishment of national designated authorities and focal points,
while Annex XIV provides initial best-practice options for country coordination and multistakeholder engagement, Decision GCF/B.08/11, Annex XVII also provides initial general
guidelines for country programmes to enable country ownership through NDA leadership of the
process. Further, Decision B.11/10 further elaborates on the role of the NDA or focal point of a
country to lead an annual participatory review of the GCF portfolio in their countries with the
participation of all relevant stakeholders.
3.

While this document does not attempt to provide a further definition of the concept of
country ownership, submissions from Board/Alternate members highlighted the following
components as being important:
4.

(i)

The need for the guidelines to remain flexible and not be too prescriptive – recognising
the wide range of different country contexts;
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(ii)

The need to recognise that country ownership is an ongoing and evolving process;

(iii)

The respective roles of NDAs/FPs, Accredited Entities (AEs) and the Secretariat in
ensuring country ownership in the development and implementation of projects and
programmes;

(iv)

The importance of NDAs/FPs having sufficient capacity and capability to adequately
perform their functions, as outlined in decision B.04/05 and B.08/10 Annex XIII;

(v)

The potential for the development of country programmes to contribute to the
strengthening of country ownership;

(vi)

The need for country ownership to continue throughout the project cycle, from
readiness activities, and the pre-concept stage, through implementation to monitoring
and evaluation of a project or programme; and

(vii)

The importance of ensuring effective engagement of and ownership by relevant national
and sub-national stakeholders such as the local governments at the municipal or villagelevel, private sector, local communities, academia and civil society organizations,
including indigenous peoples and women’s organizations, throughout the project cycle,
in line with the initial best-practice options for country coordination and multistakeholder engagement outlined in decision B.08/10 Annex XIV and decision B.10/10.

III.

Building Country Ownership through Country Programmes and
Structured Dialogues

NDAs/FPs should play a key role in the formulation of country programmes and
proposal pipelines, as well as in the consideration of implementation partners, and financial
planning. The development of country programmes, identifying national priorities for
investment in climate change related activities, can be a key component of ensuring country
ownership. Country programmes should take into account existing plans, strategies, laws and
policy frameworks at national and international level. The process of developing a country
programme should take into account the country’s (I)NDC, national communications, as well as
NAMAs, NAPAs, NAPs and/or other adaptation planning processes where applicable, as well as
regional, national, sub-national and local climate policy frameworks, ensuring GCF climate
finance is consistent with national priorities. Country programmes should be developed taking
into account the best practice principles for multi-stakeholder engagement1.
5.

Country programmes should capture the diversity of activities and processes taking
place at national level and how they support each other by:
6.

(a)

Linking individual funding proposals to national sustainable development plans,
INDCs/NDCs and other existing national strategies and plans, including NAMAs, NAPAs,
NAPs and other adaptation planning processes, as appropriate;

(b)

Supporting long-term planning through the identification of financing needs, [potential
for climate change investment,] and relevant implementing entities;

(c)

Acting as the framework for capacity-building at country level, consolidating all
interactions in terms of Readiness, project preparation facility (PPF) and funding
proposals; and

(d)

Supporting direct access and fostering collaboration between international entities and
local institutions, as appropriate.

1

Decision B.08/10 Annex XIV
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NDAs/FPs will play a central and leading role in coordination of the Fund’s engagement
within their countries while highlighting the importance of the different roles between the
Secretariat, Accredited Entities, and NDAs/FPs.
7.

Structured dialogues will follow the principles of country ownership, including alignment with
national strategies, identifying the capacity of Accredited Entities, and ensuring that multistakeholder groups participate in and benefit from the outcomes of the dialogues. As described
in the GCF’s Strategic Plan, Structured Dialogues at national and regional level facilitated or
supported by the Fund will be seized as opportunities to further expand on the ideas expressed
in para (2) above, as well as to share lessons and experience to strengthen the pipeline
development processes. Structured Dialogues offer an opportunity for the Secretariat,
NDAs/FPs, relevant AEs and other stakeholders, including the private sector and civil society, to
develop country programmes and determine which priorities identified by country strategies
(INDCs, LEDS, NAPAs, NAMAs etc.) are the best match for GCF support. The structured dialogue
will aim to help NDAs/FPs to identify the best AE and other partners to design programming
that meets the investment criteria of the GCF as well as country needs. As highlighted in the
GCF’s Strategic Plan, AEs are encouraged to actively participate in these structured dialogues in
order to prepare their future annual or multi-annual work programmes which they have been
requested to submit to the Secretariat.

IV.

Reflecting Country Ownership in the Fund’s Operational
Modalities

The principle of country ownership will be considered in the context of all GCF
operational modalities and relevant related policies including the Readiness and Preparatory
Support Programme and the Project Preparation Facility, the Proposal Approval process,
including the simplified approval process, as well as the Accreditation process, recognising that
country ownership is a continual process. NDAs/FPs have a key role in these processes in a way
which builds national and institutional capacity and facilitates engagement with relevant
stakeholders.
8.

Readiness and preparatory support is a key instrument for enhancing country
ownership. Countries are encouraged to access the GCF’s Readiness and Preparatory Support
Programme for a range of activities through which country ownership can be strengthened,
including the preparation of country programmes; building in‐country institutional capacities
including for country coordination and multi‐stakeholder consultation mechanisms; developing
the capacities of potential regional, national and subnational implementing entities, and
intermediaries; and building the capacity of NDAs/FPs to perform their role in coordinating and
overseeing GCF activity in their respective countries2.
9.

When considering accreditation to the GCF, NDAs/FPs should consider the nomination
of Direct Access Entities and/or partnerships with International Entities, in a manner that can
cover the various needs and priorities of their countries. NDAs/FPs may also request readiness
support to identify and prioritize national priorities, in coordination with Accredited Entities,
and in consultation with other stakeholders. They may also request readiness support for
applicant institutions, including Direct Access Entities, to address identified gaps to enable them
to meet the GCF standards and to build their capacity to engage with the GCF3.
10.

Once accredited, close collaboration between the Accredited Entities and the NDAs/FPs
is essential. Accredited Entities must engage at the earliest possible stage with the NDAs/FPs on
their identified priorities, making links to policy frameworks and plans, and engaging closely
11.

2
3

Decision B.05/14 and decision B.08/11
Decision B.13/32 Annex VII
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with the NDAs/FPs on how to make use of local capacities, including knowledge, expertise and
institutions in the preparation and subsequent implementation of projects/programmes.
Successful collaboration between NDAs/FPs and Accredited Entities in developing
funding proposals is key to embedding country ownership. Ideas for projects or programmes
can originate with NDAs/FPs or with Accredited Entities, and may also come from other
sources. When an idea originates with an NDAs/FPs, either through the development of a GCF
Country Programme or through other planning, the NDA/FP may invite AEs to develop ideas
into GCF concept notes and/or proposals to submit to the Secretariat for consideration. When
an idea originates with an Accredited Entity (or an organisation looking to become an AE), the
entity must engage as early as possible with the NDAs/FPs on the potential project or
programme. This should be done at the concept note stage where appropriate (noting that
concept notes are voluntarily submitted to the GCF). In all cases, the AE and the NDA/FP should
work together early enough to allow sufficient time for appropriate multi-stakeholder
engagement to take place, in particular with affected communities and potential beneficiaries. In
providing feedback to Accredited Entities on concept notes, or on the consideration of funding
proposals, the GCF Secretariat and the Accredited Entity must ensure that NDAs/FPs are kept
informed on the development and progress of the concept note or funding proposal.
12.

The no-objection procedure, by which funding proposals should not be submitted to the
GCF without a letter confirming that the recipient country does not have an objection to the
proposed project or programme, is designed to ensure consistency with national climate
strategies and plans and country-driven approaches4. Although a no-objection letter is not
required for the voluntary submission of a concept note, Accredited Entities, when submitting a
concept note, are encouraged to include a description of how engagement with the NDA(s) and
other relevant stakeholders in the country has taken place and what further engagement will be
undertaken as the concept is developed into a funding proposal. NDAs/FPs should be notified
by the AE when a concept note is presented for their respective country, and the Secretariat
should confirm with the respective NDA/FP this notification has taken place. Stakeholder
engagement and coordination at the national level, notably between line ministries, is critical
for the effective preparation of funding proposals, as well as ongoing monitoring and evaluation
after approval. Developing countries are urged to take into account the best‐practice guidelines
for the establishment of national designated authorities and focal points and the best‐practice
options for country coordination and multi‐stakeholder engagement as set out in decision
B.08/10 Annex XIII and Annex XIV. NDAs/FPs are encouraged to establish national coordination
mechanisms and formal consultation processes. They can access the Readiness and Preparatory
Support Programme to support this effort.5
13.

A consultative process should aim to be an ongoing process through the design,
implementation, monitoring and evaluation and exit stages of a project or programme, rather
than a discrete activity occurring only once. This will allow the possibility of follow up,
continuous update and regular assessment of progress. These consultative processes should be
inclusive and seek to engage all relevant actors within the government, the private sector,
academia, civil society and other relevant stakeholder groups or sectors 6. Establishing such
ongoing stakeholder engagement and country coordination should help to ensure the coherence
of GCF funded activities with national priorities and existing strategies and plans. Where
countries have existing multi-stakeholder processes, they may be used for the GCF and
strengthened via the Readiness and Preparatory Support Programme.
14.

Acknowledging the importance of thorough consultation processes in supporting
country ownership, the GCF will develop a stakeholder engagement policy and standards as part
of its Environmental and Social Management System that will foster early engagement between
15.

Decision B.08/10 Annex XIII
Decision B.08/11 (i)
6 Decision B.08/10 Annex XIV
4
5
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the Secretariat, AEs, NDAs/FPs, and other stakeholders including during the proposal design
stage.
Country ownership of GCF activities may also be evident if countries take action to
demonstrate sustained commitment to and ownership of GCF funding proposals from approval
through implementation and beyond. Such actions could include but are not limited to
commitments to improve enabling environments to help a proposal succeed or assurances of
financial or in-kind support. Additionally, evidence of country ownership of GCF funding
proposals could also include commitments to improve sustainability of actions once GCF
funding is used, for example, thorough plans to train and employ local staff during project or
programme implementation as compared to relying on international consultants.
16.

V.

Evaluating and developing Country Ownership

Recognising that country ownership is an underlying principle and an ongoing process,
and that country ownership may mean different things in different country contexts,
quantitative measurement alone of country ownership is unlikely to provide meaningful results.
The Fund should make efforts to draw lessons from how country ownership is being interpreted
and implemented in different contexts, and to use such lessons to inform the development of
policies and programmes, stakeholder engagement, and country programmes.
17.

This could be done through engagement with NDAs/FPs, other key stakeholders in
recipient countries, and with Accredited Entities. Consultation with NDAs/FPs should form an
integral part of the mid-term and completion evaluations required for each approved funding
proposal. The outcomes of the annual participatory review of the GCF Portfolio in the country,
facilitated by the NDA/FP, could also be considered. In addition, the Structured Dialogues at
national and regional level could also gather relevant feedback from NDAs/FPs and other
stakeholders on their experience of country ownership. The fund could also draw lessons from
how ownership is being achieved through different GCF access modalities, including the
enhanced direct access pilot.
18.

The Secretariat will continue to improve these guidelines based on observations from
current best practices and from feedback gathered through the processes outlined above.
19.
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IN D E P E N D E N T A U D I TO R ’S R E P OR T

T o t he Board of t he G reen Cl im at e F und

Rep o rt fo r th e fi n an ci al statemen ts
W e hav e audi t ed t he accom panyi ng f i nanci al st at em ent s of t he G reen Cl im at e F und (“t he
F und”) , whi ch com pri se t he st at em ent of f i nanci al posi t i on as at Dec em ber 31, 201 6 and
2015, an d t he st at em ent of com prehen siv e i ncom e, change s i n f unds and ca sh f l ows f or
t he year s t hen e nde d, and a sum m ary of si gnif i cant acco unt i ng pol i ci es and ot her
ex pl anat ory i nf orm ati on.

Bo ard ’ s an d Secretari a t ’ s resp o n si b i l i ty for th e fi n an ci al statemen ts
T he Board an d Secret ari at are re spon si bl e f or t he prepar at i on and f ai r prese nt at i on of
t he f i nanci al st at em ent s i n accorda nce wi t h t he I nt ernat i onal F i nanci al Report i ng
St andard s (I F RS). T hi s re spo n si bi l i t y i ncl udes de si gni n g, im pl em ent i ng and m ai nt ai ni ng
an i nt ernal cont rol sy st em rel ev ant t o t he preparat i on an d f ai r present at i on of
con sol i dat ed f i nanci al st at em ent s t hat are f ree f rom m at eri al mi sst at em ent , whet h er due
t o f raud or error. T he Board and t h e Secret ar i at are f urt her respon si bl e f or sel ect i ng and
appl yi ng appr opri at e acco u nt i ng pol i ci es an d m aki ng account i ng est i m at es t hat are
rea son abl e i n t he ci rcum st ance s.

Au d i to r’ s resp o n si b i l i ty
O ur resp on si bi l i t y i s t o ex press an opi ni on o n t hese f i nanci al st at em ent s ba se d on o ur
audi t . W e conduct ed our a udi t i n accordanc e wi t h t he I nt ern at i onal St andard s o n
Audi t i ng. T hose st and ard s re qui re t hat we co m pl y wi t h et hi cal requi rem ent s and pl an a nd
perf orm t he audi t t o obt ai n reasona bl e assur ance ab out whet her t he f i nanci al st at em ent s
are f ree of m at eri al mi sst at em ent .

An audi t i nv olv e s perf orm i ng procedure s t o o bt ai n audi t ev i dence about t he am ount s and
di scl o sure s i n t he f i nanci al st at em ent s. T he procedur e s sel ect ed de pen d on o ur
j udgm ent , i ncl udi ng t he asse ssm ent of t he ri sks of m at eri al mi sst at em ent of t he f i nanci al
st at em ent s, wh et her d ue t o f raud or error. I n m aki ng t hose ri sk a sse ssm ent s, we
con si der i nt ernal cont rol rel ev ant t o t he ent i ty's pr epar at i on and f ai r prese nt at i on of t he
f i nanci al st at em ent s i n order t o de si gn a udi t proced ure s t hat are appr opri at e i n t he
ci rcum st ances, b ut not f or t he purpo se of ex pressi ng an opi ni on o n t he ef f ect iv eness of
t he ent i t y's i nt ernal cont rol .

An audi t al so i ncl ude s ev al uat i ng t he appropr i at eness of account i ng pol i ci es used an d
t he rea so nabl en e ss of account i ng est i m at es m ade, as wel l as ev al u at i ng t he ov erall
pre sent at i on of t he f i nanci al st at em ent s. W e bel i ev e t hat t he audi t ev i dence we h av e
obt ai ned i s suf f i ci ent and appropri at e t o prov i de a ba si s f or our audi t opi ni on.

O p i ni o n
I n our opi ni on, t he f i nanci al st at em ent s giv e a t rue and f ai r v i ew of t he f i nanci al posi t i on
of t he F und as at Decem ber 31, 20 16 an d 20 15, and i t s f i nanci al perf orm ance and cash
f l ows f or t he year s t he n end ed i n accord ance wi t h t he I nt ernat i onal F i nanci al Report i ng
St andard s.

Jul y xx , 2017
Seoul , Korea

T hi s report i s ef f ect iv e as of Jul y xx , 2017, t he audi t report dat e. Cert ai n su b seq uent
ev ent s or ci rcum st ance s, whi ch m ay occur be t we en t he audi t repo rt dat e a nd t he t i m e of
readi ng t hi s re port , coul d h av e a m at eri al im pact on t he accom panyi ng f i nanci al
st at em ent s an d not e s t heret o. Accordi ngl y, t he readers of t he audi t report shoul d
under st a nd t hat t here i s a possi bi l i t y t hat t he abov e audi t repor t m ay hav e t o be rev i sed
t o ref l ect t he im pact of such su b seq uent ev ent s or ci rcum st ance s, i f any.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015

(In ‘000 USD)

Note

2016

2015

Cash and cash equivalents

5, 6

1,824,159

637,682

Contributions receivable

6,7

470,102

470,538

-

279

-

2,294,540

1,108,220

Assets

Prepayments
Total current assets
Contributions receivable

6,7

1,099,891

740,115

Investment in equity

6,8

5,494

-

9

1,123

785

Total non-current assets

1,106,508

740,900

Total assets

3,401,048

1,849,120

6

1,986

1,651

5,6

2,496

1,436

Other payables

-

141

-

Accrued expenses

-

2,736

1,087

Total current liabilities

7,359

4,174

Total liabilities

7,359

4,174

Property and equipment, net

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Payable to employees

Funds
Temporarily restricted funds

10

1,925,435

1,210,653

Unrestricted funds

10

1,468,254

634,293

Total Funds

3,393,689

1,844,946

Total liabilities and funds

3,401,048

1,849,120

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

(In '000 USD)

Note

2016

2015

Income
Income from contributors

11

1,565,948

1,754,840

Investment & other income

12

13,776

2,470

1,579,724

1,757,310

Total income
Expenditure
Operating expenses for secretariat office

14

25,379

18,731

Programme

15

5,602

1,412

30,981

20,143

1,548,743

1,737,167

-

-

1,548,743

1,737,167

Total expenditure

Increase in fund for the year
Other Comprehensive Income (loss)
Total comprehensive income for the year

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

(In '000 USD)
Temporarily
restricted funds
As at 1 January 2015

Unrestricted funds

Total

681

107,098

107,779

(681)

681

-

Comprehensive income

1,210,653

526,514

1,737,167

As at 31 December 2015

1,210,653

634,293

1,844,946

As at 1 January 2016

1,210,653

634,293

1,844,946

Fund released from restriction

(274,216)

274,216

-

988,998

559,745

1,548,743

1,925,435

1,468,254

3,393,689

Fund released from restriction

Comprehensive income
As at 31 December 2016

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

(In '000 USD)

2016

2015

1,199,201

541,870

13,157

578

619

1,424

(24,317)

(15,944)

(3,230)

(328)

7,400

2,789

1,192,830

530,389

(859)

(809)

(5,494)

-

(6,353)

(809)

1,186,477

529,580

637,682

108,102

1,824,159

637,682

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from contributors
Bank and trust fund income
Other income
Cash paid to suppliers & personnel
Cash paid for grants
Realised foreign currency gain
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Acquisition of investment equity
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

1. Reporting entity
The Green Climate Fund (Fund) has been established by 196 Parties to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). The Fund was established by a
decision of the Conference of the Parties (COP) to the UNFCCC on 11 Dec 2011. Its
headquarter is based in Songdo, the Republic of Korea. It will contribute to the achievement
of the ultimate objective of the Convention. In the context of sustainable development, the
Fund will promote the paradigm shift towards low-emission and climate-resilient development
pathways by providing support to developing countries to limit or reduce their greenhouse gas
emissions and to adapt to the impacts of climate change, taking into account the needs of
those developing countries particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change.
The Fund will be guided by the principles and provisions of the Convention.
The Fund will play a key role in channeling new and predictable financial resources to
developing countries. GCF will catalyze climate finance – both public and private, and at the
national, regional and international levels. The Fund is intended to operate at a larger scale
than other comparable funds to promote the paradigm shift towards low-emission and climateresilient development pathways.
GCF was designated as an operating entity of the UNFCCC’s financial mechanism, which it is
ultimately accountable to. The COP provides guidance to the Board, including on matters
related to policies, programme priorities and eligibility criteria. The Board takes appropriate
actions in response to this guidance and reports to the COP annually.
The Fund is governed and supervised by a Board that has full responsibility for funding
decisions and that receives the guidance of the COP. The Board oversees the operation of all
relevant components of the Fund, approving specific operational policies and guidelines, and
approving funding for projects and programmes. The Board is composed of 24 members, and
24 alternate members with equal representation from developing and developed country
Parties. In accordance with the Fund’s Governing Instrument, the World Bank (IBRD) provides
trustee services to the Fund, on an interim basis.
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2. Basis of Preparation
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. These accounting policies have been applied by the Fund consistently to all
periods presented.
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Where the IFRS are silent or do not give guidance
on how to treat transactions specific to the non-profit sector, accounting policies have been
based on the general IFRS principles and other relevant accounting standards, as detailed
in the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The accompanying financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”),
the Fund's functional currency. All financial information has been rounded off to the
nearest thousands, unless otherwise indicated.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, incomes and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised
and in any future periods affected.
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3. Application of new and revised IFRS
NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS ADOPTED DURING 2016
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are
consistent with those followed in the preparation of the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2015.
During 2016 several new standards and amendments became applicable for the first
time. However, these do not impact the financial statements of the Fund.

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been
issued but are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2016, and have not
been applied in preparing the financial statements. The Fund plans to adopt these
pronouncements when they become effective. Only those new or amended standards
that may have an impact on the Fund reporting are listed below, with their potential effect
on the financial statement:
Changes in IFRS to be applied in 2017 - IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (May 2014): Based on its current sources of income, the Fund expects a
limited impact on its financial statements.
Changes in IFRS to be applied in the 2018 - IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (July 2014):
The Fund expects a limited impact on the classification and measurement of its financial
assets and liabilities. The application of the new impairment requirements might result in
possible changes of current accounting and systems.

4. Summary of significant accounting policies
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and
other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

RECEIVABLE
All receivable balances are valued at their net realizable value, that is, the gross amount of
receivable minus, if applicable, allowances provided for doubtful debts. Any receivable or
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portion of receivable judged to be uncollectable is written off. Write offs of receivables are
done via allowances for doubtful accounts after all efforts to collect have been exhausted.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are measured initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition
as an asset, property and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and all other incidental
costs in bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are recognized in the carrying amount of property and equipment at cost
or, if appropriate, as separate items if it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of the day-to-day operation are recognized as expenses.
Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. The estimated useful lives for the
current period are as follows:

Plant and equipment

Useful life

Computer equipment and IT infrastructure

3–5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each
reporting date and adjusted, if appropriate.
Depreciation is made in the year the asset is placed in operation and continued until the asset
is fully depreciated or its use is discontinued.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATIONS
Foreign currency-denominated transactions are translated to US Dollars for reporting
purposes at rates which approximate the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
Exchange differences arising from the: (a) settlement of foreign currency-denominated
monetary items at rates which are different from which they were originally booked, and (b)
translation of balances of foreign currency-denominated monetary items as at reporting date,
are credited or charged to operations during the year.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not
retranslated.
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ACCOUNTING FOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Revenue recognition
Contributions, including unconditional promise for the use of the contributions, are
recognized as revenue at the earlier of when there is reasonable assurance that the
contributions will be received or such contributions are received.
Contributions, including conditional promise to support specified projects or activities
mutually agreed upon by the Fund and the contributor, are fully recognized as revenue at the
earlier of when there is reasonable assurance that the contributions will be received or such
contributions are received unless there is doubt that the Fund will not be able to use the
contributions for intended purposes, in which case the revenue is recognized only to the
extent of the expenditures incurred during the year.
Contributions receivable
The Fund recognizes contributions receivable where there is reasonable assurance that the
contributions will be received but the cash has not been received. Contributions receivable
are stated at their cost net of a provision for uncollectible contributions.
Promissory notes receivable are measured initially at fair value by discounting the future cash
flows with the appropriate discount rates, which reflects the duration and the credit risk of the
issuer and presented at amortized cost using the effective rate method at each reporting date.
The Fund assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence
that the promissory notes are impaired. If any such evidence exists, the Fund determines the
amount of any impairment loss.
Deferred contribution revenue
The Fund recognizes deferred contribution revenue where there is doubt that the Fund will
be able to use the contributions for intended purposes and any unused portion of the
contribution received will need to be refunded to the contributor. The revenue recognition for
such contributions is deferred to future periods in order to match the underlying related
expenses. The revenue is realized in the statement of comprehensive income on a
systematic basis in the period during which the underlying related expenses are incurred.

ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY

Investment in associates
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Investments in associates are initially recognized at acquisition cost using the equity method.
Unrealized gains on transactions between the Fund and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Fund’s interest in the associates. If there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired, the Fund recognizes the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its book value as impairment loss.
Associates are all entities over which the Fund has significant influence that is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control of those policies. If the Fund holds, directly or indirectly (eg through subsidiaries),
20 per cent or more of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the Fund has
significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case by
evidencing in one or more of the following ways:
(a) The Fund is not represented on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the
investee;
(b) The Fund does not participate in policy-making processes, including participation in
decisions about dividends or other distributions;
(c) The Fund does not have material transactions with its investee;
(d) The Fund does not have interchange of managerial personnel; or
(e) The Fund does not have provision of essential technical information.
Investment in joint ventures
A joint arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control is classified as either a
joint operation or a joint venture. A joint operator has rights to the assets, and obligations for
the liabilities, relating to the joint operation and recognizes the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation. A joint venturer has rights to the net
assets relating to the joint venture and accounts for that investment using the equity method.
Investment not subject to assocites or joint ventures
Any investment in equity that is not subject to associates or joint ventures is accounted for
as available-for-sale financial assets in accordance with “IFRS 9 Financial Instruments”.

ACCOUNTING FOR GRANTS
The accounting for grants uses the principles of IAS 37: Provisions, liabilities and contingent
liabilities, together with the “general framework” document to determine when the grants
should be recognized as contingent liabilities, grant payables and subsequently recorded in
the statement of comprehensive income.
Contingent Liability
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The first point of recognition for grants is at the point of Board approval, where the maximum
liability of the grant becomes clear and is agreed with the principal recipient. The accounting
treatment at this point is to recognize the grant as a contingent liability due to the uncertainty
over the amount of the grant and the substantive ability of the Fund to decommit funds if
conditions are not met or funding is not available. Accordingly the point of Board approval is
not considered to be a constructive obligation as defined under IAS 37.
Following the Board approval, the grants are governed by a written grant agreement that
includes substantive conditions based on performance. There is no constructive obligation
for the full value of the grant at the signing date of the grant agreement. Accordingly, an
obligation only arises once all criteria have been addressed or otherwise resolved.
Recognition of Grants payable and expenditure
The recognition of grants payable is determined to be the point at which the conditions are
met and the disbursement request is made by the principal recipient. At this point the Fund
has a constructive obligation to the principal recipient and the valid amount requested for
disbursement is therefore recognized as a grant payable and recorded as expenditure within
the statement of comprehensive income.
Recoverable from Grants
During the implementation period, a part of the funds disbursed for grants may be determined
as recoverable from the principal recipients based on the audits and investigations conducted.
Grants recoverable are recognized at fair value upon notification to the Principal Recipient
and are subject to the same policy of valuation, risk assessment and asset impairment as
contributions recoverable from contributor.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Fund becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the underlying instruments.
Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: (a) financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, (b) loans and receivables, (c) available-for-sale financial
assets, and (d) held-to-maturity financial assets. The classification depends on the terms of
the instruments and purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for
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trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting and
derivatives separated from financial instruments, such as embedded derivatives, are
also categorized as held for trading. Assets in this category are classified as current
assets.
(b) Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current
assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period which are classified as non-current assets.
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are
included in non-current assets unless an investment matures or management intends
to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period .
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date. At initial
recognition, financial assets are measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the statement of income.
After the initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. However, investments in equity
instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such equity instruments, shall be measured at cost. Loans and receivables and held-tomaturity investments are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in
profit or loss and changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in
other comprehensive income. When the available-forsale financial assets are sold or
impaired, the fair value adjustments recorded in equity are reclassified into profit or loss.
Interest on available-for-sale financial assets and held-to-maturity financial assets calculated
using the effective interest method is recognized in the statement of income as part of
financial income. Dividends on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in the
statement of income as part of other non-operating income when the Fund’s right to receive
payments is established.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial instruments held for trading.
Financial liabilities are classified in this category if incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing them in the near term. Derivatives that are not designated as hedges or
bifurcated from financial instruments containing embedded derivatives are also categorized
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as held-for-trading.
The Fund classifies non-derivative financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, financial guarantee contracts and financial liabilities that arise
when a transfer of financial assets does not qualify for derecognition, as financial liabilities
carried at amortized cost and presented as ‘trade payables’, ‘borrowings’, and ‘other financial
liabilities’ in the statement of financial position.

FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable.

TAXATION
Under the agreement between the Republic of Korea and the Green Climate Fund (GCF)
concerning the Headquarters of the Green Climate Fund, signed on 10 June 2013, the GCF
is exempt from all direct taxes, except those which are, in fact no more than charges for
public utility services; and exempt from all indirect taxes, including any value-added and
or/similar taxes and excise duties levied on important purchase of goods and services for
official purposes.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Fund will be exposed to various kinds of financial risk (credit risk, market risk, operational
risk etc.). The Fund has its Financial Risk Management and Investment framework. The
Board adopted a risk appetite methodology and risk registers to manage its exposure to
various risk categories. The Fund will continue establishing risk policies and guidelines to
further improve risk management tools in financial and non-financial risk management. Funds
held in trust by the interim Trustee are invested in accordance with the World Bank’s policies
and procedures for the investment of trust funds administered by the World Bank.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Funds financial position
at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements when
material. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements when material.
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are summarized as
follows:

(In '000 USD)

2016

Balance held in the GCF Trust Fund
(at the World Bank)
Balances held in Commercial Banks

2015

1,816,690

633,221

7,467

4,460

2

1

1,824,159

637,682

Cash on Hand
Total

The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development is serving as the interim trustee
(“Trustee”) of the Fund. The Trustee administers contributions received in the Trust Fund in
accordance with the Amended and Restated Agreement on the Terms and Conditions for
the Administration of the Green Climate Fund Trust Fund (including all Annexes and
Attachments attached thereto, which constitute an integral part thereof), dated April 22, 2015
between the Fund and the Trustee (the “GCF Trust Fund Agreement”).
Pending the selection of the service provider, employees’ and employer’s contributions
towards the post-employment benefit plan is held under a separate bank account. These
restricted cash of USD 2,496 thousands and USD 1,436 thousands in 2016 and 2015
respectively is included under Balances held in Commercial Banks. The corresponding
liability is shown under Payable to employees in the Statement of Financial Position.

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
2016
Foreign
currenc
y

Foreign
currency
amount
(in ‘000)

2015

Ending
exchange
rate

Translation
into '000
USD

Foreign
currency
amount (in
‘000)

Ending
exchange
rate

Translation
into '000
USD

KRW

679,956

0.0009

582

130,365

0.0009

113

EUR

-

-

-

1,200

1.10

1,367

582

1,480
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6. Financial Instruments by Categories
(a)

Categories of financial assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are
summarized as follows:
2016
Loans and
receivables

(In '000 USD)

Cash and cash
equivalents
Contributions
receivable
Investments in
security
Total
(b)

2015

1,824,159

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
-

Total

Loans and
receivables

Total

1,824,159

637,682

637,682

1,569,993

-

1,569,993

1,210,653

1,210,653

-

5,494

5,494

-

-

3,394,152

5,494

3,399,646

1,848,335

1,210,653

Categories of financial liabilities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are
summarized as follows:

(In '000 USD)

Accounts payable
Payable to employees
Other payables
Total

2016
Financial liabilities measured
at amortized cost
1,986
2,496
141
4,623

2015
Financial liabilities measured
at amortized cost
1,651
1,436
3,087

As stated in note 5 to the financial statements, Cash and cash equivalents and Payable to
employees include the fund withheld for post-employment benefit plan of $ 2,496 and $ 1,436
thousands in 2016 and 2015 respectively.
(c)

Detail of net gains (or losses) on each category of financial instruments by
category for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are summarized
as follows:
2016

(In '000
USD)

Loans and
receivables

Bank and
trust fund
income

13,157

2015

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets

Financial
liabilities
measured
at
amortized
cost
-

Loans and
receivables

-

1,046

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized
cost
-
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Foreign
exchange
gain (loss)
Present
value
amortizati
on on
promissor
y note
Total

(103,404)

-

-

(2,786)

-

(737)

-

-

468

-

(90,984)

-

-

(1,272)

-

7. Contributions Receivable
In accordance with signed arrangements/ agreements a number of contributors have
deposited promissory notes. IBRD, as the interim trustee of the fund is holding these
promissory notes on behalf of the fund. These are non-interest-bearing and payable at par
value. Promissory notes encashable within one year from the end of reporting period are
classified as current assets- receivables. Promissory notes encashable after more than one
year from the end of reporting period are classified as non-current assets- receivables.
The promissory notes receivables are measured initially at fair value by discounting the future
cash flows with the appropriate discount rates, which reflects the duration and the credit risk
of the issuer and presented at amortized cost using the effective rate method at each reporting
date. The Fund assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that the promissory notes are impaired. If any such evidence exists, the Fund
determines the amount of any impairment loss. Promissory notes are denominated in Euro,
Japanese Yen, Swedish Krona and Pound Sterling and were revalued to USD at the end of
reporting period at the prevailing exchange rates.
As at December 31, 2016, encashment schedule and details of present value on promissory
notes are as follows:

Encashment

Amount
(In '000 USD)

In 2017

470,102

In 2018

514,267

In 2019

350,625

In 2020

116,043

In 2021

44,158

In 2022

41,950

In 2023

39,742

Nominal value of promissory notes
Unamortized present value discount
Present value of promissory notes

1,576,887
(6,894)
1,569,993
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Contributions receivable denominated in foreign currencies as of December 31, 2016
and 2015 are as follows:

2016
Foreign
currenc
y

Foreign
currency
amount
(in ‘000)

2015

Ending
exchange
rate

Translation
into '000
USD

Foreign
currency
amount (in
‘000)

Ending
exchange
rate

Translation
into '000
USD

EUR

286,120

0.9470

302,128

169,380

0.9181

184,480

JPY

48,673,01
1

116.9400

416,222

28,187,200

120.3848

234,142

GBP

397,124

0.8128

488,582

239,339

0.6748

354,676

SEK
Total

3,288,769

9.0585

363,061
1,569,993

3,686,848

8.4299

437,354
1,210,652

8. Investments in equity
During the period ended December 31, 2016, The Fund acquired an equity investment of USD
5,494 thousands in KawiSafi Ventures Limited (“KawiSafi”) made in accordance with GCF
Board approved project under Board decision B.11/11. Details of equity investment as of
December 31, 2016 are as follows:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Name of invested entity: KawiSafi Ventures Limited
Acquistion cost: USD 5,494 thousands
Carrying amount at the end of reporting period: USD 5,494 thousands
Number of shares owned: 5,493.91
% of ownership: 47.45%

The investment equity in KawiSafi is accounted for in accordance with “IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments” as the Fund does not have significant influence over the invested entity’s financial
or operating decision. Under “IFRS 9 Financial Instruments”, the investement equity in
KawiSafi is classified as available-for-sale financial assets and measured at historical cost as
the investment equity does not have a quoted price in an active market and its fair value cannot
be reliably measured.
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9. Property and Equipment

(a)

Details of property and equipment as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
(i) December 31, 2016
(In '000 USD)

Accumulated
depreciation

Acquisition cost

Computer/IT equipment
Fixed Assets in Transit
Total

Carrying amount

2,191

(1,108)

1,083

40

-

40

2,231

(1,108)

1,123

(ii) December 31, 2015
(In '000 USD)

(b)

Accumulated
depreciation

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount

Computer/IT equipment

1,372

(587)

785

Total

1,372

(587)

785

Changes in property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2016
and 2015 are summarized as follows:

(In '000 USD)

January
1, 2016
Computer/IT
equipment
Fixed Assets in
Transit
Total

Acquisition

Depreciation

December
31, 2016

785

819

-

(521)

1,083

-

40

-

-

40

785

859

-

(521)

1,123

Disposals

Depreciation

January
1, 2015
Computer/IT
equipment
Total

Disposals

Acquisition

December
31, 2015

433

809

-

(457)

785

433

809

-

(457)

785
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10. Funds
All contributions received where the use is limited by statutory restrictions, contributor-imposed
purpose or time restrictions have been classified as temporarily restricted funds. All other
funds are recognized as unrestricted funds.
Changes in temporary restricted funds by type of restriction for the year ended December 31,
2016 are as follows:
(In '000 USD)

January 1,
2016
Time restriction
Contributorimposed restriction
Total

Received with
restriction

Released

December 31,
2016

917,684

(274,216)

722,252

1,365,720

292,969

-

266,746

559,715

1,210,653

(274,216)

988,998

1,925,435

Time restriction represents the funds to be collected in future years (i.e. promissory note) that
were recorded as the present value of future collections as at the end of reporting period. This
type of fund will be reclassified into unrestricted funds in the year of receipt.
Contributor-imposed restriction represents the funds where the use of the funds is limited by
contributor-imposed purpose. This type of fund will be reclassified into unrestricted funds when
the contributor-imposed purpose is met or the fund is released from such restriction.
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11. Income from Contributors
As stated in Note 5, contributions are received through GCF Trust Fund account at World
Bank administed by the trustee. The carrying value of GCF Trust Fund has changed from the
contributions, investment returns on GCF Trust Fund balances, foreign currency transaction
or translation and present value amortization on promissory note. Those changes comprise
the comprehensive incomes of the Fund.
Details of incomes from GCF Trust Fund for the period ended December 31, 2016 are as
follows:

(In '000 USD)

Contribution
revenues
Foreign exchange
gain/(loss)
Present value
amortization on
promissory note
Total

1,674,174

Unamortized present
value discount on
promissory note
(4,087)

(103,859)

456

(103,403)

-

(737)

(737)

1,570,315

(4,367)

1,565,948

Nominal value

Total
1,670,088

The foreign exchange gain (loss) is primarily due to exchange gain/loss at the time of
encashment of promissory notes and on year end revaluation of promissory notes received in
currency other than USD. On the reporting date date promissory notes held by the interim
trustees were revalued at the year-end exchange rate.
The details of changes in total contribution that the Fund has received through trust fund
account for the year ended December 31, 2016 are presented as follow:
(a) By contributor:
(In '000 USD)

Increase (Decrease)

December 31, 2016

54,518

44,860

99,378

Austria

6,565

12,997

19,562

Belgium

48,882

33,678

82,560

Bulgaria

109

-

109

Canada

-

128,230

128,230

Canada

-

-

-

300

-

300

Columbia

-

287

287

Cyprus

-

-

-

2,789

2,068

4,857

Australia

Chile

Czech Republic

January 1, 2016
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Denmark

32,242

7,039

39,281

Estonia

898

225

1,123

Finland

38,256

-

38,256

France

115,720

68,336

184,057

Germany

228,899

194,823

423,721

-

3,511

3,511

Iceland

150

350

500

Indonesia

244

-

244

-

2,076

2,076

55,871

-

55,871

Japan

321,367

336,987

658,354

Korea

3,158

-

3,158

Korea

21,500

11,000

32,500

Latvia

417

-

417

Liechtenstein

-

50

50

Lithuania

-

113

113

5,390

5,548

10,937

-

5,549

5,549

55

110

165

10,000

-

10,000

280

270

550

Netherlands

8,459

13,030

21,490

New Zealand

2,198

-

2,198

49,996

48,400

98,396

Panama

500

-

500

Poland

103

-

103

Portugal

2,168

-

2,168

Romania

-

50

50

Spain

-

2,207

2,207

478,196

(25,059)

453,138

30,562

35,000

65,562

360,557

138,580

499,137

1,880,349

500,000
1,570,315

500,000
3,450,664

Hungary

Ireland
Italy

Luxembourg
Luxemburg
Malta
Mexico
Monaco

Norway

Sweden
Switzerland
United Kingdom
United States
Total

(b) By instrument type:
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(In '000 USD)

January 1, 2016

Cash
Promissory note
Total

Increase (Decrease)

December 31, 2016

667,156

1,206,621

1,873,777

1,213,193
1,880,349

363,694
1,570,315

1,576,887
3,450,664

Increase (Decrease)

December 31, 2016

284,525

370,651

655,176

1,595,824
1,880,349

1,199,664
1,570,315

2,795,488
3,450,664

(c) By contribution type:
(In '000 USD)

Capial
Grant
Total

January 1, 2016

REPORT ON AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GREEN CLIMATE FUND | PAGE 22 OF 30

12. Investment & Other Income
Investment and Other income comprise these following.
(In '000 USD)

2016

Investment income
Other income
Total

2015
13,157
619
13,776

1,046
1,336
2,470

Investment income represents the investment return on GCF Trust Fund balances that were
invested in accordance with the investment strategy established for all trust funds
administered by the World Bank.
Other income represents the fee received from accreditation process.

13. Employee Benefits

(a)

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an employer
and employees pays fixed contributions and the employer will have no legal obligation to
pay further amount. The Fund operates a defined contribution plan for employees.
Employee benefits relating to employee service rendered will be based on the contributions
and the investment earnings on the plan assets which will be managed separately from the
Fund’s assets. The Fund’s contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognized as
an expense in the year in which they are incurred. Employees’ contribution to the retirement
fund was USD 513 thousands and USD 377 during the year 2016 and 2015 respectively.
The expenses related to post-employment benefit under defined contribution plans for the
year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 are as follows:

(In '000 USD)

Expense related to post-employment benefit
under defined contribution plan

2016

2015
1,025

753
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14. Administrative Expenses
Details of administrative expenses for the secretariat office for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 are as follows:

(In '000 USD)

Salaries and Benefits

2016

2015

10,637

7,769

Consultants Fees

5,641

4,359

Contractual Services

1,980

1,874

Supplies and Services

3,779

2,507

Travel

2,821

1,765

521

457

25,379

18,731

Depreciation
Total

15. Programme
Programme expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015
are related to the ‘Readiness & Preparatory Support Programme’ and the Project
Preparation Facility.
(In '000 USD)

Readiness & Preparatory Support Programme’
Project Preparation Facility
Total

2016

2015
5,102

1,412

500

0

5,602

1,412
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a) Readiness & Preparatory Support Programme
Details of ‘Readiness & Preparatory Support Programme’ expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 are as follows:

(In '000 USD)

2016

Consultants Fees

2015
849

569

Regional workshops & NDA visits

1,015

640

Grants

2,730

161

441

-

Travel

67

42

Total

5,102

1,412

Professional Services

b) Project PreparationFacility
Details of Project PreparationFacility expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2016
and December 31, 2015 are as follows:

(In '000 USD)

2016

2015

Grants

500

0

Total

500

0

16. Contingent Liabilities
a) Readiness & Preparatory Support Programme
Contingent liabilities for Readiness & Preparatory Support Program grants as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 are analyzed below based on the funds available. The
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Board approved total funding availability of USD 80 million at 31 December 2016. A
cumulative total of USD 6,912 thousand was expensed as at 31 December 2016 leaving a
balance of USD 73,088 thousand 31 December 2016. The corresponding figure at 31
Decemebr 2015 was USD 28,190 thousand.

(In '000 USD)

2016

2015

Funds available but not disbursed or signed

61,275

26,551

Signed but not disbursed

11,813

1,639

Total

73,088

28,190

b) Project Preparation Facility
Contingent liabilities for the Project Preparation Facility grants as of December 31, 2016
and 2015 are analyzed below based on the Board approval less already disbursed.

(In '000 USD)

2016

2015

Funds available but not disbursed or signed

40,000

0

Total

40,000

0

In addition the Board approved a project preparation grant of USD 1,500 thousand for a
project submitted by the Ministry of Natural Resources in Rwanda. Of this amount USD
500 thousand has been disbursed leaving a contingent liability of USd 1,000 thousand.
c) Project Funding Decisions
The Board at its 11th meeting in Livingstone in November 2015 approved amounts of US$
167.83 million in projects & programme funding.
The Board at its 13th meeting in Songdo in July 2016 approved amounts of US$ 257.11
million in projects & programme funding.
The Board at its 14th meeting in Songdo in November 2016 approved amounts of US$
746.45 million in projects & programme funding.
The Board at its 15th meeting in Samoa in December 2016 approved amounts of US$
315.24 million in projects & programme funding.
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The Board at its 16th meeting in Songdo in April 2017 approved amounts of US$ 755.1
million in projects & programme funding.

17. Lease
Under the agreement between the Ministry of Strategy and Finance of the Republic of Korea,
The Incheon Metropolitan City of the Republic of Korea and The Green Climate Fund signed
on 8th October 2013, Incheon City provides to the Fund the use of premises free of payment
of rental for the entire duration of the Fund’s operation in Songdo.

18. Related Parties
Related parties include the members of the Board, Board committees, senior management
and close family members of the Board, Board committees and senior management. There
was no loan to or from related parties outstanding as at 31 December 2016 and 2015. The
Fund does not remunerate its Board members.
Remuneration of key management consists of basic salary, health insurance benefit, other
benefits and contribution to post-employment pension plan. The remuneration of key
management, comprising the Executive Director and members of senior management team,
amounted to USD 2,229 thousand and USD2,248 thousand for the years ended December
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

________________

